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Fellow Stockholders

2010 was year
of accomplishment foi our firm in an environment inued volatile maiket conditions

Our operating performance improsed significantly from the prior year as ou platform building efforts began to

show results Our financial position was greatly improved with lower debt levels at iedueed interest cost and

increased stockholders equity We were pleased to declare quarterly dividends which reflects our confidence in

the continued cash generation of the business We plan to continue to take advantage of opportunities in the

market place to drive returns for our stockholders

We continued to expand our capital markets business Our net trading revenue grew 60% in 2010 This was

the direct result of our platform building efforts including increased risk capital and the addition of professionals

and products in the United States and Europe While we are proud of our momentum and market share gains

from last year we believe that greater gains are achievable We are taking advantage of our new prime broker

clearing relationship pursuing new issue and advisory assignments and further developing our earlier stage

initiatives such as equity derivatives and CD origination We believe our capital markets business is poised for

further growth

With the acquisition in January 2011 of JVB Financial Holdings specialist serving the independent dealer

community we enhanced our capital markets platform in both breadth and depth JVB has complementary

distribution channel that can be used to create broader platform for new issue bond underwriting As we work

to integrate JVB into our business we hope to see opportunities for growth by adding capital for trading and

underwriting

We were also excited to announce recently an agreement to acquire majority interest in PrineeRidge

PrinceRidge is New York based financial services firm led by John Costas and Michael Hutchins and is

comprised of sales and trading group specializing in structured products and corporate credit and an

investment banking group concentrated on corporate finance When completed we believe that this transaction

will bring together two highly complementary platforms increase our capital base and enhance our ability to

attract and retain top talent

Another important milestone during the year was the sale of certain of our legacy asset management

contracts which freed resources to allow us to pursue growth opportunities in our emergent businesses Although

revenue from our legacy asset management business continued to shrink as collateral balances declined in 2010

we earned significant incentive fee on managed investment fund and we started several new managed

accounts We see possible return to growth in the coming years For our asset management segment

2010 also saw the successful reeapitalization of our externally managed Asian commercial real estate debt

investment company Star Asia We worked to refinance Star Asias debt and certain shareholdeis including us

provided financing and received greatei ownership in Star Asia The oveiall value of our investment in Star Asia

increased as result

While we enjoy our successes there is still much work to be done in 2011 and beyond We intend to further

build-out our platfonm and look for areas of synergistic growth in all three areas of our business capital

markets asset management and principal investing In order to extend our success we must continue to look

broadly and think creatively about how to capitalize on opportunities As always controlling expenses iemains

primary focus in our pursuit of value creation

In closing wish to thank our employees br their efforts this yeai and you our stockholders for your

continued support 2010 was another year of progress in building our company and look forward to 2011

Sincerely

Daniel Cohen

Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Institutional Financial Markets Inc
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Ladies and Gentlemen

On behalf of the Company we are fttrnishing pursuant to Rule 14a-3c under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended to the Securities and Exchange Commission for

its information seven copies of the Companys Annual Report to Stockholders distributed to

stockholders in connection with the Companys 2011 annual meeting

Please acknowledge receipt of this letter and the enclosures by stamping the enclosed

copy of this letter and returning it to the undersigned in the enclosed self-addressed postage

prepaid envelope

Sincerely

Chad Rubin

CJRcag

Enclosures

cc Joseph Pooler Jr Institutional Financial Markets Inc w/o end
Rachael Fink Esquire Institutional Financial Markets Inc w/o end
Douglas Listman Institutional Financial Markets Inc w/o end
Sophia Verros Institutional Financial Markets Inc w/o end
Darrick Mix Esquire Duane Morris LLP w/o end
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Forward Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the

Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or the Exchange Act

Forward-looking statements discuss matters that are not historical facts Because they discuss future events or

conditions forward-looking statements may include words such as anticipate believe estimate intend

could should would may seek plan might will expect anticipate predict project

forecast potential continue negatives thereof or similar expressions Forward-looking statements speak

only as of the date they are made are based on various underlying assumptions and current expectations about

the future and are not guarantees Such statements involve known and unknown risks uncertainties and other

factors that may cause our actual results level of activity performance or achievement to be materially different

from the results of operations or plans expressed or implied by such forward looking statements

While we cannot predict all of the risks and uncertainties they include but are not limited to those described

below in Item 1A Risk Factors Accordingly such information should not be regarded as representations that the

results or conditions described in such statements or that our objectives and plans will be achieved and we do not

assume any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any of these forward-looking statements These forward

looking statements are found at various places throughout this Annual Report on Form 10 and include information

concerning possible or assumed future results of our operations including statements about the following subjects

benefits results costs reductions and synergies resulting from the Companys recent business combination

integration of operations

business strategies

growth opportunities

competitive position

market outlook

expected financial position

expected results of operations

future cash flows

financing plans

plans and objectives of management

tax treatment of the business combinations

any other statements regarding future growth future cash needs future operations business plans and

future financial results and any other statements that are not historical facts

These forward looking statements represent our intentions plans expectations assumptions and beliefs

about future events and are subject to risks uncertainties and other factors Many of those factors are outside of

our control and could cause actual results to differ materially from the results expressed or implied by those

forward looking statements In light of these risks uncertainties and assumptions the events described in the

forward looking statements might not occur or might occur to different extent or at different time than we

have described You should consider the areas of risk and uncertainty described above and discussed under

Item IA Risk Factors You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward looking statements

which speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10 All subsequent written and oral forward

looking statements concerning other matters addressed in this Annual Report on Form 10 and attributable to us

or any person acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained

or refened to in this Annual Report on Form 10 Except to the extent requited by law we undertake no

obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as result of new information future

events change in events conditions eiieumstanees or assumptions undei lying such statements or otherwise



Certain Terms Used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Effective January 21 2011 Cohen Company Inc changed its name to Institutional Financial Markets

Inc In this Annual Report on Form 10-K unless otherwise noted or as the context otherwise requires IFMJ
refers to Institutional Financial Markets Inc Maryland corporation the Company we us and our
refers to IFMI and its subsidiaries on combined basis JFMI LLC formerly Cohen Brothers LLC or the

Operating LLC refers to the main operating subsidiary of the Company Cohen Brothers refers to the

pre Merger Cohen Brothers LLC and its subsidiaries AFN refers to the pre-Merger Alesco Financial Inc and

its subsidiaries Merger Agreement refers to the Agreement and Plan of Merger among AFN Alesco Financial

Holdings LLC wholly owned subsidiary of AFN that we refer to as the Merger Sub and Cohen Brothers

dated as of February 20 2009 and amended on June 12009 August 20 2009 and September 30 2009

Merger refers to the December 16 2009 closing of the merger of Merger Sub with and into Cohen Brothers

pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement which resulted in Cohen Brothers becoming majority owned

subsidiary ot the Company When the term 1FM1 is used it is retemng to the parent company itself

Institutional Financial Markets Inc

Securities Act refers to the Securities Act of 1933 as amended Etchange Act refers to the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America or U.S

GAAP the Merger was accounted for as reverse acquisition Cohen Brothers was deemed to be the accounting

acquirer and all of AFNs assets and liabilities were required to be revalued at fair value as of the acquisition

date therefore the financials reported herein are the historical financials of Cohen Brothers As used throughout

this filing the terms the Company we us and our refer to the historical operations of Cohen Brothers

and its consolidated subsidiaries from January 2008 through to December 16 2009 and the combined

operations of the merged company and its consolidated subsidiaries from December 17 2009 forward AFN

refers to the historical operations of Alesco Financial Inc through to December 16 2009 the date of the Merger

or the Merger Date



PART

ITEM BUSINESS

INFORMATION REGARDING INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

Overview

We are an investment firm specializing in credit related fixed income investments We were incorporatcd in

2004 but began operations through our predecessors in 1999 as an investment firm focused on small and

mid-cap banks but have grown over the past eleven years into more diversified fixed income specialty

investment firm We are organized into three business segments Capital Markets Asset Management and

Principal Investing The Capital Markets business segment consists of credit related fixed income sales and

trading as well as new issue placements in corporate and securitized products and advisory services The Asset

Management business segment manages assets within variety of investment vehicles including investment

funds managed accounts permanent capital vehicles and collateralized debt obligations As of December 31

2010 we had $10.3 billion in assets under management AUM The Principal Investing business segment is

comprised primarily of our investments in the investment vehicles we manage Our revenues have increased from

$11.2 million for the year ended December 31 2003 to $125.6 million for the year ended December 31 2010

Financial information concerning our business segments is set forth in Item Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations on page 56 and note 28 of the consolidated financial

statements beginning on page 81 For more information regarding our geographic locations see Item Properties

below and note 28 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10

Capital Markets

Our Capital Markets business segment consists of credit related fixed income sales and trading as well as new

issue placements in corporate and securitized products and advisory services through our broker dealer

subsidiaries Cohen Company Securities LLC CCS and Cohen Company Capital Markets LLC

CCCM CCS and CCCM are registered broker-dealers under the Exchange Act are members of the Financial

Industry Regulatory Authority FINRA and the Securities Investor Protection Corporation SIPC and are

licensed to conduct brokerage activities in all 50 states and the District of Columbia We acquired CCCM in 2010

formerly named Fairfax primarily to avail ourselves of its existing clearing relationship In addition our

European subsidiaiy EuroDekania Management Limited EuroDekania Management is regulated by the

Financial Services Authority FSA in the United Kingdom Effective on January 13 2011 we completed the

acquisition of JVB Financial Holdings L.L.C JVB broker-dealer with $24.8 million in revenue in 2010

and 63 employees specializing in the wholesale distribution of fixed income securities

Our fixed income sales and trading group provides trade execution to corporate and institutional investors

We specialize in the following products corporate bonds asset backed securities ABS mortgage-backed

securities MBS commercial mortgage backed securities CMBS residential moitgage-baeked securities

RMBS collateralized loan obligations CLOs collateralized bond obligations CBOs Small Business

Administration loans SBA loans U.S government bonds U.S government agency securities biokered

deposits and certificates of deposit CDs for small banks hybrid capital of financial institutions including trust

preferred securities TruPS whole loans and other structured financial instruments We also offer execution

and brokerage services for cash equity and derivative products We believe that we are one of the most active

participants in the brokering of TruPS due to our knowledge of the transactions and the relationships we maintain

with institutional investors in these securities

Our Capital Markets business segment generates revenue through the following activities trading

activities which include execution and brokerage services riskless trading activities as well as gains and losses

unrealized and realized and income and expense earned on securities classified as trading new issue and

advisory revenue comprised of origination fees for corporate debt issues originated by us ievenue from



advisory services and new issue revenue associated with arranging the issuance of newly created debt equity

and hybrid financial instruments Our Capital Markets business segment is based in New York with branch

offices in Boca Raton Boston Chicago London Paris Philadelphia San Francisco and Washington D.C We
have been in the Capital Markets business since our inception Our Capital Markets segment has transformed

over time in response to market opportunities and the needs of our clients The initial focus was on sales and

trading of listed equities of small financial companies with particular emphasis on bank stocks Early on
market opportunity arose for participation in particular segment of the debt market securitization of TruPS We

began assisting small banks in the issuance of TruPS through securitized pools These investment vehicles were

structured and underwritten by large investment banks while our broker-dealer typically participated as

co placement agent or selling group member We also participated in the secondary market trading of these

securities between institutional clients

For the better part of decade we have actively engaged in the brokering of TruPS and pooled TruPS in the

secondary market However there has been essentially no new issuance of pooled TruPS since 2007 because the

credit market disruption resulted in market yields that are much higher than the banks would be willing to pay to

issue securities into an investment vehicle But while new issuance activity closed down the secondary trading

volumes increased dramatically large number of entities were motivated or forced to sell their holdings

Reasons for selling included margin calls on financed assets hedge fund redemptions ratings downgrades

warehouse liquidations and investment vehicles breaching covenants and liquidating At the same time investors

who had historically invested in the initial issuance of these securities were not as active in the market We

recognized that the conditions that caused increased secondary trading opportunities in the TruPS market also

existed in other credit-based fixed income markets Corporate bonds RMBS CMBS European credit securities

and leveraged finance securities high yield bonds and leveraged loans all faced similar conditions

In early 2008 our management team made the strategic decision to restructure our Capital Markets business

model from an exclusive focus on TruPS and structured credit products to more traditional fixed income

broker-dealer platform with smoother diversified revenue streams primarily from trading activity We have hired

sales and trading professionals with expertise in areas that complement our core competency in structurcd credit

Our Capital Markets staffing increased from six sales and trading professionals at the beginning of 2008 to 60

sales and trading professionals as of December 31 2010 Recent additions to our Capital Markcts team include

salespeople and traders focused on mortgage securities non-agency mortgage securities and structured products

During the past year we added capital to our trading operations and continued to launch new initiatives that

build on our existing capabilities Mid year we launched our North American equity derivatives business which

recently expanded into Europe providing execution services to an institutional customer base across equity cash

listed and over-the counter OTC equity derivatives products In January 2011 we closed our acquisition of

JVB fixed income broker-dealer that specializes in small size transactions in CDs corporate bonds MBS and

U.S government agency securities primarily with the dealer market Also in January 2011 we announced the

formation of new venture to create commercial real estate conduit lender which we expect will begin to

originate loans in the first quarter of 2011 The venture will focus on underwriting five to ten year commercial

real estate loans ranging in size from $5 million to $75 million which will be targeted for seeuritization and will

include all major property types We continue to explore opportunities to add complementary distribution

channels hire experienced talent expand our presence across asset classes and bolster the service capabilities of

our Capital Markets business segment

Trades in our Capital Markets segment can be either riskless or risk-based Risklcss trades are

transacted with customer order in hand resulting in limited risk to us Risk based trades involve us owning the

securities and thus placing our capital at risk Such risk based trading activity may include the use of leverage In

2010 we began to utilize more leverage in our Capital Markets business segment We believe that the prudent

use of capital to facilitate client orders increases trading volume and profitability Any gains or losses on

securities that we have purchased in the secondary market are recorded in our Capital Markets business .segnent

whereas any gains or losses on securities that we retained in our sponsored investment vehicles are recorded in

our Principal Investing business segment



Asset Management

Our Asset Management business segment manages assets within variety of investment vehicles including

investment funds managed accounts permanent capital vehicles and collateralized debt obligations We earn

management fees for our on-going asset manager services provided to these investment vehicles which may

include fees both senior and subordinate to the securities issued by the investment vehicles Management fees are

based on the value of the AUtVI or the investment performance of the vehicle or both As of December 31 2010

we had $10.3 billion in AUM

Our AUM increased from $965.8 million at December 31 2003 to $10.3 billion at December 31 2010 but

has declined year-to year since 2007 AUM refers to assets under management and equals the sum of the

gross assets included in the collateralized debt obligations that we have sponsored and manage plus the gross

assets accumulated and temporarily financed in warehouse facilitics during the accumulation phase of the

securitization process which gross assets are intended to be included in collateralized debt obligations plus

gross assets of portfolio that we managed for RAIT Financial Trust publicly traded real estate investment

trust NYSERAS RAIT plus the net asset value NAy of the permanent capital vehicles and

investment funds we manage plus the NAV of other managed accounts Our calculation of AUM may differ

from the calculations of other asset managers and as result this measure may not be comparable to similar

measures presented by other asset managers Our AUM measure includes for instance certain AUM for which

we charge either no or nominal fees such as assets in the accumulation phase for future securitization This

definition of AUM is not necessarily identical to any definition of AUM that may be used in our management

agreements

As of December 31 2010 we had four subsidiaries that act as collateral managers and investment advisors

to the collateralized debt obligations that we manage Each of these entities is registered investment advisor

under the Investment Advisers Act

Subsidiary Product Line Asset Class

Cohen Company Financial Alesco Bank and insurance TruPS

Management LLC subordinated debt

Dekania Capital Management LLC Dekania U.S Bank and insurance TruPS

Dekania Europe subordinated debt

EuroDekania Management Limited Neptuno III Corporate loans broadly

Dekania Europe Xenon syndicated leverage loans bank

and insurance TruPS and

subordinated debt commercial

real estate debt

Strategos Capital Management LLC Kleros Libertas Scorpius ABS

The value to us of collateralized debt obligation structure was derived from the arbitrage between the cost

of bolTowing and the return profile of the underlying collateral With our asset classes we sought to maximize

the spread differential between the yield on the underlying collateral and our cost of financing Each portfolio

was structured to maximize relative value based on our credit views and maximize diversification in order to

minimize the effect of isolated credit events on the overall portfolio Our management of the portfolio utilizes our

infrastructure to minimize defaults of underlying assets and to maximize recoveries in the ease of defaults

In 2010 we sought to achieve diversification of overall asset exposure Thus collateralized debt obligations

were structured across range of sectors to maximize poitfolio diversification and to minimize correlation

among the expected performance of our various asset classes



The chart below shows changes in our AUM by product line from December 31 2003 through

December 31 2010

As of December 31

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

in millions

Alesco $666 $2433 4385 7733 9404 8566 7110 2845

DekaniaU.S 300 700 690 676 674 654 615 604

Dekania Europe 357 789 1295 1625 1570 1423

Emporia 287 739 1159 1170

Kieros 996 8788 19637 9341 5.308 3955

Libertas 584 3282 412 86 76

Scorpius 1510 1415 441

Non-Profit 203 397 391

Neptuno2 618 887 881 827

Total Completed Collateralized Debt

Obligations AUM 966 3133 6715 21022 37881 23487 15570 9730

Pre-Close Collateralized Debt Obligations

AUM 858 3134 6000 984 177

RAITAUM 4551 5051 4310

Permanent Capital Vehicles Investment

FundsandOther 317 748 627 636 589

Total AUM $966 $3991 $14.400 $32390 $43923 $24291 $16206 $10319

On July 29 2010 we completed the sale of our Alesco X-XVII contracts to an unrelated third party For

more information see Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Cnndition and

Results of Operations beginning on page 56

Dekania Europe and Neptuno portfolios are denominated in Euros for purposes of this presentation they

have been converted to U.S dollars at the prevailing exchange rates at the points in time presentcd

On February 27 2009 we completed the sale of our Emporia contracts to an unrelated third party For more

information see Item Managements Discussinn and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations beginning on page 56

On March 18 2009 we completed the assignmcnt of our non-profit management contract to an unrelated

third party For more information see Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of Operations beginning on page 56

In 2005 we formed Taberna Realty Finance Trust Taberna and spun it off in private offering to RAIT

shortly after it as formed Through June 2008 we provided oversight and monitoring services to RAIT for

portfolio of whole loans owned by RAIT For more information see note to Selected Financial Data

presented on page 52

Investment Funds

Deep Value

We had an investment in and serve as external manager of series of closed-end distressed debt funds and

other related entities that we refer to collectively as Deep Value Deep Value raises capital from investors and

earns investment returns by investing in diversified portfolio of ABS consisting primarily of RMBS and other

real estate related securities as well as other United States real estate related assets and related securities Deep

Values management team consists primarily of investment professionals from our Strategos Capital

Management LLC Strategos ABS team



We formed the initial fund in October 2007 which consummated its first closing in April 2008 and

successfully completed its liquidation in December 2010 From the inception of the first fund thrnugh

December 31 2010 we launched three master funds The first master fund had two feeder funds One feeder

fund was referred to as the onshore fund and was designed for investors that are non tax exempt United Statcs

taxpayers Foreign and United States tax-exempt investors invested through second feeder fund referred to as

the offshore fund The second master fund does not have feeder funds The third master fund has an offshore

feeder fund only Investors hold limited partnership interests in the feeder funds in the case of the first and third

master fund or in the master fund itself in the case of the second master fund The Strategos Deep Value Credit

UP LLC the Deep Value GP serves as the general partner for the feeder funds in the case of the first master

fund and as the general partner of the master fund itself in the case of the second master fund The Strategos

Deep Value Credit II UP LLC the Deep Value UP 11 serves as the general partner for the offshore feeder

fund in the case of the third master fund Deep Value UP and Deep Value UP II are collectively refened to as

the Deep Value UPs

We serve as external manager of Deep Value We own 50% of the general partner of the first and second

master funds and 40% of the general partner of the third master fund In addition we have made limited

partnership investments in certain of the feeder funds

The general terms of investments in Deep Value include minimum capital contribution of $10 million in

the case of the first two master funds and $1 million in the case of the third master fund no redemptions no

short sales no leverage in the case of the first two master funds or leverage only if it is non-recourse and

non-callable for the term or if leverage becomes available directly or indirectly through government program

in the case of the third master fund no trading with any IFMI-related entity except as part of an exit strategy

10% maximum concentration of non-real estate related assets 5% maximum concentration in any single issuer of

securities investment in assets located primarily in the United States limit investments in securities paying

dividends or interest income subject to United States withholding taxes committed capital must be drawn within

one year of the final closing orderly liquidation upon certain events and 1.5% annual management fee paid

quarterly

One year froni the final closings of each of the master funds Deep Value will begin to distribute at least

quarterly all net cash available for distribution as follows

Return of Capital 100% to the limited partner investors in proportion to their capital contributions until

the aggregate cumulative distributions equal their aggregate capital contributions

Preferred Return 100% to the limited partner investors until each has received return of 10% in the

case of the first two master funds and 8.0% in the ease of the third master fund compounded annually on their

total capital contributions for the period during which they were outstanding

First Tier Incentive Fee 80% to the general partner and 20% to the limited partners until the aggregate

distributions made to the general partner equal 20% of the cumulative distributions made to all limited partner

investors pursuant to the Preferred Return and this First Tier Incentive Fee and

Second Tier Incentive Fee 80% to the limited partner investors and 20% to the general partners

We earn management fees based on the drawn committed capital of Deep Value during the first year after

the final closing and thereafter based on NAV of Deep Value however we do not earn management fees on oui

own investment in Deep Value As described above we could also earn an incentive fee based on the

performance of Deep Value when the funds liquidate in three to five years Deep Value has an expected term of

three years from the final closing but may be exterded for one year by Deep Values general partner and may be

extended foi an additional year with the approval of Deep Values advisory board Th advisory board is

comprised of representatives from select limited partners not affiliated with Deep Values general partner or us

In addition we earn investment returns on our investment in Deep Value through our Principal Investing

business segment



We seeded Deep Value with an initial capital commitment of $15 million at inception During April to

October 2008 $110 million of outside capital was committed to the first master fund In February July

September and December 2009 an additional $25 million $7 million $8 million and $42.5 million

respectively of outside capital was committed to Deep Valuc The initial capital commitments are fully drawn

Investors in Deep Value which are closed end funds do not have redemption rights While Deep Value does not

offer redemptions we track NAV for informational and accounting purposes As of December 31 2010 the

Deep Value master funds had NAV of $129.0 million and an annual return of 36.7% During the period from

December 2009 to December 2010 Deep Value distr buted $200.2 million of net cash available for distribution

as described above The distributions related to our initial capital commitment of $15 million totaled $24.2

million At December 31 2010 the value of our investment in Deep Value was immaterial In addition we

earned $6.2 million incentive fee upon the successful liquidation of the first Deep Value fund during the second

half of 2010

Brigadier

We had an investment in and served as external manager of series of investment funds and related entities

that we refer to collectively as Brigadier Brigadier formed by us in 2006 and liquidated in 2010 was series

of investment funds that primarily earned investment returns by investing in various fixed income and credit-

related investments and related securities through its master fund Brigadier had single master fund and two

feeder funds One feeder fund was referred to as the onshore feeder fund and was designed for investors that are

non-tax-exempt U.S tax payers Foreign and U.S tax exempt investors invested through second feeder fund

referred to as the offshore feeder fund We were the general partner and made an initial investment in the

offshore feeder fund In addition to being general partner of the onshore feeder fund we made an investment as

limited partner as well

The primary investment activities of Brigadier focused on relative value strategies in the credit markets

Target assets included long and short exposure to corporate investment grade and high yield securities MBS
structured credit and other related securities derivatives and indices

The general terms of investments in Brigadier included minimum initial capital contribution of $500000

one year lock-up period quarterly redemptions after the lock-up period upon 90 days notice capital

contributions accepted on the first business day of each quarter no restrictions on the amount of leverage

utilized 2.0% annual management fee paid quarterly 20% annual incentive fee on the excess net capital

appreciation after deducting management fees payable only if the net capital is above its high water mark and

quarterly reporting requirements All of these terms are subject to the discretion of its limited and general

partnership agreements

We earned management and incentive fees based on the performance of Brigadier We did not earn

management or incentive fees on our own investment in Brigadier however we did earn investment returns on

our investment in Brigadier through our Principal Investing business segment

For most of 2010 Brigadier was in the process of liquidating Brigadier experienced significant redemptions

in 2009 and effective in the second quarter of 2010 Brigadier ceased permitting redemptions until its final

liquidation which was completed during the fourth quarter of 2010

We seeded Brigadier with an initial investment of $30 million at its inception in May 2006 Our investment

in Biigadier was at its highest level of $54.5 million in March 2008 In September 2008 Brigadier won an award

for best Long/Short Credit Hedge Fund Relative Value presented by CreditFlux magazine publication

that covers the credit markets The award was based on quantifiable return and volatility measures

During the period from May 2008 through November 2010 we redeemed $56.8 million of our investment in

Brigadier As of December 31 2010 Brigadier had completed its final liquidation



Managed Accounts

We also provide investment management services to collection of separately managed accounts with

focus on mortgage securities and collateralized debt obligation notes and debt instruments issued by financial

institutions These initiatives were started during the second half of 2009 and AUM of such managed accounts

has grown to $288.6 million as of December 31 2010

Our Strategos ABS team provides investment management services to states retirement system and

third party asset manager for portfolios of mortgage securities For these services we are paid annual

management fees of 0.5% 1.5% of the net asset value of the aggregate assets under management AUM of these

mortgage portfolios has grown to $261.5 million at December 31 2010

Part of our European collateralized debt obligation team has transitioned to providing investment

management services primarily to European family offices and high net worth individuals The focus is on

collateralized debt obligation notes and debt instruments issued by financial institutions where the investment

managers
have relevant expertise For these services we are paid annual base management fees of approximately

1.5% plus an annual performance fee of 20% of cash-on cash returns in excess of an 8% hurdle There is also an

early redemption fee if any of the clients were to terminate their arrangement within the first five years of the

relationship AIIM of these European managed accounts has grown to $27.1 million at December 31 2010

Permanent Capital Vehicles

The objective of the permanent capital vehicles is to provide stockholders with attractive risk-adjusted

returns and predictable cash distributions by investing in selected credit asset classes Events in the financial

markets over the last few years have challenged the investment strategy of our permanent capital vehicles In

general poor credit performance reduces investor demand for the asset classes in which we specialize thereby

making it more difficult for us to raise additional capital into existing permanent capital vehicles

EuroDekan in

EuroDekania Limited EuroDekania is Guernsey corporation that we manage EuroDekania invests in

hybrid capital securities of Euiopean banks and insurance companies CMBS RMBS and widely syndicated

leverage loans EuroDekanias investments are denominated in Euros or British Pounds EuroDekania began

operations in March 2007 when it raised approximately 218 million in net proceeds from private offering of

securities of which we invested 5.3 million In August 2010 we made follow on investment of $0.3 million in

EuroDekania through secondary trade

Our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Daniel Cohen serves as one of five members of the board of

directors of EuroDekania As of December 31 2010 we owned 5% of EuroDekanias outstanding shares which

were valued at $1.3 million At December 31 2010 EuroDekania had an estimated NAV of $23.0 million

MECA

Muni Funding Company of America LLC MFCA is Delaware limited
liability company that we

managed until March 18 2009 MFCA primarily invests in securities that are exempt from United States federal

income taxes either directly or through structured tax exempt pass through STEP vehicles which are similar in

nature to collateralized debt obligations as veil as other structured credit entities MFCA began operations in June

2007 when it raised approximately $159 million of net proceeds from private offering of securities of which we

invested $5.0 million In June 2009 MFCA eompleçed rights offering in which we invested $0.6 million

Our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Daniel Cohen serves as member of the board of directors

of MFCA and our President Christopher Rieeiaidi served as membei of the board of diieetors of MFCA until

March 18 2009 As of December 31 2010 we owned approximately 3% ofMFCAs outstanding shares which

were valued at $2.5 million At December 31 2010 MFCA had NAV of $90.2 million



Tn February 2009 new shareholder obtained controlling interest in MFCA and requested that our

management agreement with MFCA be assigned to new management company controlled by the new majority

shareholder On March 18 2009 we assigned rhe MFCA management agreement to that new management

company As condition to the assignment the assignee agreed to pay us an annual payment Revenue Sharc

beginning in March 2012 The Revenue Share is calculated as 10% of the revenue the assignee earns under its

management contract with MFCA to the extent that revenue exceeds $1 .0 million per ycar

Star Asia

Star Asia Finance LTD Star Asia is Guernsey company that is externally managed by Star Asia

Management Ltd Star Asia Manager which is 50/50 joint venture between us and third-party real estate

investment management company Star Asia seeks to invest in Asian commercial real estate structured finance

products including CMBS corporate debt of real estate investment trusts REITs and real estate operating

companies whole loans mezzanine loans and other commercial real estate fixed income investments Star Asid

began operations in March 2007 whcn it raised approximately $255 million in net proceeds from private

offering of securities of which we invested $10.0 million Star Asia completed rights offerings in April 2008

raising approximately $49 million in net proceeds of which we invested $7.0 million and in March 2010 raising

approximately $25.3 million in net proceeds of which we invested $5.4 million In 2008 2009 and 2010 we

made follow-on investments of $0.4 million $0.1 million and $4.9 million respectively in Star Asia through

secondary trades

Our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Daniel Cohen is one of three members of the board of

directors of Star Asia As of December 31 2010 we owned approximately 27% of Star Asias outstanding

shares which were valued at $38.0 million and approximately 30% of the Star Asia Special Purpose Vehicle

Star Asia SPV which was valued at $1.6 million At December 31 2010 Star Asia had NAV of $171.0

million

Collateralized Debt Obligation Asset Classes

collateralized dcbt obligation is form of secured borrowing The borrowing is secured by different types

of fixed income assets such as corporate or mortgage loans or bonds The borrowing is in the foim of

seeuritization which means that the lenders are actually investing in notes secured by the assets In the event of

default the lender will have recourse only to the assets securing the loan We have originated assets for served

as co-placement agent for and continue to manage this type of investment vehicle which is generally structured

as trust In addition we invested in some of the debt and equity securities initially issued in the deals gains and

losses of which are part of our Principal Investing business segment

The credit crisis caused available liquidity particularly through these and other securitizations to decline

precipitously Our ability to accumulate assets for securitization effectively ended with the market disruption We

seeuritized $14.8 billion of assets in 16 trusts during 2006 $17.8 billion of assets in 16 trusts during 2007 $400

million of assets in one trust during 2008 and zero assets in zero trusts during 2009 and 2010

These structures can hold different types of securities Historically we have focused on the following asset

classes United Slates and European bank and insurance TruPS and subordinated debt United States ABS
such as MBS and commercial real estate loans United States corporate loans and United States

obligations of non profit entities

We generate asset management revenue for our services as asset manager Many of our sponsored

collateralized debt obligations particularly those where the assets are bank TruPS and ABS have experienced

asset deferrals defaults and rating agency downgrades that reduce our management fees In 16 out of 19 of our

ABS deals the extent of the deferrals defaults and downgrades caused credit related
coverage tests to trigger an

event of default Under an event of detault the senior debt holders in the structure can generally force

liquidation of the entity To date five of our ABS structures have been liquidated following an event of default
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In addition all of the bank TruPS structures we manage and all of the ABS structures we manage have

experienced high enough levels if deferrals defaults and downgrades tn reduce our subnrdinated management

fees to zero In typical structure any failure of covenant coverage tests redirects cash flow to pay down the

senior debt until compliance is restored If compliance is eventually restored the entity will resume paying

subordinated management fees to us including those that accrued but remained unpaid during the period of

non compliance

description of each of our remaining collateralized debt obligation product lines is set forth below

Alesco Dekania and Xenon Cohen Company Financial Management LLC manages our Alesco

platform Dekania Capital Management LLC manages the first four Dekania deals that were issued which

include both Dekania U.S denominated in U.S dollars and Dekania Europe denominated in Euios stiuctures

EuroDekania Management manages the last Dekania Europe and the only Xenon deal that was issued which are

both Euro denominated From the inception of these asset classes in September 2003 through December 31

2010 we have originated or placed approximately $11.9 billion in subordinated financing in the form of TruPS

and surplus notes issued by banks bank holding companies thrift holding companies and insurance companies

in the United States and Europe As of December 31 2010 we managed nine Alesco deals tsvo Dekania U.S

deals three Dekania Europe deals and one Xenon deal We have eight professionals who are primarily focused

on these programs

In general our Alesco and Dekania deals have the following terms We receive senior and subordinate

management fees and there is potential for incentive fees on certain deals if equity internal rates of return are

greater than 15% We can be removed as manager without cause if 66.7% of the rated Note holders voting

separately by class and 66.7% of the equity holders vote to remove us or if 75% of the most senior note holders

vote to remove us when certain over-collateralization ratios are below 100% We can be removed as manager for

cause if majority of the controlling class of note holders or majority of equity holders vote to remove us

Cause includes unremedied violations of the collateral management agreement or indenture defaults attributable

to certain actions of the manager misrepresentations or fraud criminal activity bankruptcy insolvency or

dissolution There is non call period for the equity holders which ranges from three to six years Once this

non call period is over majority of the equity holders can trigger an optional redemption as long as it generates

sufficient proceeds to cover all principal and accrued interest on the rated notes and all expenses In ten years

from closing an auction call will be triggered if the rated notes have not been redeemed in full In an auction call

redemption an appointee will conduct an auction for the collateral which will only be executed if the highest bid

results in enough proceeds to pay all principal and accrued interest on the rated notes and all expenses If the

auction has not been successfully completed all residual interest that would normally be distributed to equity

holders will be sequentially applied to principal of the rated notes Any failure of over collateralization coverage

tests redirects interest to paying down notes until compliance is restored The securities mature 30 years from

closing An event of default will occur if certain over-collateralization ratios drop below 100% While an event

of default exists majority of the senior note holders can declare the principal and accrued and unpaid interest

immediately due and payable

In general the Xenon deal has the following terms We receive senior and subordinate management fes

and there is no potential for incentive fees We cannot be removed as manager without cause We can be

removed as manager for cause if majority of the security holders or majority of subordinated security holders

vote to remove us Cause includes unremedied violations of the portfolio management agreement or trust

agreement breach of the portfolio management agreement that is not cured within 45-60 days

misrepresentations or fraud criminal activity bankruptcy insolvency or dissolution the occurience of an event

of default or becoming subject to taxes that could be reduced by removing the managei majoi ity of the

subordinated security holders can trigger an optional redemption as long as it generates sufficient proceeds to

cover all principal and accrued interest on the senior securities and all expenses The secuiities mature in four

years from closing An event of default will occur if default occurs for peiiod of three days or more in the

payment of any sum due in respect of the securities failure to perform or observe any obligation under the

portfolio management agreement or trust agreement or if any order is made by any competent court or any
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resolution passed for the winding up or dissolution of the issuer other than for the purposes of amalgamation

merger consolidation reorganization or other similar arrangements on terms approved by the trustee While an

event of default exists majority of the senior security holders can declare the principal and accrued and unpaid

interest immediately due and payable

Our aggregate Alesco Dekania and Xenon AUM have increased from approximately $965.8 million as of

December 31 2003 to approximately $4.9 billion as of December 31 2010 but has declined year-to-year since

2007

Kleros/Libertas/Scorpius Strategos manages our Kleros Libertas and Scorpius programs We have

completed 13 deals under the Kleros and Kleros Real Estate brand names collateralized by high grade RMBS

generally backed by securities initially rated single or higher We have also completed five deals under the

Libertas brand name collateralized by mezzanine grade ABS generally backed by securities initially rated BBB

on average and one deal under the Scorpius brand name collateralized by synthetic mezzanine grade ABS

generally backed by synthetic or credit default swap securities During 2008 as result of turmoil in the credit

markets and the real estate sector in particular one of the Kleros Real Estate and two of the Libertas deals were

liquidated In 2009 the one Scorpius deal and one of the Kleros deals were liquidated Strategos employs seven

professionals

In general our Kleros and Libertas deals have the following terms We receive senior management fees All

of the subordinate management fees have been deferred with no potential for collection and there is no potential

for incentive fees Typically we cannot be removed as manager without cause We can be removed as manager

for cause if 66.7% of the controlling class of note holders or majority of equity holders vote to remove us In

general cause includes unremedied violations of the collateral management agreement or indenture defaults

attrihutahle to certain actions nf the manager misrepresentations or fraud criminal activity bankruptcy

insolvency or dissolution as well as an event of default Certain of the deals have reinvestment period after

closing which ranges from three to five years during which the manager may sell and purchase collateral for the

portfolio such reinvestment period is terminated upon the occurrence of an event of default Typically there is

three or four year non call period for the equity holders Once this non-call period is over majority of the

equity holders can trigger an optional redemption as long as it generates sufficient proceeds to cover all principal

and accrued interest on the rated notes and all expenses In seven or eight years from closing an auction call will

be triggered if the rated notes have not been redeemed in full In an auction call redemption an appointee will

conduct an auction for the collateral which will only be executed if the highest bid results in enough proceeds to

pay all principal and accrued interest on the notes and all expenses There is no protection for equity holders in

an auction call If the auction has not been successfully completed all residual interest that would normally be

distributed to equity holders will be sequentially applied to principal of the rated notes The securities mature

40-45 years from closing An event of default will occur if certain credit covenant ratios drop below specific

levels While an event of default exists majority of the senior note holders can declare the principal and

accrued and unpaid interest immediately due and payable Only two of our Kleros deals and one of our Libertas

deals have not yet triggered an event of default

AUM in our Kleros Libertas and Scorpius product lines increased from $996.0 million as of December 31

2005 to $24.3 billion as of December 31 2007 reflecting compound annual growth rate of 394% This period

of rapid growth was driven by high levels of home price appreciation as well as the loosening of mortgage

underwriting standards which generated record mortgage origination volume In 2007 many iegions of the

country started reporting declining home prices The aggressive underwriting standards and declining home

prices led to higher than anticipated delinquencies defaults and losses AUM fell to $4.0 billion as of

December 31 2010

Nepiuno EuroDekania Management acts as junior investment manager toNeptuno CLO III By
Neptuno III limited liability company incorporated under the laws of The Netherlands The lead

investment management partner on this deal is large European bank Neptuno III is comprised of Euiopcan

broadly syndicated corporate loans We completed Neptuno III in December 2007
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In general Neptuno III has the following terms We receive senior and subordinate management fees and

there is no potential to earn incentive fees We cannot he remnved as junior investment manager without cause

We can be removed as junior investment manager for cause if 66.7% of the senior note holders and 66.7% of the

equity holders vote to remove us Cause includes unremedied violations of the collateral management agreement

or trust deed breach of the collateral management agreement that is not cured within 30 60 days

misrepresentations or fraud criminal activity bankruptcy insolvency or dissolution There is six year

reinvestment period after closing during which the manager may sell and purchase collateral for the deal After

the last day of the reinvestment period collateral principal collections will be applied to the notes sequentially

There is three year non call period for the equity holders Once this non call period is over majority of the

equity holders can trigger an optional redemption as long as it generates sufficient proceeds to cover all principal

and accrued interest on the rated notes and all expenses Any failure of over collateralization coverage tests

redirects interest to paying down notes until compliance is restored Any failure of interest diversion tests during

the reinvestment period redirects interest to purchasing collateral until compliance is restored The maturity of

the securities is 17 years from closing An event of default will occur if certain over-collateralization ratios drop

below 100% While an event of default exists majority of the senior note holders can declare the principal and

accrued and unpaid interest immediately due and payable

Principal Investing

Our Principal Investing business segment is comprised primarily of our investments in investment vehicles

we manage as well as investments in structured products and the related gains and losses that they generate

Investments in In vestment Funds

Deep Value We seeded Deep Value with an initial capital commitment of $15 million at its inception in

April 2008 The initial capital commitment was drawn during the following six months This initial investment

was subsequently impacted by the funds returns and distributions As they are closed-end funds investors in

Deep Value do not have redemption rights in December 2009 Deep Value started distributing net cash available

for distribution From December 2009 through December 2010 we received $24.2 million of these distributions

Our net investment in Deep Value was valued at $28000 at December 31 2010

Duart Fund We seeded the Duart Global Deep Value Securities Fund LP Duart Fund with $4.5

million investment in September 2010 The Duart Fund is specialized deep value and special situations

opportunity fund The Duart Funds investment objective is to provide superior absolute returns by investing

primarily in portfolio of long and short positions in public and private real estate equity securities equity linked

securities or debt securities including but not limited to convertible debt debt with warrants wanants and

credit default swaps related to real estate securities and partnership or fund interests in the real estate industry

globally We do not manage the Duart Fund but we own 20% of the investment manager As of December 31

2010 our investment in the Duart Fund was valued at $4.3 million Effective December 31 2010 we submitted

redemption notice to the Duart Fund to redeem 100% of our capital We expect to receive our redemption by

March 31 2011

Brigadier We seeded Brigadier with an initial investment of $30 million at its inception in May 2006 The

initial investment was subsequently impacted by the funds returns as well as our redemptions The change in

value that is result of the funds returns is what flowed through our Principal Investing business segment

statement of operations Our investment in Brigadier was at its highest level of $54.5 million in March 2008

Prior to its liquidation in 2010 we redeemed $56.8 million including our initial investment During 2010

Brigadier was liquidated and our investment was fqlly redeemed as of December 31 2010

Investments in Permanent Capital Vehicles

EuroDekania We made an initial investment of 5.3 million in EuroDekania in its initial private offering

of securities in March 2007 in August 2010 we purchased an additional $0.3 million in secondary trade In
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addition to changes in the NAV of the entity the value of our investment is impacted by changes in the U.S

dollar Euro currency exchange rate due to the fact that our investment in EuroDekania is denominated in Euros

During 2010 wc rccoided $0.5 million of investment gains on our investment in EuroDekania As of

December 31 2010 we own approximately 5% of EuroDekania Our 1054882 shares of EuroDekania were

valued at $1.3 million at December 31 2010

MFCA We made an initial investment of $5.0 million in MFCA in its initial private offering of securities in

June 2007 and follow-on investment of $0.6 million in its rights offering of securities in June 2009 During

2010 we recorded $0.1 million of investment gains on our investment in MFCA As of December 31 2010 we

owned approximately 3% of MFCA Our 1000200 shares of MFCA were valued at $2.5 million at

December 31 2010

Star Asia We made an initial investment of $10.0 million in Star Asia in its initial private offering of

securities in March 2007 follow on investment of $7.0 million in its rights offering of securities in April 2008

follow on investment of $0.4 million in secondary trade in December 2008 follow on investment of $0.1

million in secondary trade in December 2009 follow on investment of $5.5 million in its rights offering of

securities in March 2010 and follow-on investments of $4.9 million in secondary trades during 2010 During

2010 we recorded $18.1 million of investment gains on our investment in Star Asia As of December 31 2010

we owned approximately 27% of Star Asia Our 4345 .677 shares of Star Asia were valued at $38.0 million or

$8.75 per share at December 31 2010 During 2010 we put in place Japanese Yen-based forward contracts to

partially hedge fluctuations in the investment value of Star Asia The fair value of these forward contracts was

negative $0.5 million at December 31 2010

Other Investments

Investments in Publicly Traded Equity Securities In March 2005 we sponsored the formation of

Taberna Taberna was separate company through which we spun off our business of originating TruPS issued

by REITs and sponsoring and managing investment vehicles collateralized by those assets We did not manage

Taberna Tn December 2006 Taberna was acquired by RAIT publicly-traded REIT NYSE RAS Our

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Daniel Cohen is the foniier Chief Executive Officer and was trustee

of RAIT until he resigned from these positions on February 26 2010 We sold our 510434 common shares of

RAIT in March 2010

Investments in Collateralized Debt Obligation and Other Securities We have invested in various

original issuance securities of the deals we have sponsored and certain other deals that we have not sponsored In

addition upon the closing of the Merger we assumed ownership of the investments that AFN had made prior to

the closing of the Merger As of December 31 2010 we had approximately $1.0 million in fair value of these

collateralized debt obligations and other securities

Investments in Equity Method Affiliates We have five investments that are classified as equity method

affiliates Star Asia Manager Star Asia SPV Deep Value GP Deep Value OP II and Duart Capital For

discussion of the equity method affiliates accounting see Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations beginning on page 56

Star Asia Manager We have an investment in Star Asia Manager which serves as external manager to

Star Asia We and our joint venture partner each own 50% of Star Asia Manager Therefore the value

of our investment in Star Asia Manager changes by 50% of Star Asia Managers net income or loss As

of December 31 2010 our investnient in Star Asia Manager had carrying value of $0.2 million

StarAsia SPV Our investment in the Star Asia rights offering in Maith 2010 was made through

special purpose entity the Star Asia SPV We own approximately 30% of the Star Asia SPV As of

December 31 2010 our investment in Star Asia SPV had carrying value of $1.6 million

14



Deep Value GP We serve as external manager of Deep Value and we own 50% of the general partner

of the onshore and offshore feeder funds of Deep Value the Deep Value OP Therefore the value of

our investment in Deep Value OP changes by 50% of Deep Value OPs net income or loss We made

an initial investment in Deep Value OP of $0.1 million in May 2008 As of December 31 2010 our

investment in Deep Value GP had carrying value of $0.3 million

Deep Value GP IL We serve as external manager of Deep Value II and we own 40% of the general

partner of the offshore feeder fund of Deep Value TI the Deep Value GP II Therefore the value of

our investment in Deep Value OP II changes by 40% of Deep Value OP IIs net income or loss As of

December 31 2010 our investment in Deep Value OP 11 had carrying value of $31000

Duart Gapital We own 20% of Duart Capital Management LLC Duart Capital the investment

manager of the Duart Fund We agreed to fund certain of Duart Capitals start-up costs As of

December 31 2010 our investment in Duart Capital had carrying value of $0

Competitive Strengths

By taking advantage of what we perceive as our competitive strengths we will seek to grow our business

and deliver superior returns for our investors and stockholders

Strong Client Relationship anti Diverse Product Offerings We maintain long standing relationships with

institutional investors Our knowledge of structured financial instruments permits us to provide value to the

investors in these types of securities which has allowed us to continue to grow our business during times of

unprecedented market change We have focused on expanding our expertise to areas that complement our core

competency in structured credit in order to expand our presence across asset classes and strengthen the service

capabilities of our business

Alignment with Our Investors and Stockholders It is very important to us to have our interests aligned with

those of our investors and stockholders To that end we invest capital in each of our businesses and promote

culture of employee stock ownership We have committed capital to our trading operations and have made

investments in each of our permanent capital vehicles and investment funds as well as tranches of many of the

collateralixed debt obligations we have sponsored In addition significant portion of the compensation of our

senior management and investment professionals is based on the performance of our investment vehicles and our

trading operations As of December31 2010 our directors and senior management owned in excess of 50% of

our outstanding equity interests including units convertible into Common Stock

Variable

Cost Structure Efficient and Scalable Operations Many of our professionals work under variable

compensation arrangements which pay for performance but do not generate significant compensation expense in

the absence of revenue creation Our credit analysis structuring and risk management expertise together with

our quantitative analytical capability and infrastructure of information technology accounting legal and other

professionals with significant experience in our businesses allows us to easily and quickly expand into new

credit-based asset classes without incurring significant additional costs During the recent credit crisis we reacted

quickly to maintain attractive operating performance thiough workforce reductions cost cutting and

repositioning investment professionals

Managemnentrirrangemnents Genera/c Recurring Fee Income We manage investment vehicles pursuant to

management agreements that typically generate recurring fee incnme during the life nf the investment vehicle In

general it is difficult for the investment vehicles to terminate our management arrangements in the absence of

wrongdoing by us However as noted above ceitain of our investment vehicles are liquidating or experiencing

high level of deferrals defaults and downgrades that negatively impact our managethent fees In addition certain

of our permanent capital vehicles are also experiencing NAV erosion
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Comprehensive Platform Experienced Mann gement We have the capabilities and infrastructure to

underwrite originate and manage collateral trade and distribute structured credit products and create innovative

alternative investment funds Daniel Cohen and Christopher Ricciardi each have almost 2t years of

experience in structured finance capital markets and asset management Our executive management team is

supported by team of professionals that also has significant experience in our industries We believe that our

comprehensive capabilities and experienced personnel position us for continued growth

Proprietary Operations Systems Our proprietary operations software is complemented by third party

systems and is designed with inherent flexibility to respond in real time to changing client needs and to satisfy

capacity to grow assets for existing and new investment products and strategies Our technology and analytics

systems incorporate underlying asset data credit and surveillance systems compliance monitoring tools cash

flow models and an investor reporting website We believe that the investment in our internal systems is driver

for significant revenue growth without significant additional expense

Extensive Risk Management Expertise Measuring understanding and controlling risk is fundamental to the

way we do business We employ sophisticated qualitative and quantitative institutional risk management systems

to monitor and manage our exposure across our business lines We have adopted formalixed risk management

policies and procedures These policies and procedures are designed to limit loss frequency and severity

Consequently we place significant emphasis on managing loss severity should losses occur Our risk

management group oversees and strives to take proactive role in the effective management of the various

financial and other associated risks in the normal course of our business activities It gathers and analyzes data

monitors investments and markets in detail and constantly strives to better quantify qualify and circumscribe

relevant risks

Growth Strategy

Our growth strategy is to continue to enhance our sales and trading capabilities as well as to leverage our

asset management expertise to create innovative new investment funds and principal investing opportunities In

addition we may pursue an acquisition strategy as consolidation in our industry intensifies We plan to achieve

these objectives through the following strategies

Enhance Capital Markets Capabilities Our Capital Markets segment has transitioned from dealing

primarily in TruPS and structured credit securities to trading in wide range of credit based fixed income

securities We have built our sales and trading platform with many new hires and increased production in existing

products while adding capabilities in new products We will continue to look to hire talented sales and trading

professionals to expand our Capital Markets business segment geographically by asset class and by client

relationships While we are not optimistic about our new issue business returning in its historical form in the near

future there are other potential near term new issue opportunities in the credit markets Most of the immediate

opportunities are result of government sponsored programs such as SBA loan pooling and CMO issuance We

believe that eventually more normalized new issue credit and secuiitization market will develop We would

expect to be an active participant in such market

Maintain Solid Peiformonce We believe the most effective strategy for continuing the growth of our

businesses is to align our economic interests with those of oui investors and to deliver strong investment

performance Crucial to this strategy is our ability to devote time attention energy resources and expertise to

effectively manage our investment vehicles In particular we believe that our highly disciplined investment

process intensive credit analysis and fundamental research and our hands-on approach to asset management

and risk management will enable us to continue to create value in and maintain the solid performance of our

investment vehicles While the unprecedented turmoil in the credit markets ha created incredible challenges we

continue to woik constantly to improve the performance of our investment vehieles Virtually all of our

investment vehicles have long duration While the past few years have been challenging we have many years

in which to work towards improving performance
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Create Innovative Investment Opportunities We intend to continue to selectively diversify our business into

new alternative asset strategies We focus on assets in sectors where our professionals have significant expertise

and relationships such as middle-market banking insurance and real estate We have successfully redeployed

our ABS team to work on investment funds focusing on distressed real estate assets and we believe that we are

well positioned to execute similar initiatives in our other business lines We continually explore number of

investment funds that would capitalize on the strengths of our professionals In addition we have broad base of

institutional and high net worth individual investors who have traditionally supported our new business

initiatives although there is no assurance that they will continue to do so

Pursue Acquisition Oppor unities We plan to actively pursue opportunities to acquire complementary

capital markets and asset management businesses In January 2011 we closed our acquisition of JVB which

added 63 professionals to our Capital Markets business In 2010 JVB generated $24.8 million in revenue We

will continue to evaluate acquisition opportunities in an effort to expand our Capital Markets segment by

acquiring smaller broker-dealer sales and trading operations that expand and enhance our existing capabilities to

the extent attractive opportunities exist In addition we believe that many of our competitors in the asset

management space may consider selling assets and management contracts in order to raise capital We may

continue to pursue revenue and earnings growth through management contract roll up strategy and believe we

may be well positioned to execute such strategy Our asset management and analytics professionals will

evaluate opportunities to acquire ongoing management fee streams as they arise

Capitalize on Our Reputation and Management Experience We believe that the strength of our reputation

in the industry provides us with significant advantage in attracting talent and outside capital We draw upon the

expertise of our professionals in each of our asset classes to create comprehensive investment management

platform We believe that we have assembled superior team of investment professionals and support staff to

deliver focused idea generation and execution across our businesses

Technology

We invest significant resources in technology including purchasing leading data and software licenses

where suitable products exist and developing software for functionality that is unique to our needs and is not

available in any vendor product The technology group is made up of six professionals These individuals have

extensive experience developing software and supporting systems for our investment-related businesses

The technology group provides us with an extensive investment and trading platform

Portfolio Management Trading System

Our asset management businesses use proprietary in house portfolio management system featuring

automated asset data feeds centralized asset database for managing exposures across deals asset

pipeline and ramp-up tracking information credit data used in the initial investment decision and

up-to date asset performance data for timely surveillance of all assets

Our Capital Markets business uses the same platform to track trades..revenues and risk as well as to

access an extensive security database containing indicative and perfonanee data on close to 200000

securities

Production Commission Tool Our Capital Markets business uses proprietaiy in house tool to track

in real time trading P/L sales credits and net commissions foi each trader and salesperson

Loan Level Mortgage Database We host leading vendor loan level mortgage database on our servers

and have developed proprietary tools for analyzing the data and automating scenario analysis using the

vendor loan level model

Structured Pioduets Cash Flow Model Our proprietary cash flow model provides flexible controlled

environnient for modeling structured finance transactions Using this platform our structuring team
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models all such transactions to which we are party as collateral manager or placement agent The

model performs detailed scenario analyses including rating agency stress analysis After closing all

transactions are modeled in third party vendor application which we access for performing ongoing

scenario analysis

Security Data Licenses We subscribe to market data vendors providing security terms ratings pricing

and other performance metrics

External Website with Investor Reporting Our websites secure login area allows investors in our

investment vehicles to easily access portfolio information online The website is updated continually to

provide investors with the most recent information and to better facilitate interaction The website

includes monthly trustee reports asset manager periodic and special reports and other performance

information on investments Providing such information helps us to provide transparency to our

investors and achieve high.level of satisfaction

Stablc Technology Infrastructure Dcdicated professionals support our secured corporate computer

network All file servers including production databases are backed up on daily basis and tapes taken

off site for business continuity purposes

Risk Management Policies and Procedures

Measuring understanding and controlling risk is fundamental to the way we do business Our risk

management group oversees and strives to take proactive role in the effective management of the various

financial and other associated risks in the normal course of our business activities It gathers and analyzes data

monitors investments and markets in detail and constantly strives to better quantify qualify and circumscribe

relevant risks The key functions of the risk management group
include

monitoring all of our trading related activities including market risk credit risk documentation and

data integrity

identifying material maiket credit compliance and operational risks

providing clarity and transparency as to all levels of risk taking in our business lines

controlling mark to-market valuation through comprehensive price testing cxercise and intra-month

checks of large positions

error monitoring and

net capital monitoring

In order to facilitate the risk monitoring and reporting process we have formed risk committee whose

members include our Chaiiman and CEO President CEO and Chief Risk Officer Our General Counsel

regularly attends these meetings The risk committees function covers all aspects of risk and may choose to

analyze particular trades or certain classes of investment activities Our risk committee meets monthly The

committee may call on other employees of the Company to be present in order to properly evaluate secific

situations

Einployee.s

As of December 31 2010 we employed total of 133 full time professionals and support staff We have

two part time employees in addition This number does not include the 63 employees from JVB who were added

upon the closing of the acquisition on Januar 13 2011 We consider our employee relations to be good and

believe that our compensation and employee benefits are competitive with those offered by other securities firms

None of our employees is subject to any collective bargaining agreements
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Our core asset is our professionals their intellectual capital and their dedication to providing the highest

quality services to our clients Prior to joining us members of our management team held positions with other

leading financial services firms accounting firms law firms or investment firms Daniel Cohen Christopher

Ricciardi and Joseph Pooler Jr are our executive operating officers and biographical information relating to

each of these officers is incorporated by reference in Part TIT Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and

Corporate Governance to the Companys Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with the Companys 2011

Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Competition

All areas of our business are intensely compctitivc and we expect them to remain so We believe that the

principal factors affecting competition in our business include client relationships reputation quality and price of

our products and services market focus and the ability of our professionals

Our competitors are other public and private asset managers investment banks brokerage firms merchant

banks and financial advisory firms We compete globally and on regional product or niche basis Many of our

competitors have substantially greater capital and resources than we do and offer broader range of financial

products and services Certain of these competitors continue to raise additional amounts of capital to pursue

business strategies which may be similar to ours Some of these competitors may also have access to liquidity

sources that are not available to us which may pose challenges for us with respect to invcstment opportunities In

addition some of these competitors may have higher risk tolerances or make different risk assessments than we

do allowing them to consider wider varicty of investments and establish broader business relationships

In recent years there has been substantial consolidation and convergence among companies in the financial

services industry including among many of our former competitors In particular number of large commercial

banks have established or acquired broker dealers or have merged with other financial institutions Many of these

firms have the ability to offer wider rangc of products than we offer including loans deposit taking and

insurance Many of these firms also have more extensive investment banking services which may enhance their

competitive position They also have the ability to support investment banking and securities products with

commercial banking and other financial services revenue in an effort to gain market share which could result in

prcing pressure in our business This trend toward consolidation and convergence has significantly increased the

capital base and geographic reach of our competitors

Competition is intense for the recruitment and retention of experienced and qualified professionals The

success of our business and our ability to continue to compete effectively will depend significantly upon our

continued ability to retain and motivate our existing professionals and attract new piofessionals See Item IA

Risk Factors beginning on page 24

Regulation

Certain of our subsidiaries in the ordinary course of their business are subject to extensive regulation by

government and self-iegulatory organizations both in the United States and abroad As matter of public policy

these regulatory bodies are responsible for safeguarding the integrity of the securities and other financial markets

These regulations are designed primarily to protect the interests of the investing public generally and thus cannot

be expected to protect or further the interests of our company or our stockholders and may have the effect of

limiting or curtailing our activities including activities that might be profitable

Our subsidiaries include CCS JVB and CCCM three United States registered broker dealers regulated by

FINRA and subject to oversight by the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC EurnDekania

Management previously known as Cohen Company Financial Limited U.K company iegulated by the

FSA and Cohen Company Financial Managemnt LLC Cohen Company Manpgement LLC Dekania

Capital Management LLC and Strategos each of which is registered investment ad.visoi iegulated by the SEC

under the Investment Advisers Act Since our inception our businesses have been operated within legal and

regulatory framework that is constantly developing and changing requiring us to be able to monitor and comply

with broad range of legal and regulatory developments that affect our activities



Certain of our businesses are also subject to compliance with laws and regulations of United Sates federal

and state governments non United States governments their respective agencies and/or various self-regulatory

organizations or exchanges relating to among other things the privacy of client information and any failure to

comply with these regulations could expose us to liability and/or reputational damage Additional legislation

changes in rules promulgated by financial authorities and self regulatory organizations or changes in the

interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules either in the United States or abroad may directly affect

our mode of operation and profitability

The United States and non-United States government agencies and self-regulatory organizations as well as

state securities commissions in the United States are empowered to conduct periodic examinations and initiate

administrative proceedings that can result in censure fine the issuance of cease and-desist orders and/or the

suspension or expulsion of broker dealer or its directors officers or employees See Item IA Risk Pactois

beginning on page 24

United States Regulation CCS and CCCM are registered as broker-dealers with the SEC are licensed to

conduct business in each of the 50 states and the District of Columbia and are members of and regulated by

FINRA Our broker-dealer subsidiaries are subject to the regulations of FINRA and industry standards of practice

that cover many aspects of their business including initial licensing requirements sales and trading practices

relationships with customers including the handling of cash and margin accounts capital structure capital

requirements record keeping and reporting procedures experience and training requirements for certain

employees and supervision of the conduct of affiliated persons including directors officers and employees

FINRA has the power to expel fine and otherwise discipline member firms and their employees for violations of

these rules and regulations Our United States broker dealer subsidiaries are also licensed as broker dealers in

each of the SO states of the United States and the District of Columbia requiring us to comply with the laws

rules and regulations of each state Each state may revoke the license to conduct securities business in that state

and may fine or otherwise discipline broker-dealers and their employees

The SEC FINRA and various other regulatory agencies within and outside of the United States have

stringent rules and regulations with respect to the maintenance of specific levels of net capital by regulated

entities Generally broker dealers net capital is net worth plus qualified subordinated debt less deductions for

certain types of assets The net capital rule under the Exchange Act requires that at least minimum part of

broker dealers assets be maintained in relatively liquid form The SEC and FINRA impose rules that require

notification when net capital falls below certain predefined criteria These rules also dictate the ratio of debt to

equity in the regulatory capital composition of broker dealer and constrain the ability of broker dealer to

expand its business under certain circumstances If firm fails to maintain the required net capital it may be

subject to suspension revocation of registration by the applicable regulatory agency and suspension or

expulsion by these regulators could ultimately lead to the firms liquidation Additionally the net capital rule

under the Exchange Act and certain FINRA rules impose requirements that may have the effect of prohibiting

broker-dealer from distributing or withdrawing capital and requiring prior notice to the SEC and FINRA for

certain capital withdrawals

If these net capital rules are changed or expanded or if there is an unusually large charge against our net

capital our operations that require the intensive use of capital would be limited large operating loss or charge

against our net capital could adversely affect our ability to expand or even maintain current levels of business

which could have material adverse effect on our business and financial condition

Our investment advisor subsidiaries are registered with the SEC as investment advisers and are subject to the

rules and regulations of the lnvestnient Advisers Act The Investment Advisers Act imposes numerous obligations

on registered investment advisers including record-keeping operational and marketing requirements disclosure

obligations limitations on principal transactions between an adviser and its affiliates and advisory clients and

prohibitions on fraudulent activities The SEC is authorized to institute proceedings and impose sanctions for

violations of the Investment Advisers Act ianging from fines and censure to termination of an investment advisers

registration Investment advisers are also subject to certain state securities laws and regulations
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We are also subject to the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001 which has imposed new obligations regarding the

prevention and detection of mnney-laundering activities including the establishment of custnmer due diligence

customer verification and other compliance policies and procedures These regulations require certain

disclosures by and restrict the activities of research analysts and broker-dealers among others Failure to

comply with these new requirements may result in monetary regulatory and in the case of the USA PATRIOT

Act criminal penalties

On July 21 2010 the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act the Dodd-Frank

Act was signed into law The Dodd-Frank Act contains variety of provisions designed to regulate financial

markets including credit and derivative transactions Many aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act are subject to

rulemaking that will take effect over several years thus making it difficult to assess the impact of the statute on

the financial industry including us at this time We will continue to monitor all applicable developments in the

implementation of the Dodd Frank Act and expect to adapt successfully to any new applicable legislative and

regulatory requirements

Foreign Regulation Our U.K subsidiary EuroDekania Management is authorized and regulated by the

FSA EuroDekania Management has FSA permission to carry on the following activities advising on

investments arranging bringing about deals in investments making arrangements with view to

transactions in investments dealing in investments as agent and managing investments An overview of

key aspects of the U.K regulatory regime which apply to EuroDekania Management is set out below

Ongoing regulatory obligations As an FSA regulated entity EuroDekania Management is subject to the

FSAs ongoing regulatory obligations which cover the following wide ranging aspects of its business

threshold conditions The FSAs Threshold Conditions Soureebook sets out five conditions which all U.K

authorized firms including EuroDekania Management must satisfy in order to become and remain authorized by

the FSA These relate to having adequate legal status an appropriate location for the firms registered or head

office fit and proper links adequate financial and non-financial resources and the suitability to be and to remain

authorized

Principles for Businesses EuroDekania Management is expected to comply with the FSAs high-level

principles set out in the Principles for Businesses Soureebook the Principles The Principles govern the way

in which regulated firm conducts business and include obligations to conduct business with integrity due skill

care and diligence to have appropriate regard for customers interests to ensure adequate and appropriate

communication with clients and to ensure appropriate dialogue with regulators both in the U.K and overseas

Systems and controls One of the FSAs Principles requires regulated firm to take reasonable care to

organize and control its affairs responsibly and effectively with adequate risk management systems

Consequently the FSA imposes overarching responsibilities on the directors and senior management of

regulated firm The FSA ultimately expects the senior management of regulated firm to take responsibility for

determining what processes and internal organization are appropriate to its business Key requirements in this

context include the need to have adequate systems and controls in relation to senior management

arrangements and general organizational requirements compliance internal audit and financial crime

prevention outsoureing record keeping and managing conflicts of interest

Conduct of business obligation The FSA imposes conduct of business rules which set out the obligations to

which regulated firms are subject in their dealings with clients and potential clients EuroDekania Management

has FSA permission to deal only with eligible eounterparties and piofessional clients in relation to most of the

regulated activities it conducts The exception to this is that when it conducts the regulated activity of making

arrangements with view to transactions in investments EuroDekania Management may deal only with retail

and professional clients The detailed level of the conduct of business iules with which EuroDekania

Management must comply is dependent on the categorization of its clients which should be considered in the

context of the regulated activity being performed These rules include requirements relating to the type and level
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of information which must be provided to clients before business is conducted with or for them the regulation of

financial promotions procedures for entering into client agrcements obligations relating to the suitability and

apprupiiateness of investments and iules abuut managing investments and reporting to clients

Reporting All authorized firms in the U.K are required to report to the FSA on periodic basis

EuroDekania Managements reporting requirements are based on its scope of permissions The FSA will use the

information submitted by EuroDekania Management to monitor it on an ongoing basis There are also high level

reporting obligations under the Principles whereby EuroDekania Management is required to deal with the FSA

and other regulators in an open and co operative way and to disclose to regulators appropriately anything relating

to it of which the regulators would reasonably expect notice

FSA enforcement powers The FSA has wide range of disciplinary and enforcement tools which it can

use should regulated firm fail to comply with its regulatory obligations The FSA is not only able to investigate

and take enforcement action in respect of breaches of FSA rules but also in respect of insider dealing and market

abuse offenses and breaches of anti-money laundering legislation Formal sanctions vary from public censure to

financial penalties to cancellation of an authorized firms permissions or withdrawal of an approved persons

approval

Financial resources One of the FSAs Principles requires regulated firm to rrraintain adequate financial

resources Under the FSA rules the required level of capital depends on EuroDekania Managements prudential

categorization calculated in accordance with the relevant PSA rules firms prudential categorization is loosely

based on the type of regulated activities which it conducts as this in turn determines the level of iisk to which

firm is considered exposed firm like EuroDekania Management would be classified as full scope BIPRU

730K Investment firm In broad terms this means that it would be subject to base capital requirement of the

higher of 730000 or its credit risk plus its market risk plus its operational risk There are also detailed

ongoing regulatory capital requirements applicable to regulated firm including those relating to limits on large

exposures and settlement and counterparty risk client monies and client relationships

Anti-money laundering requirements U.K financial institution is subject to additional client acceptance

requirements which stem from anti money laundering legislation which requires firm to identify its clients

before conducting business with or for them and to retain appropriate documentary evidence of this process

The key U.K anti money laundering legislation are the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 as amended
the Terrorism Act 2000 as amended and the Money Laundering Regulations 2007 as amended For an

FSA regulated firm such as EuroDekania Management there are additional obligations contained in the FSAs

rules Guidance is also set out in the U.K Joint Money Laundering Steering Group Guidance Notes which the

FSA would have review of when considering compliance by regulated firm with U.K money laundering

requirements

As an ESA regulated entity EuroDekania Management is required to ensure that it has adequate systems

and controls to enable it to identify assess monitor and manage financial crime risk EuroDekania Management

must also ensure that these systems and controls are comprehensive and proportionate to the nature scale and

complexity of its activities

In addition to potential regulatory sanctions from the PSA failure to comply with the U.K anti
.money

laundering requirements is criminal offense depending on the exact nature of the offense such failure is

punishable by an unlimited fine imprisonment or both

Approved persons regime Individuals performing certain functions within regulated entity known as

controlled functions are required to be approved by the FSA Once approved the approved person becomes

subject to the FSAs Statements of Principle for Approved Persons which include the obligation to act with

integrity and with due skill care and diligence The FSA can take action against an approved person if it appears

to it that such person is guilty of misconduct and the PSA is satisfied that it is appropriate in all the circumstances

to take action against such person
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Consequently EuroDekania Management is required to have approved persons performing certain ke
functions known as required functions In addition EuroDekania Management must have its senior management

personnel approved to perform the appropriate governing functions EuroDekania Management is required to

cnsure that it assesses and monitors the ongoing competence of its approved persons
and their fitness and

propriety

Changes in Existing Laws and Rules Additional legislation and regulations changes in rules promulgated

by the government regulatory bodies or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of laws and regulations may

directly affect the manner of our operation our net capital requirements or our profitability In addition any

expansion of our activities into new areas may subject us to additional regulatory requirements that coud

adversely affect our business reputation and results of operations
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ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below and elsewhere in this document

If any of these risks actually occur our business financial condition liquidity and results of operations could be

adversely affected The risks and uncertainties described below constitute all of the material risks of the

Company of which we are currently aware however the risks and uncertainties described below may not be the

only risks the Company will face Additional risks and uncertainties of which we are presently unaware or that

we do not currently deem material may become important factors that affect us and could materially and

adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and the trading price of our securities

Investing in the Companys securities involves risk and the following risk factors together with the other

information contained in this report and the other reports and documents filed by us with the Securities Exchange

Commission should be considered carefully

Risks Related to Adverse Market Conditions

Difficult market conditions particularly in the securitization markets have adversely affected our business in

many ways and may continue to adversely affect our business in manner which could materially reduce our

revenues

Our business has been and will continue to be materially affected by conditions in the global financial

markets and economic conditions throughout the world The past several quarters have been extremely volatile

and have presented many challenges including declines in the housing and credit markets in the U.S and Europe

and heightened concerns over the creditworthiness of various financial institutions Global credit markets have

continued to experience illiquidity and wider credit spreads These factors have resulted in significant declines in

the performance of financial assets in general with even more severe pressure on securitized financial assets

Our asset management revenues and investments in collateralized debt obligations has been and continues to

be materially and directly affected by conditions in the global securitization markets Further since significant

portion of our asset management contracts and collateralized debt obligation investments relate to entities that are

collateralized by securities issued by banks and insurance companies and real estate-related securities we will

be directly and materially affected by adverse changes in those sectors During the recent period of unfavorable

market and economic conditions including loss of confidence of ratings agencies the credit quality of certain

assets underlying collateralized debt obligations has been adversely affected and investors have been unwilling to

invest in collateralized debt obligations As result our profitability has been adversely affected and these same

factors may continue to adversely affect our business The future market and economic climate may further

deteriorate due to factois beyond our control including rising interest rates or inflation increasing

unemployment continued turmoil in the global credit markets terrorism or political uncertainty

In addition historically the majority of our new issue revenues have come from arranging or participating

in new debt offerings seeuritized by certain assets As noted above investments in collateralized debt obligations

collateralized loan obligations and similar structured vehicles have fallen out of favor with investors and our

ability to generate new issue revenues from the creation of new securitized financial assets has been adversely

affected If we are unable to increase these revenues or replace them with new or other sources of revenue our

results of operations could be adversely affected

prolonged economic slowdown volatility in the markets recession declining real estate values and

increasing interest rates could impair our investments and harm our operating results

Our investments are and will continue to be susceptible to economic slowdowns recessions and rising

interest rates which may lead to financial losses in our investments and decrease in revenues net income and

asset values These events may reduce the value of our investments reduce the number of attractive investment

opportunities available to us and harm our operating results which in turn may adversely affect our cash flow

from operations
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Our ability to raise capital in the long-term or short term debt capital markets or the equity markets or to

access secured lending markets has been and could continue to be adversely affected by conditions in the U.S

and international markets and the economy Global market and economic conditions have been and continue to

be disrupted and volatile In particular the cost and availability of funding have been and may continue to be

adversely affected by illiquid credit markets and wider credit spreads As result of concern about the stability of

the markets generally and the strength of counterparties specifically many lenders and institutional investors

have reduced and in some cases ceased to provide funding to borrowers Continued turbulence in the U.S and

international markets and economy may adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition and the willingness

of certain counterparties to do business with us

We may experience further write downs offinancial instruments and other losses related to the volatile and

illiquid market conditions

The credit markets in the U.S began suffering significant disruption in the summer of 2007 This disruption

began in the subprime residential mortgage sector and extended to the broader credit and financial markets

generally During the third quarter of 2008 it became clear that the global economy had been adversely impacted

by the credit crisis Available liquidity particularly through ABS collateralized debt obligations and other

securitizations declined precipitously dur ng 2007 continued to decline in 2008 and remains significantly

depressed Concerns about the capital adequacy of financial services companies disruptions in global credit

markets volatility in commodities prices and continued price declines in the U.S housing market have led to

further disruptions in the financial markets adversely affecting regional banks and have exacerbated the

longevity and severity of the credit crisis The disruption in these markets generally and in the U.S European

and Asian real estate markets in particular has directly impacted and may continue to directly impact our

business because our investment por folio includes investments in MBS residential mortgages leveraged loans

and bank and insurance company debt Furthermore the asset management revenues we derive from

collateralized debt obligations that hold these types of investments are based on the outstanding performing

principal balance of those investments Therefore as adverse market conditions result in defaults within these

collateralized debt obligations our management fees may continue to decline We have exposure to these

markets and products and if market conditions continue to worsen the fair value of our investments and our

management fees could further deteriorate In addition market volatility illiquid market conditions and

disruptions in the global credit markets have made it extremely difficult to value certain of our securities

Subsequent valuations in light of factors then prevailing may result in significant changes in the values of these

securities and when such securities are sold it may be at price materially lower than the eunent fair value Any

of these factors could require us to take further write downs in the fair value of our investments portfolio or cause

uur management fees to decline which may have an adverse effect on our results of uperations in future periods

Risks Related to Our Business

Our Capital Markets business segment depends significantly on limited group of customers

Based on Managements assessment of our business we believe that small number of our customers account

for significant portion of our revenues earned in our capital markets segment We are unable to measure the

level of this concentration because our dealing activities do not permit us to quantify revenues generated by each

customer We expect significant pot tion of the future demand for our capital markets services to remain

concentrated within liniited number of customers None of these customers is obligated contractually to use our

services Accordingly these customers may direct their activities to other firms at any time The loss of or

significant reduction in demand for our services from any of these customers could have material adverse effect

on our business financial condition and operating esults

25



We have experienced rapid growth in our Capital Markets business segment over the past several quarters

which may be djfficult to sustain and may place significant demands on our administrative operational and

financial resources Future growth may under some circumstances require regulatory approvaL

We intend to focus on the continued growth of our Capital Markets business segment which could place

additional demands on our resources and increase our expenses
Our future growth will depend on among other

things our ability to successfully identify groups and individuals to join our firm It may take more than year

for us to determine whether we have successfully integrated new individuals and capabilities into our operations

During that time we may incur significant expenses and expend significant time and resources toward training

integration and business development In addition our membership agreement with FINRA limits the number of

representatives who have direct contact with our public customers without FINRA review and approval The

need to obtain such approval could slow oi prevent our growth If we are unable to hire and retain senior

management or other qualified personnel such as sales people and traders we will not be able to implement our

growth strategy and our financial results may be materially and adversely affected

We will need to commit additional management operational and financial resources to continue and

sustain our growth and maintain appropriate operational and financial systems to adequately support

expansion There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our expanding operations effectively or that

we will be able to maintain or accelerate our growth and any failure to do so could have material adverse effect

on our ability to generate revenue and control expenses

The failure of the Company to successfully integrate the operations of recently acquired businesses could have

material adverse effect on the Companys business financial condition and operating results

Since the Merger in Decemher 7000 the nmpany has acquired several assets including CCCM in

September 2010 and JVB in January 2011 We will need to overcome significant challenges to realize the

expected benefits and synergies of these acquisitions These challenges include

integrating the management teams strategies cultures technologies and operations of the acquired

companies

retaining and assimilating the key personnel of acquired companies

retaining clients of the acquired companies

implementing uniform standards controls procedures policies and information systems and

achieving revenue growth because of risks involving the ability to retain clients the ability to

sell the services and products of the acquired companies to the existing clients of our other business

segments and the ability to sell the services and products of our other business segments to the

existing clients of the acquired companies

The accomplishment of these objectives will involve considerable risk including the potential disruption of each

companys ongoing business and distraction of their respective management teams unanticipated expenses

related to technology integration and potential unknown liabilities associated with the acquisitions

There is no assurance that future acquisitions will be successfully integrated It is possible that the integration

process could result in the loss of the technical skills and management expertise of key employees the disruption

of the ongoing businesses or inconsistencies in standards procedures and policies due to possible cultural

conflicts or differences of opinions on technical decisions and product road maps that adveisely affect the

Companys ability to maintain relationships with clients suppliers and employees or to achieve the anticipated

benefits of the acquisitions
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If we do not retain our senior management and continue to attract and retain qualified personnel we may not

be able to execute our business strategy

The members of our senior management team have extensive experience in the financial services industry

Their reputations and relationships with investors financing sources and members of the business community in

our industry among others are critical elements in operating and expanding our business As result the loss of

the services of one or more members of our senior management team could impair our ability to execute our

business strategy which could hinder our ability to achieve and sustain profitability

We have entered into an employment agreements including non-competition provisions with each of

Messrs Cohen Ricciardi and Pooler The initial term of each of thc employment agreements ends on

December 31 2012 however the term will be renewed automatically for additional one year periods unless

terminated by either of the partics in accordancc with the terms of each of the employment agreements Therc

can be no assurance that the ternis of the employment agreements will provide sufficient incentives for each of

the executive officers to continue employment with us

We depend on the diligence experience skill and network of business contacts of our executive officers and

employees in connection with our Capital Markets business segment our asset management operations

our investment activities and the evaluation negotiation structuring and management of our investment

funds permanent capital vehicles and structured products Our business depends on the expertise of our

personnel and their ability to work together as an effective team and our success depends substantially on our

ability to attract and retain qualified personnel Competition for employees with the necessary qualifications is

intense and we may not be successful in our efforts to recruit and retain the required personnel The inability to

retain and recruit qualified personncl could affect our ability to provide an acceptable levcl of service to our

clients and funds attract new clients and develop new lines of business which could have material adverse

effect on our business

Our business will require significant amount of cash and if it is not available our business and financial

performance will be significantly harmed

We require substantial amount of cash to fund our investments pay expenses and hold assets More

specifically we require cash to

meet our working capital requirements and debt service obligations

make seed investments in investmcnt vchicles

make incremental investments in our growing Capital Markets business

hire new employees

potentially acquire asset management companies or contracts and

meet other needs

Our primary sources of working capital and cash are expected to consist of

revenue from operations including net trading revenue asset management revenue new issue and

advisory revenue and interest income from our investment portfolio

interest income from temporary investmçnts and cash equivalents and

proceeds from future bonowings or any offerings of our equity or debt securities

We may not be able to generate sufficient amount of cash from operations and financing activities to

successfully execute our business strategy
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Failure to obtain adequate capital and funding would adversely affect the growth and results of our

operations and may in turn negatively affect the market price of our Common Stock

We depend upon the availability of adequate funding and capital for our operations In particular we may

need to raise additional capital in order to significantly grow our business Factors that we cannot control such as

continued or additional disruption of the financial markets or negative views about the financial services industry

generally have limited and may continue to limit our ability to raise capital In addition our ability to raise

capital could be impaired if lenders develop negative perception of our long-term or sh1-term financial

prospects Sufficient funding or capital may not be available to us in the future on terms that are acceptable or at

all In the event that we cannot obtain sufficient funding on acceptable terms there may be negative impact on

the market price of our Common Stock

The lack of liquidity in certain investments may adversely affect our business financial condition and results

of operations

We hold -investments in securities of private companies investment funds collateralized debt obligations

and collateralized loan obligations portion of these securities may be subject to legal and other restrictions on

resale or may otherwise be less liquid than publicly traded securities The illiquidity of our investments may

make it difficult for us to sell such investments if the need arises

If we are unable to manage the risks of international operations effectively our business could be adversely

affected

We provide services and products to clients in Europe through offices in London and Paris as well as in

Japan through our Star Asia joint venture and may seek to further expand our international operations in the

future There are certain additional risks inherent in doing business in international markets particularly in the

regulated brokerage and asset management industries These risks include

additional regulatory requirements

difficulties in recruiting and retaining personnel and managing the international operations

potentially adverse tax consequences tariffs and other trade barriers

adverse labor laws and

reduced protection for intellectual property rights

If we are unable to manage any of these risks effectively our business could be adversely affected

In addition our international operations expose us to the risk of fluctuations in currency exchange rates

generally and fluctuations in the exchange rates for the Euro the British Pound Sterling and the Japanese Yen in

particular Although we may hedge our foreign currency iisk we may not be able to do so successfully and may

incur losses that could adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations

The securities settlement process exposes us to risks that may adversely affect our business financial

condition and results of operations

We provide brokerage services to our clients in the form of either agency transactions or matched principal

transactions In agency transactions we charge commission for connecting buyers and sellers and assisting in

the negotiation of the price and other material terms of the transaction After all material terms of transaction

are agreed upon we identify the buyer and seller to each other and leave them to settle the trade diiectly We are

exposed to credit risk for commissions we bill to clients for agency brokerage services
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An increasing number of the brokerage transactions are matched principal transactions in which we act as

middleman by serving as counterparty to both buyer and seller in matching reciprocal back to back

trades These transactions which generally involve cash equities and bonds are then settled through clearing

institutions with which we have contractual relationship There is no guarantee that we will be able to maintain

existing contractual relationships with clearing institutions on favorable terms or that we will be able to establish

relationships with new clearing institutions on favorable terms or at all

In executing matchcd principal transactions we are exposed to the rsk that one of the counterparties to

transaction may fail to fulfill its obligations either because it is not matched immediately or even if matched

one party fails to delivcr the cash or securities it is obligated to deliver upon settlement In addition we focus on

less commoditized markets which exacerbates this risk because transactions in such markets are more likely not

to settle on timely basis Adverse movements in the prices of securities that are the subject of these transactions

can increase our risk In addition widespread technological or communication failures as well as actual or

perceived credit difficulties or the insolvency of one or more large or visible market participants could cause

market-wide credit difficulties or other market disruptions These failures difficulties or disruptions could result

in large number of market participants not settling transactions or otherwise not performing their obligations

We are subject to financing risk in these circumstances because if transaction does not settle on timely

basis the resulting unmatched position may need to be financed either directly by us or through one of our

clearing organizations at our expense These charges may not be recoverable from the failing counterparty

Finally in instances where the unmatched position or failure to deliver is prolonged or widespread due to rapid

or widespread declines in liquidity for an instrument there may also be regulatory capital charges required to be

taken by us which depending on their size and duration could limit our business flexibility or even force the

curtailment of those portions of our business requiring higher levels of capital Credit or settlement losses of this

nature could adversely affect our financial condition or rcsults of operations

In the process of executing matched principal transactions miscommunications and other errors by our

clients or by us can arise whereby transaction is not completed with one or more counterparties to the

transaction Icaving us with either long or short unmatchcd position These unmatched positions are rcferred to

as out trades and they create potential liability for us If an out trade is promptly discovered and there is

prompt disposition of the unmatched position the risk to us is usually limited If the discovery of an out trade is

delayed the risk is heightened by the increased possibility of intervening market movements prior to disposition

Although out trades usually become known at the time of or later on thc day of the trade it is possible that thcy

may not be discnvered until later in the settlement prncess When nut trades are disenvered nur pnlicy will

generally be to have the unmatched position disposed of promptly whether or not this disposition would result in

loss to us The occurrence of out trades generally rises with increases in the volatility of the market and

depending on theii number and amount such out trades have the potential to have material adverse effect on

our financial condition and results of operations

There have been an increasing number of defaults in certain mortgage and asset backed markets that have

recently forced growing number of financial institutions to report losses tied to write-downs of mortgages and

ABS As result there is an increased risk that one of oui clients or counterparties may default on their

obligations to us arising from either agency or matched principal transactions due to disputes bankruptcy lack of

liquidity operational failure or other reasons Any losses arising from such defaults could adversely affect our

financial condition or results of operations In addition the failure of significant number of counterparties or

counteiparty that holds significant amount of derivatises exposure or which has significant financial exposure

to or reliance on the mortgage asset backed oi related markets could have material adverse effect on the

trading volume and liquidity in particulai market for which we provide brokerage sçrvices or on the broader

financial markets It is difficult to predict how long these conditions will continue whether they will continue to

deteriorate and which of our products and services may be adversely affected These conditions could adversely

affect our financial condition and results of operations
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We have policies and procedures to identify monitor and manage our credit risk in both agency and principal

transactions through reporting and control procedures and by monitoring credit standards applicable to our clients

These policies and piocedures however may not be fully effective Some of our risk management methods will

depend upon the evaluation of information regarding markets clients or other matters that are publicly available or

otherwise accessible by us That information may not in all cases be accurate complete up-to date or properly

evaluated If our policies and procedures are not fully effective or we are not always successful in monitoring or

evaluating the risks to which we may be exposed our financial condition or results of operations could be adversely

affected In addition wemay not be able to obtain insurance to cover all of the types of ris1Z we face and any

insurance policies we do obtain may not provide adequate coverage for covered risks

We have market risk exposure from unmatched principal transactions entered into by our brokerage desks

which could result in substantial losses to us and adversely affect our financial condition and results of

operations

We allow certain of our brokerage desks to enter into limited number of unmatched principal transactions

in the ordinary course of business for the purpose of facilitating clients execution needs for transactions initiated

by such clients or to add liquidity to certain illiquid markets As result we have market risk exposure on these

unmatched principal transactions Our exposure will vary based on the size of the overall positions the terms and

liquidity of the instruments brokered and the amount of time the positions will be held before we dispose of the

position

We do not expect to track our exposure to unmatched positions on an intra-day basis These unmatched

positions arc intended to be held short term Due to number of factors including the nature of the position and

access to the market on which we trade we may not be able to match the position or effectively hedge our

exposure and often may be forced to hold position overnight that has not been hedged To the extent these

unmatched positions are not disposed of intra day we mark these positions to market Adverse movements in the

securities underlying these positions or downturn or disruption in the markets for these positions could result in

substantial loss In addition any principal gains and losses resulting from these positions could on occasion

have disproportionate effect positive or negative on our financial condition and results of operations for any

particular reporting period

Pricing and other competitive pressures may impair the revenues and profitability of our brokerage business

In recent years we have experienced significant pricing pressures on trading margins and commissions

primarily in debt trading In the fixed income market regulatory requirements have resulted in greater price

transparency leading to increased price competition and decreased trading margins The trend toward using

alternative trading systems is continuing to grow which may result in decreased commission and trading revenue

reduce our participation in the trading markets and our ability to access market information and lead to the creation

of new and stronger competitors As result of pressure from institutional clients to alter soft dollar practices and

SEC rulemaking in the soft dollar area some institutions are entering into arrangements that separate or

unbundle payments for research products or services from sales commissions These arrangements both in the

form of lower commission rates and commission sharing agreements have increased the competitive pressures on

sales commissions and have affected the value our clients place on high quality research Additional pressure on

sales and trading revenue may impair the profitability of our brokerage business Moreover our inability to reach

agreement regarding the terms of unbundling arrangements with institutional clients who are actively seeking such

arrangements could result in the loss of those clients which would likely reduce our institutional commissions We

believe that price competition and piicing pressures in these and other areas will continue as institutional investors

continue to reduce the amounts they are willing to pay including reducing the number of brokerage firms they use

and some of our competitors seek to obtain market share by reducing fees comnlissions or margins Additionally in

2008 and 2009 several prominent financial institutions consolidated merged or received substantial government

assistance Such events could result in our competitors gaining greater capital and other resources or seeking to

obtain market share by reducing fees commissions or margins
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Increase in capital commitments in our trading business increases the potentialfbr significant losses

We may enter into transactions in which we commit our own capital as part of our trading business The

number and size of these transactions may materially affect our results of operations in given period We may

also incur significant losses from our trading activities due to market fluctuations and volatility from quarter to

quarter We maintain trading positions in the fixed income market to facilitate client-trading activities To the

extent that wc own security positions in any of those markets downturn in the value of those securities or in

those markets could result in losses from decline in value Conversely to the extent that we he sold securities

we do not own in any of those markets an upturn in those markets could expose us to potentially unlimited losses

as we attempt to acquire the securities in rising market Moreover taking such positions in times of significant

volatility can lead to significant unrealized losses which further impact our ability to borrow to finance such

activities The unpreccdented volatility of the global markets for both fixed income and equity securities in

combination with the credit crisis caused several well established investment banks to fail or come close to

failing If these conditions continue our business financial condition and results of operations could be adversely

affected

Our principal trading and in vestments expose us to risk of loss

significant portion of our revenues is derived from trading in which we act as principal The Company

may incur trading losses relating to the purchase sale or short sale of corporate and asset-backed fixed income

securities and other securities for our own account and from other principal trading In any period we may

experience losses as result of price declines lack of trading volume and illiquidity From time to time we may

engage in large block trade in single security or maintain large position concentrations in single security

securities of single issuer or securities of issuers engaged in specific industry In general any downward

price movement in these securities could result in reduction of our revenues and profits

In addition we may engage in hedging transactions and strategies that may not properly mitigate losses in

our principal positions If the transactions and strategies are not successful we could suffer significant losses

Our principal investments are concentrated in afew investments and represent sign ificant portion of our

invested capital

As of December 31 2010 we have $46551 of other investments at fair value representing our principal

investment portfolio Of this amount $46040 or 99% is comprised of investments in four separate investment

funds and permanent capital vehicles Star Asia EuroDekania MFCA and the Duart Fund Furthermore the

investment in Star Asia is our largest single principal invcstment and has fair value of $38025 representing

82% of the total amount of other investments at fair value Star Asia seeks to invest in Asian commercial real

estate stiuctured finance products including CMBS corporate debt of REITs and real estate operating

companies whole loans mezzanine loans and other commercial real estate fixed income investments Therefore

our results of operations and financial condition will be significantly impacted by the financial results of these

investments and in the ease of Star Asia the Japanese real estate market in general

We may not realize gains or income from our investments

Certain of our investments have declined in value and may continue to decline in value and the financings

that we originated and the securities in which they invest have defaulted or may default in the future on interest

and/oi principal payments Accordingly we may not be able to realize gains or income from our investments

Any gains that we do realize may not be sufficient to offset any other losses we experience Any income that we

realize may not be sufficient to offset our expenses

As of the date of this filing our investment portfolios have been directly impacted by the disruption in

various markets including in the U.S Europe and Asia due to investments in among other things MBS
residential mortgages leveraged loans and hank and insurance company debt We continue to have significant
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exposure to these markets and products and as market conditions continue to evolve the fair value of these

investments could further deteriorate Any of these factors could require us to take additional write downs in the

faii value uf our investment portfolios whiLh may have an adveise effect on out iesults of opeiations in future

periods

We expect to make significant investments in expanding our brokerage services electronic brokerage systems and

market data and analytics services however such investments may not produce substantial revenue or profit

We expect to make significant investments in brokerage and market data and analytics services including

investments in personnel technology and infrastructure in order to pursue new growth opportunities With

respect to our brokerage services and electronic brokerage systems we may not receive significant revenue and

profit from the hiring of new broker or the development of new brokerage desk or electronic brokerage

system or the revenue we receive may not be sufficient to cover the cost of the signing bonus or the minimum

level of compensation that we may have contractually agreed to pay newly hired broker or the substantial

development expenses associated with creating new electronic brokerage platform Even when personnel hires

and systems ate ultimately successful there is typically transition period before these hires or systems become

profitable In some instances our clients may determine that they do not need or prefer an electronic brokerage

system and the period before the system is successfully developed introduced and adopted may extend over

many months or years The successful introduction of an electronic brokerage system in one market or country

does not ensure that the same system will be used or favored by clients in similar markets or other countries

With respect to market data and analytics services we may incur substantial development sales and

marketing expenses and expend significant management effort to create new product or service Even after

incurring these costs we ultimately may not sell any or may sell only small amounts of these products or

services Consequently if revenue does not increase in timely fashion as result of these expansion and

development initiatives the up front costs associated with them may exceed the related revenue and reduce our

working capital and income

If the investments we make on behalf of our investment funds permanent capital vehicles and collateralized

debt obligations perfonn poorly we will stiffer decline in our asset management revenue and earnings

because some of our fees are subject to the credit performance of the portfolios of assets In addition the

investors in our investment funds and collateralized debt obligations and to lesser extent our permanent

capital vehicles may seek to tenninate our management agreements based on poor performance Any of these

results could adversely affect our results of operations and our ability to raise capitalfor future investment

funds permanent capital vehicles and collateralized debt obligations

Our revenue from our asset management business is derived from fees earned for managing our

collateralized debt obligations and management fees paid by the permanent capital vehicles and investment funds

we manage Our collateralized debt obligations will generate three types of fees senior fees that are generally

paid to us before interest is paid on any of the securities in the capital structure subordinated fees that are

generally paid to us after interest is paid on securities in the capital structure and incentive fees that are

generally paid to us after period of years in the life of the collateralized debt obligation and after the holders of

the most junior collateralized debt obligation securities have been paid specified return

In the case of the permanent capital vehicles and investment funds our management fees are based on the

equity of and net income earned by the vehicles which is substantially based on the performance of our

collateralized debt obligations or other securities in which they invest

Furthermore in the event that our collatçralized debt obligations investment funds or permanent capital

vehicles perform poorly out asset management revenues and earnings will suffer decline and it will be more

difficult for us to structure new collateralized debt obligations and raise funds for the existing or future

permanent capital vehicles or investment funds Our management contracts may be terminated for various

reasons including the unsatisfactory performance of the underlying assets
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We could lose management fee income from the collateralized debt obligations we manage or client assEts

under management as result of the triggering of certain structural protections built into such collateralized

debt obligations

The collateralized debt obligations we manage generally contain structural provisions including but not

limited to over collateralization requirements and/or market value triggers that are meant to protect investors

from deterioration in the credit quality of the underlying collateral pool In certain cases breaches of these

structural provisions can lead to events of default under the indentures governing the collateralaed debt

obligations and ultimately acceleration of the notes issued by the collateralized debt obligation and liquidation

of the underlying collateral In the event of liquidation of the collateral underlying collateralized debt

obligation we will lose client assets under management and therefore management fees which could have

material adverse effect on our earnings

We may need to offer new investment strategies and products in order to continue to generate revenue

The asset management industry is subject to rapid change Strategies and products that had historically been

attractive may lose their appeal for various reasons Thus strategies and products that have generated fee revenue

for us in the past may fail to do so in the future in which case we would have to develop new strategies and

products It could be both expensive and difficult for us to develop new strategies and products and we may not

be successful in this regard If we are unable to expand our offerings this could inhibit our growth and harm our

competitive position in the asset management industry

If our risk management systems for our investment fund business are ineffective we may be exposed to

material unanticipated losses

Our risk management techniques and strategies may not fully mitigate the risk exposure of our investment

funds in all economic or market environments or protect against all types of risk including risks that we might

fail to identify or anticipate Some ol our expected strategies for managing risk in our investment funds are based

upon our use of historical market behavior statistics We will apply statistical and other tools to these

observations to measure and analyze the risks to which our investment funds are exposed Any failures in our risk

management techniques and strategies to accurately quantify such risk exposure or any failure to manage the

various risks associated with foreign markets including Europe and Asia could limit our ability to manage risks

in the investment funds or to seek adequate risk adjusted returns In addition any risk management failures could

cause investment fund losses to be significantly greater than the historical measures predict Further our

mathematical modeling will not take all risks into account Our more qualitative appioaeh to managing those

risks could prove insufficient exposing us to material unanticipated losses

We are highly dependent on information and communications systems Systems failures could significantly

disrupt our business which may in turn negatively affect our operating results

Our business will depend to substantial degree on the proper functioning of our information and

communications systems and our ability to retain the employees who operate and maintain these systems Any

failure or interruption of our systems due to systems failures staff departures or otherwise could result in

delays increased costs or other problems which could have material adverse effect on our operating results

disaster such as water damage to an office an explosion or prolonged loss of electrical power could materially

interrupt our business operations and cause material financial loss.regulatory actions reputational harm or legal

liability In addition if security measures contained in our systems are breached as result of third party action

employee error malfeasance or otherwise our repatation may be damaged and our business could suffer We
have developed business continuity plan however there are no assuiances that such plan will be successful in

preventing timely and adequately addressing or mitigating the negative effects of anSi failure or interruption
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There can be no assurance that our information systems and other technology will continue to be able to

accommodate our growth or that the cost of maintaining the systems and technology will not materially increase

trom the current level failure to accommodate growth or material increase in costs related to information

systems and technology could have material adverse effect on our business

We depend on third-party software licenses and the loss of any of our key licenses could adversely affect our

ability to provide our brokerage services

We license software from third parties some of which is integral to our electronic brokerage systems and

our business Such licenses are generally terminable if we breach our obligations under the licenses or if the

licensor gives us notice in advance of the termination If
any of these relationships were terminated or if

any of

these third parties were to cease doing business we may be forced to spend significant time and money to replace

the licensed software These replacements may not be available on reasonable terms or at all termination of

any of these relationships could have material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of

operations

Our failure to deal appropriately with conflicts of interest could damage our reputation and adversely affect

our business

As we expanded our business we increasingly confronted potential conflicts of interest relating to the

investment activities of the entities we manage As result certain of our permanent capital vehicles and our

investment funds may have overlapping investment objectives which may create conflicts of interest issues for

us These entities will have different fee structures and potential conflicts may arise with respect to our decisions

regarding how to allocate investment opportunities among those entities

It is possible that potential or perceived conflicts could give rise to investor dissatisfaction or litigation or

regulatory enforcement actions Appropriately dealing with conflicts of interest is complex and difficult and our

ieputation could be damaged if we fail or appear to fail to deal appropriately with one or more potential or

actual conflicts of interest Regulatory scrutiny of or litigation in connection with conflicts of interest would

have material adverse effect on our reputation which could materially and adversely affect our business in

number of ways including as result of sales of stock by investors in our permanent capital vehicles an inability

to raise additional funds reluctance of counterparties to do business with us and the costs of defending

litigation

Our ability to comply with the financial covenants in our debt agreements will depend pri manly on our ability

to generate substantial operating cash flows Our failure to satisfy the financial covenants could result in

default and acceleration of repayment of the indebtedness under our debt agreements

As of December 31 2010 we had $7.0 million in aggregate principal outstanding on new secured credit

facility entered into on July 29 2010 between our subsidiary Dekania Investors LLC and TD Bank N.A our

2010 Credit Facility $19.5 million aggregate principal amount of contingent convertible notes outstanding

$1.4 million of subordinated notes payable and $49.6 million aggregate principal amount ofjunior subordinated

notes outstanding

The 2010 Credit Facility is comprised of $9.3 million term loan and maximum of $1.3 million for the

issuances of letters of credit On July 30 2010 the term loan was drawn in the amount of $9.3 million and $1.29

million was committed for two letters of credit As of December 31 2010 the Company had $7.0 million of

outstanding borrowings and there was no availability to borrow under the 2010 Credit Facility

Our ability to comply with the financial covenants under the agreements tat govern our indebtedness will

depend primarily on our success in generating substantial operating cash flows We are subject to compliance

with minimum net worth covenant minimum consolidated cash flow to debt service coverage ratio
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minimum consolidated cash flow to debt service and distribution coverage ratio and maximumfunded debt to

consolidated cash flow ratio among other covenants There can he no guarantee that we will he ahle to maintain

compliance with such covenants Industry conditions and financial business and other factors will affect our

ability to gencrate the cash flows we need to meet those financial tests If the maturity of our indebtedness were

accelerated we may not have sufficient funds to pay such indebtedness In such event our lenders under the

2010 Credit Facility would be entitled to proceed against the collateral securing the indebtedness which includes

significant portion of our assets

If we are unable to maintain compliance with such covenants the lenders would be able to take certain

actions which could include increasing the interest rate on the facility by 2% ceasing to make advances and

issuing letters of credit converting all outstanding London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR based loans to

Base Rate Loans as defined in the 2010 Credit Facility terminating the facility and demanding immediate

repayment or taking action against the collateral If the lenders were to terminate the facility demand immediate

repayment or proceed against the collateral such action could have material adverse affect on our liquidity

Our substantial level of indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and ability to compete

Our balance sheet includes approximately $77.5 million par value of recourse indebtedness Our

indebtedness could have important consequences to our stockholders For example our indebtedness could

make it more difficult for us to pay our debts as they become due during general adverse economic and

market industry conditions because any related decrease in revenues could cause our cash flows from

operations to decrease and make it difficult for us to make our scheduled debt payments

limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and the industry in which we

operate and consequently place us at competitive disadvantage to our competitors with less debt

require substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to be used for debt service payments

thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital capital expenditures

acquisitions and other general corporate purposes

limit our ability to borrow additional funds to expand our business or alleviate liquidity constraints as

result of financial and other restrictive covenants in our indebtedness and

result in higher interest expense in the event of increases in interest rates since some of our bonDwings

are and will continue to be at variable rates of interest

In addition our indebtedness will impose operating and financial restrictions that will limit our discretion on

some business matters which could make it more difficult for us to expand finance our operations and engage in

other business activities that may be in our interest These restrictions will limit our ability to

incur additional indebtedness

suffer additional liens oi encumbrances

engage in mergers or acquisitions or dispose of assets

pay dividends or make other distributions

make additional investments and

invest in our broker dealer subsidiaries

Such covenants may restrict oui ability to expand or to pursue our business stratçgies Our ability to comply

with these and any other provisions of such agreements will be affected by changes in our operating and financial

performance changes in business conditions or results of operations adverse regulatory developments or other

events beyond our control The breach of any of these covenants could result in default which could cause our
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indebtedness to become due and payable If the maturity of our indebtedness were accelerated we may not have

sufficient funds to pay such indebtedness In such event our lenders under our secured bank facility would be

entitled to proceed against the collateral securing the indebtedness which includes significant portion of our

assets

Any additional indebtedness we may incur in the future may subject us to similar or even more restrictive

conditions

Our ability to use net operating loss carryovers and net capital loss carryovers to reduce our taxable income

may be limited

As of December 31 2010 we estimate that we have federal net operating loss NOL of approximately

$63.6 million which will be available to offset future taxable income subject to limitations described below If

not used this NOL will begin to expire in 2028 We also estimate we have net capital losses NCLs in excess

of capital gains of $58.1 million as of December 31 2010 which can be carried forward to offset future capital

gains subject to the limitations descr bed below If not used this carry forward will begin to expire in 2012 No

assurance can be provided that we will have future taxable income or future capital gains to benefit from our

NOL and NCL carryovers

Furthermore our ability to use our NOL and NCL canyovers to offset our taxable income and gains may be

limited by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code if we undergo an ownership change Generally an

ownership change occurs if certain persons or groups
increase their aggregate ownership in company by

more than 50 percentage points looking back over the relevant testing period If an ownership change occurs our

ability to use our NOLs NCLs and certain recognized built-in losses to reduce our taxable income in future

year would be limited to Section 382 limitation equal to the fair market value of our stock immediately prior to

the ownership change multiplied by the long-term tax exempt interest rate in effect for the month of the

ownership change

Currently we have concluded that we have not undergone an ownership change and we have instituted

rights plan to assist in the avoidance of future ownership change However if an ownership change were to

occur in thc future our ability to use our NOLs NCLs and certain recognixed built in losses to reduce our

taxable income in future year would generally be limited to an annual amount equal to the fair market value of

our stock at the time of the change multiplied by the appropriate long term tax exempt interest rate at that time

If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls amid

procedures in the future we nay not be able to accurately report our financial results which could have aim

adverse effect omm our business

If our internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures are not effective we

may not be able to provide reliable financial information

Because we are non accelerated filer we are not required to obtain nor have we voluntarily obtained an

auditor attestation regarding the effectiveness of our controls as of December 31 2010 Therefore as of

December 31 2010 we have only performed managements assessment of the effectiveness of our internal

controls and management has determined that our internal controls are effective as of December 31 2010

Any failure to maintain effective controls in the future could adversely affect our business or cause us to fail

to meet our reporting obligations Such non-compliance could also result in an adverse reaction in the financial

marketplace due to loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements In addition

perceptions of our business among customers suppliers rating agencies lenders investors securities analysts

and others could be adversely affected
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Accounting rules for certain of our transactions are highly complex and involve signif icant judgment and

assumptions Changes in accounting interpretations or assumptions could adversely impact our financial

statements

Accounting rules for transfers of financial assets income taxes compensation arrangements including share

based compensation securitization transactions consolidation of variable interest entities VIEs determining

the fair value of financial instruments and other aspects of our operations are highly complex and involve

significant judgment and assumptions These complexities could lead to delay in preparation of our financial

information Changes in accounting interpretations or assumptions could materially impact our financial

statements

We may change our investment strategy hedging strategy asset allocation and operational policies without

our stockholders consent which may result in riskier investments and adversely affect the market value of

our Common Stock

We may change our investment strategy hedging strategy asset allocation and operational policies at any

time without the consent of our stockholders change in our investment or hedging strategy may increase our

exposure to interest rate exchange rate and real estate market fluctuations Furthermore our board of directors

will determine our operational policies and may amend or revise our policies including polices with respect to

our ncquisitions growth operations indebtedness capitalization and distributions or approve transactions that

deviate from these policies without vote of or notice to our stockholders Operational policy changes could

adversely affect the market value of our Common Stock

Maintenance of our Investment Company Act exemption imposes limits on our operations and loss of nur

Investment Company Act exemption would adversely affect our opera tions

We seek to conduct our operations so that we are not required to register as an investment company under

the Investment Company Act Section 3alC of the Investment Company Act defines an investment company

as any issuer that is engaged or proposes to engage in the business of investing reinvesting owning holding or

trading in securities and owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having value exceeding 40% of the

value of the issuers total assets exclusive of U.S government securities and cash items on an unconsolidated

basis Excluded from the term investment securities among other things are securities issued by majority

owned subsidiaries that are not themselves investment companies and are not relying on the exception from the

definition of investment company set forth in Section 3cl or Section 3c7 of the Investment Company Act

We are holding company that conducts our business primarily through the Operating LLC as majonty

owned subsidiary Whether or uot we qualify under the 40% test is primarily based on whether the securities we

hold in the Operating LLC are investment securities Based upon the value of the Operating LLCs assets

following the Merger our investment in the Operating LLC became an investment security and caused our

investment securities to comprise more than 40% of our assets

Following the Merger we relied on Rule 3a under the Investment Company Act which provides safe

harbor exemption not to exceed one year for companies that have bona fide intent to be engaged in an

excepted activity but that temporarily do not to meet the requirements for another exemption from registration as

an investment company As required by the rule we took actions necessary to satisfy the requirements of the

Rule 3a safe harbor

Rule 3a 2s temporary exemption lasts only up
to year which for us expired in December 2010 As of

December we are in compliance and meet the Section 3alc exclusion However because we used our safe

harbor exemption under 3a we will need to continue to meet the 3ale exemption continuously for the

three years of following December 2010 If we do not continuously satisfy the 3a exemption we could

among other things be requiied to change substantially the manner in which we conduct our operations to

avoid being required to register as an investment company or register as an investment company either of
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which could have an adverse effect on us and the market price of our Common Stock If we were required to

register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act we would become subject to substantial

regulation with respect to our capital structure including our ability to use leverage management operations

transactions with affiliated persons as defined in the Investment Company Act and other matters Such

limitations could have material adverse effect on our business and operations

Risks Related to Our Industry

We operate in highly regulated industry and may face restrictions on and examination of the way we

conduct certain of our operations

Our business is subject to extensive government and other regulation and our relationship with our broker-

dealer clients may subject us to increased regulatory scrutiny These regulations are designed to protect the

interests of the investing public generally rather than our stockholders and may result in limitations on our

activities Governmental and self-regulatory organizations including the SEC FINRA the Commodity Futures

Trading Commission and other agencies and securities exchanges such as the NYSE and NYSE Amex regulate

the U.S financial services industry and regulate certain of our operations in the U.S Some of our international

operations are subject to similar regulations in their respective jurisdictions including rules promulgated by the

FSA which apply to entities which are authorized and regulated by the FSA These regulatory bodies are

responsible for safeguarding the integrity of the securities and other financial markets and protecting the interests

of investors in those markets In addition all records of registered investment advisors and broker-dealers are

subject at any time and from time to time to examination by the SEC Some aspects of the business that are

subject to extensive regulation and/or examination by regulatory agencies include

sales methods trading procedures and valuation practices

investment decision making processes and compensation practices

use and safekeeping of client funds and securities

the manner in which we deal with clients

capital requirements

financial and reporting practices

required record keeping and record retention procedures

the licensing of employees

the conduct of directors officers employees and affiliates

systems and control requirements

conflicts of interest

restrictions on marketing gifts and entertainment and

client identification and anti money laundering requirements

The SEC FINRA the FSA and various other domestic and international regulatory agencies also have

stringent rules and regulations with respect to the maintenance of specific levels of net capital by broker dealers

Generally in the U.S broker dealers net capital is defined as its net worth plus qualified subordinated debt

less deductions for certain types of assets If these net capital rules are changed or expanded or if there is an

unusually large charge against net capital our operations that require the intensive use of capital would be

limited Also our ability to withdraw capital from our regulated subsidiaries issubjeet to restrictions which in

turn could limit our ability or that of our subsidiaries to pay dividends repay debt make distributions and redeem

or purchase shares of our Common Stock or other equity interests in our subsidiaries large operating loss or

charge against net capital could adversely affect our ability to expand or even maintain our expected levels of
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business which could have material adverse effect on our business In addition we may become subject to net

capital requirements in other foreign jurisdictions in which we operate While we expect to maintain levels of

capital in excess of regulatory minimums we cannot predict our future capital needs or our ability to obtain

additional financing

If we or any of our subsidiaries fail to comply with any of these laws rules or regulations we or such

subsidiary may be subject to censure significant fines cease-and desist orders suspension of business

suspensions of personnel or other sanctions including revocation of registrations with FINRA withdrawal of

authorizations from the FSA or revocation of registrations with other similar international agencies to whose

regulation we are subject which would have material adverse effect on our business The adverse publicity

arising from the imposition of sanctions against us even if the amount of such sanctions is small by regulators

could harm our reputation and cause us to lose existing clients or fail to gain new clients

The authority to operate as broker dealer in jurisdiction is dependent on the registration or author zation

in that jurisdiction or the maintenance of proper exemption from such registration or authorization Our ability

to comply with all applicable laws and rules is largely dependent on our compliance credit approval audit and

reporting systems and procedures as well as our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel The continued

growth and expansion of our business may create additional strain on our compliance credit approval audit and

reporting systems and procedures and could result in increased costs to maintain and improve such systems and

procedures

In addition new laws or regulations or changes in the enforcement of existing laws or regulations applicable

to us and our clients also may adversely affect our business and our ability to function in this environment will

depend on our ability to constantly munitor and react to these changes Such changes may cause us tu change thc

way we conduct our business both in the U.S and internationally The government agencies that regulate us

have broad powers to investigate and enforce compliance and punish noncompliance with their rules regulations

and industry standards of practice If we and our directors officers and employees fail to comply with the rules

and regulations of these government agencies they may be subject to claims or actions by such agencies

Recent legislation will result in changes to rules and regulations applicable to our business which may

negatively impact our business and financial results

In July 2010 the Dodd-Frank Act was signed into law by President Obama The Dodd Frank Act contains

comprehensive set of provisions designed to govern the practices and oversight of financial institutions and other

participants in the financial markets The full impact of the Dodd Frank Act is difficult to assess because many of

its provisions require various federal agencies to adopt implementing regulations in the future Further the Dodd

Frank Act mandates niultiple studies which could result in additional legislative or regulatory action

While we have not yet been required to make material changes to our business or operations as result of

the Dodd Frank Act the Dodd-Frank Act and any related legislation or regulations could have material adverse

effect on our business results of operations and financial condition The Dodd Frank Act may require us tb

change our busincss practices or meet more stringent capital liquidity and leverage ratio requirements impose

additional costs on our business opciations limit the fees that we can charge for our services impact the value of

our assets or otherwise adversely affect our businesses In addition we may be required to invest significant

management time and resources to address the various provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act and the numerous

regulations that are required to be issued under it

Substantial legal liability or significant regulatory action could have material adverse financial effects or

cause significant reputational harm either of which could seriously harm our busiimess

We facc substantial regulatory and litigation risks and conflicts of interests and may face legal liability and

reduced revenues and profitability if our business is not regarded as compliant or for other reasons We are
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subject to extensive regulation and many aspects of our business will subject us to substantial risks pf liability

We engage in activities in connection with the evaluation negotiation structuring sales and management of

our investment funds permanent capital vehicles and structured products including collateralized debt

obligations our Capital Markets business segment our asset management operations and our

investment activities Our activities may subject us to the risk of significant legal liabilities under securities or

other laws for material omissions or material false or misleading statements made in connection with securities

offei-ings and other transactions In addition to the extent our clients or investors in our investment funds

permanent capital vehicles and structured products suffer losses they may claim those losses resulting from our

or our officers directors employees or agents or affiliates breach of contract fraud negligence willful

misconduct or other similar misconduct and may bring actions against us under federal or state securities or other

applicable laws Dissatisfied clients may also make claims regarding quality of trade execution improperly

settled trades or mismanagement against us We may become subject to these claims as the result of failures or

malfunctions of electronic trading platforms or other brokerage services including failures or malfunctions of

third party providers systems which are beyond our control and third parties may seek recourse against us tor

any losses In addition investors may claim breaches of collateral management agreements which could lead to

our termination as collateral manager under such agreements

In recent years the volume of claims and amount of damages claimed in litigation and regulatory

proceedings against financial advisors and asset managers has been increasing With respect to the asset

management business we make investment decisions on behalf of our clients that could result in and in some

instances in the past have resulted in substantial losses In addition all of the permanent capital vehicles that we

manage rely on exemptions from regulation under the Investment Company Act and some of them are structured

to comply with certain provisions of the Internal Revenue Code As the manager of these vehicles we are

responsible for their compliance with regulatory requirements Investment decisions we make on behalf of the

vehicles could cause the vehicles to fail to comply with regulatory requirements and could result in substantial

losses to such vehicles Although the management agreements relating to such vehicles generally include broad

indemnities and provisions designed to limit our exposure to legal claims relating to our services these

provisions may not protect us or may not be enforced in all eases

In addition we are exposed to risks of litigation or investigation relating to transactions which present

conflicts of interest that are not properly addressed In such actions we could be obligated to bear legal

settlement and other costs which may be in excess of available insurance coverage Also with workforce

consisting of many very highly paid professionals we may face the risk of lawsuits relating to claims for

compensation which may individually or in the aggregate be significant in amount In addition as public

company we are subject to the risk of investigation or litigation by regulators or our public stockholders arising

from an array of possible claims including investor dissatisfaction with the performance of our business or our

share price allegations of misconduct by our officers and directors or claims that we inappropriately dealt with

conflicts of interest or investment allocations In addition we may incur significant expenses in defending

claims even those without merit If any claims brought against us result in finding of substantial legal liability

and/or require us to incur all or portion of the costs arising out of litigation or investigation our business

financial condition liquidity and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected Such litigation

or investigation whether resolved in our favor or not could cause significant reputational harm which could

seriously harm our business

The competitive pressures we face as result of operating in highly competitive market could have

material adverse effect on our business financial cunditiun liquidity and res tilts of operatiun3

number of entities conduct asset management origination investment and broker dealer activities We

compete
with public and private funds REITS commercial and investment banks savings and loan institutions

mortgage bankers insurance companies institutional bankers governmental bodies commercial finance

companies traditional asset managers brokerage firms and other entities
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Many firms offer similar and/or additional products and services to the same types of clients that we target

or may target in the fntrre Many of nnr competitors are substantially larger and have more relevant experience

considerably greater financial technical and marketing resources and have more personnel than we have There

are few barriers to entry including relatively low cost of entering these lines of business and the successful

efforts of new entrants into our expected lines of business including major banks and other financial institutions

may result in increased competition Other industry participants may from time to time seek to recruit our

investment professionals and other employees away from us

With respect to our asset management activities our competitors may have more extensive distribution

capabilities more effective marketing strategies more attractive investment vehicle structures and broader name

iecognition than we do Further other investment managers may offer services at more competitive prices than

we do which could put downward pressure on our fee structure With respect to our origination and investment

activities some competitors may have lower cost of funds enhanced operating efficiencies and access to

funding sources that are not available to us In addition some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances

or different risk assessments which could allow them to consider wider variety of investments and establish

more relationships than we can The competitive pressures we face if not effectively managed may have

material adverse effect on our business financial condition liquidity and results of operations

Also as result of this competition we may not be able to take advantage of attractive asset management

origination and investment opportunities and therefore may not be able to identify and pursue opportunities that

are consistent with our objectives Competition may limit the number of suitable investment opportunities

offered to us It may also result in higher prices lower yields and narrower spread of yields over our borrowing

costs making it more difficult for us to acquire new investments on attractive terms In addition competition for

desirable investments could delay the investment in desirable assets which may in turn reduce our earnings per

share

With respect to our broker dealer activities our revenues could be adversely affected if large institutional

clients that we have increase the amount of trading they do directly with each other rather than through our

broker-dealer decrease the amount of trading they do with our broker dealer because they decide to trade more

with our competitors decrease their trading of certain OTC products in favor of exchange-traded products or

hire in house professionals to handle trading that our broker-dealer would otherwise be engaged to do

We have experienced intense price competition in our brokerage business in recent years Some competitors

may offer brokerage services to clients at lower prices than we offer which may force us to reduce our prices or

to lose maikct shaic and rcvcnuc In addition wc intcnd to focus primarily on pioviding biokcragc sci vices in

markets for less commoditized financial instruments As the markets for these instruments become more

commoditized we could lose market share to other inter dealer brokers exchanges and electronic multi-dealer

brokers who specialize in providing brokerage services in more commoditized markets If financial instrument

for which we provide brokerage services becomes listed on an exchange or if an exchange introduces

competing product to the products we broker in the OTC market the need tor our services in relation to that

instrument could be significantly reduced Further the recent consolidation among exchange firms and

expansion by these firms into derivative and other non equity trading markets will increase competition for

customer trades and place additional pricing pressure on commissions and spreads

Financial problems experienced by third parties could affect the markets in which we provide brokerage

services In addition disruption in the credit derivatives market could affect our net trading revenues

Problems experienced by third
pal

ties could affect the markets in which we proyidc brokerage services For

example in recent years hedge funds have increasingly begun to make use of credit nd other derivatives as part

of their trading strategies As result an increasing percentage of our business directly or indirectly resulted

from trading activity by institutional investors For example hedge funds typically employ significant amount

of leverage to achieve their results and in the past certain hedge funds have had difficulty managing this
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leverage which has resulted in market wide disruptions If one or more hedge funds that is significant

participant in credit derivatives market exper ences similar problems in the future including as result of the

volatility in such market that credit derivatives market could be adversely affected and accordingly our trading

revenues in that credit derivatives market could decrease

In addition in recent years reports in the U.S and United Kingdom have suggested weaknesses in the way

credit dervatives are assigned by participants in the credit derivatives markets Such reports expressed concern

that due to the size of the credit derivatives market the volume of assignments and the suggested weaknesses in

the assignment process one or more significant defaults by corporate issuers of debt may lead to further market-

wide disruption or result in the bankruptcy or operational failure of hedge funds or other market participants

which could adversely affect our business and revenues

Enzployee misconduct or error which can be dtfficult to detect and deter could harm us by impairing our

ability to attract and retain clients and by subjecting us to significant legal liability and reputational harm

There have been number of highly-publicized cases involving fraud trading on material non-public

information or other misconduct by employees and others in the financial services industry and there is risk

that our employees could engage in misconduct that adversely affects our business For example we may be

subject to the risk of significant legal liabilities under securities or other laws for our employees material

omissions or materially false or misleading statements in connection with securities and other transactions In

addition our advisory business requires that we deal with confidential matters of great significance to our clients

If our employees were to improperly use or disclose confidential information provided by our clients we could

be subjcct to regulatory sanctions and could suffer serious harm to our reputation financial position current

client relationships and ability to attract future clients We are also subject to extensive regulation under

securities laws and other laws in connection with our asset management business Failure to comply with these

legislative and regulatory requirements by any of our employees could adversely affect us and our clients It is

not always possible to deter employee misconduct and any precautions taken by us to detect and prevent this

activity may not be effective in all cases

Furthermore employee errors including mistakes in executing recording or reporting transactions for

clients such as entering into transactions that clients may disavow and refuse to settle could expose us to

financial losses and could seriously harm our reputation and negatively affect our business The risk of employee

error or miscommunication may be greater for products that are new or have non-standardized terms

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure and Ownership of Our Common Stock

We are holding company whose primary asset is nzembership units in the Operating LLC and we are

dependent on distributions from the Operating LLC to pay taxes and other obligations

We are holding company whose primary asset is membership units in the Operating LLC Since the

Opcrating LLC is limited liability company taxed as partnership we as member of the Operating LLC
could incur tax obligations as result of our allocable share of the income from the operations of the Operating

LLC In addition we have convertible scnior debt and junior subordinatcd notes outstanding Subject to thc

limitations of the 2010 Credit Facility the Operating LLC will pay distributions to us in amounts necessary to

satisfy our tax obligations and rcgulaily schcdulcd payments of intercst in connection with our convcrtiblc scnior

dcbt and our junior subordinated notes and wc arc dependent on these distributions from the Operating LLC to

generate the funds necessary to meet these obligations and liabilities Industry conditions and financial business

and other factors will affect our ability to gencrate the cash flows we need to make these distributions

The Companys 2010 Crcdit Facility imposes limitations on the Operating LLCs ability to make

distributions to us So long as no default or event of default has occurred and is Continuing the Operating LLC

may make distributions to us to pay regularly scheduled interest payments on our convertible senior debt and our

junior subordinated notes and in amounts nccessary to enable us to pay our taxes There may also be
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circumstances under which the Operating LLC may be restricted from paying dividends to us under applicable

law or regulation for example due to Delaware limited liability company act limitations on the Operating LLCs

ability to make distributions if liabilities of the Operating LLC after the distribution would exceed the value of

the Operating LLCs assets

Our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer may have ownership interests in the Operating LLC and

competing duties to other entities that could create potential conflicts of interest and may result in decisions

that are not in the best interests of IFMI stockholders

The Operating LLC Agreement prevents the Operating LLC from undertaking certain actions without the

affirmative approval of IFMI and majority of voting power of the Operating LLC members other than IFMI

having percentage interest of at least 10% qf the Operating LLC membership units Mr Cohen through Cohen

Bros Financial will have majority of the voting power of the Operating LLC members other than IFMI

having percentage interest of at least 10% of the Operating LLC membership units and these actions are subject

to his approval As result it is possible that Mr Cohen in his capacity as the Operating LLC member with

approval rights over the actions identified above could disapprove actions that would be in the best interests of

IFM1 even though as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of IFMI he will have fiduciary duties to IFMI

Daniel Cohen our Chairman of the board of directors and Chief Executive Officer will devote

substantially all of his business time and effort to those offices Until he resigned from this position on

February 26 2010 Mr Cohen served as trustee of RAfT Financial Trust RAIT NYSE RAS public

company that makes investments in real estate primarily by making real estate loans acquiring real estate loans

and acquiring real estate interests and may continue to do so Also Mr Cohens mother was Chairman of the

board of trustees of RAfT until hei iesignation Accordingly theie may be conflicts of interest in allocating

investment opportunities to IFMT that may also be suitable for RAfT

We are party to agreements with RAIT and permanent capital vehicles and investment funds sponsored and

managed by the Operating LLC including EuroDekania Star Asia Brigadier and Deep Value These agreements

include rights of first refusal arrangements with EuroDekania and Star Asia and management agreements with

EuroDekania Star Asia Brigadier and Deep Value Messrs Cohen and Ricciardi are members of the boards of

and/or have ownership interests in these entities Messrs Cohen and Ricciardi may face conflicts of interest when

making decisions regarding these entities including if either party to such agreements seeks to terminate or

enforce their respective rights under such agreements We cannot assure you that we will not be adversely

affected by these potential conflicts

Daniel Cohen and other executive officers may exercise significant influence over matters requiring

stockholder approval

Daniel Cohen beneficially owns 4983557 shares of Series preferred stock which have no economic

rights but entitle him to vote together with our stockholders on all matters presented to the stockholders and to

exercise approximately 31.9% of the voting power of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock The Series

prefei red stock may be redeemed on December 31 2012 by us in exchange for nominal payment equal to the

aggregate par
value of such shares There are no voting agreements or other arrangements or understandings

among Mr Cohen and our other directors and executive officers with respect to our equity securities however to

the extent that Mr Cohen and our other directois and executive officers vote their shares in the same manner

their combincd stock ownership and voting rights may have significant or decisive effect on the election of all

of the directors and the approval of matters that are presented to our stockholders Their ownership may

discourage someone from making significant equity investment in us even if we needed the investment to

operate our business The size of their combined stock holdings could be significant factor in delaying or

preventing change of control transaction that other of our stockholders may deem to be in their best interests

such as transaction in which the other stockholders would receive premium for their shares over their then

current market prices
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On several occasions our Board of Directors has declared cash dividends Any future distributions to our

stockholders will depend upon certain factors affecting our operating results some of which are beyond our

control

Our ability to make and sustain cash distributions is based on many factors including the return on our

investments operating expense levels and certain restrictions imposed by Maryland law Some of these factors

are beyond our control and change in any such factor could affect our ability to make distributions in the future

We may not be able to make distributions Our stockholders should rely on increases if any in the price of our

Common Stock for any return on their investment Furthermore we are dependent on distributions from the

Operating LLC to be able to make distributions See the risk factor titled We are holding company whose

primary asset is membership units in Cohen and we are dependent on distributions from Cohen to pay taxes and

other obligations from above

Future sales of our Common Stock in the public market could lower the price of our Common Stock and

impair our ability to raise funds in future securities offerings

Future sales of substantial number of shares of our Common Stock in the public market or the perception

that such sales may occur could adversely affect the then prevailing market price of our Common Stock and

could make it more difficult for us to raise funds in the future through public offering of our securities

Your percentage ownership in the Company may be diluted in the future

Your percentage ownership in the Company may be diluted in the future because of equity awards that have

been or may be granted to our directors officers and employees We have adopted equity compensation plans

that provide for the grant of equity based awards including restricted stock stock options and other equity-based

awards to our directors officers and other employees advisors and consultants At December 31 2010 we had

162226 shares of restricted stock outstanding to employees and directors of the Company and there were

1581088 shares available for future awards under our equity compensation plans In 2011 substantially all of

the available shares of restricted stock were issued to employees In addition 1349037 of additional shares of

restricted stock were granted to employees but are subject to shareholder approval of an amendment to our 2010

Long-Term Incentive Plan Vesting of restricted stock grants is generally contingent upon performance

conditions and service conditions Vesting of those shares of restricted stock would dilute the ownership interest

of existing shareholders Equity awards will continue to be source of compensation for employees and

directors

The Maryland General Corporation Law the MGCL provisions in our charter and bylaws and our

stockholder rights plan nay prevent takeover attempts that could be beneficial to its stockholders

Provisions of the MGCL and our charter and bylaws could discourage takeover of us even if change of

control would be beneficial to the interests of its stockholders These statutory charter and bylaw provisions

include the following

the MGCL generally requires the affirmative vote of two thirds of all votes entitled to be cast on the

matter to approve merger consolidation or share exchange involving us or the transfer of all or

substantially all of its assets

our boaid has the power to classify and reclassify authoiiied and unissued shaies of Common Stock or

prefened stock and subject to certain restrictions in the Operating LLC Agreement authorize the

issuance of class or series of Conmon Stock or preferred stock witbout stockholder approval

Our charter may be amended only if the amendment is declared advisable by its board of directors and

approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of our Common Stock entitled to cast at least

two thirds of all of the votes entitled to be east on the matter
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the holder of Series preferred stock voting separately as class at each annual meeting is entitled to

nominate and elect number of Series directors equal to at least one-third hut less than majority

of the total number of directors and only the holders of Series preferred stock or majority of the

Series directors then in office can fill vacaocy among the Ser es directors

director other than Series director may be removed from office at any time with or without

cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of our Common Stock entitled to cast at least two-thirds of

the votes of the stock entitled to be cast in the election of directors

an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of our

stockholders and nominations of persons for election to our board of directors at an annual or special

meeting of its stockholders

no stockholder is entitled to cumulate votes at any election of directors and

our stockholders may take action in lieu of meeting with respect to any actions that are required or

permitted to be taken by its stockholders at any annual or special meeting of stockholders only by

unanimous consent

In addition we have stockholder rights plan to help preserve the value of our deferred tax assets by

reducing the risk of limitation of its NOLs and NCL which provides among other things that when specified

events occur our stockholders will be entitled to purchase from it newly created series of junior participating

preferred stock The preferred stock purchase rights are triggered by the earlier to occur of ten days following

public announcement that person or group of affiliated or associated persons has become the beneficial owner

of 4.95% or more of the shares of our Common Stock then outstanding excluding the Company and any

exempted persons identified in the rights agreement or ii ten business days following the commencement of

tender offer or exchange offer that would result in
person or group becoming owner of 4.95% or more of the

shares of our Common Stock then outstanding excluding the Company and any exempted persons identified in

the rights agreement The prefentd stock purchase rights would cause substantial dilution to person or group

that attempts to acquire the Company on terms not approved by our Board of Directors and could discourage

takeover

The Operating LLC Agreement prevents the Company fron undertaking certain actions that may be in the

best interest of our stockholders without the affirmative approval of majority of the Operating LLC

members other than the Company having percentage interest of at least 10% of the Operating LLC

membership units

The Operating LLC Agreement provides that until such time as the Series preferred stock is converted

into Series preferred stock if there is any Operating LLC member other than IFMI having percentage interests

of at least 10% of the Operating LLC TFMI may not take any of the following actions without the affirmative

approval of majority of the voting power of the Operating LLC members other than IFMI having percentage

interest of at least 10% of the Operating LLC membership units

issue any additional securities of TEMI or permit any subsidiary of IFMI other than the Operating LLC

and other than subsidiaries formed to engage in securitization transactions to issue any additional

securities other than as specifically contemplated in the merger agreement or the Operating LLC

Agreement

enter into or suffer transaction constituting change of control of IFMI

amend our charter or bylaws in any manner which adversely affects certain redemption rights of the

members of the Operating LLC other than IFMI

adopt any plan of liquidation or dissolution or file certificate of dissolution or
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directly or indirectly enter into or conduct any business other than the ownership of the Qperating LLC

membership units the ownership of certain subsidiaries the management of the business of the

Operating LLC the payment of our outstanding debt obligations and such other activities as are

reasonably required in connection with the ownership of the Operating LLC membership units and the

management of the business of the Operating LLC

Mr Cohen through Cohen Bros Financial LLC Cohen Bros Financial has majority of the voting

power of the Operating LLC members other than IFMI having percentage interest of at least 10% of the

Operating LLC membership units and each of the actions set forth above is subject to his approval As result it

is possible that Mr Cohen in his capacity as the Operating LLC member with approval rights over the matters

identified above could disapprove actions that would be in best interests of the Operating LLC even though as

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of TFMI he will have fiduciary duties that he owes to IFMI

The Operating LLC Agreement prevents the Operating LLC from undertaking certain actions that may be in

the best interest of the Operating LLC and IFMI without the affinnative approval of IFMI and the affirmative

approval of majority of the Operating LLC nenbers other than IFMI having percentage interest of at

least 10% of the Operating LLC membership units

The Operating LLC Agreement prevents the Operating LLC from undertaking the following actions without

the affirmative approval of IFMI and majority of voting power of the Operating LLC members other than

IFMI having percentage interest of at least 10% of the Operating LLC membership units

issue any units or other securities of the Operating LLC to any person other than IFMI other than as

specifically contemplated in the Operating LLC Agreement

enter into or suffer transaction constituting change of control of the Operating LLC

amend the Operating LLC Agreement or our certificate of formation

remove Daniel Cohen as manager or Chairman of the board of managers of the Operating LLC

other than for cause

adopt an equity compensation plan or

adopt any plan of liquidation or dissolution or file certificate of dissolution

Mr Cohen through Cohen Bros Financial has majority of the voting power of the Operating LLC

members other than IFMI having percentage interest of at ledst 10% uf the Operating LLC membership units

and each of the actions set forth above is subject to his approval As result it is possible that Mr Cohen in his

capacity as member of the Operating LLC with approval rights over the matters identified above could

disapprove actions that would be in the best interests of IFMI even though as Chairman and Chief Executive

Officer of IFMJ he will owe TFMI fiduciary duty

The market price of our Common Stock may be volatile and may be affected by market conditions beyond our

control

The market price of our Common Stock is subject to significant fluctuations in response to among other

factors

variations in our operating results and market conditions specific to specialty finance companies

changes in financial estimates or recommendations by securities analysts

the emergence of new competitors or new technologies

operating and market price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable
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changes in our board or management

sales or purchases of our Common Stock by insiders

commencement of or involvement in litigation

changes in governmental regulations and

general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of related markets

In addition if the market for stocks in our industry or the stock market in general experience loss of

investor confidence the market price of our Common Stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business

financial condition or results of operations If any of the foregoing occurs it could cause the price of our

Common Stock to fall and may expose us to lawsuits that even if unsuccessful could be costly to defend and

distraction to the board of directors and management

If we violate the listIng requirements of the NYSE Amex our Common Stock may be delisted

To maintain our listing on the NYSE Amex we must meet certain financial and liquidity criteria In

addition we may be subject to delisting by the NYSE Amex if our Common Stock sells for substantial period

of time at low price per share and we fail to effect reverse split within reasonable time after being notified

that the NYSE Amex deems such action to be appropriate The market price of our Common Stock has been and

may continue to be subject to significant fluctuation as result of periodic variations in our revenues and results

of operations If we violate the NYSE Amex listing requirements we may be delisted If we fail to meet any of

the NYSE Amexs listing standards we may be delisted Delisting of our Common Stock could have material

advcrse effect on the liquidity and value of our Common Stock

In addition the holders of our outstanding $26.1 million aggregate principal amount of convertible senior

debt will have the right to require us to repurchase their notes at 100% of their principal amount together with

accrued but unpaid interest thereon if among other things IFMI Common Stock ceases to be listed on the NYSE

Amex another established national securities exchange or an automated over the counter OTC trading

market in the U.S If IFMI Common Stock is delisted due to failure to meet any of the NYSE Amexs listing

standards and is unable to list the IFMI Common Stock on another established national securities exchange or an

automated U.S OTC trading market some or all of the holders of our convertible notes may exercise their right

to require us to repurchase up to $26.1 million aggregate principal amount of their notes
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ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

Our main offices are located in Philadelphia New York London and Paris Our principal executive offices

are located at Cira Centre 2929 Arch Street 17th Floor Philadelphia Pennsylvania As of December 31 2010

we leased an aggregate of 16657 square feet of office space in Philadelphia under three separate leases with two

leases covering 15657 square feet of office space expiring in March 2011 We have extended the lease covering

10396 square feet of office space which will expire in April 2016 We lease 12800 square feet of office space on

each of the 21 and 22 floors at 135 East 57th Street New York New York with our lease with respect to such

space expiring on November and December 2016 respectively We sublease the 22nd floor to third party We

lease approximately 220
square

meter of office
space at rue Do Fauhourg Saint Honorb Paris France with

such lease expiring on December 2013 Our London office is located at Cannon Bridge House 25 Dowgate Hill

4th Floor London U.K with such lease covering 2403 square feet of office space expiring on March 2012

The properties that we occupy in Philadelphia New York London and are used either by the Companys

Capital Markets segment or Asset Management segment or both segments

The Capital Markets Group is based in New York with branch offices that we maintain and lease pursuant to

operating leases in Bethesda Maryland Boca Raton Florida Boston Massachusetts Chicago Illinois and San

Francisco Califomia We believe that the facilities we occupy are suitable and adequate for current operations

Effective January 2011 we acquired JVB JVB has its principal office in Boca Raton Florida with

additional offices in Sparks Maryland New York New York and Charlotte North Carolina

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Pending Litigation

The Companys U.S broker-dealer subsidiary Cohen Company Securities LLC CCSis party to

litigation commenced January 12 2009 in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois

the Illinois Court under the caption Frederick Grede not individually bat as Liquidation Trustee and

Representative of the Estate of Sentinel Management Group Inc Delores Rodriguez Barry Mohr Jr

Jacques de Saint Phalle Keefe Bruyette Woods Inc and Cohen Company Securities LLC The plaintiff in

this case is the Liquidation Trustee the Liquidation Trustee for the Estate of Sentinel Management Group

Inc Sentinel which filed bankruptcy petition in August 2007 The Liquidation Trustee alleges that CCS

sold Sentinel securities mainly collateralixed debt obligations that the Liquidation Trustee contends were

unsuitable for Sentinel and that CCS violated Section 10b of the Exchange Act and Rule lOb-S The

Liquidation Trustee also seeks relief under the Illinois Blue Sky Law the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act the

United States Bankruptcy Code and under common law theories of negligence and unjust enrichment The relief

sought by the Liquidation Trustee under these various legal theories includes damages rescission disgorgement

and recovery of allegedly voidable transactions under the Bankruptcy Code as well as costs and attorneys fees

The Company is vigorously defending the claims By order dated July 2009 the Illinois Court dismissed the

Liquidation Trustees Illinois Consumer Fraud Act claim Discovery is ongoing with respect to the remaining

claims No contingent liability was recorded in the Companys consolidated financial statements related to this

litigation

CCS is also party to litigation commenced on May 21 2009 in the IllinoisCourt under the caption Frederick

Grede not individually but as Liquidation Trustee of the Sentinel Liquidation Trust Assignee of certain

claims Keefe Bruyette Woods Inc Cohen Company Securities LLC Delores Rodriguez Borry

Mohr Jr and Jacques de Saint Phalle The plaintiff in this case is the Liquidation Trustee of the Sentinel
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Liquidation Trust which emerged from the bankruptcy of Sentinel filed in August 2007 The Liquidation

Trustee purportedly as the assignee of claims of Sentinels customers alleges that by recommending that

Sentinel purchase securities mainly collateralized debt obligations that the trustee deems to have been

unsuitable for Sentinels customer accounts CCS aided and abetted breaches of fiduciary duties purportedly

owed by Sentinel and its head trader to Sentinels customers in violation of Illinois common law The complaint

also alleges claims under common law theories of negligence and unjust enrichment The Company will

vigorously defend all claims CCS filed motion to dismiss the Liquidation Trustees complaint on July 21

2009 On August 19 2009 without having ruled on CCSs motion to dismiss the Illinois Court stayed this action

pending the Liquidation Trustees appeal of the dismissal on July 28 2009 of substantially similar case brought

against The Bank of New York Mellon Corp BNYM The dismissal in the BNYM case has been reversed and

remanded to the Illinois Court but no action has been taken by the Illinois Court in the litigation against CCS

No contingent liability was recorded in the Companys consolidated financial statements related to this litigation

In 2009 CCS was subject to routine FINRA examination As result of that exam the FINRA staff

requested additional information and the testimony of certain employees concerning the mark ups CCS charged

in four transactions during the exam period Following its examination the FINRA staff alleged that CCS

charged impermissible mark-ups to qualified institutional buyers QIBs as defined in Rule 144A of the

Securities Act referred to herein as institutional customers in three of such transactions With respect to the

first transaction on August 16 2007 CCS purchased collateralized debt obligation having par value of

$10000 for $8250 or 82.5% of par from dealer On August 17 2007 CCS sold those securities to an

institutional customer for $9100 or 91% of par With respect to the second transaction on January 2008 CCS

purchased collateralized debt obligation having par value of $4500 for $315 or 7% of par from an

institutional custome1 On January 2008 CCS sold those securities to another institutional customer for $585

ul 13% of pur With respect to the third transaction on June 62008 CCS purchased collateralized debt

obligation having par value of $8000 for $400 or 5% of par from dealer Later that day CCS sold those

securities to an institutional customer for $600 or 7.5% of par FINRA maintains that the mark-ups were

impermissible because among other factors each of the securities in question was investment grade under

applicable FINRA guidance

CCS reached an agreement with the FINRA staff to settle such allegations Without admitting or denying

the allegations CCS consented to Letter of Acceptance Waiver and Consent the AWC that among other

things alleged violations of NASD Rules 2110 2440 and 3010 ii censured CCS iii ordered CCS to pay

restitution of $899 plus interest iv ordered CCS to pay $50 fine and directed CCS to review its

supervisory systems and procedures The AWC was approved by FINRA in November 2010

As result of the AWC the Company recorded net expense
of $662 during the second half of 2010 The

net expense of $662 was comprised of two entries the Company recorded additional expense of $1070 as

component of professional services subscriptions and other operating expenses representing the restitution of

$899 the fine of $50 and $121 of interest charges and ii the Company recorded reduction in compensation

and benefits expense of $408 representing the intended recapture by the Company of incentive compensation

pieviously paid employees related to the three transactions

The Operating LLC and its registered investment advisor subsidiary Cohen Company Financial

Management LLC f/k/a Cohen Bros Financial Management LLC are also named in lawsuit originally filed

on August 2009 in the Supreme Court of the State of New York County of Kings captioned Riverside

National Bank of Florida Taberoa Capital Management LLC Trapeza Capital Management LLC Cohen

Company Financial Management LLC f/kin Cohen Bros Financial Management LLC FTN Financial Capital

Markets Keeje Bruyette Woocts Inc Merrill Lynch Pierce Penner Smith mc Bank of /i mnerica

Corporation as successor in interest to Merrill Lynch Co IF Morgan Chase Inc IF Morgan Seem ities

Citigroup Global Morkets Credit Suisse USA LLC ABNAMRO Cohen Company Morgan Keegan Co
Inc SunTrust Robinson Hnmphrev Inc The McGraw Hill Companies lime Moodys Investors Services Inc

and Fitch Ratings Ltd The plaintiff Riverside National Bank of Florida Riverside alleges that offering
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memoranda issued in connection with certain interests in securitizations it purchased failed to disclose alleged

ratings agencies conflicts of interest Riverside alleges among other things common law fraud negligent

misrepresentation and breaches of certain alleged duties On September 28 2009 after demand was made

defendants to change venue plaintiff filed stipulation with the Supreme Court of the State of New York

County of Kings consenting to changing the place of trial from County of Kings to County of New York The

Company is vigorously defending the claims On December 11 2009 the defendants filed motions to dismiss the

complaint on several grounds On April 16 2010 Riverside was closed by the Office of the Comptroller of the

CulTency Subsequently the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation the FDIC was named receiver of the

bank

By letter dated April 19 2010 Riverside requested 30 day extension for the oral argument on the

defendants motions to dismiss which was originally scheduled for May 12 2010 On May 2010 the FDIC

filed motion to substitute as plaintiff and for an order staying the litigation for 90 days which was subsequently

granted On June 2010 the defendants removed the action to the United States District Court for the Southern

District of New York where the case is captioned Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation The McGraw Hill

Companies Inc et at 10 Civ 04421 DAB On June 25 2010 Judge Deborah Batts signed an order providing

that defendants are to re-file their motions to dismiss by August 24 2010 On August 20 2010 Judge Batts

signed an ordet adjourning the proceedings for an additional 90 days at the request of the FDIC Since that time

the Court at the request of the FDIC has further adjourned the proceeds to April 29 2011 The effect of such

order is that the defendants motion to dismiss must be filed by May 22011 after which the FDJC will have 60

days to respond and defendants will have 30 days for their replies No contingent liability was recorded in the

Companys consolidated financial statements related to this litigation

In addition to the matters set forth above the Company is party to various routine legal proceeds arising out

of the ordinary course of the Companys business Management believes that none of the routing legal proceeds

will have material adverse effect on the Companys financial condition

ITEM AND RESERVED.j
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information for Our Common Stock and Dividends

The closing price of our Common Stock was $5.13 on March 12011 We had 12300649 shares of

Common Stock outstanding held by approximately 34 holders of record as of March 2011

Commencing on March 22 2004 our Common Stock began trading on the NYSE under the symbol SF0
On October 2006 upon completion of our merger with Alesco Financial Trust and our name change from

Sunset Financial Resources Inc to Alesco Financial Inc our NYSE symbol was changed to AFN

On December 16 2009 we effectuated 1-for-lO reverse stock split immediately prior to consummation of

the Merger Upon completion of the Merger our name changed from Alesco Financial Inc to Cohen Company

Inc we moved our listing of Common Stock from the New York Stock Exchange to the NYSE Amex LLC and

our trading symbol was changed to COHN

Effective January 21 2011 we changed our name to Institutional Financial Markets Inc and our Common

Stock began trading on the NYSE Amex LLC under the symbol IFJvH

The following sets forth the high and low sale prices of our Common Stock for the quarterly period

indicated as reported on the NYSE for thc period from January 2009 to December 16 2009 and on the NYSE

AMEX LLC from December 17 2009 to December 31 2010 and the cash dividends declared
per share

Sale Price

High Low Dividends

2010

Fourth quarter 5.65 $4.00 $0.05

Third quarter 6.03 4.10 0.05

Second quarter 6.68 4.05

First quarter 9.40 4.90

2009

Fourth quarter $12.50 $3.25

Third quarter 14.40 6.00

Second quarter 9.40 4.00

First quarter 9.90 3.00

The Company declared $0.05 dividend on August 2010 and November 2010 respectively payable to

stockholders of record as of August 17 2010 and November 19 2010 respectively and paid on August 31 2010

and Deccmber 2010 respectively The Company also declared $0.05 dividend on February 28 2011 payable

to stockholders of record as of March 14 2011 and payable on March 28 2011

Effective January 1.2010 the Company ceased to qualify as REIT and therefore is not required to make

any dividends or other distributions to its stockholders Although the Company has paid dividend in piior

quarters the Companys board of directors has the power to determine its policy regarding the payment of

dividends whether to increase reduce or climiuatc this quarterly payment going forward which may depend on

variety of factors including business financial and regulatory considerations as well as any limitations undei

Maryland law or imposed by any agreements governing the indebtedness of the Company There can be no

assurances that such dividends will continue
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In addition the Companys ability to pay dividends will be dependent on distributions it receives from the

Operating LLC The amount and timing of distributions by the Operating LLC will be at the discretion of the

Operating LLCs board of managers and may be impacted by restrictions imposed by the 2010 Credit Facility

and subject to the provisions of the Operating LLCs operating agreement See Liquidity and Capital

Resources in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations beginning on page 78 notes 18 and 19 to our consolidated financial statements included in this

Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information regarding these restrictions and Equity Compensation

Plan Information included in Part Ill Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and

Management and Related Stockholder Matters beginning on page 97

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Maximum Dollar

Value

of Shares

Total Total Number of that May Yet be

Number of Average Shares Purchased Purchased Under
Shares Price as Part of the

Purchased Paid Per Publicly Announced Plans or

Period Slsare Plans or Programs Program

October 2010 to October 31 2010 598 $4.76 $47303.874

November 12010 to November 30 2010 47303874

December 2010 to December 31 2010 47303874

Total 598 $4.76

We repurchased an aggregate of 598 shares other than as pail of publicly announced plan or program We

repurchased these securities in connection with our stock compensation plans which allow participants to

use shares to satisfy certain tax liabilities arising from the vesting of restricted stock

On August 2007 our board of directors authorized us to repurchase up to $50 million of our common

stock from time to time in open market purchases or privately negotiated transactions

ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements as of and

for the years ended Decembcr 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 and 2006 In accordance with OAAP the Merger was

accounted for as reverse acquisition with Cohen Brothers as the accounting acquirer Our consolidated financial

statements as of December 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 and 2006 and for each of the five years in the period

ended December 31 2010 include the historical operations of Cohen Brothers or its predecessors from

January 2006 through to December 16 2009 and the combined operations of the combined company from

December 17 2009 through to December 31 2010
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You should read this selected financial data together with the more detailed information contained in Our

Operating expenses

Compensation and benefits

Other operating

Depreciation and amortization

Impairment of goodwill/intangible assets

Total operating expenses

Operating income loss

Non operating income expense
Interest expense
Gain on repurchase of debt

Gain on sale of management contracts

Jncomc loss from equity method affiliates

Income loss before income tax expense

Income tax benefit expense

Eamings loss per common share/

membership unit-basic

Basic earnings loss per common share/

membership unit

Weighted average shares/membership

units outstanding-basic 10404017

Earnings loss per common share/

membership unit diluted7
Diluted earnings loss per common

share/membership unit7

Weighted average shares/membership units

outstanding diluted 15687573
Cash dividends paid per common share 0.10

Compensation and benefits consists of

Equity based compensation 2505

Tax gross-up expense

Retention bonus

Other compensation and benefits

Balance Sheet Data

Total assets 306747
Debt 44688
Total stockholders equity 64358

Noncontrolling interest 25150
Total equity 89508

4974 9143 11580 3825

consolidated financial statements and related notes and Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations beginning on page 56

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Dollars in thousands except share or unit and per share or per

unit information

Revenues

Net trading 70809 44165 18234 232 4037

Asset management 25281 31148 63844 72154 28207

New issue and advisory 3.778 1816 7249 123993 96374

Principal transactions and other income 25684 6957 6038 7204 6777

Total revenues 125552 84086 83289 189175 135395

77446 70519 53115 161768 95237

31401 22135 21328 43643 48547

2356 2543 4023 2726 789

5607 2078

116810 95197 80544 208137 144573

8742 11111 2745 18962 9178

7686
2555

971 7746

5884 3455 262 11719 3503

10466 11794 6136 18823 9500
749 2049 2757 1680

11215 11803 8185 21580 11180Net income loss
Less Net income loss attributable to the

noncontrolling interest 3620 98 1259 3067 752

Net income loss attributable to IFMI 7595 l705$ 6926$ 24647$ 11932

0.73 l.2l$ 0.72$ 2.83$ 1.61

9639475 9590525 8720121 7390202

0.73 l.2l$ 0.72$ 2.83$ 1.61

9639475 9590525 8720121 7390202

6556 6177 45561 20468

27194 13597

12374

74941 51589 46938 89013 61172

Total 77446 70.519 53115 161768 95237

299442

61961

56.341

21310

77651

157653

76094

49897

11016

60913

237574 177011

130000 77532

60841 20078
502

60841 20580
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On December 16 2009 Cohen Brothers completed the Merger in accordance with the terms of the Merger

Agreement pursuant to which the Merger Sub merged with and into Cohen Brothers with Cohen Brothers

now TFMI LLC as the surviving entity and majority owned subsidiary of the Company See notes and

to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

In 2005 we sponsored the creation of new entity Taberna Realty Finance Trust Tabema During the

period from March 2005 to April 28 2005 Tabema was owned by us Shortly after it was formed

Taberna was spun out into an independent company subsequent to April 28 2005 After Taberna was spun

out we continued to provide origination services to Taberna The related origination fee revenue is included

in new issue revenue in the consolidated statements of operations We earned $4889 and $390 of

origination revenue included in new issue revenue during 2006 and 2007 respectively Taberna obtained

its FINRA broker-dealer license in 2006 and reduced its usage of our services accordingly

Compensation and benefits includes equity-based compensation expense See note 20 to our consolidated

financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K In addition in certain cases we have

paid an additional cash bonus to the employees receiving equity-based compensation to compensate them

for their personal income tax liability incurred from receiving the non cash compensation which is referred

to herein as gross-up bonus or gross-up expense This gross-up expense is included in compensation and

benefits in the statements of operations

During the first quarter of 2006 we issued 2.1 million retroactively adjusted for the Merger conversion

ratio of 0.57372 restricted membership units in total to three members of our executive team At the time

of grant we estimated these units to have an average per unit value of $6.48 retroactively adjusted for the

Merger conversion ratio of 0.57372 These grants vested in the fourth quarter of 2006 and the first quarter

of 2007 As of the first vesting date on December 31 2006 we estimated that the value of these units had

increased to an average per unit value of $29.56 retroactively adjusted for the Merger conversion ratio of

0.57372 This resulted in approximately $61173 in equity based compensation expense over the vesting

period This expense was recognized as follows $20394 $40392 and $387 in 2006 2007 and 2008

respectively based on the vesting schedule In addition all of the tax gross-up expenses recorded by us in

2007 and 2006 related to payments to these three individuals

In January 2009 we implemented the 2009 Senior Managers Cash Bonus Retention Plan the Retention

Plan Pursuant to the Retention Plan we entered into retention arrangements with certain of our employees

to ensure their continued service through the completion of the Merger with AFN We paid an amount to

each employee that by the terms of the retention alTangement vested over the period from January 2009 to

the earlier of the effectiveness of the Merger with AFN or September 30 2009 The total amount paid under

these retention agreements was approximately $12.4 million and was expensed over the contractual nine

month vesting period If an employee who received payment under this plan voluntarily resigned or was

terminated for cause prior to September 30 2009 the employee was obligated to repay any unvested

amount to us

During the second quarter of 2007 we acquired the 10% of Strategos Capital Management LLC

Strategos we did not already own in exchange for 189901 retroactively adjusted for the Merger

conversion ratio of 0.57372 Cohen Brothers membership units In connection with this transaction we

recognized an intangible asset of $6066 representing management contract rights which we amortized

using the straight line method over the estimated economic life of the Strategos management contracts of

3.2 years We recognized $534 $71 $1936 and $807 of amortization expense for the year ended

December 31 2010 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively as component of depreciation and amortizaLion on

the consolidated statements of operations During the year ended December 31 2008 we recognized an

impairment charge of $2.078 related to the diminished value of the management contract rights caused by

continued defaults of assets in Strategos asset pools during the period The charge was included in the

consolidated statements of operations as impairment of intangible assets See note 14 to our consolidated

financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

During the third quarter of 2010 we determined that an impairment charge should be recorded related to the

goodwill allocated to Strategos For the annual impairment test of Strategos we first estimate the cuiTent
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fair value of the Strategos reporting unit This fair value is compared to the book value of the goodwill and

if the fair value is less then the goodwill is deemed impaired We determined the fair value of the Strategos

reporting unit using discounted cash flow analysis During the year ended December 31 2010 we

recognized an impairment charge of $5607 The charge was included in the consolidated statements of

operations as impairment of goodwill and is reflected as component of operating expenses See note 13 to

our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

The gain from repurchase of debt is comprised of the following

During 2010 we repurchased $6644 notional amount of contingent convertible senior notes from

unrelated third parties for $5596 We recognized gain from repurchase of debt of $923 which was

included as separate component of non operating income expense in the consolidated statements of

operations

bt In August 2010 CCS completed cash nffer to purchase all of the outstanding subordinated notes

payable that were tendered total of $8081 principal amount of subordinated notes payable representing

85% of the outstanding subordinated notes payable were tendered prior to the expiration of the offer to

repurchase on August 26 2010 CCS accepted for purchase all of the subordinated notes tendered pursuant

to the offer to repurchase for total purchase price of $6762 including accrued interest We recognized

gain from repurchase of debt of $1632 for the year ended December 31 2010

See note 18 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

On February 27 2009 we sold three CLO management contracts comprising substantially all of our middle

market loan-U.S Emporia business line to an unrelated third party We received net proceeds from this

sale after the payment of certain expenses of approximately $7258 In addition we were entitled to certain

contingent payments based on the amount of subordinated management fees received by the unrelated third

party under the sold CLO management contracts in an amount not to exceed an additional $1500 We
recorded gain on the sale of CLO management contracts of $7746 for the year ended December 31 2009

in the consolidated statement of operations which included net proceeds from sale of $7258 and

ii $529 in proceeds from contingent payments received after the sale net of iii $41 of expenses incuned

We recorded the contingent payments that were received from an unrelated third party of the subordinated

fec of up to $1 500 as additional gain as such payments were actually received We recorded $971 of these

contingent payments during the year ended December 31 2010 As of June 30 2010 we reached the

maximumlimit of additional fees we could receive under these contracts Therefore we no longer recorded

any additional gain on these contracts subsequent to June 30 2010 See note to our consolidated financial

statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Histoiical earnings loss pei eoiiiinon shai c/membership unit data presented piior to the Merger date was

retroactively restated based on the exchange ratio 0.57372 of shares issued in the Merger between AFN

and Cohen Brothers

Weighted average common shares/membership units outstanding Diluted includes 5283556 of

Operating LLC membership units that are convertible into shares of IFMI Common Stock The Operating

LLC membership units not held by IFMI that is those held by the non-controlling interest as of

December 31 2010 may be redeemed and exchanged into shares of IFMI on one-to-one basis These

units are not included in the computation of basic earnings per share These units enter into the computation

of diluted net income loss per common share when the effect is dilutive using the if converted method See

note 24 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based on

our consolidated financial statements vhich have been prepared in accordance with GAAP The preparation of

these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets liabilities revenues and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities On regular

basis we evaluate these estimates including fair value of financial instruments These estimates are based on

historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances Actual results may differ from these estimates

All amounts in this disclosure are in thousands except unit and per unit and share and per share

data unless otherwise noted

Overview

We are an investment firm specializing in credit-related fixed income investments We began operations

through our predecessors in 1999 as an investment firm focused on small and mid cap banks but have grown

over the past eleven years into more diversified fixed income specialty investment firm We are organized into

three business segments Capital Markets Asset Management and Principal Investing

Capital Markets Our Capital Markets business segment consists of credit related fixed income

securities sales and trading as well as new issue placements in corporate and securitized products and

advisory services revenue Our fixed income sales and trading group provides trade execution to

corporate and institutional investors We specialize in the following products high grade corporate

bonds high yield corporate bonds and loans ABS MJ3S CLOs collateralized bond obligations

CMBS RMBS SBA loans U.S government bonds U.S government agency securities brokered

deposits and CDs for small banks and hybrid capital of financial institutions including TruPS whole

loans and other structured financial instruments We also offer execution and brokerage services for

cash equity and derivative products

Asset Management We manage assets within investment funds managed accounts permanent capital

vehicles and collateralized debt obligations collectively investment vehicles collateralized debt

obligation is form of secured borrowing The borrowing is secured by different types of fixed income

assets such as corporate or mortgage loans or bonds The borrowing is in the form of securitization

which means that thc lenders are actually investing in notes backed by the assets The lenders have

recourse only to the assets securing the loan Our Asset Management segment includes our fee based

asset management operations which include on going base and incentive management fees As of

December 31 2010 we had approximately $10.3 billion in AUM

Principal Investing Our Principal Investing segment is comprised primarily of our investments in

investment vehicles wc managc

We generate our revenue by segment primarily through

Capitol Markets

our trading activities which include execution and brokerage services riskless trading activities as

well as gains and losscs unrealizcd and realizcd and income and expense earned on securities

classified as trading and

new issue and advisory revcnue comprised of origination fees for corporate debt issues originated

by us revenue from advisory services and new issue revenue associated with arranging the

issuancc of newly crcated debt cquity and hybrid financial instruments
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Asset Management

asset management fees for our on-going services as asset manager charged and earned by managing

investment vehicles which may include fees both senior and subordinated to the securities issued by

the investment vehicle and

incentive management fees earned based on the performance of the various investment vehicles

Principal Investing

gains and losses unrealized and realized and income and expense earned on securities primarily

investments in vehicles we manage classified as other investments at fair value and

income or loss from equity method affiliates see CriticalAccounting Policies and Estimates

Valuation of Financial Instruments beginning on page 90

Business Environment

Our business is materially affected by economic conditions in the financial markets political conditions

broad trends in business and finance changes in volume and price levels of securities transactions and changes

in interest rates all of which can affect our profitability which are unpredictable and beyond our control These

factors may affect the financial decisions made by investors including their level of participation in the financial

markets Severe market fluctuations or weak economic conditions could ultimately reduce our trading volume

and revenues and adversely affect our profitability

portion of our revenues are generated from net trading activity We engage in proprietary trading for our

own account as well as execute riskless trades with customer order in hand resulting in limited market risk to

us The inventory of securities held for our own account as well as held to facilitate customer trades and our

market making activities are sensitive to market movements

portion of our revenues are generated from management fees Our ability to charge management fees and

the amount of those fees is dependent upon the underlying investment performance and stability of the

investment vehicles If these types of investments do not provide attractive returns to investors the demand for

such instruments will likely fall thereby reducing our opportunity to earn new management fees or maintain

existing management fees

Margin Pressures in Corporate Bond Brokerage Business

During 2010 margins earned in certain products and markets within the corporate bond brokerage business

have decreased materially as competition has increased and financial markets have recovered from the recent

credit crisis Further we expect that competition will increase over time resulting in continued margin pressure

Our response to this margin compression has included building diversified securitized product trading

platform ii building out our European capital markets business iii adding smaller customers iv making

greater use of electronic trading platforms and acquiring new product lines like the acquisition of JVB see

discussion below We believe these efforts will help insulate us from the reduction in margins However there

can be no certainty that we will be successful in these efforts If unsuccessful we will likely see decline in the

profitability of our capital markets segment

Recent Legislation Affecting the Financial Services Industry

On July 21 2010 the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act the Dodd-Frank

Act was signed into law The Dodd Frank Act contains variety of provisions designed to regulate financial

markets including credit and derivative transactions Many aspects of the Dodd Frank Act are subject to
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rulemaking that will take effect over the next several years thus making it difficult to assess the impact on the

financial industry including us at this time We will continue to monitor all applicable developments in the

implementation of the Dodd-Frank Act and expect to adapt successfully to any new applicable legislative and

regulatory requirements

Recent Developments

Acquisition of JVB Financial Holding L.L

On September 14 2010 the Company entered into Purchase and Contribution Agreement the Purchase

Agreement with JVB Financial Holdings L.L.C Florida limited liability company JVB the sellers listed

on the Purchase Agreement the Sellers and certain employees of JVB the Management Employees

pursuant to which the Sellers agreed to sell all of the equity in JVB to the Operating LLC and JVB would become

wholly owned subsidiary of the Operating LLC the Business Combination

On January 13 2011 we completed the acquisition of JVB As contemplated by the Purchase Agreement

the Sellers sold all of the outstanding equity interests in JVB to the Operating LLC and JVB is now wholly

owned subsidiary of the Operating LLC Pursuant to the agreement of the parties the transaction was effective as

of January 12011

The purchase price consisted of $5.6 million in cash 313051 shares of IFMI Common Stock and 559020

restricted membership units in the Operating LLC plus cash amount equal to JVBs tangible net worth

calculated as of the closing of January 2011 In addition the Company agreed to pay $2.5 million to the

Management Employees in three equal installments one on each of the first three anniversar es of the closing

date of the Business Combination contingent upon each individuals continued employment at each payment

date Upon the closing of the Business Combination an escrow of $484 was established for the payment of any

adjustments to the purchase price based on the final tangible net worth of JVB as of the closing of the transaction

and certain indemnities and $384 was withheld for payment to the Sellers only if specific revenue target is

achieved at the end of the first year of operation following the closing of the Business Combination All of the

restricted membership units in the Operating LLC were delivered to Management Employees and will vest in

three equal installments on each of the first three anniversaries of the closing date subject to the terms and

conditions contained in each employees employment agreement Once vested the restricted membership units in

the Operating LLC may be redeemed for cash or at the Companys option shares of the Common Stock of the

Company

The Business Combination will be accounted for under the acquisition method in accordance with U.S

GAAP Accordingly the Business Combination will be accounted for as an acquisition by the Operating LLC of

JVB JVBs results of operations will be included in the Companys statements of operations beginning

January 12011

See note and note 32 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on

Form 10

Master Transaction Agreement Alesco Alesco XVII

On July 29 2010 we entered into Master Transaction Agreement pursuant to which we sold to third

party the collateral management rights and responsibilities arising after the sale related to the Alesco through

XVII securitizations We received $4831 net of
expenses

and purchase price adjustments at the close of the

Alesco through XVII transaction In connection with thc Master Transaction Agreement we entered into

three year Services Agreement under which we will provide certain services to the third party purchaser $4664

of the cash received up front was recognized as deferred revenue and will be amortized into revenue over the life

of the services agreement In addition the Mastei Transaction Agreement calls for additional payments to be

made to us on quarterly basis through February 23 2017 if the management fees earned by the third party

exceed certain thresholds
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Consolidated Results of Operations

The following section provides comparative discussion of our consolidated results of operations for the

specified periods The period-to-period comparisons of financial results are not necessarily indicative of future

results

Year Ended December 31 2010 compared to the Year Ended December 31 2009

The following table sets forth information regarding our consolidated results of operations for the year

ended December 31 2010 and 2009

INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Dollars in Thousands

Unaudited

Year ended December 31 Favorable/Unfavorable

2010 2009 Change Change

Revenues

Net trading 70809 44165 26644 60%

Asset management 25281 31148 5867 19%
New issue and advisory 3778 1816 1962 108%

Piincipal transactions and other income 25684 6957 18727 269%

Total revenues 125552 84086 41466 49%

Operating expenses

Compensation and benefits 77446 70519 6927 10%
Business development occupancy equipment 5470 5469

Professional services subscriptions and other opeiating 25931 16666 9265 56%
Depreciation and amortization 2356 2543 187 7%

Impairment of goodwill 5607 5607 N/M

Total operating expenses 116810 95197 21613 23%

Operating income loss 8742 11111 19853 179%

Non operating income expense

Interest expense 7686 4974 2712 55%
Gain on repurchase of debt 2555 2555 N/M

Gain on sale of management contracts 971 7746 6775 87%
Income/loss from equity method affiliates 5884 3455 9339 270%

Income loss before income taxes 10466 11794 22260 189%

Income tax expensebenefit 749 758 N/M

Net income loss 11215 11803 23018 195%

Lcss Net income loss attributable to the nonconti oiling

interest 3.620 98 3718 NIM

Nct income loss attributable to IFM1 7595 11705 $19300 165%

N/M Not Meaningful
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Revenues

Revenues increased by $41466 or 49% to $125552 for the year ended December 31 2010 from $84086

for the year ended December 31 2009 As discussed in more detail below the change was comprised of

increases of $26644 in net trading revenue $18727 in principal transactions and other income and $1962 in

new issue and advisory revenue partially offset by decrease of $5867 in asset management revenue

Net Trading

Net trading revenue increased by $26644 or 60% to $70809 for the year ended December 31 2010 from

$44165 for the year ended December 31 2009

The increase in net trading revenue for the year ended December 31 2010 was primarily the rcsult of the

continued build-out of the Capital Markets segment which included the significant expansion of our European

Capital Markets team and the addition of an equity derivatives group and ii improved results as we continued

to transition to strategy of using risk capital including the impact of the increased value in leveraged credit

products on our trading investments realized and unrealized

Our net trading revenue includes unrealized gains on our trading investments as of the applicable

measurement date which may never be realized due to changes in market or other conditions not in our control

that may adversely affect the ultimate value realized from our trading investments In addition our net trading

revenue also includes realized gains on certain proprietary trading positions that were sold during 2010 Our

ability to derive trading gains from trading positions is subject to market conditions Due to volatility and

uncertainty in the capital markets the net trading revenue recognized during the year ended December 31 2010

may not be indicative of future results Furthermore some of the assets included in the Investments trading

line of our consolidated balance sheets represent Level valuations within the FASB fair value hierarchy Level

assets are caiTied at fair value based on estimates derived using internal valuation models and other estimates

See notes and 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10 The

fair value estimates made by the Company may not be indicative of the final sale price at which these assets may

be sold

Asset Management

Assets Under Management

AUM refers to our assets under management and equals the sum of the gross assets included in

collateralized debt obligations that we have sponsored and manage plus the gross assets accumulated and

temporarily financed in warehouse facilities during the accumulation phase of the securitization process which

gross assets are intended to be included in collateralized debt obligations plus the NAV of the permanent

capital vehicles and investment funds we manage plus the NAV of other managed accounts

AUM drives our asset management fee revenue In addition much of our work force receives significant

portion of their compensation through performance bonuses which are related to our revenues Therefore AUM
will impact compensation expense in addition to revenue

Our calculation of AUM may differ from the calculations used by other asset managers and as result his

measure may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other asset managers Our AUM measure

includes for instance certain AUM for which we charge either no tees or nominal fees are generally related to

assets in the accumulation phase This definition of AUM is not necessarily identical to definition of AUM that

may be used in our management agreements
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ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
dollars in thousands

As of December 31

2010 2009 2008

Company sponsored collateralized debt obligations 9.730374 $15569780 $23486862

Other managed assets 177447

Permanent capital vehicles 171028 161984 324764

Investment funds 129027 243894 301675

Managed accounts 288608 230285
___________

Assets under management end of period $10319037 $16205943 $24290748

Average assets under management company sponsored

collateralized debt obligations $12199716 $17524608 $30005018

AUM for company sponsored collateralized debt obligations does not include the assets of the Alesco

XVII securitizations as of December 31 2010 The assets of the Alesco XVII securitizations are included

in the amounts for 2009 and 2008 See discussion of collateralized debt obligations below

Includes assets in the accumulation phase as well as other assets managed for third parties or affiliates

Represents client funds managed pursuant to separate account arrangements

AUM for company sponsored collateralized debt obligations other managed assets permanent capital

vehicles investment funds and other managed accounts represents total AUM at the period indicated

Asset management fees decreased by $5867 or 19% to $25281 for the year ended December 31 2010

from $31148 for the year ended December 31 2009

ASSET MANAGEMENT
dollars in thousands

December 31 December 31
2010 2009 Change

Collateralized debt obligations and related service agreements $19850 $26319 $6469
Investment funds 2592 3466 874
Other 2839 1363 1476

Total $25281 $31148 $5867

Collateralized Debt Obligations

Asset management revenue from company sponsored collateralized debt obligations decreased $6469 to

$19850 for the year ended December 31 2010 from $26319 for the year ended December 31 2009

FEES EARNED BY ASSET CLASS

dollars in thousands

December 31 December 31
2010 2009 Change

TruPS and insurance company debt U.S 512 267 $17 S38 271

High grade and mezzanine ABS 2774 4574 1800
Middle market loans U.S 986 986
TruPS and insurance company debt Europe 3084 5960 2.876
Broadly syndicated loans Europe 1725 1.839 114

Obligations of tax exempt entities 422 422

Total $19.850 $26319 $6469
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Asset management fees for TruPS and insurance company debt of United States companies decreased

primarily because the average AUM in this asset class declined as result of greater levels of defelTals and

defaults of the underlying assets On July 29 2010 we entered into Master Transaction Agreement pursuant to

which we sold to third party collateral management rights and responsibilities arising after the sale relating to

the Alesco through XVII securitizations We received $4831 net of expenses and purchase price adjustments

at the close of the Alesco through XVII transaction In connection with the Master Transaction Agreement we

entered into three year Services Agreement under which we will provide certain services to the third party

purchaser $4664 of the cash received up front was recognized as deferred revenue and will be amortized into

revenue over the life of the Services Agreement In addition the Master Transaction Agreement calls for

additional payments to be made to us on quarterly basis through February 23 2017 if the management fees

earned by the third party exceed certain thresholds

It should be noted that the assets of the Alesco XVII securitizations are not included in our AUM
disclosed in the table above as we are no longer the manager However we continue to generate revenue through

the services agreement related to these securitizations

During the year ended December 31 2010 we recognized $5973 in revenue for the Alcsco through XVII

securitizations which is included in the TruPS and insurance company debt U.S in the table above Of this

amount $313 represents incentive payments received from the third party under the Master Transaction

Agreement We have the potential to earn an additional $6861 in incentive payments through February of 2017

if all performance hurdles are met Not including any potential incentive fees we expect to recognize an

additional $13430 in revenue from the Services Agreement over its remaining term ending February of 2013

See note to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Substantially all of our TruPS trusts have stopped paying subordinated fees However we will begin

accruing the subordinated asset management fees again if payments resume and in our estimate continued

payment by the trusts is reasonably assured See Critical Accounting Policies ond Estimates Reeenue

Recognition Asset management beginning on page 91

Asset management fees for high grade and mezzanine ABS declined primarily because the average AUM in

this asset class declined due to defaults of the underlying assets and liquidations of certain collateralized debt

obligations

Asset management fees for middle market loans of United States companies decreased to $0 because we

sold three CLO management contracts comprising substantially all of our Emporia business line to an unrelated

third party in February 2009 See note to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report

on Form 10 and Non-Operating Income and Expense Gain on Sale of Management Contracts

beginning on page 68

Asset management fees for TruPS and insurance company debt of European companies decreased primarily

because we stopped accruing for subordinated fees for certain collateralized debt obligations due to the

non payment of such fees during 2009 and due to the decline in the average AUM in this asset class due to

greater levels of deferrals and defaults of the underlying assets as well as result of exchange rate fluctuations

Asset management fees for broadly syndicated loans Europe decreased because there was decrease in

average AUM for the year ended December 31 2010 as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 for

which we earned asset management fees Thçse contracts are usually paid in currency other than the US dollar

The impact of currency fluctuations is recorded as component of principal transactions and other income
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Asset management fees for obligations of tax exempt entities decreased to zero during the year ended

December 31 2010 as compared to the same period in 2009 hecanse in March 2009 we assigned the

management agreement for the Non-Profit Preferred Funding securitization NPPF to an unrelated third

party Effective April 22 2009 when necessary third party approvals were received the unaffiliated third party

began to serve as the collateral manager for NPPF Fifty five percent of any management fees the unrelated

third party receives from NPPF are paid to the Company We recognize this sub advisory fee as other income

which is component of principal transactions and other income in the consolidated statements of operations

See note to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Investment Funds

Our asset management revenue from inyestment funds is comprised of fees from the management of

Brigadier and Deep Value

December 31 December 31
2010 2009 Change

Brigadier 54 $1337 $l283

Deep Value 2538 2129 409

Total $2592 $3466 874

The decrease in Brigadier revenue was due to decrease in base and incentive management fee revenue of

$1283 Brigadier experienced extensive redemptions during 2009 Effective beginning in the second quarter of

2010 the Brigadier fund ceased permitting redemptions pending its final liquidation which was completed during

the fourth quarter of 2010 We ceased charging Brigadier management fees effective April 30 2010

The increase in Deep Value revenue was primarily because there was an increase in the average NAV

during 2010 as compared to 2009 During the third quarter of 2010 the first Deep Value Fund substantially

completed its liquidation process and therefore less management fees generated by Deep Value will be earned by

us in the future The first Deep Value Fund expects to distribute its remaining investments during the first quarter

of 2011 Of the Deep Value asset management revenues shown in the table above $1245 was earned from the

first Deep Value Fund We will not earn any additional management fees from the first Deep Value Fund in 2011

and beyond In addition during the first quarter of 2009 we consolidated the onshore fund of Deep Value and

the related management fees that were earned were eliminated in consolidation and were effectively recognized

as component of noneontrolling interest in the consolidated statements of operations We deconsolidated the

onshore fund subsequent to the first quarter of 2009

Other

Our other asset management revenue consists of revenue earned from the management of permanent capital

vehicles and managed accounts The net increase of $1476 was primarily comprised of an inciease in managed

accounts fees of $1 596 partially offset by decrease of $120 due to the assignment of the MFCA management

contract to third party in the first quarter of 2009 Of the $1596 increase in managed account fees $1213 came

from single managed account arrangement

The inctease in fees fioni rrianaged accuunts is due tu the fact that the managed accuunt aiiangerrients weie

entered into subsequent to the second quarter of 2009

In conjunction with the assignment of the MFCA management contract we will ieeeive participation fee

beginning on March 18 2012 and for the ten-year period thereafter equal to 10% of the revenue earned in excess

of $1000 annually by the unrelated third party for managing MFCA See note to oui consolidated financial

statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10
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New Issue and Advisory Revenue

New issue and advisory revenue increased by $1962 or 108% to $3778 for the year ended December 31

2010 as compared to $1816 for the same period in 2009 The increase is primarily attributable to an increased

number of new issue and advisory engagements that closed during 2010 as compared to 2009 including the

arrangement of the issuance of newly created debt equity and hybrid financial instruments

Principal Transactions and Other Income

Principal transactions and other income increased by $18727 or 269% to $25684 for the year ended

December 31 2010 as compared to $6957 for the year ended December 31 2009

Principal Transactions Other Income

dollars in thousands

December 31 December 31
2010 2009 Change

Change in fair value of other investments at fair value $24813 $5610 $19203

Foreign currency 152 737 585

Dividend interest and other income 1023 2084 1061

Total $25684 $6957 $18727

The increase in the change in fair value of other investments of $19203 was comprised of the following

December 31 December 31
2010 2009 Change

AFN 106 106
EuroDekania 525 1025 1550

StarAsia 18126 3423 14703

RAIT 387 658 1045

Brigadier 64 89 25
MFCA 100 1052 952
Deep Value 4481 6268 1787
Duart Fund 223 223
Other 1353 3645 4998

Total $24813 5610 $19203

Effective with the Merger on December 16 2009 our investment in AFN was reclassified as treasury stock

and will not be adjusted going forward RAIT is publicly traded company so changes in the value of our

investment match changes in the public share price In addition we sold our investment in RAIT during the first

quarter of 2010 Our investments in EuroDekania Star Asia Brigadier MFCA Deep Value and the Duart Fund

generally increase and decrease in value based on the NAV of the underlying funds During the fourth quarter of

2010 the Brigadier fund completed its liquidation As of September 30 2010 Deep Value liquidated

substantially all of its investments and expects to distribute its remaining investments during the first quarter of

2011 Effective December 31 2010 we submitted redemption notice to the Duart Fund to redeem 100% of our

capital We expect to receive our redemption.by March 31 2011

During 2010 the Company made several purchases of Star Asia shares either from third parties or from

Star Asia itself via rights offering These purchases were made for amounts less than the underlying NAV of

Star Asia Accordingly portion of the gain recognized above for Star Asia is from these purchases at below
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NAV and portion is from the changes in the underlying NAV of Star Asia For the year ended December31

2010 the change in fair value of our investment in Star Asia was comprised of $17.5 14 from our investment

purchases of shares at discount to NAy and $612 from changes in the underlying NAV of Star Asia

The change in other investments was comprised of decrease of $33 related to certain residential loans

acquired as part of the Merger decrease of $2320 related to increased net realized and unrealized losses on

Japanese Yen based forward contracts put in place to partially hedge fluctuations in the investment value of Star

Asia and an increase of $6992 related to certain investments in securitizations which were sold during 2010

The remaining $359 of the net increase relates primarily to improved results from investments held in both

periods

We receive payments under certain asset management contracts in Euros or U.K Pounds Sterling however

our functional currency is the U.S Dollar The foreign currency fluctuations are due to changes in the exchange

rates between Euros U.K Pounds Sterling and U.S Dollars in the related periods We have not hedged our

foreign currency exposure related to management fees paid in Euros or U.K Pounds Sterling to date

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased $21613 or 23% to $116810 for the year ended December 31 2010 from

$95197 for the year ended December 31 2009 The change was due to increases of $6927 in compensation and

benefits $9265 in professional services subscriptions and other operating expenses $1 in business

development occupancy equipment and $5607 impairment charge to goodwill partially offset by decrease

of $187 in depreciation and amortization

Compensation and Benefits

Compensation and benefits increased $6927 or 10% to $77446 for the year ended December 31 2010

from $70519 for the year ended December 31 2009

COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS

dollars in thousands

December 31 December 31
2010 2009 Change

Cash compensation and benefits $74941 $51589 23352

Retention Bonus 12374 12374
Equity based compensation 2505 6556 4051

$77446 $70519 6927

Cash compensation and benefits in the table above is primarily comprised of salary incentive compensation

and benefits The increasc in cash compcnsation and benefits is primarily result of the increase in inccntivc

compensation which is tied to revenue and operating profitability The increase was partially offset by decrease

of $408 which was recorded in the second half of 2010 as result of an agreement reached with thc FINRA staff

to pay restitution related to certain allegations .stemning from recent FINRA exam The $408 represents the

rccapturc by us of the incentivc compcnsation previously paid to employces See note 27 to our consolidated

financial statements included this Annual Repoit on Form 10 See also Part Item Legal Proceedings in

this Annual Rcport on Form 10 In addition our total headcount was 133 as of Derember 31 2010 as

compared to 142 at December 31 2009
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In January 2009 we implemented the 2009 Senior Managers Cash Bonus Retention Plan the Retention

Plan Pursuant to the Retention Plan we entered into retention arrangements with certain of our employees to

ensure their continued service through the completion of the Merger with AFN We paid an amount to each

employee that by the terms of the retention arrangement vested over the period from January 2009 to the

earlier of the effectiveness of the AFN Merger or September 30 2009 The total amount paid under these

retention agreements was $12374 and was expensed over the contractual nine month vesting period If an

employee who received payment under this plan voluntarily resigned or was terminated for cause prior to

September 30 2009 the employee was obligated to repay any unvested amount to us

Compensation and benefits includes equity based compensation which decreased $4051 or 62% to $2505

for the year ended December 31 2010 from $6556 for the year ended December 31 2009

For the year ended December 312009 compensation and benefits includes equity-based compensation of

$2044 related to the amortization of membership units or long term incentive profit LTIP units of the

Operating LLC Restricted Units consisting of units awarded to our executives for which vesting was

accelerated upon the closing of the Merger and Restricted Units were automatically converted to Cohen Brothers

membership units and then converted into our Common Stock $975 related to the amortization of Restricted

Units granted under the Cohen Brothers LLC 2009 Equity Award Plan the 2009 Equity Award Plan see

Liquidity and Capita/Resources Capitalization beginning on page 83 and $3513 related to the

amortization of Options awarded to our employees which were automatically cancelled upon the consummation

of the Merger In addition we recognized equity based compensation of $24 for the period from December 17

2009 to December 31 2009 for the restricted shares we assumed from AFN pursuant to the AFN 2006 Equity

Incentive Plan For the year ended December 31 2010 compensation and benefits includes equity based

compensation of $1144 related to the amortization of Restricted Units granted under the Cohen Brothers LLC

2009 Equity Award Plan and $1361 related to restrcted shares of our Common Stock See note 20 to our

consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Business Development Occupancy and Equipment

Business development occupancy and equipment was $5470 for the year ended December 31 2010 as

compared to $5469 for the year ended December 31 2009 Travel and entertainment decreased by $209 from the

year ended December 31 2009 The decrease was substantially offset by the increase in rent expense of $97 and

other occupancy and equipment expenses of $1 13 from the year ended December 31 2009 due to opening new

offices during 2010

Professional Services Subscriptions and Other Operating Expenses

Professional services subscriptions and other operating expenses increased $9265 or 56% to $25931 for

the year ended December 31 2010 from $16666 for the year ended December 31 2009 The increase included

an increase of $2208 in legal and professional fees an increase of $2355 in solicitation clearing and execution

costs an increase of $995 in insurance premiums an increase of $1430 in subscription costs an increase of $425

in consulting fees and an increase of $2308 in other costs partially offset by decrease of $456 in recruiting

expense Of the $2355 increase in solicitation clearing and execution costs $833 related to the write-off of

deferred solicitation costs incurred to raise capital for the first Deep Value Fund The previously paid costs were

being amortized over the expected life of the investment fund The Deep Value Fund substantially completed its

liquidation as of September 30 2010 All of the unamortized solicitation costs related to the first Deep Value

fund were expensed during 2010 Of the $2308 in other costs $1070 of expense was recorded in the second half

of 2010 as result of an agreement reached with the FINRA staff to pay restitution related to certain allegations

stemming from recent FINRA exam See note 27 to our consolidated financial statements included in this

Annual Report on Form 10 See also Part Item Legal Proceedings in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K
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Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization decreased $187 or 7% to $2356 for the year ended December 31 2Olu

from $2543 for the year ended December 31 2009 $178 of the decline resulted from fully amortizing the

remaining intangible asset related to the 10% of Strategos we previously did not own in July 2007 from

noncontrolling interest partner in the first nine months of 2010

Impairment of Goodwill

Durng the year ended December 31 2010 we recognized an impairment chargc of $5607 The impairment

charge is result of an annual impairment test which is completed in the third quarter of each year as it relates to

Strategos goodwill For its annual impairment test of Strategos the Company first estimates the current fair value

of the Strategos reporting unit This fair valup is compared to the book value of the goodwill and if the fair value

is less then the guudwill is deemed impaiied The Cumpany deteimines the faii value uf the Strategos reporting

unit using discounted cash flow analysis The future cash flows of Strategos were unfavorably impacted by the

successful wind down of the first Deep Value Fund During the third quarter of 2010 the Company determined

that an impairment charge should be recorded related to the goodwill allocated to Strategos During the year

ended December 31 2010 the Company recognized an impairment charge of $5607 The charge is included in

the consolidated statements of operations as impairment of goodwill and is reflected as component of operating

expenses See note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Non-Operating Income and Expense

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $2712 or 55% to $7686 for the year ended December 31 2010 from $4974 for

the year
ended December 31 2009 This increase of $2712 was comprised of decrease of $2.08 of interest

incurred on our bank debt an increase of $1768 of interest incurred on convertible senior notes assumed

from AFN upon completion of the Merger an increase of $3318 of interest inculTed on junior subordinated

notes assumed from AFN upon completion of the Merger and decrease of $299 of interest incurred on

subordinated notes payable Fiscal year 2009 also included non-operating income of $6 related to an interest rate

swap we terminated on June 2009 when we entered into credit facility with TD Bank 2009 Credit

Facility The decrease in interest expense of $2081 on bank debt was primarily due to the fact that we reduced

the amount outstanding under the line of credit to $0 from February 2010 to July 28 2010 The decrease in

interest expense of $299 on subordinated notes payable was due to the fact that CCS repurehased total of

$8081 principal amount of subordinated notes payable during the third quarter of 2010

On July 29 2010 our subsidiary Dekania Investors LLC entered into the 2010 Credit Facility and made

draw of $9300 As consequence we wrote off $675 of unamortized deferred financing costs to interest expense

related to the 2009 Credit Facility For additional information see Liquidity ond Capitol Resources Debt

Financing beginning on page 85 and note 18 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual

Report on Form 10

Gain on Repurchase of Debt

Gain on repurchase of debt was $2555 for the year ended December 31 2010 During 2010 we

repurehased $6644 notional amount of contingent convertible senior notes from unrelated third parties fot

$5596 This debt had book value of $6519 We recognized gain from repurchase of this debt of $923 which

was included as separate component of non-operating income expense in our consolidated statements of

operations In August 2010 one of our broker-dealr subsidiaries CCS completed its cash offer to purchase all

of the outstanding subordinated notes payable that were tendered CCS repurchased $8081 principal amount of

the subordinated notes payable lepresenting 85% of the outstanding subordinated notes payable for $6762

including accrued interest We recorded gain from repurchase of debt of $1 .632 which was included as

separate component of non-operating income expense in our consolidated statements of operations
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For additional information see note 18 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual

Report on Form 10

We did not repurchase any debt in fiscal year 2009

Gain on Sale of Management Contracts

The gain on the sale of management contracts decreased $6775 or 87% to $971 for the year ended

December 31 2010 froth $7746 for the year ended December 31 2009 On February 27 2009 we sold three

CLO management contracts comprising substantially all of our middle market loans-U.S Emporia business line

to an unrelated third party We received net proceeds from this sale after payment of certain expenses of $7258

In addition we were entitled to certain contingent payments based on the amount of subordinated management

fees received by the unrelated third party under the sold CLO management contracts in an amount not to exceed

an additional $1500 We recorded net gain on sale of management contracts of $7746 for the year ended

December 31 2009 which included net proceeds from sale of $7258 and ii $529 in proceeds from

contingent payments received after the sale net of iii $41 of
expenses incurred subsequent to the sale In 2010

we received $971 of contingent payments and recorded additional gain During 2010 we reached the maximum

limit of additional fees we could receive under these contracts Therefore we will no longer record any

additional gain on these contracts in future periods See note to our consolidated financial statements included

in this Annual Report on Form 10-K The up-front cash received on the sale of the Alesco XVII management

contracts was deferred and will be recognized as component of asset management revenue over time See

discussion of asset management revenue above

Income/Lossfrom Equity Method Affiliates

Income from equity method affiliates increased $9339 to income of $5884 for the year ended

December 31 2010 from loss of $3455 for the
year ended December 31 2009 Income or loss from equity

method affiliates represents our share of the related entities earnings As of December 31 2009 we had three

equity method investees Star Asia Manager Deep Value OP and Deep Value OP II During the year

ended December 31 2009 we wrote off our equity method investment in Dekania Corp for total charge of

$4339 since it was liquidated in February 2009 As of December 31 2010 we had five equity method investees

Star Asia Manager Deep Value UP Deep Value OP II Star Asia SPV and Duart Capital See

note 3-F to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

In September 2010 Strategos substantially completed the liquidation of the first Deep Value Fund In

conjunction with this liquidation and distribution of funds to investors the Deep Value OP recognized its

incentive fee earned in the amount of $12308 We own 50% of the Deep Value OP Therefore our share of this

incentive fee was $6154 and was included as component of income from equity method affiliates during the

year ended December 31 2010

Income Tax Benefit Expense

Although for tax purposes AFN is deemed to have acquired Cohen Brothers on the effective date of the

Merger for OAAP purposes Cohen Brothers is deemed to have acquired AFN on the effective date of the

Merger Therefore our consolidated financial statements treat IFMI as pass through entity not subject to

federal tax for all periods prior to the effective date of the Merger

Prioi to the Merger we and subsequent to the Merger our majority owned subsidiary the Operating LLC are

treated as pass-through entity for U.S federal income tax purposes and in most of the states in which we do

business It is however subject to income taxçs in the United Kingdom France New York City Philadelphia and

the State of Illinois in addition to being subject to federal and other state taxes Beginning on April 2006 we

qualified for Keystone Opportunity Zone KOZ benefits which exempt the Operating LLC and its members

from Philadelphia and Pennsylvania state income and capital stock franchise tax liabilities We will be entitled to

KOZ benefits through the end of the lease term for our Philadelphia headquarters which is April 30 2016
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Income tax expense decreased by $758 to an income tax benefit of $749 for the year ended December 31
2010 from income tax expense of $9 for the year ended December 31 2009 The tax benefit realized by us during

the year ended December 31 2010 was result $78 of current tax expense representing taxes incurred for state

and foreign jurisdictions offset by deferred tax benefit of $827 The deferred tax benefit is comprised of the

impact of the following items reduction in the U.S state effective tax rate ii adjustments to federal

valuation allowance for changes in expected reversal patterns of the debt discount and iii U.S federal and

State net operating loss that arose in 2010 and has twenty year carry forward period for U.S federal and many

state jurisdictions and thus is available to reduce taxable temporary differences related to the discounted debt

reversing through the year 2030 The tax expense during 2009 was the result of local and foreign taxes paid See

note 21 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10

Net Income Loss Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest

Net income loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest for the year ended December 31 2010 and for

the period from December 17 2009 to December 31 2009 was comprised of the 33.8% noncontrolling interest

related to member interests in the Operating LLC other than the interests held by us for the relevant periods For

fiscal year 2009 net income loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest was also comprised of the 45% of

the noncontrolling interest attributable to the onshore feeder fund of Deep Value which we consolidated as of

December 31 2008 and through to the first quarter of 2009 since we owned majority of the limited partner

interests since its first closing in April 2008 through the end of the first quarter of 2009 During the second

quarter of 2009 our ownership percentage in the onshore feeder fund declined to 30% Accordingly in the

second quarter of 2009 we deconsolidated the onshore feeder fund No gain or loss was recognized related to the

deconsolidation as the amounts transferred were already based on fair value
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Year Ended December 2009 compared to the Year Ended December 31 2008

The following table sets forth information regarding our consolidated results of operations for the year

ended December 31 2009 and 2008

INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Dollars in Thousands

Unaudited

Year ended December 31 Favorable/Unfavorable

2009 2008 Change Change

Revenues

Net trading 44165 $18234 25931 t42%

Asset management 31148 63844 32696 51%
New issue and advisory 1816 7249 5433 75%
Principal transactions and other income 6957 6.038 12995 215%

Total revenues 84086 83289 797 1%

Operating expenses

Compensation and benefits 70519 53.115 17404 33%
Business development occupancy equipment 5469 6935 1466 21%

Professional services subscriptions and other operating 16666 14393 2273 16%
Depreciation and amortization 2543 4023 1.480 37%

Impairment of intangible asset
_______

2078 2078 100%

Total operating expenses 95197 80544 14653 18%
Operating income loss 11111 2745 13.856 505%

Non operating income expense
tnterest expense 4974 9.143 4169 46%

Gain on sale of management contracts 7746 7746 NM
tneome/loss from equity method affiliates 3455 262 3717 l419%

Loss before income taxes 11794 6.136 5658 92%
Income tax expense 2049 2040 100%

Net loss 11.803 8185 3618 44%
Less Net loss attributable to the noneontrolling interest 98 1.259 1161 92%

Net loss attributable to IFMI $l 1705 6.926 4779 69%

Revenues

Revenues remained relatively flat with $84086 for the year ended December 31 2009 and $83289 for the

year ended December 31 2008 As discussed in more detail below the change was comprised of increases of

$25931 in net trading revenue and $12995 in principal transactions and other income partially offset by

decreases of $32696 in asset management revenue and $5433 in new issue and advisory revenue

Net Trading

Net trading revenue increased $25931 to $44165 for the year ended December 312009 from $18234 for

the year ended December 31 2008

2009 2008 Change

Net trading by category

Riskless $41898 $22886 $19012

Risk .559 5792 7.351

Other 708 1140 432

$44165 $18234 $25931
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The increase was primarily related to the increase in gains realized from riskless trading activity The

increase in riskless trading activity is primarily attributable to increased trading volume and the expansion of our

Capital Markets business including the hiring of additional traders and sales people In addition we recognized

net trading gains on risk transactions in 2009 as compared to the net trading losses on risk transactions in 2008

related to our risk trading inventory

As of December 31 2009 we had total of 58 traders and sales people in our Capital Markets group as

compared to 26 as of December 31 2008

Asset Management

Asset management fees decreased by $32696 or 51 to $31148 for the year ended December 31 2009

from $63844 for the year endcd Dccember 31 2008 as discussed in more detail below The following table

provides more detailed comparison of the two periods

ASSET MANAGEMENT
dollars in thousands

December 31 December 31
2009 2008 Change

Collateralized debt obligations $26319 $47712 $2l393
Investment funds 3466 10201 6735
Other 1363 5931 4568

Total $31148 $63844 $02696

Collateralized Debt Obligations

Asset management revenue from company sponsored collateralized debt obligations decreased $21393 to

$26319 for the year ended December 31 2009 from $47712 for the year ended December 31 2008 The

following table summarizes the periods presented by asset class

COLLATERALIZED DEBT OBLIGATION ASSET MANAGEMENT FEES EARNED BY ASSET CLASS

dollars in thousands

December 31 December 31
2009 2008 Change

Trust preferred securities and insurance company debt U.S $12538 $17021 4483
High grade and mezzanine ABS 4574 13447 8873
Middle market loans U.S 986 7130 6144
Trust preferred securities and insurance company debt

Europe 5960 6.066 106
Broadly syndicated loans Europe 1839 .945 106
Obligations of tax exempt entities 422 2103 1681

Total $26319 $47712 $21393

Asset management fees for TruPS and insurance company debt of U.S companies decreased primarily

because we stopped accruing for subordinated fees for all but one collateralized debt pbligation due to the

non payment of such fees on the applicable quarterly payment dates during fiscal yeat 2008 and fiscal year 2009

periods Substantially all our TruPS trusts had stopped paying subordinated management fees The decline in this

asset class is also attributable to the decrease in average AUM due to greater levels of defeoals and defaults of

the underlying assets
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Asset management fees for high grade and mezzanine ABS declined primarily because the average AUM in

this asset class declined due to defaults of the underlying assets and liquidations of certain collateralized debt

obligations

Asset management fees for middle market loans of U.S companies decreased primarily because we sold

three CLO management contracts comprising substantially all of our Emporia business line to an unrelated third

party In addition during the period owned we stopped accruing for subordinated fees for certain of the CLO
contracts due to non payment of such fees

Asset management fees for TruPS and insurance company debt of European companies decreased primarily

because the average AUM in this asset class declined due to the greater level of deferrals and defaults of the

underlying assets and we stopped accruing for subordinated fees for certain collateralized debt obligations due to

the non payment of such fees during the year ended December 31 2009

Asset management fees for broadly syndicated loans Europe decreased because there was decrease in

average assets under management for which we earned asset management fees for the
year ended December31

2009 as compared to the year ended December 31 2008

Asset management fees for obligations of tax exempt entities decreased during the year ended December 31

2009 as compared to the same period in 2008 because in March 2009 we entered into sub-advisory agreement

with an unrelated third party related to the STEP management contract From March 18 2009 through April 21

2009 we continued to receive collateral management fees from this securitization and served as its manager

Effective April 22 2009 the STEP management contract was fomrnlly assigned to the unrelated third party who

then became the collateral manager Per our agreement the new collateral manager pays us fee equal to 55% of

any management fees the unrelated third party receives from this securitization As of April 22 2009 and

thereafter we recognize this sub advisory fee as other income which is component of principal transactions and

other income in the consolidated statements of operations

In vestment Funds

Our asset management revenue from investment funds was comprised of fees from the management of

Brigadier and Deep Value

December 31 December 31
2009 2008 Change

Brigadier $1337 9597 $8260
Deep Value 2129 604 1525

Total $3466 $10201 $6.735

The decrease in Brigadier revenue was due to decrease in base management fee revenue of $2330 and

decrease in incentive management fee revenue of $5930 Brigadier experienced extensive redemptiohs during

fiscal year 2009 As of December 31 2009 Brigadier had NAV of $12.5 million of which $4.1 million

represented our interest in the fund As of December 31 2008 these amounts were $102.1 million and.$14.0

million respectively The decline in the NAV of $89.6 million was due to investor redemptions of $86.6 million

and net investment losses of $3 million

The increase in Deep Value revenue was primarily because Deep Value consummated its first closing in

April 2008 and had more AUM for more mofiths during the 2009 period
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Other

Our other asset management revenue consisted ot revenue eamed from the management ot permanent

capital vehicles and other are primarily comprised of fees from AFN prior to its merger with Cohen Brothers in

December 2009 EuroDekania and MFCA prior to its transfer to an unrelated third party in March 2009 as well

as whole loan monitoring and other fees The net decrease of $4568 was comprised of decrease of $2661 from

AFN decrease of $685 from EuroDekania decrease of $1157 from MFCA and decrease of $65 in whole

loan monitoring and other fees

We served as external manager of AFN during 2008 and from January 2009 through to December 16

2009 Our base management fee for AFN was offset by AFNs share of asset management fees that were paid to

us by the sponsored collateralized debt obligations in which AFN had invested During the period from

January 2009 through to December 16 2009 we recognized net base management fee of $0 because the base

management fees earned for managing AFN were completely offset by AFNs share of the base management fee

paid to us by company sponsored collateralized debt obligations in which AFN invested Upon the

consummation of the Merger with AFN the revenue and expense related to our management agreement was

eliminated for GAAP purposes

We served as external manager of EuroDekania during both 2008 and 2009 Similar to AFN our

management fee for EuroDekania is offset by EuroDekanias share of asset management fees that were paid to us

by the sponsored collateralized debt obligations in which EuroDekania has invested Overall management fees

for EuroDekania decreased for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the year ended December 31

2008 primarily because of the increases in the management fee offset resulting from EuroDekanias increased

investment in our sponsored collateralized debt obligations

We served as external manager of MFCA during 2008 and from January 2009 through March 18 2009

Overall management fees for MFCA decreased for the year ended December 31 2009 as compared to the year

ended December 31 2008 because the average NAY decreased during the three months ended March 31 2009 as

compared to the three months ended March 31 2008 and we were no longer receiving management fees after

March 18 2009 On March 18 2009 the board of directors of MFCA approved the assigmTient of the MFCA

management contract between us and MFCA to an unrelated third party We did not receive cash proceeds for

this assignment nor did we receive termination fee from MFCA related to the termination of the management

contract However in conjunction with the assignment the Company terminated the employees of its not for

profit asset management group that were servicing this contract and the transferee hired the majority of those

employees We will receive participation fee beginning on March IX 2012 and for the ten year period

thereafter equal to 10% of the revenue earned in excess of $1 000 annually by the unrelated third party for

managing MFCA

For the year
ended December 31 2008 whole loan monitoring and other fees was primarily comprised of

asset management fees from whole loan monitoring services provided to RAIT RAIT had portfolio of whole

loans and contracted with us to provide oversight and monitoring services in 2008 We stopped providing whole

loan monitoring services to RAIT after June 30 2008 because RAIT did not renew the contract and began

performing this monitoring function in-house For the year ended December 31 2009 other fees was primarily

comprised of fees we earned from managing certain managed accounts established in 2009 as well as advisory

fecs for consulting services provided by us to Cohen Bros Financial LLC CBF CBF is single mcmber

LLC owned by Daniel Cohen our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer See note 30 to our consolidated

financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10

New issue and Advisory Revenue

New issue and advisory revenue decreased by 75% for the year ended December 31 2009 as cooipared to

the same period in 2008 The overall decline in new issue and advisory revenue was primarily due to $4.5 million
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in new issue revenue earned on single seeuritization that was completed in 2008 and the fact that we did not

sponsor any securitizations in 2009 The remaining reduction was due to lower volume of assets originated in our

asset classes due to the volatility in the credit markets

Principal Transactions and Oilier Inca me

Principal transactions and other income increased by $12995 or 215% to income of $6957 for the year

ended December 31 2009 as compared to loss of $6038 for the year ended December 31 2008

Principal Transactions Other Income

dollars in thousands

December 31 December 31
2009 2008 Change

Change in fair value of other investments at fair

value $5610 $15433 $21043

Foreign currency 737 1643 2380
Dividend interest and other income 2084 7752 5668

Total $6957 6038 $12995

The increase in the change in fair value of other investments of $21043 was comprised of the following

December 31 December 31
2009 2008 Change

AFN 106 1431 1537

EuroDekania 1025 4898 3873

Star Asia 3423 4468 7891

RAIT 658 3073 2415

Brigadier 89 10185 10096
MFCA 1052 3188 4240

Deep Value 6268 2762 9030

Other 3645 5798 2153

Total 5610 $U533 21043

Effective with the Merger our investment in AFN was reclassified as treasury stock and is not adjusted

going forward RAIT NYSE RAS is publicly traded company so changes in the value of our investment

match changes in the public share price Our investments in EuroDekania Star Asia Brigadier MFCA and Deep

Value generally increase and decrease in value based on the NAV of the underlying funds The gain on our

investment in Brigadier declined prmarily because we redeemed most of our investment in 2008 and early 2009

The underlying Brigadier fund had slightly negative returns during 2009 however it had positive returns in the

first months of 2009 when we held higher level of investment Star Asia NAV also declined during 2009

However we purchased additional shares of Star Asia during 2009 at substantial discount to underlying NAV
in rights offering Therefore although the overall NAV of Star Asia declined our ownership percentage

increased On combined basis this resulted in an overall increase in the value of our investment in Star Asia

We receive payments under certain asset management contracts in Euros or U.K Pounds Sterling however

our functional currency is the U.S Dollar The foreign currency fluctuations were due to changes in the exchange

rates between Euros U.K Pounds Sterling and U.S Dollars in the related periods
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The decline in dividend interest and other income was primarily related to decrease in dividends from our

permanent capital vehicles of $2.456 decrease in other income of $1528 decrease in interest income from

collateralized debt obligations of $801 and reduced income on cash balances of $883 The reduction in dividends

on permanent capital vehicles as well as interest income on collateralized debt obligations was primarily due to

reduced performance of the related entities The reduced income on cash balances resulted from declining

interest rates as well as decline in our invested cash balances

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased $14653 or 18% to $95197 for the year ended December 31 2009 from

$80544 for the year ended December 31 2008 The change was due to increases of $17404 in compensation and

benefits and $3403 in professional services and other operating expenses which was partially offset by

decreases of $1466 in business development occupancy equipment $1480 in depreciation and amortization

$2078 in impairment of intangible asset and $1130 in new issue costs

Compensation and Benefits

Compensation and benefits increased $17404 or 33% to $70519 for the year ended December 31 2009

from $53115 for the year ended December 31 2008

COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS

dollars in thousands

December 31 December 31
2009 2008 Change

Cash compensation and benefits $51589 $46938 4651

Retention bonus 12374 12374

Equity based compensation 6556 6177 379

Total $70519 $53115 $17404

Cash compensation and benefits in the table above was primarily comprised of salary incentive

compensation and benefits The increase in this component of total compensation and benefits was primarily

related to the expansion of our Capital Markets business and the shift in the percentage of our overall revenue as

percentage of total between asset management and net trading In genera compensation expense as

percentage of revenue is higher in the Capital Markets business as compared to the Asset Management business

Accordingly our other compensation and benefits has actually increased while our overall revenue has

decreased Our total headeount increased from 127 at December 31 2008 to 142 at December 31 2009

Tn January 2009 we implemented the 2009 Senior Managers Cash Bonus Retention Plan the Retention

Plan Pursuant to the Retention Plan we entered into retention arrangements with certain of our employees to

ensure their continued service through the completion of the Merger We paid an amount to each employee that

by the terms of the retention arrangement vested over the period from January 2009 to the earlier of the

effectiveness of the Merger or September 30 2009 The total amount paid under these retention agreements was

$12374 and was expensed over the contractual nine month vesting period If an employee who received

payment under this plan voluntarily resigned or was terminated for cause prior to September 30 2009 the

employee was obligated to repay any unvested amount to us

Compensation and benefits included equity based compensation which increased $379 or 6% to $6556 for

the year ended December 31 2009 fiom $6177 for the year ended December 31 2008
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For the year ended December 31 2008 compensation and benefits included equity-based compensation of

$3519 related to the amortization of Restricted Units consisting of restricted membership units and LTJP units

awarded to ow executives and $2658 related to the amortization of Options awarded to our employees Fox the

year ended December 31 2009 compensation and benefits included equity based compensation of $2044

related to the amortization of Restricted Units consisting of LTIP units awarded to our executives and other

employees for which vesting was accelerated upon closing of the Merger and such LTIPs were automatically

converted to Cohen Brothers membership units and then converted into our Common Stock $975 related to the

amortization of Restricted Units granted under the Cohen Brothers LLC 2009 Equity Award Plan and $3513

related to the amortization of Options awarded to our employees which were automatically cancelled upon the

consummation of the merger In addition we recognized equity-based compensation of $24 for the period from

December 17 2009 to December 31 2009 for the restricted shares we assumed from AFN pursuant to the AFN
2006 Equity Incentive Plan

Business Development Occupancy and Equipment

Business development occupancy and equipment decreased $1466 or 21% to $5469 for the year ended

December 31 2009 from $6935 for the
year

ended Deccmber 31 2008 Business development expenses such as

promotion advertising travel and entertainment made up $1188 of the period over period decrease primarily

due to concerted effort to reduce business development expenditures Rent expense contributed $204 of the

decrease declining from $2274 for the year ended December 31 2008 to $2070 in the 2009 period The primary

reason for the overall decrease in rent expense was the impact of rent received from sublease of certain space
in

our New York office which occurred during the second quarter of 2008 substantially offset by additional rent

we incurred from several satellite offices rented to accommodate new employees hired to expand our Capital

Markets business

Professional Services Subscriptions and Other Operating Expenses

Professional services subscriptions and other operating expenses increased $2273 or 16% to $16666 for

the year ended December 31 2009 from $14393 for the year ended December 31 2008 primarily due to the

increase of $767 in legal and professional fees incurred Legal and professional fees during the year ended

December 31 2009 included $1506 of expenses incurred in order to effectuate the Merger with AFN There was

also an increase of $2.1 99 in other fees during 2009 primarily ielated to increased insurance premiums incurred

by us for the 2009 coverage period and increased recruiting fees in our effort to expand the Capital Markets

group as well as an increase in solicitation costs of $437 associated with capital raising activities for Deep Value

and Brigadier

Professional services subscriptions and other operating expenses included new issue costs New issue costs

decreased $1130 or 93% to $88 for the year ended December 31 2009 from $1218 for the year ended

December 31 2008 This change in new issue costs is due to decrease in origination costs related to our

company sponsored seeuritizations and new issue activity See discussion above of New Issue and Advisory

Revenue beginning on page 73

Depreciation and mortication

Depreciation and amortization decreased $1480 or 37% to $2543 for the year ended December 31 2009

from $4023 for the year ended December 31 2008 This decline was primarily due to decrease of $255 in

depreciation and amortization expense on funiiture equipnient and leasehold improvements due to certain

equipment becoming fully depreciated In addition amortization expense related to the intangible asset we

recorded when we puiehased the 10% of Strategos we previously did not own in July 2007 from

noneontrolling interest partner decreased 1.225 from the 2008 period to the 2009 period primarily as result of

impairment charges recorded in 2008 See note 14 to our consolidated financial statements included in this

Annual Report on Form 10
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linpainnent of Intangible Assets

Dunng the year ended December 31 2008 we recognized an impairment charge of $2078 to the intangible

asset we originally recorded when we purchased the 10% of Strategns we previously did not own in July 2007

The impairment charge was related to the diminished value of the management contract rights caused by

continued defaults of assets in Strategos asset pools during the period See note 14 to our consolidated financial

statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K We did not recognize an impairment charge for the

year ended December 31 2009

Non-Operating Income and Expense

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased $4169 or 46% to $4974 for the year ended December 31 2009 from $l43
for the year ended December 31 2008 This decrease of $4169 was comprised of decrease of $4065 of

interest incurred on our bank debt an increase of $86 of interest incurred on convertible senior notes assumed

from AFN an increase of $158 of interest incurred on junior subordinated notes assumed from AFN an

increase of $542 of interest incurred on subordinated notes payable dccrcase of $287 of other interest

expense partially offset by an increase of $603 of the change in fair value of interest rate swap

The decrease of $4065 on bank debt was comprised of reduction of $4199 due to lower debt balance

due to debt repayments for the full year of 2009 as compared to the full year of 2008 and decrease in

amortization of deferred financing of $41 partially offset by an increase of $175 due to higher interest rates On

June 2009 we completed an amended and restated credit facility with TD Bank the 2009 Credit Facility As

consequence we wrote off $169 of unamortized deferring financing costs to interest expense related to the

former revolving line of credit

The increase of $542 related to subordinated notes payable is the result of the issuance of $9000 of

subordinated notes on June 25 2008 As of December 31 2009 the balance of the subordinated notes had

increased by an additional $274 related to accrued in kind interest

The change in fair value of interest rate swap included two components the unrealized gain or loss

which represented our estimate of the fair value adjustment for the interest rate swap entered into as required

under our former $75000 term loan facility entered into in July 2006 and realized gains and losses which

were the periodic payments made or receipts received by us The change in fair value of interest rate swap was

income of $6 for the yeai ended December 31 2009 as eompaicd to an expense of $597 for the year ended

December 31 2008 We entered into the interest rate swap on October 18 2006 At that time the notional

amount of the swap equaled 50% of the outstanding balance of the term loan and was scheduled to decline by

50% of each principal payment throughout the term of the former term loan The swap effectively locked three-

month LIBOR into fixed rate of 5.24% for the notional amount through the relevant period of time When the

former term loan was repaid and replaced with the amended revolving line of credit entered into in July 2007 the

interest rate swap was left in place We did not designate the swap as hedged item for purposes of hedge

accounting under FASB ASC 815 Derivatives and Hedging FASB ASC 815 Accordingly we carried the

swap at fair value and included the gain or loss in the other non operating income expense section of the

consolidated statements of operations We entered into an amended and restated credit facility on June 2009

and paid off the amended revolving line of credit and terminated the interest rate swap

Grnn on Sri/c oJ Manogeinen Con rods

On February 27 2009 we sold three CLO management contracts comprising substantially all of our middle

market loans-U.S Emporia business line to an unrelated third party We received net proceeds from this sale

after payment of certain expenses of $7258 These proceeds were used to pay down our existing bank debt

outstanding In addition we were entitled to certain contingent payments based on the amount of subordinated
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management fees received by the unrelated third party under the sold CLO management contracts in an amount

not to exceed an additional $1500 We had agreed to pay $3000 of the net proceeds to AFN in order to

compensate AFN for amounts that it would have otherwise received under leverage loan warehouse facility in

which AFN had an interest This payment was only required if the Merger was not completed We recorded net

gain on sale of management contracts of $7746 for the year ended December 31 2009 representing the net cash

received of $7746 which included the $3000 discussed above as well as the payments received from the

unrelated third party during the second third and fourth quarters of 2009 We recorded the contingent payments

that were received from the unrelated third party of the subordinated fee of up to $1500 as additional gain as

such payments were actually received

Incorne/Loss front Equity Met/tad Affiliates

Loss from equity method affiliates increased $3717 to loss of $3455 for the year ended December 31
2009 from income of $262 for the year ended December 31 2008 Income or loss from equity methud affiliates

represents our share of the related entities earnings During 2008 we had three equity method investees Star

Asia Manager DEKU and Deep Value GP As of December 31 2009 we had three equity method

investees Star Asia Manager Deep Value OP and Deep Value OP TI DEKU was liquidated in

February 2009 We wrote off our equity method investment in DEKU for total charge of $4339

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense decreased by $2040 to income tax expense of $9 for the year ended December 31 2009

from income tax expense of $2049 for the year ended December 31 2008 primarily as result of decrease in

our overall taxable income Specifically decrease in income earned from our foreign operations resulted in

decrease in foreign income taxes of $840

Net Loss Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest

Net loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest was comprised of the 45% of the noncontrolling

interest attributable to the onshore feeder fund of Deep Value which we consolidated as of December 31 2008

and through to the first quarter of 2009 and the 33.8% of noneontrolling interest related to member interests

in our majority owned subsidiary the Operating LLC other than the interests held by us for the perod from

December 17 2009 to December 31 2009

As of December 31 2008 and through the first quarter of 2009 we directly owned 55% in the onshore

feeder fund of Deep Value Accordingly we consolidated the onshore feeder fund During the second quarter of

2009 our ownership percentage in the onshore feeder fund declined to 30% Accordingly in the second quarter

of 2009 we deconsolidated the onshore feeder fund No gain or loss was recognixed related to the

deconsolidation as the amounts transfelTed were already based on fair value The noncontrolling interest for the

year ended December 31 2009 represented the remaining 45% noncontrolling interest share of the Deep Value

onshore feeder funds earnings during the period of time we consolidated the onshore feeder fund

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is measurement of our ability to meet potential cash requirements including ongoing

commitments to repay debt interest payments on outstanding borrowings fund investments and support other

general business purposes In addition our U.S and U.K broker-dealer subsidiaries are subject to certain

regulatory requirements to maintain minimum levels of net capital Historically our primary sources of funds

have been our operating activities and general corporate borrowings In addition our trading operations have

generally been financed by use of collateralixed securities financing arrangements as well as margin loans

Beginning in January 2010 we significantly expanded our government trading operations leading to greater

amount of securities owned as well as greater balances of securities purchased under agreements to resell and

securities sold under agreements to repurchase
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As holding company that does not conduct business operations in its own right substantially all of the

assets of the Company are comprised of our majority ownership interest in the Operating LLC Substantially all

of the Operating LLCs net assets as well as net income are subject to restrictions on paying distributions to us

See Debt Financing beginning on page 85 Our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders will be

dependent on distributions we receive from the Operating LLC and subject to the Operating LLCs Operating

Agreement The amount and timing of distributions by the Operating LLC will be at the discretion of the

Operating LLCs board of managers

During the third quarter of 2010 our board of directors initiated dividend of $0.05 per quarter Howcver

our board of directors has the power to decide to increase reduce or eliminate this quarterly dividend in the

future The boards decision will depend on variety of factors including business financial and regulatory

considerations as well as any limitations under Maryland law or imposed by any agreements governing

indebtedness of the Company

On February 28 2011 our board of directors declared cash dividend of $0.05 per share which will be paid

on our common stock on March 28 2011 to stockholders of record on March 14 2011 pro rata distribution

will be made to the other members of the Operating LLC upon the payment of the dividends to stockholders of

the Company

We filed Registration Statement on Form on April 29 2010 which was declared effective by the SEC

on May 24 2010 This registration statement enables us to offer and sell in the aggregate up to $300000 of debt

securities prefened stock either separately or represented by depositary shares or common stock including if

applicable any associated preferred stock purchase rights subscription rights stock purchase contracts stock

purchase units and warrants as well as units that include any of these securities The debt securities preferred

stock subscription rghts stock purchase contracts stock purchase units and warrants may be convertible into or

exercisable or exchangeable for Common Stock or preferred stock of JFMI We may offer and sell these

securities separately or together in any combination with other securities The registration statement provides

another source of liquidity in addition to the alternatives already in place The net proceeds from sale of our

securities may be used for our operations and for other general corporate purposes including but not limited to

capital expenditures repayment or refinancing of borrowings working capital investments and acquisitions

Gas/i Flows

We have four primary uses for capital

To fund the expansion of the Capital Markets segments Through December 2010 we expanded our

Capital Markets segments by expanding our offices hiring additional sales and trading professionals and

launching new initiatives to expand our existing capabilities as well as increasing our investments in trading

securities We believe that we are better capitalized and able to utilize more leverage in our Capital Markets

business and therefore expand our operations to other credit related fixed income areas to deepen our product

capabilities We believe the prudent use of capital to facilitate client orders will increase trading volume and

profitability

To fund investments Our investments take several forms including investments in securities and

sponsor investments in permanent capital vehicles or investment funds We may need to raise additional debt

or equity financing in order to ensure we have the capital necessary to take advantage of attractive investment

opportunities

To fund mergers or acquisitions We may ppoitunistically use capital to acquire other asset manageis

or individual asset management contracts or financial services firms To the extent our liquidity sources are

insufficient to fund our future activities we may need to raise additional funding through an equity or debt

offering No assurances can be given that additional financing will be available in the future or that if available

such financing will be on favorable terms
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4To fund potential dividends and distributions The Company announced during the third quarter of 2010

that it intends to make quarterly dividend payments to stockholders pro rata distribution will be made to the

other members of the Operating LLC upon the payment of any dividends to stockholders IFMJ

If we are unable to raise sufficient capital on economically favorable terms we may need to reduce the

amount of capital invested for the uses described above which may adversely impact earnings and our ability to

pay dividends

As of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 we maintained cash and cash equivalents of $43946 $69692

and $31972 respectively We generated cash from or used cash for the following activities

SUMMARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION

dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Cash flow from operating activities $348l5 7329 5716

Cash flow from investing activities 26165 93960 5500

Cash flow from financing activities 17069 64017 49846
Effect of exchange rate on cash 27 448 1573

Net cash flow 25746 37720 40203
Cash and cash equivalents beginning 69692 31972 72175

Cash and cash equivalents ending 43946 69692 31972

See the statement of cash flows in our consolidated financial statements We believe our cash available on

hand as well as our investment in our trading portfolio will provide sufficient liquidity to meet the cash nceds of

our ongoing operating needs

2010 Cash Flows

As of December31 2010 our cash and cash equivalents were $43946 representing net decrease of

$25.746 from December 31 2009 The decrease was attributable to the cash used for operating activities of

$34815 and the cash used for financing activities of $17069 partially offset by the cash provided by investing

activities of $26165 and the effect of the decrcasc in the exchange rate on cash of $27

The cash used for operating activities of $34.8 15 was comprised of net inflows of $10218 elated to

working capital fluctuations including primarily the increase in accrued compensation the increase in accounts

payable and other liabilities and the increase in accounts receivable partially offset by the decrease in net

receivables from related parties the decrease in othei assets and the decrease in defened income taxes

$32493 of net cash outflows from investments in our overall net trading activities comprised of our

investments-trading trading securities sold not yet purchased receivables under resale agreements securities

sold under agreement to repurchase and receivables and payables from brokers dealers and clearing agencies

and restricted cash on deposit which is related to various trading activities as well as the unrealixed gains and

losses on the investments trading and trading securities sold not yet purchased and reduction in cash

generated from other earnings items of $12540 which represents net income or loss adjusted for the following

non-cash operating items gain on repurchaso of debt gain on sale of management contracts.realized and

unrealixed gains and losses on other investments income or loss from equity niethod affiliates equity based

compensation depreciation and amortization and the impairment of goodwill
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The cash provided by investing activities of $26165 was comprised of cash proceeds from the return of

principal of $25209 which is cnmprised of $23629 from our investment in Deep Value and $2120 from our

investments in certain interests in securitizations and residential loans cash received from the sale of other

investments of $9099 which includes $3713 from the sale of certain investments in securitizations $1056 from

the sale of RAIT common stock $4178 from the redemption of our investment in Brigadier and $152 from the

sale of other investments net cash received from sale of management contracts of $971 cash of $9983

received from equity method affiliates which includes $5904 we received from our investment in the general

partner of the first Deep Value fund $3104 from Star Asia SPV and $975 from Star Asia Manager partially

offset by the investment of $5517 in equity method affiliates including $4500 in Star Asia SPV and $1017

in Duart Capital the purchase of other investments at fair value including the purchase of additional

shares of Star Asia in the amount of $1334 related to Star Asias rights offering as well as the purchase of

shares directly from unrelated third parties during the second and third quarters of 2010 in the aggregate amount

of $4452 the purchase of additional shares of EuroDekania in the aggregate amount of $282 from unrelated

third parties during the third quarter of 2010 Hi the purchase of an investment in Brigadier of $39 from an

existing unrelated third party investor during the third quai ter of 2010 iv the investment of $4500 in the Duart

Fund during the third quarter of 2010 and the purchase of other investments in the aggregate amount of

$2337 the purchase of additional furniture and leasehold improvements of $939 rclated to the New York

office and the EuroDekania Management Limited office in the United Kingdom and the acquisition of

CCCM for $297 during the third quarter of 2010

The cash used in financing activities of $17069 was comprised of the repayment of $9950 of

outstanding borrowings on our prior credit facility and $2324 of principal payments on the 2010 Credit Facility

the repurchase of $6644 notional amount of contingent convertible senior notes for $5544 the

repurchase of $8081 principal amount of subordinated notes payable for $6465 payments fur deferred

issuance and financing costs of $349 distributions to the noncontrolling interest holders of $528

dividends to the Companys stockholders of $1043 and $166 for the payment of the employees tax

obligations to taxing authorities related to the vesting of equity based awards and the related surrender of 25952

shares of the Companys Common Stock partially offset by $9300 of borrowings related to the 2010 Credit

Facility we entered into in July 2010 The total shares withheld were determined based on the value of the

restricted stock award on the applicable vesting date based on the closing price of the Companys Common

Stock These net share settlements reduced and retired the number of shares that would have otherwise been

issued as result of the vesting and did not represent an expense to the Company

2009 Cash Flows

As of December 31 2009 our cash and cash equivalents were $69692 representing net increase of

$37720 from December 31 2008 The increase was attributable to the cash provided from investing activities of

$93960 the cash provided from operating activities of $7329 and the effect of the increase in exchange rate on

cash of $448 partially offset by the cash used for financing activities of $64017

The cash provided by operating activities of $7329 was comprised of net inflows of $13264 relaied to

working capital fluctuations including the reduction of accounts receivable the reduction in other assets and the

reduction in the net receivables due from related parties partially offset by decreases in accrued compensation

and accounts payable and other liabilities $6670 of net cash inflows from overall net trading activities

comprised of our investments trading trading securities sold not yet purchased receivables under resale

agreements and receivables and payables from brokers dealers and clearing agencies and restricted cash on

deposit which is related to various trading activities as well as the unrealized gains and losses on the investments

tiading and trading securities sold not yet purchased and reduction in cash from earnings of $12605

which represents net loss adjusted for the following non cash items gain on sale of management eonti acts

equity based compensation realized and unrealized gains and losses on other investments depreciation and

amortization and income or loss from equity method affiliates
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The cash provided by investing activities of $93960 was comprised of the $76938 of cash acquired

from our Merger with AFN the redemption of portion of our investment in the onshore feeder fund of

Brigadier in thc amount of $10000 cash proceeds fiom the sale of CLO management contracts of $7746
distributions of $925 from our equity method affiliate Star Asia Manager and cash proceeds from

return of principal of $2233 related to our investments in certain collateralized debt obligation secui-ity and in

the investment fund Deep Value partially offset by the investment of $2501 in our equity method affiliates

DEKU and Deep Value GP II the purchase of additional shares of MFCA in the amount of $600 and

additional shares of Stat Asia in the amount of $90 and the purchase of additional furniture and leasehold

improvements of $691 related to the New York office We used the proceeds from our redemption in the onshore

feeder fund of Brigadier the sale of the management contracts and part of the cash acquired from AFN in

connection with the Merger to supplement our cash flow from operations in order to provide us with the

necessary capital to pay down our bank debt

The cash used in financing activities of $04017 was comprised of the repayment of $57050 of

outstanding borrowings on our bank debt distributions paid to the Operating LLC members of $4746 to

fund members tax obligations $988 of deferred issuance and financing costs related to the 2009 Credit

Facility and the payment of $1233 related to stock issuance costs in connection with the Merger with AFN

2008 Cash Flows

As of December 31 2008 our cash and cash equivalents were $31972 representing net decrease of

$40203 from December 31 2007 The decrease was attributable to the cash used for financing activities of

$49846 and the effect of the decrease in exchange rate on cash of $1573 partially offset by the cash provided

from operating activities of $5716 and the cash provided from investing activities of $5500

The cash provided by operating activities of $5716 was primarily comprised of cash provided by

earnings of $17838 which represents net income adjusted for the following non-cash items equity-based

compensation other non-cash compensation impairment charges non-cash revenue realized and unrealized

gains and losses on other investments depreciation and amortization and income from equity method affiliates

and cash inflows from overall net trading activities comprised of our investments trading and receivables

and payables from brokers dealers and clearing agencies as well as the unrealized gains and losses on the

investments-trading of $9457 partially offset by cash outflows due to net reduction in accrued

compensation of $16771 and cash outflows of $4808 primarily due to networking capital reductions in

accounts payable and other liabilities

The cash provided by investing activities for the ycar ended December 31 2008 primarily related to the

redemptions of portion of our investment in the onshore feeder fund of Brigadier in the amount of $40000

partially offset by cash used in the amount of $34688 to purchase equity interests in Deep Value and additional

interests in Star Asia during the year ended December 31 2008 The proceeds from our redemptions in the

onshore feeder fund of Brigadier were primarily used to supplement our cash flow from operations in order to

provide us with the necessary capital to pay down our bank debt

The $34688 used to purchase equity interests is comprised of $27275 for Deep Value and $7413

for Star Asia The $27275 represented purchases by the onshore feeder fund of Deep Value which was

majority owned investee consolidated by us through to March 31 2009 of interests in the master fund of Deep

Value This amount of $27275 included our share of purchases of $15000 plus the third party investors in the

onshore feed fund of Deep Values share of purchases of $12275 This latter amount was shown as an inflow in

the financing section of cash flow as noneontsolling interest eontiibutions

The cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31 2008 was primarily related to the

repayment of $63000 of outstanding bonowings on our bank debt and distributions paid to the Operating

LLCs members of $7826 partially offset by noneontrolling interest contributions of the onshore feeder fund
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of Deep Value of $12275 described in the previous paragraph and the funds we raised from the issuance of

subordinated notes payable all of which were payable to related parties see Debt Financing beginning on

page 85 in the amount of $9000 The proceeds from the issuance of the subordinated notes payable were used to

pay down outstanding borrowings on our bank debt

Regulatory Capital Requirements

Three of our majority owned subsidiaries were licensed securities dealers in the U.S or the United

Kingdom As broker dealers our subsidiaries CCS and CCCM are subject to Uniform Net Capital Rule in Rule

15c3 under the Exchange Act and our international subsidiary EuroDekania Management is subject to the

regulatory supervision and requirements of the FSA in the United Kingdom The amount of net assets that these

subsidiaries may distribute is subject to restrictions under the applicable net capital rules These subsidiaries have

historically operated in excess of minimum net capital requirements Our minimum capital requirements at

December 31 2010 which amounted to $2969 were as follows

MINIMUM NET CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS
dollars in thousands

United States 850

United Kingdom 2119

Total $2969

We operate with more than the minimum regulatory capital requirement in our licensed broker-dealers and

at December 31 2010 total net capital or equivalent as defined by local statutory regulations in our licensed

broker dealers amounted to $34612

JVB the broker dealer acquired by the Company on January 13 2011 is also subject to the Uniform Net

Capital Rule In addition our licensed broker-dealers are generally subject to capital withdrawal notification and

restrictions

Capitalization

Pour to the Meiger AFN was holding coiiipany that held its consolidated assets and conducted its

operations primarily through its majority owned subsidiaries As result of the nierger AFN received

10343347 or 66.2% of the membership interests in Cohen Brothers Of the 66.2% of Cohen Brothers received

by AFN in connection with the Merger 38.5% was received in the form of units issued directly by Cohen

Brothers and the remaining 27.7% was acquired by AFN from Cohen Brothers members in exchange for the

issuance of AFN common stock to those members The remaining 5283556 membership interests or 33.8% of

Cohen Brothers was held by Daniel Cohen 31.9% our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and other

members 1.9% The equity interests in the Operating LLC that are not held by IFMI have certain redemptive

features which are described in detail in note 19 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual

Report on Form 10

In exchange for all of his Cohen Brothers Class membership units Mi Cohen through CBF received one

share of our Series Voting Convertible Preferred Stock Series Preterred Stock which had no economic

rights but gave Mr Cohen the right to nominate and elect number equal to at least Qne-third but less than

majority of the total number of directors on our board of directors

On October 18 2010 Mr Cohen eieeted to convert the one share of Series Preferred Stock into 4983557

shares of Series Voting Non Convertible Prefeired Stock Series Pieferred Stock Each share of Series
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Preferred Stock has no economic rights but entitles Mr Cohen to one vote on all matters presented to our

stockholders The Series Preferred Stock will be automatically redeemed for par value on December31 2012

Holders of Series Preferred Stock are not entitled to receive any dividends or distributions upon liquidation

dissolution or winding up of the Company As of December 31 2010 there were 4983557 shares of Series

Preferred Stock issued and outstanding

Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock Series Preferred Stock was authorized by our Board of

Directors in connection with the Section 382 Rights Agreement adopted in December 2009 the Rights

Agreement Our Board of Directors adopted the Rights Agreement in an effort to protect against possible

limitation on our ability to use our net operating loss and net capital loss carry forwards to reduce potential future

federal income tax obligations See note 21 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual

Report on Form 10-K for additional discussion on the Rights Agreement The holders of Series Preferred Stock

are entitled to receive when as and if declared by our Board of Directors out of funds legally available for the

purpose quarterly dividends payable in cash on the last day of March June September and December in each

year commencing on the first quarterly dividend payment date after the first issuance of share or fraction of

share of Series Preferred Stock Dividends accrue and are cumulative The holder of each share of Series

Junior Participating Preferred Stock is entitled to 10000 votes on all matters submitted to vote of our

stockholders Holders of Series Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends distributions or distributions

upon liquidation dissolution or winding up of the Company in an amount equal to $100000 per share of Series

Preferred Stock plus an amount equal to accrued and unpaid dividends and distributions whether or not

declared prior to payments made to holders of shares of stock ranking junior to the Series Preferred Stock The

shares of Series Preferred Stock are not redeemable There were no shares of Series Preferred Stock issued

and outstanding as of December 31 2010

For discussion about our equity securities see note 19 to our consolidated financial statements included in

this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Securities Financing

During the year ended December 31 2010 we entered into repurchase agreements with two third party

financial institutions There is no maximum limit as to the amount of securities that may be transferred pursuant

to these agreements and transactions are approved on ease by-ease basis The repurchase agreements do not

include substantive provisions other than those covenants and other customary provisions contained in standard

master repurchase agreements The repurchase agreements generally require us to transfer additional securities to

the counteipaity iii the event the value of the securities then held by the counteipaity iii the maigin account falls

below specified levels and contains events of default in eases where we breach our obligations under the

agreement We receive margin calls from our repurchase agreement counterparties from time to time in the

ordinary course of business To date we have maintained sufficient liquidity to meet margin calls and we have

never been unable to satisfy margin call however no assurance can be given that we will be able to satisfy

requests from our counter parties to post additional collateral in the future See notes and 12 to our

consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

If there were an event of default under the repurchase agreements we would give our counterparty the

option to terminate all repurchase transactions existing with us and make any amount due from us to the

eounterparty payable immediately Repurchase obligations are full recourse obligations to us If we were to

default under repurchase obligation the counterparty would have recourse to our other assets if the collateral

was not sufficient to satisfy the obligation infull

The Company entered into an additional repurchase agreement with another third party financial institution

in January 2011 The terms and conditions of this arrangement were similar to the repurchase agreements

described above
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The Companys clearing brokers provide securities financing arrangements including margin arrangements

and securities borrowing and lending arrangements These aiTangements gencrally require us to transfer

additional securities or cash to the clearing broker in the event the value of the securities then held by the clearing

broker in the margin account falls below specified levels and contains events of default in cases where we breach

our obligations under such agreements

An event of default under the clearing agreement would give our counterparty the option to terminate our

clearing arrangement Any amounts owed to the clearing broker would be immediately due and payable These

obligations are recourse to us Furthermore termination of our clearing arrangemenst would result in

significant disruption to our business and would have significant negative impact on our dealings and

relationship with our customers

The following table presents our period end balance average monthly balance and maximum balance at any

month end during each year in 2010 2009 and 2008 for securities purchased under agreements to resell and

securities sold under agreements to repurchase

Twelve Months Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell

PeriodEnd $20357

Monthly Average 31215 N/A

Maximum month end 89475 20357

Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase

Period End $69816

Monthly Average 28622

Maximum month end 96365

Fluctuations in the balance of our repurchase agreements from period to period and intraperiod are dependent on

business activity in those periods The general growth in outstanding repurchase activity in 2010 is reflective of

supporting our overall business growth particularly the continued expansion of our sales and trading platform

The fluctuations in the balances of our securities purchased under agreements to resell over the periods presented

is impacted in any given period by our clients desires to execute collateralized financing arrangements through

the repurchase market or other financing products

Average balances and period end balances will fluctuate based on market and liquidity conditions and we

consider such intraperiod fluctuations as typical for the repurchase market Month end balances may be higher or

lower than average period balances

Debt Financing

We have four sources of debt financing other than securities financing arrangements the 2010 Credit

Facility contingent convertible senior notes junior subordinated notes payable to two special purpose

trusts Alesco Capital Trust and Sunset Financial Statutory Trust and unsecured subordinated

financing

As of December 31 2010 $6976 was drawn$50 was committed for one letter ol credit and there was no

availability to borrow additional funds under the 2010 Credit Facility During the yeai ended 2010 we

repurehased $6644 notional amount of contingent convertible senior notes from unrelated third parties foi

$5596 and recognized gain from repurchase of debt of $923 Tn August 2010CCS repurehased $8081

principal amount of subordinated notes payable for $6762 including accrued interest and we recognized gain
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from repurchase of debt of $1632 As of December 31 2010 we were in compliance with the covenants in our

debt financing documents See note 18 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on

Form 10 for discussion of the Companys outstanding debt

The following table summarizes the Companys long-term indebtedness and other financing as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

DETAIL OF DEBT FINANCING SOURCES

dollars in thousands

As of December 31 2010

Weighted Weighted

Interest Average Average

Current Rate Interest Contractual

Description Outstanding Par Carrying Value Terms 12/31/2010 Maturity

2010 Credit Facility 6976 6976 6.0% 6.0% September2012

Contingent convertible senior notes... $19506 19104 7.6% 7.6% May 20271
Junior subordinated notes $49614 17160 7.4% 7.4% August 2036

Subordinated notes payable 1448 1448 12.0% 12.0% June 2013

Total $44688

As of December 312009

Weighted Weighted

Interest Average Average

Current Rate Interest Contractual

Description Outstanding Par Carrying Value Terms 12/31/2009 Maturity

2009 Credit Facility 9950 9950 8.5% 8.5% July 20 102

Contingent convertible senior notes $26150 25374 7.6% 7.6% May 20271

Junior subordinated notes $49.614 17269 7.4% 7.4% August 2036

Subordinated notes payable 9368 9368 12.0% 12.0% June 2013

Total $61961

The Company may redeem all or part of the notes for cash on or after May 20 2012 at redemption price

equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued interest and additional interest if any to

but excluding the redemption date The holders of the notes may require the Company to repurchase all or

portion of their notes for cash on May 15 2012 May 15 2017 and May 15 2022 foi repurchase price

equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest

if any to but excluding the repurchase date The holders of the notes are required to provide notice to the

Company of their plan to redeem the notes at any time during the 30 days prior to May IS 2012 May 15

2017 or May 15 2022 as applicable

The 2009 Credit Facility was originally scheduled to mature in May 2011 However upon the Company

entering into the 2010 Credit Facility in July 2010 the 2009 Credit Facility was terminated

The Company owns $1489 in par amount of common stock of the two trusts which hold the junior

subordinated notes Therefore on net basis there is par outstanding to third parties in the amount of

$48125

Off Balance Sheet rrange
AFN invested in collateralized debt obligation Aleseo XIV in which Assured Guaranty Assured was

providing credit support to the senior interests in the seeuritization Aleseo XIV made loan the Guaranteed

Loan to particular boriower and AFN entered into an arrangement with Assured whereby AFN agreed to

make payments to Assured upon the occurrence of both loss on the Guaranteed Loan and ii loss suffered
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by Assured on its overall credit support arrangement to Alesco XIV security holders This arrangement is

accounted for as guarantee by us Upon completion of the Merger we recorded liability of $1084 related to

this arrangement which is included in accounts payable and other liabilities in the Companys consolidated

balance sheet This amount does not represent the expected loss rather it represents the Companys estimatc of

the fair value of its guarantee i.e the amount it would have to pay third party to assume this obligation This

arrangement is being accounted for as guarantee The value will be adjusted under certain limited

circumstances such as when the guarantee is extinguished or ii if payment of amounts under the guarantee

become probable and estimable The maximumpotential loss to the Company on this arrangement is $8750
Under certain circumstances Assured can require the Company to post liquid collateral

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarixes our significant contractual obligations as of December 31 2010 and the

future periods in which such obligations are expected to be settled in cash Our bank debt junior subordinated

notes and subordinated notes payable are assumed to be repaid on their respective maturity dates Our convertible

senior notes are assumed to be repaid on May 15 2012 which represents the earliest date that the holders of the

senior notes may require us to repurchase the notes for cash Excluded from the table are obligations that are

short-term in nature including trading liabilities and repurchase agreements In addition excluded from the table

is an unrecognized tax benefit of $1231 because we cannot make reasonably reliable estimate of the period of

cash settlement See note 21 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form

10-K for further information about the unrecognized tax benefit

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
As of December 31 2010

dollars in thousands

Payment Due by Period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More Than
Total year Years Years Years

Operating lease arrangements 9541 1979 3524 52983 1055

Maturity of 2010 Credit Facility 6976 4650 2.326

Interest on 2010 Credit Facility 370 316 54

Maturity of contingent convertible senior notes 19506 19506

Interest on contingent convertible senior notes 2045 1301 744

Maturities on junior subordinated notes 49614 49614

Interest on junior subordinated notes 58273 3671 5460 4331 44811

Maturities of subordinated notes payable 1559 1559

Interest on subordinated notes payable 335 131 204

Total $148219 $12048 $33377 $7314 $95480

Commencing on September 30 2010 quarterly principal payments of $1162 are due and all unpaid

principal is due and payable on September 30 2012

Interest on the 2010 Credit Facility includes the finance charge on the one letter of credit and the intetest on

all outstanding debt as of December 31 2010 which is variable The interest rate of 6.00% as of

December 31 2010 was used to compute the contractual interest payment in each period noted Fluctuations

in actual interest rates may result in different interest payments than noted above

Assumes the contingent convertible senior notes are repurehased May 15 2012 Interest includes amounts

payable during the period the contingent convertible senior notes were outstanding at an annual rate of

7.625%

The interest on the junior subordinated notes related to the Alesco Capital Trust is based on fixed interest

rate of 9.50% through to July 30 2012 and an assumed variable rate of 4.303% based on 90 day LIBOR
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rate as of December 31 2010 plus 4.00% calculated from July 30 2012 through to maturity The interest on

the junior subordinated notes related to the Sunsct Capital Trust is variable The interest rate of 4.453%

based on 90-day LIBOR rate as of December 31 2010 plus 4.15% was used to compute the contractual

interest payment in each period noted

The subordinated notes payable mature on June 20 2013 and bear interest at an annual rate of 12% 9% is

payable in cash and 3% is paid in kind semiannually on May and November Maturities include in kind

interest of$154 All accrued in-kind interest is added to the unpaid principal balance of the subordinated

notes payable on each May and November and thereafter the increased principal balance accrues

interest at the annual rate of 12% See note 18 to our consolidated financial statements

Represents the cash interest payable on the outstanding balance of the subordinated notes payable in each

period noted

We believe that we will be able to continue to fund our current operations and meet our contractual

obligations through combination of existing cash resources and other sources of credit Due to the uncertainties

that exist in the economy we cannot be certain that we will be able to replace existing financing or find sources

of additional financing in the future

FundCore Finance Group Venture

In January 2011 the Company formed new venture with FundCore Finance Group to create commercial

real estate conduit lender Contingent upon obtaining warehouse financing the Company is committed to

providing $25 million in capital to the joint venture The Companys capital commitment to Fundeore Finance

Group combined with the warehouse financing will be used to originate fund and eventually securitize

commercial real estate fixed rate loans

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our industry is subject to number of highly complex accounting rules and requirements many of which

place heavy burdens on management to make judgments We encourage readers of this Form 10-K to read all of

our critical accounting policies which are included in note to our consolidated financial statements included

herein for full understanding of these issues and how the financial statements are impacted by these judgments

We consider the accounting policies discussed below to be the policies that are the most impaetful to our

financial statements and also subject to significant management judgment

Valuation of Financial Instruments

How fair value determinations impact our financial statements

All of the secur ties we own that are classified as investments-trading securities sold not yet purchased or

other investments at fair value are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value both unrealized and realized

recorded in earnings

Unrealized and realized gains and losses on securities classified as investments-trading are recorded in net

trading in the consolidated statement of operations Unrealized and realized gains and losses on securities

classified as other investments at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets are recorded as component of

principal transactions and other income in the consolidated statements of operations

If the investment is expected to be managed by employees of our Capital Markets segment the investment

is classified as investments trading Otherwise the investment is classified as dther investments at fair value In

general investments trading represent securities acquired in the secondary maiket while other investments at

fair value represent investments obtained in primary issuanees or as investments in investment vehicles managed

by us
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In addition we may hold from time to time trading securities sold not yet purchased which represent our

obligations to deliver the specified security at the contracted price thereby creating liahility to purchase the

security in the market at prevailing prices Unrealized and realized gains and losses on trading securities sold not

yct purchased are recorded in net trading in the consolidated statements of operations

How we determine fair value for securities

We account for our investment securities at fair value under various accounting literature including

Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC 320

Investments Debt and Equity Securities FASB ASC 320 pertaining to investments in debt and equity

securities and the fair value option of financial instruments in FASB ASC 825 Financial Instrument3 FASB
ASC 825

The determination of fair value is based on quoted market prices of an active exchange independent broker

market quotations valuations provided by third party pricing services or when independent broker quotations or

third party pricing service valuations are unavailable valuation models prepared by our management These

models include estimates and the valuations derived from them could differ materially from amounts realizable

in an open market exchange

Fair Value Hierarchy We adopted the fair value measurement provisions in FASB ASC 820 Fair Value

Measurements and Disclosures FASB ASC 820 applicable to financial assets and financial liabilities

effective January 2008 except for certain provisions related to nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities

for which the Company adopted effective January 2009 FASB ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that

would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability between market participants at the measurement

date exit price An exit price valuation will include margins for risk even if they are not observable In

accordance with FASB ASC 820 we categorize our financial instruments based on the priority of the inputs to

the valuation technique into three-level fair value hierarchy The hierarchy gives the highest priority to

unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities Level measurements and the

lowest priority to unobservable inputs Level measurements The three levels of the hierarchy under FASB

ASC 820 are described below

Level Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets

that are accessible at the measurement date for identical unrestricted assets or liabilities Examples

include U.S Treasury securities equity investments in publicly traded companies foreign euneney

forward contracts and EuroDollar futures

Level Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on one or more of the following quoted

prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar assets

or liabilities in non-active markets pricing models whose inputs are observable for substantially the

full term of the asset or liability or pricing models whose inputs are derived principally from or

corroborated by observable market data through colTelation or other means for substantially the full

term of the asset or liability Examples include certain U.S government agency mortgage-backed

securities and collateralized mortgage obligations mortgage-backed securities including commercial

mortgage backed securities and residential mortgage backed securities Small Business Administration

SBA loans certain investment funds that are redeemable corporate bonds redeemable preferred

stock certificates of deposit to be announced securities credit default swaps and interest rate swaps

Level Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on prices or valuation techniques that require

inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobsersable These inputs reflect

managements own assumptions about the assumptions market participant would use in pricing the

asset or liability Examples include investments in non public companies nw issuanees or illiquid

collateralized mortgage obligations .such as agency inverse interest only securities TruPS and certain

collateralized debt obligation securities and residential loans in which fair values are based on internal

valuation models prepared by our management
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In certain cases the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value

hierarchy Ta such cases the level in the fair value hierarchy withia which the fair value measurement in its

entirety falls has been determined based un the lowest level input that is significant to the fah value measurement

in its entirety Our assessment of the significance of particular input to the fair value measurement in its

entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability

Financial instruments carried at contract amounts have short term maturities one year or less are repriced

frequently or bear market interest rates Accordingly those contracts are carried at amounts approximating fair

value Financial instruments carried at contract amounts on our consolidated balance sheets include receivables

from and payables to brokers securities purchased under agreements to resell reveise repurchase agreements

or receivables under resale agreements and sales of securities under agreements to repurchase repurchase

agreements

How we determine fair value for investments in investment funds and similar vehicles

Substantially all of our other investments at fair value represent investments in investment funds and other

non-publicly traded entities Substantially all of these entities have the attributes of investment companies as

described in FASB ASC 946 15-2 We estimate the fair value of these entities using the reported net asset value

per share or its equivalent included in FASB ASC 820 for all entities except Star Asia We generally classify

these estimates within either Level if our investment in the entity is currently redeemable or Level if our

investment is not currently redeemable In the case of Star Asia we utilize series of valuation models to

determine fair value which use both market and income based approaches

Derivative Financial Instruments

We do not utilize hedge accounting for our derivatives Accordingly all derivatives are carried at fair value

with unrealized and realized gains recognized in earnings

If the derivative is expected to be managed by employees of our Capital Markets segment or is hedge for

an investment classified as investments-trading the derivative will be carried as component of investments-

trading if an asset or securities sold not yet purchased if liability If the derivative is hedge for an investment

canied as component of other investments at fair value the derivative will be recorded in other investments at

fair value

We may from time to time enter into derivatives to manage our risk exposures arising from fluctuations

in foreign currency rates with respect to our investments in foreign currency denominated investments

ii arising from our investments in floating rate investments iii arising from the uncertainty associated with

financial obligors ability to make timely principal and/or interest payments and iv arising from our facilitation

of mortgage backed trading Derivatives entered into by us from time to time may include foreign currency

forward contracts ii EuroDollar futures iii credit default swaps and iv purchase and sale agreements of

to-be-announced securities TBAs TBAs are forward mortgage backed securities whose collateral remain

to be announced until just prior to the trade settlement When forward contract exists for when issued

security such as TBA security that provides for choice of settlement dates and delivery is made in the second

nearest month or later or mechanism issues to settle the contract on net basis the TBA forward contract is

accounted for as derivative under FASB ASC 815 The settlement of these transactions is not expected to have

material effect on our consolidated financial statements

We determine the fair value of our derivatives the same way we do foi all securities utilizing the methods

described above

Derivatives involve varying degrees of off-balance sheet risk whereby changes in the level or volatility of

interest rates or market values of the underlying financial instruments may result in changes in the value of
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particular financial instrument in excess of its eairying amount Depending on our investment strategy realized

and unrealized gains and losses are reeogni7ed in principal transactions and other income or in net trading in our

consolidated statements of operations on trade date basis

Accounting for income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method which requires the recognition of

deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in

the financial statements Under this method deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the

differences between the financial statements and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect

for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse The effect of change in tax rates on deferred tax

assets and liabilities is recognixed in income in the period that includes the enactment date

We record net deferred tax assets to the extent we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized

In making such determination we consider all available positivc and negative evidcnce including scheduled

reversals of deferred tax liabilities projected future taxable income tax planning strategies and recent financial

operations In the event we were to determine that we would be able to realizc our deferred income tax assets in

the future in excess of their net recorded amount we would make an adjustment to the valuation allowance which

would reduce the provision for income taxes

Income tax expense has not generally been material amount in our historical financial statements Prior to

the Merger we were pass through entity for U.S federal income tax purposes and only subject to entity level

taxes in certain state and foreign jurisdictions However as result of the Merger we acquired significant

deferred tax assets and liabilities and now have significant tax attributcs Effective as of January 2010 we

began to be treated as corporation for U.S federal and State income tax purposes With the Merger we

inherited significant deferred tax asscts

As is shown in note 21 to the consolidated financial statemcnts contained herein we currently have

significant unrecognized deferred tax assets These assets are unrecognized because the Company has recorded

valuation allowances as we have determined that it is not more likely than not that the Company will realize the

benefits of these tax assets However this determination is ongoing and subject to change If the Company were

to change this determination in the future significant tax benefit would be recognized as component of

earnings

Revenue Recognition

Net trading Net trading includes all gains losses and income interest and dividends from securities

classified as investments-trading and trading securities sold not yet purchased interest income and expense

from collateralized securities transactions and commissions and riskless trading profits Riskless principal

trades are transaeted through our proprietary account with customer order in hand resulting in little or no

market risk to us Transactions are recognized on trade date basis The investments classified as trading are

carried at fair value The determination of fair value is based on quoted market prices of an active exchange

independent broker market quotations or when such quotations are unavailable valuation models prepared by

oui management The models include estimates and the valuations derived from them could differ materially

from amounts iealizable in an open market exchange Net trading is reduced by interest expense which is

directly incurred to purchase income generating assets related to trading activities Such interest expense is

recorded on an accrual basis

Asset management Asset management revenue consists of collateralized debt qbligation asset management

fees fees earned for management of our permanent capital vehicles and investment fijnds and other asset

management fees Collateralized debt obligation asset management fees are earned for pros iding ongoing asset

management services to the applicable trust In general we earn senior asset management fee subordinated

asset management fee and an incentive asset management fee
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The senior asset management fee is generally senior to all the securities in the collateralized debt obligation

capital structure and is recognized on monthly basis as services are performed The senior asset management

fee is generally paid on quarterly basis

The subordinated asset management fee is an additional payment for the same services but has lower

priority in the collateralized debt obligation cash flows If the trust ezperiences certain level of asset defaults

these fees may not be paid There is no recovery by the trust of previously paid subordinated asset management

fees It is our policy to recognize these fees on monthly basis as services are performed The subordinated asset

management fee is generally paid on quarterly basis However if we determine that the subordinated asset

management fee will not be paid which generally occurs on or before the quarterly payment date we will stop

recognizing additional subordinated asset management fees on that particular trust and will reverse any

subordinated asset management fees that are accrued and unpaid We will begin accruing the subordinated asset

management fee again if payment resumes and in managements estimate continued payment is reasonably

assured If payments were to resume but we were unsure of continued payment we would recognize the

subordinated asset management fee as payments were received and would not accrue on monthly basis

The incentive management fee is an additional payment made typically after five to seven years of the life

of collateralized debt obligation which is based on the clearance of an accumulated cash return on investment

Hurdle Return received by the most junior collateralized debt obligation securities holders It is an incentive

for us to perform in our role as asset manager by minimizing defaults and maximizing recoveries The incentive

management fee is not ultimately determined or payable until the achievement of the Hurdle Return by the most

junior collateralized debt obligation securities holders We do not recognize incentive fee revenue until the

Hurdle Return is achieved and the amount of the incentive management fee is determinable and payment is

reasonably assured

Other asset management fees represent fees earned for the ongoing and incentive management of other

investment vehicles we manage

New issue and advisory New issue and advisory revenue includes revenues earned for arranging the

issuance of newly created debt equity and hybrid financial instruments fees charged for advisory services

and origination fees for corporate debt issues originated by us

New issue and advisory revenue is recognized when all services have been provided and payment is earned

In some eases we will utilize third party professionals to assist in the provision of some of these functions

primarily origination In such eases we record the cost of the third party services in new issue costs which is

included as component of professional services subscriptions and other opeiating expenses and the revenue in

new issue and advisory revenue

Principal transactions and other income loss Principal transactions include all gains losses and income

interest and dividend from securities or loans classified as other investments at fair value in the consolidated

balance sheets

The investments classified as other investments at fair value are carried at fair value The determination of

fair value is based on quoted market prices of an active exchange independent broker market quotations or

when such quotations are unavailable valuation models prepared by our management These models include

estimates and the valuations derived from them could differ materially from amounts realizable in an open

market exchange Dividend income is recognized on the ex-dividend date

Other income loss includes foreign currency gains and losses interest eained on cash and cash

equivalents and other miscellaneous income
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Variable Interest Entities

FASB ASC 810 Consolidation FASB ASC 810 contains the guidance surrounding the definition of

variable interest entities VIEs the definition of variable interests and the consolidation rules surrounding

VIEs In general VIEs are entities in which equity investors lack the characteristics of controlling financial

interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional

subordinated financial support We have variable interests in VIEs through our management contracts and

investments in various securitization entities including collateralized loan obligations and collateralized debt

obligations

Once it is determined that we hold variable interest in VIE FASB ASC 810 requires that we perform

qualitative analysis to determine which entity has the power to direct the matters that most significantly

impact the VIEs financial performance and ii if we have the obligation to absorb the losses of the VIE that

could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive the benefits of the VIE that could potentially be

significant to the VIE The entity that has both of these characteristics is deemed to be the primary beneficiary

and required to consolidate the VIE This assessment must be done on an ongoing basis

We have variable interests in our sponsored collateralized debt obligations but we arc not the primary

beneficiary and therefore are not consolidating the collateralized debt obligation VIEs The maximumpotential

financial statement loss we would incur if the interests in securitizations which include collateralized debt

obligations and collateralized loan obligations were in default on all of their obligations would be the loss of

value of the interests in securitizations that we hold in our inventory at the time see note 26 to our consolidated

financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and any management fee receivables

The Merger As result of the Merger we acquired interests in various VIEs held by AFN In most cases

these were the most junior interests in the VIEs AFN had previously been consolidating these VIEs as it had

determined it was the primary beneficiary when it initially acquired its interests Between the date of AFNs
initial determination it was primary beneficiary and the Merger these VIEs had suffered severe levels of defaults

and losses The losses were so severe that they resulted in substantial impairment in the value and cash flows

earned by the junior interests AFN held In many cases the interests held by AFN were generating no cash flows

and the securities held by AFN were deemed to be worthless or severely impaired AFN continued to consolidate

these VIEs because the provisions of FASB ASC 810 do not allow primary beneficiary to reconsider its

piimary beneficiary status solely based on deterioration of the value or operations of the VIE However we

concluded that the Merger was reconsideration event Therefore upon the Merger we performed the required

expected loss calculations and determined we were not the primary beneficiary of these VIEs Therefore these

VIEs were not consolidated Effective January 2010 we adopted the revised guidance sunounding the

accounting for VIEs as discussed above and in note 3-D to our consolidated financial statements included in this

Annual Report on Form 10 and determined that we continued not be the primary beneficiary of these VIEs

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The following is list of recent accounting pronouncements that we believe will have continuing impact

on our financial statements going forward For more complete list of recent pronouncements see note to

our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

In December 2010 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Accounting Standards

Update ASU No 2010 28 Intangibles Goodwill and Other Topic 350 When to Perfoin Step of the

Goodstill Ilnpan7nent Test for Reporting Units with Zero or Negative Carrying Ainoints ASU 2010 28
which is intended to address entities with reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts The provisions

of this ASU amend the criteria for performing Step of the goodsvill impairment test for reporting units with

zero or negative carrying amounts and requires performing Step if qualitative factors indicate that it is more

likely than not that goodwill impairment exists ASU 20 10-28 requires entities to eonsidei whether there are
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any adverse qualitative factors indicating that an impairment may exist ASU 2010 28 is effective fpr fiscal years

and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15 2010 Early adoption is permitted We

expect the adoption of the new guidance on performing Step of the goodwill impairment test as of January

2011 will not have an effect on our consolidated financial statements

In December 2010 the FASB issued ASU 20 10-29 Business Combinations Topic 805 Disclosure of

Supplementary Pro Forina Information for Business Combinations ASU 2010 29 which is intended to

address diversity in practice about the interpretation of the pro forma revenue and earnings disclosure

requirements for business combinations The amendment affects any public entity as defined by FASB ASC 805

Business Combinations FASB ASC 805 that enters into business combinations that are material on an

individual or aggregate basis The comparative financial statements should present and disclose revenue and

earnings of the combined entity as though the business combinations that occuned during the cunent year had

occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period only The amendments also expand

the supplemental pro forma disclosures to include description of the nature and amount of material

nonrecurring pro
forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro

forma revenue and earnings ASU 2010 29 is effective prospectively for business combinations for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after December 15 2010

Early adoption is permitted The adoption of the ASU 2010-29 will not have an impact to our financial

statements as it pertains only to supplemental pro forma disclosures

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

All amounts in this section are in thousands unless otherwise noted

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of economic loss arising from the adverse impact of market changes to the market

value of our trading and investment positions Market risk is inherent to both derivative and non derivative

financial instruments and accordingly the scope of our market risk management procedures extends beyond

derivatives to include all market risk sensitive financial instruments For purposes of analyzing the components

of market risk we have broken out our investment portfolio into three broad categories

Fixed Income Securities We hold the following securities U.S treasury securities U.S government agency

MBS collateralized mortgage obligations CMOs non-government MBS corporate bonds non redeemable

preferred stock certificates of deposits Small Business Administration SBA loans iesidential loans whole

loans unconsolidated investments in the middle and senior tiers of securitization entities and TruPS We attempt

to mitigate our exposure to market risk by entering into economic hedging transactions which may include

to-be-announced securities TBA5 The fixed income category can be broadly broken down into two

subcategories fixed rate and floating rate

Floating rate securities are not in themselves particularly sensitive to interest rate risk Because they

generally accrue income at variable rate the movement in interest rates typically does not impact their fair

value Fluctuations in their current income due to variations in interest rates are generally not material to us

Floating rate fixed income securities are subject to other market risks such as default risk of the underlying

issuer changes in issuers credit spreads investor demand and supply of securities within paiticular asset class

or industry class of the ultimate obligor The sensitivity to any individual market risk cannot be quantified

The fair value of fixed rate securities is sensitive to changes in interest rates However fixed rate securities

that have low credit ratings or represent junioi interests in securitizations are not particularly interest rate

sensitive In general when we acquire interest rate sensitive securities we enterinto an offsetting short for

similar fixed rate security Alternatively we may enter into othei interest rate hedging anangements such as

interest rate swaps or Eurodollar futures We measure our net interest rate sensitivity by determining how the fair
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value of our net interest rate sensitive assets would change as result of 100 bps adverse shift across the entire

yield curve Based on this analysis as nf December 31 2010 we would incur loss of $2022 if the yield curve

rises 100 basis points bps across all maturities and gain of $1642 if the yield curve falls 100 bps across all

maturities As of December 31 2009 our net interest rate risk was immaterial

Equity Securities We hold equity interests in the form of investments in investment funds permanent

capital vehicles and equity instruments of publicly traded companies These investments are subject to equity

price risk Equity price risk results from changes in the level or volatility of underlying equity prices which

affect the value of equity securities or instruments that in turn der ye their value from particular stock We

attempt to reduce the risk of loss inherent in our inventory of equity securities by closely monitoring those

security positions However since we generally make investments in our investment funds and permanent capital

vehicles in order to facilitate third party capital raising and hence increase our AUM and asset management

fees we may be unwilling to sell these positions as compared to investments in unaffiliated third parties We
have one permanent capital vehicle investment which is denominated in Euros and another permanent capital

vehicle for which our investment is denominated in U.S Dollars but for which the underlying net assets are

primarily based in Japanese Yen The fair values of these investments are subject to change as the spot foreign

exchange rate between these currencies and the U.S Dollar our functional currency fluctuates We may enter

into foreign exchange rate derivatives to hedge all or portion of this risk We measure our net equity price

sensitivity and foreign currency sensitivity by determining how the net fair value of our equity price sensitive and

foreign exchange sensitive assets would change as result of 10% adverse change in equity prices or foreign

exchange rates Based on this analysis as of December 31 2010 our equity price sensitivity was $4664 and our

foreign exchange currency sensitivity was $1007 As of December 31 2009 our equity price sensitivity was

$4101 and our foreign exchange currency sensitivity was $1451

Other Securities These investments are primarily made up of residual interests in securitization entities The

fair value of these investments will fluctuate over time based on number of factors including but not limited to

liquidity of the investment type the credit performance of the individual assets and issuers within the

securitization entity the asset class of the securitization entity and the relative supply and demand of investments

within that asset class credit spreads in general the transparency of valuation of the assets and liabilities of the

securitization entity and investors view of the accuracy of ratings prepared by the independent rating agencies

The sensitivity to any individual market risk cannot be quantified

Debt In addition to the risks noted above we incur interest rate risk related to our debt obligations We
have debt that accrues interest at either vaiiable rates or fixed rates As of December 31 2010 and 2009 100

bps change in the three month LIBOR would result in change in our annual cash paid for interest in the amount

of $200 100 bps adverse change in the market yield to maturity would result in an increase in the fair value of

the debt in the amount of $1182 and $1895 as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

How we manage these risks

We seek to manage our market risk by utilizing our underwriting and credit analysis processes that are

performed in advance of acquiring any investment In addition we continually monitor our investments trading

and our trading securities sold not yet purchased on daily basis and our other investments on monthly basis

We perform an in-depth monthly analysis on all our investments and our risk committee meets on monthly

basis to review specific issues within our portfolio and to make recommendations for dealing with these issues

95



ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements of the Company the related notes and schedules to the financial statements

together with the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon are set forth beginning on

page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference

ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established and maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that

material information relating to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries required to be disclosed in our

Exchange Act reports is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the

SECs rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management including

our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer who certify our financial reports and to other members

of senior management and the board of directors Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief

Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer we have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of

our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 3a- 15e and Sd 15e of the Exchange Act as of

December 31 2010 Based on that evaluation the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer

concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at December 31 2010

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Rules 13a-l5t and 15d-15f under the Exchange Act Because of its inherent

limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Projections of any

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls may become inadequate because

of changcs in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2010 In making this assessment management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of thc Treadway Commission COSO in Internal Control line grated Framework Bascd on this

assessment management believes that as of December 31 2010 our internal control over financial reporting is

effective

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of the Companys registered public accounting

firm regarding internal control over financial reporting Managemcnts rcport was not subject to attestation by the

Companys auditors pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only

managements report in this Annual Report

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has not been any change in our internal control o\ er financial reporting during the quarter ended

December 31 2010 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to mateiially affect our internal control

over financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Our Board of Directors has adopted the Code of Conduct applicable to all directors officers and employees

of the Company The Code of Conduct is available on our website at www.ifmi.com/investorrelationsI

gov_conduct.asp

The information required by Item 10 is included in the scctions cntitled Executive Officers Election of

Directors Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance and Corporate Governance and Board

of Directors Information in the Companys definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with the Companys 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 is included in the Section entitled Executive Compensation in the

Companys definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 in connection with the Companys 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by

reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required by Item 12 with respect to the Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

and Management is included in the Companys definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation

14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with the Companys 2011 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The Companys 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan was approvcd by our stockholders at thc special mceting

held on October 2006 The 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan was amended on April 26 2007 and again on

June 18 2008

Following the Merger in December 2009 our Board of Directors assumed the Cohen Brothers LLC 2009

Equity Award Plan the 2009 Equity Award Plan from Cohen Brothers on December 16 2009

The Companys 2010 Long Term Incentive Plan was approved by our stockholders at the annual meeting

held on December 10 2010
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The following table provides information regarding the 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan the 2010 Long

Term Incentive Plan and the 2009 Equity Award Plan as of December 31 2010

Number of securities

remaining available

Number of for future issuance

securities to be under equity

issued upon the compensation plans

exercise of Weighted-average excluding

outstanding exercise price of securities

options warrants outstanding options reflected in column
Plan Category and rights warrants and rights

Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders 1581088

Equity compensation plans not approved

by security holders

Represents restricted shares pursuant to the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the 2010 Long-Term

Incentive Plan

All of the Operating LLC restricted units available under the 2009 Equity Award Plan have been issued The

Operating LLC restricted units are contractual right that entitles the recipient upon vesting of the restricted

unit to receive the number of membership units set forth in the restricted unit grant document restricted unit is

subject to either time based and/or performance-based vesting conditions These restricted units generally vest

over period of three years from the closing date of the Merger The membership units issued upon the vesting

of these restricted units will at the election of the holder thereof or the Company be convertible into the

equivalent number of shares of the Companys Common Stock Upon the vesting of these restricted units Daniel

Cohen is required pursuant to an Equity Plan Funding Agreement to transfer to the Operating LLC the

number of restricted units equal to the number of membership units to be issued by the Operating LLC upon the

vesting of the restricted unit or the Company the number of shares of the Companys Common Stock equal

to the number of membership units issuable upon the vesting of the restricted unit

See note 20 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for

further information regarding thc 2006 Long-Term Inccntive Plan the 2009 Equity Award Plan and the Equity

Plan Funding Agreement and the 2010 Long Term Incentive Plan

The remainder of the information required by Item 12 is included in the Section entitled Share Ownership

of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management in the Companys definitive Proxy Statement to be filed

pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with the Companys 2011

Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 is included in the Sections entitled Certain Relationships and Related

Party Transactions and Corporate Governance and Board of Directors Information Director Independence in

the Companys definitive Proxy Statement to be med pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 in connection with the Companys 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein

by reference

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 is included in the Sections entitled Piincipal Accounting Firm Fees

in the Companys definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation14A of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 in connection with the Companys 2011 Annual Meeting ol Stockholders and is incorporated herein

by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

The following financial statements of the Company are included in Part II Item of this Annual Report

on Form 10

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

ii Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2010 and 2009 F-3

iii Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2010 2009

and 2008

iv Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders Members Equity for the years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 2010 2009

and 2008 F-6

vi Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31 2010

Schedules to Consolidated Financial Statements

Condensed Financial Information of Registrant F-95
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Exhibit List

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Exhibit

No Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 20 2009 by and among Alesco Financial Inc

Fortune Merger Sub LLC and Cohen Brothers LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the

Companys Current Report on Form filed with the SEC on February 23 2009

2.2 Amendment No to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of June 2009 by and among Alesco

Financial Inc Fortune Merger Sub LLC Alesco Financial Holdings LLC and Cohen Brothers LLC

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form filed with

the SEC on June 2009ffi

2.3 Amendment No to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of August 20 2009 by and among

Alesco Financial Inc Alesco Financial Holdings LLC and Cohen Brothers LLC incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

August 20 2009

2.4 Amendment No to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of September 30 2009 by and among

Alesco Financial Inc Alesco Financial Holdings LLC and Cohen Brothers LLC incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form filed with the SEC on

September 30 2009

2.5 Purchase and Contribution Agreement dated September 14 2010 by and among Cohen Company

Inc Cohen Brothers LLC JVB Financial Holdings L.L.C. the Sellers Listed on Annex thereto and

the Management Employees as defined therein incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the

Companys Current Report on Fotm filed with the SEC on September 14 2010

2.6 Amendment No to Purchase and Contribution Agreement dated October 29 2010 by and among

Cohen Company Inc Cohen Brothers LLC JVB Financial Holdings L.L.C the Sellers listed on

Annex Ito the original Purchase and Contribution Agreement dated September 14 2010 and the

Management Employees as defined in the original Purchase and Contribution Agreement dated

September 14 2010

2.7 Amendment No to Purchase and Contribution Agreement dated December 27 2010 by and among

Cohen Company Inc Cohen Brothers LLC JVB Financial Holdings L.L.C the Sellers listed on

Annex Ito the original Purchase and Contribution Agreement dated Sepiemher 14 2010 and the

Management Employees as defined in the original Purchase and Contribution Agreement dated

September 142010

2.8 Amendment No to Purchase and Contribution Agreement dated January 11 2011 by and among

Cohen Company Inc Cohen Brothers LLC JVB Financial Holdings L.L.C the Sellers listed on

Annex Ito the original Purchase and Contribution Agreement dated September 14 2010 and the

Management Employees as defined in the original Purchase and Contribution Agreement dated

September 14 2010

3.1 Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement incorporated by refeienee to Exhibit 3.1 to

Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form II Registiation No
333 111018 filed with the SEC on February 2004

3.2 Articles of Amendment changing name to Aleseo Financial Inc incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to the Conipanys Registration Statement on Form S-I Registration No 333 111018

tiled with the SEC on February 2004

3.3 Articles of Amendment to Effectuate Reverse Stock Split incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1

to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 17 2009
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3.4 Articles of Amendment to Set Par Value incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Companys
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 17 2009

3.5 Articles Supplementary Series Voting Convertible Preferred Stock incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.3 to the companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 17

2009

3.6 Articles Supplementary Series Voting Non Convertible Preferred Stock incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

December 17 2009

3.7 Articles of Amendment to ehangi Name to Cohen Company Inc incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.5 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 17

2009

3.8 Articles Supplementary Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form filed with the SEC on December 28

2009

3.9 Articles of Amendment Changing Name to Institutional Financial Markets Inc incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

January 24 2011

3.10 By-laws as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companys Current Report on

Form filed with the SEC on October II 2005

4.1 Form of 7.625% Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2027 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.2 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 21 2007

4.2 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of May 15 2007 by and between Alesco Financial Inc and

RBC Capital Markets Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Companys Current

Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 21 2007

4.3 Junior Subordinated Indenture dated as of March 15 2005 by and between Sunset Financial

Resources Inc now Institutional Financial Markets Inc and JPMorgan Chase Bank National

Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 to the Companys Annual Repor on

Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 31 2004

4.4 Indenture dated as of May 15 2007 by and between Alesco Financial Inc and U.S Bank National

Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys Current Report on

Form 8-K flied with the SEC on May 21 2007

4.5 Junior Subordinated Indenture dated as of June 25 2007 by and between Aleseo Financial Inc and

Wells Fargo Bank N.A incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys Cunent Report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 29 2007

4.6 Indenture dated as of June 29 2007 by and among Bear Stearns ARM Trust 2007 Citibank N.A

and Wells Fargo Bank N.A incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Companys Quarterly

Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on August 2007

4.7 Form of Specimen Stock Certificate incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys
Annual Report on Foim 10 filed with the SEC on March 10 2010

4.8 Registration Rights Agreement by and among Cohen Company Inc now Institutional Financial

Markets Inc and the Holders Listed on the Signature Pages Thereto incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.13 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC on

February 112011
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9.1 Voting Agreement dated Fcbruary 20 2009 between Aleseo Financial Inc and Cohen Bros Financial

LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9.1 to the Companys Registration Statement on

Form filed with the SEC on June 2009

9.2 Voting Agreement dated February 20 2009 between Alesco Financial Inc and Christopher Ricciardi

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9.2 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form filed

with the SEC on June 2009

9.3 Voting Agreement dated February 20 2009 between Alesco Financial Inc and James McEntee III

individually and as trustee on behalf of James McEntee III TIU/A James McEntee III

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9.3 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form filed

with the SEC on June 2009

10.1 Management Agreement dated as of January 31 2006 by and between Alesco Financial Trust and

Cohen Brothers Management LLC incorporated by reference to Annex to the Companys Proxy

Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on September 2006

10.2 Letter Agreement dated January 31 2006 by and between Alesco Financial Trust and Cohen

Brothers LLC relating to certain rights of first refusal and non competition arrangements between

the parties incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Amendment No ito the Companys

Registration Statement on Form S-3 Registration No 333 137219 filed with the SEC on October

2006

10.3 Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated as of October 2006 by and among Alesco Financial

Trust Sunset Financial Resources Inc now Institutional Financial Markets Inc and Cohen

Brothers Management LLC transferring the agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.1a to the Company

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Registration Statement on

Form S-3 Registration No 333 138136 filed with the SEC on October 20 2006

10.4 Letter Agreement dated October 18 2006 by and between Alesco Financial Inc and Cohen Brothers

LLC transferring the agreement referred to in Exhibit 10.2 hereto to Alesco Financial Inc

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form

Registration No 333-138136 filed with the SEC on October 20 2006

10.5 Shared Facilities and Services Agreement dated as of January 31 2006 by and between Cohen

Brothers Management LLC and Cohen Brothers LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to

Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-3 Registration No
333 137219 filed with the SEC on October 2006

10.6 Purchase Agreement dated as of May 2007 by and between Alesco Financial Inc and RBC

Capital Markets Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Companys Current

Report on Form filed with the SEC on May 10 2007

10.7 Underwriting Agreement dated June 20 2007 by and between Alesco Financial Inc and.RBC

Capital Markets Corporation incorporated by refcrcnce to Exhibit 1.1 to the Companys Current

Report on Form filed with the SEC on June 22 2007

10.8 Amended and Restated Trust Agieement dated as of June 25 2007 by and among Alesco Financial

Inc Wells Fargo Bank N.A Wells Fargo Delaware Trust Company and the administiative trustees

named theiein incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Companys Current Report on

Form filed with the SEC on June 29 2007

10.9 Amended and Restated Trust Agreement dated as of June 29 2007 by and among Structured Asset

Mortgage Investments II Inc Wilmington Trust Company Wells Fargo Bank N.A and

acknowledged by Aleseo Financial Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Companys
Quarterly Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on August 92007
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10.10 Mortgage Loan Purchase Agreement dated as of June 29 2007 by and between Alesco Financial Inc

and Structured Asset Mortgage Investments Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on August 2007

10.11 Sale and Servicing Agreement dated as of June 29 2007 by and among Structured Asset Mortgage

Investments II Inc Bear Stearns ARM Trust 2007 Alesco Financial Inc Citibank N.A and Wells

Fargo Bank N.A as securities administrator and master servicer incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.15 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on August

2007

10.12 Guarantee Agreement dated as of June 29 2007 by and between Alesco Financial Inc and Alesco

Loan Holdings Trust incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Companys Quarterly Report

on Form 10 filed with the SEC on August 2007

10.13 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan as amended incorporated by reference to Annex to the

Companys Proxy Statement on Schedule l4A filed with the SEC on April 30 2007

10.14 Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the

Companys Annual Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on March 16 2007

10.15 Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between Alesco Financial Inc and each of its directors

and officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K

filed with the SEC on October 20 2006

10.16 Amended and Restated Senior Management Agreement between Cohen Brothers LLC and

Christopher Ricciardi dated as of January 31 2007 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form filed with the SEC on June 2009

10.17 Amendment No to Amended and Restated Senior Management Agreement between Cohen

Brothers LLC and Christopher Rieciardi dated as of July 31 2008 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.17 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on June

2009

10.18 Amendment No.2 to Amended and Restated Senior Management Agreement between Cohen

Brothers LLC and Christopher Rieeiardi dated as of February 20 2009 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.18 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on June

2009

10.19 Employment Agreement by and between Christopher Rieciardi and Cohen Company Inc dated

February 18 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 102010

10.20 Employment Agreement between Cohen Brothers LLC and Joseph Pooler dated as of May 2008

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form

filed with the SEC on June 2009

10.21 Amendment No Ito Employment Agreement between Cohen Brothers LLC and Joseph Pooler dated

as of February 20 2009 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Companys Registration

Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on June 2009

10.22 Amendment No to Employment Agreement between Joseph Pooler Jr and Cohen Brothers

LLC dated February 18 2010 incorporated by teference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Companys Annual

Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on March 10 2010

10.23 Cohen Brothers LLC 2009 Senior Managers Cash Bonus Retention Plan incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.21 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form filed with the SEC on June

2009
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10.24 Unsecured Subordinated Promissory Note between Cohen Brothers LLC and Daniel Cohen

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-4

filed with the SEC on June 2009

10.25 Unsecured Subordinated Promissory Note between Cohen Brothers LLC and Christopher Rieciardi

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-4

filed with the SEC on June 2009

10.26 Aeseo Financial Inc Cash Bonus Plan incorporated by reference to Annex to Alesco Financial

Incs Registration Statement on Form filed with the SEC on August 20 2009

10.27 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and among Cohen Brothers LLC TD Bank

N.A and the Financial Institutions Now or Hereafter Listed on Schedule dated as of June 2009

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Companys Amendment No ito the Registration

Statement on Form filed with the SEC on August 20 2009

10.28 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and among Cohen

Brothers LLC each of the Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto and TD Bank N.A dated as of

September 30 2009 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Companys Amendment No

to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with SEC on September 30 2009

10.29 Omnibus Joinder and Amendment to Loan Documents by and among Cohen Brothers LLC each of

the Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto certain Joining Guarantors and TD Bank N.A dated as of

December 16 2009 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 102010

10.30 Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement by and among Cohen Brothers LLC each of the

Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto TD Bank N.A and each of the financial institutions identified

as Lenders dated as of December 30 2009 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the

Companys Annual Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on March 102010

10.31 Cohen Brothers LLC 2009 Equity Award Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the

Companys Amendment No to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on

August 20 2009

10.32 Amended and Restated Cohen Brothers LLC 2009 Equity Award Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.12 to the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on April 29

2010

10.33 Form of Cohen Brothers LLC Restricted Unit Award Pursuant to the Cohen Brothers LLC 2009

Equity Award Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Companys Amendment No
to the Registration Statement on Form filed with the SEC on August 20 2009

10.34 Equity Plan Funding Agreement by and among Daniel Cohen and Cohen Brothers LLC

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Companys Amendment No to the Registration

Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on August 20 2009

10.35 Letter Agreement by and between Alesco Financial Inc and Cohen Brothers LLC dated

September 22 2009 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Companys Amendment No

to the Registration Statement on Form filed with SEC on September 30 2009

0.3o Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Cohen Brothers LLC incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

December 17 2009

10.37 Employment Agreement by and between Daniel Cohen and Cohen Company Inc dated

February 18 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10 filed with the SEC on March 10 2010
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10.38 2010 Executive Officers Cash Bonus Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the

Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 10 2010

10.39 Form of Award For 2010 Executive Officers Cash Bonus Plan incorpbrated by reference to Exhibit

10.38 to the Compqnys Annual Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on March 102010

10.40 Form of Promissory Note incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Companys Annual

Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on March 10 2010

10.41 Section 382 Rights Agreement dated January 52011 by and between Cohen Company Inc and

Mellon Investor Services LLC incorporated by reference to the Companys Current Report on

Form filed with the SEC on December 28 2009

10.42 Amendment No Ito Section 382 Rights Agreement dated January 52011 by and between Cohen

Company Inc and Mellon Investor Services LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities Exchange Commission on

January 62011

10.43 Employment Agreement by and between Christopher Ricciardi and Cohen Company Inc dated

February 18 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Quarterly Report on

Form lO-Q filed with the SEC on May 2010

10.44 Institutional Financial Markets Inc formerly Cohen Company Inc 2010 Long-Term Incentive

Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

filed with the SEC on August 2010

10.45 Amendment No Ito Institutional Financial Markets inc formerly Cohen Company Inc 2010

Long-Term incentive Plan

10.46 Form of Restricted Stock Award under Institutional Financial Markets Inc formerly Cohen

Company Inc 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan

10.47 Master Transaction Agreement dated July 29 2010 by and among Cohen Company Inc Cohen

Company Financial Management LLC and ATP Management LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on November

2010

10.48 Services Agreement dated July 29 2010 by and between ATP Management LLC and Cohen

Company Financial Management LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys

Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q filed with the SEC on November 2010

10.49 Loan and Security Agreement dated July 29 2010 by and among Deknnia Investors LLC TD Bank
N.A and the financial institutions now or thereafter listed on Schedule thereto incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10 filed with the SEC on

November 2010

10.50 Joinder to Loan Documents dated December 31 2010 by and among Dekania Investors LLC the

Subsidiary Guarantors party thereto Cohen Principal Investing LLC TD Bank N.A and the

financial institutions now or thereafter listed on Schedule to the Loan and Security Agreement

dated July 29 2010

11.1 Statement Regarding Computation of Share Earnings

14.1 Code of Conduct incoiporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10 filed with the SEC on March 10 2010

21.1 List of Subsidiaries
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23 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm regarding the

financial statements of Institutional Financial Markets Inc

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of

2002 as amended

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002 as amended

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of

2002 as amended

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002 as amended.t

Filed herewith

Data required by FASB Accounting Standards Codification 260 Earnings per Share is provided in note

24 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Constitutes management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601 b2 of Regulation S-K Institutional

Financial Markets Inc hereby undertakes to furnish supplementally copies of any of the omitted schedules

or exhibits upon request by the SEC
Confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this document An unredacted version of this

exhibit has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission

The financial statement schedules listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial

Statement Schedules listed under Item 15.1a are included under Item and are presented beginning on page
F-I

of this Form 10 All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of

the Securities and Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable or is

not present in amount sufficient to require submission of the schedule and therefore have been omitted
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INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

DATE March 2011

INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

By Is DANIEL COHEN

Daniel Cohen

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Puisuant to the ieyuireioents of the Secuiities Exchange Act of 1934 this ieport has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Name Title Date

Is WALTER BEACH Director March 2011

Walter Beach

Is RODNEY BENNETT Director March 2011

Rodney Bennett

Is DANIEL COHEN Chairman Chief Executive Officer March 2011

Daniel Cohen and Chief Investment Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Is THOMAS COSTELLO Director March 2011

Thomas Costello

Is STEVEN DAWSON Director March 2011

Steven Dawson

Is Josmm DONOVAN Director March 2011

Joseph Donovan

Is JACK HARAnURDA Director March 2011

Jack Haraburda

Is DOUGLAS LISTMAN Chief Accounting Officet and March 2011

Douglas Listman Assistant Treasurer Principal

Accounting Officer

Is JosEni POOLER JR Executive Vice President Chief March 2011

Joseph Pooler Jr Financial Officer and Treasurer

Principal Financial Officer

Is CHRISTOPIIER RICCI \ROI President and Chief Executive March 42011

Christopher Ricciardi Officer of the Capital Markets

Division

/s NEIL SUBIN Director March 2011

Neil Subin

/s LANCE Ut t.Osi Director March 2011

Lance Ullorn

Is CIIARLFS \Vot COTT Director March 2011

Charles Wolcott
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Audit Committee of Institutional Financial Markets Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Institutional Financial Markets Inc formerly

Cohen Company Inc. Maryland corporation the Company as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the

related consolidated statements of operations changes in members/stockholders equity and cash flows for each

of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 Our audits of the basic financial statements included

the financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 152 These consolidated financial

statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule

based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement The Company is not required to have nor

were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting Our audit included

consideration of internal control over financial reporting as basis for designing audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Companys internal control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit also

includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements refeiTed to above present fairly in all material respects the

financial position of Institutional Financial Markets Inc as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results of its

operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 in conformity

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion the related

financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as whole

presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

Is Grant Thornton LLP

Philadelphia Pennsylvania

March 42011
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INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Dollars in Thousands

December 31

2010 2009

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 43946 69692

Restricted cash 4507 255

Receivables from related parties 966 1255

Other receivables 6033 4268

Investments trading 189015 135428

Other investments at fair value 46551 43647

Receivables under resale agreements 20357

Goodwill 3231 8838

Other assets 12498 14680

Total assets $306747 $298420

Liabilities

Payables to

Brokers dealers and clearing agencies 45469 13491

Related parties 34

Accounts payable and other liabilities 13165 13199

Accrued compensation 17358 7689

Trading securities sold not yet purchased 17820 114712

Securities sold under agreement to repurchase 69816

Deferred income taxes 8889 9717

Debt includes $0 and $3807 of notes payable to related parties respectively 44688 61961

Total liabilities 217239 220769

Commitments and contingencies See Note 27

Equity

Stockholders Equity

Preferred Stock $0001 par value per share 50.000.000 shares authorized

Series Voting Convertible Preferred Stock $0001 par value per share share

authorized and share issued and outstanding respectively

Series Voting Non Convertible Preferred Stock $0001 par value per share

4983557 shaies authorized 4983.557 and shares issued and outstanding

respectively

Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock $0001 par value per share 10000

shares authorized no shares issued and outstanding

Common Stock $0001 par value per share 100.000000 shares authorized 10533084

and 10343347 shares issued respectively 10482684 and 10292947 outstanding

respectively including 162226 and 36109 unvested restricted share awards

respectively 10 10

Additional paid-in capital 58.954 57411

Retained earnings accumulated deficit 6.382 170
Accumulated othei comprehensive loss 665 582
Treasury stock at cost 50.400 shares of Common Stock 328 328

Total stockholders equity 64.358 56341

Noncontrolling interest 25150 21310

Total equity 89508 77651

Total liabilities and equity $306747 $298.420

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Dollars in Thousands except share or unit and per share or per unit information

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Revenues

Net trading 70809 44165 18234

Asset management 25281 31148 63844

New issue and advisory 3778 1816 7249

Principal transactions and other income loss 25684 6957 6038

Total revenues 125552 84086 83289

Operating expenses

Compensation and benefits 77446 70519 53115

Business development occupancy equipment 5470 5469 6935

Professiona services subscriptions and other operating 25931 16666 14393

Depreciation and amortization 2356 2543 4023

Impairment of goodwill/intangible asset 5607
__________

2078

Total operating expenses 116810 95197 80544

Operating income/loss 8742 11111 2745

Non operating income expense

Interest expense 7686 4974 9143
Gain on repurchase of debt 2555

Gain on sale of management contracts 971 7746

Income loss from equity method affiliates 5884 3455 262

Income loss before income tax expense benefit 10466 11794 6136
Tneome tax expense benefit 749 2049

Net income loss 11215 11803 8185
Less Net ineome/loss attributable to the noneontrolling

interest 3620 98 1259

Net income loss attributable to IFMI 7595 11705 6926

Income /loss per common share/membership unit basic

Income loss per common share/membership unit 0.73 1.21 0.72

Weighted average shares/membership units outstanding

basic 10404017 9639475 9590525

Income /loss per common share/membership unit diluted

Income loss pei common share/membership unit 0.73 1.21 0.72

Weighted average shares/membership units outstanding

diluted 15687.573 9639475 9590525

Dividends declared per common share 0.10

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Dollars in Thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Operating activities

Net income loss 11215 $1 l803$ 8185
Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash provided by osed in operating

activities

Gain on repoichase of debt 2555
Gain on sale of managenient contracts 971 7746
Equity based compensation 2505 6556 6177

Realized loss gain on other investments 4512 9959 12601
Change in unrealized gain loss on other investments 29325 4349 26608

Depreciation and amortization 2356 2543 4023

lmpaii mcnt of goodwill intangible assets 5607 2078

Income loss from eqoity method affiliates 5884 3455 262
Change in operating assets and liabilities net

Increase dcci ease in other receivables 1833 4083 2583

Increase decrease in investments-trading net 53587 626 8570

Increase decrease in other assets net 2865 7449 5950
Increase decrease in receivables under resale agreement 20357 20357
Change in receivables from payables to related parties net 281 6444 4321

Inci ease in restricted cash 4165 50
Increase deciease in accrued compensation 9708 4186 16771
Increase decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities 25 526 5762
Increase decrease in tiading securities sold not yet purchased net 96892 16176

Change in receivables from payables to brokers dealers and clearing

agencies net 31978 10275 887

lncrease decrease in securities sold under agreement to repurchase 69816

Inci ease decrease in defened income taxes 828
________ ________

Net cash provided by used in operating activities 34815 7329 57t6

Investing activities

Cash acquired from Mergei with AFN 76938

Purchase of investments other investments at fair value 12944 690 34688
Proceeds from sale ot management contracts 971 7746
Sales and return of principal of other investments at fair value 34908 12233 40026
Investment in equity method affiliates 5517 2501 100
Return from equity method affiliates 9983 925 500

Cash used in other acquisition 297
Purchase of furniture equipment and leasehold improvements 939 691 238

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 26165 93960 5500

Financing activities

Issuance of debt 9300 9000

Repayment of debt 24283 57050 63000
Payments br deferred issuance and financing costs 349 988
Cash used to net share settle equity awards 66
Repurchase ot employee units 295
Distributions contributions to noncontrolling interest 528 12275

Payment of share issuance costs 1233
Dividends distributions 1043 4746 7826

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 17069 64017 49846

Effect ol exchange ate on cash 27 448 1573

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 25746 37720 40203
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of yew 69692 31972 72175

Cash and cash equivalents end ol yeai 43946 69692 31972

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statcments
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INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31 2010

Dollars in Thousands except share or unit and per share or per unit information

ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Formation Transaction

Cohen Brothers LLC Cohen Brothers was formed on October 2004 by Cohen Bros Financial LLC

CBF Cohen Brothers was formed to acquire the net assets of CBFs subsidiaries the Formation

Transaction Cohen Bros Company Inc Cohen FrŁres SAs Dekania Investors LLC Emporia Capital

Management LLC and the majority interestin Cohen Bros Tororian Investment Management Inc The

Formation Transaction was accomplished through serics of transactions oceui ring bctwecji Maieh 2005 arid

May 31 2005

The Company

From its formation above until December 16 2009 Cohen Brothers operated as privately owned limited

liability company On December 16 2009 Cohen Brothers completed its merger the Merger with

subsidiary of Alesco Financial Inc AFN publicly traded real estate investment trust

As result of the Merger AFN received 10343347 or 66.2% of the membership interests in Cohen

Brothers Of the 66.2% of Cohen Brothers received by AFN in connection with the Merger 38.5% was received

in the form of units issued directly by Cohen Brothers The remaining 27.7% was acquired by AFN from Cohen

Brothers members in exchange for the issuance of AFN common stock to those members The remaining

5.283556 membership interests or 33.8% of Cohen Brothers was held by Daniel Cohen 31.9% and other

members 1.9% The equity interest in Cohen Brothers that is not held by AFN has certain redemptive features

which are described in detail in note 19

Therefore the members of Cohen Brothers at the time of the Merger received 61.5% of the total ownership

interests in the combined entity 33.8% remained as members of Cohen Brothers and 27.7% exchanged their

interest in Cohen Brothers for AFN stock In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America U.S OAAP the Merger was accounted for as reverse acquisition and Cohen

Brothers was deemed to be the accounting acquirer primarily because the owners of Cohen Brothers at the time

of the Merger received the majority interest in the merged entity as previously described As result all of

AFNs assets and liabilities were required to be revalued at fair value as of the acquisition date Therefore the

financial statements presented herein include the operations of Cohen Brothers from January 2008 to

December 16 2009 on stand alone basis and the operations of the merged entity from December 17 2009

forward

Subsequent to the Merger AFN was renamed Cohen Company Inc In January 2011 it was renamed

again as Institutional Financial Markets Inc IFMI As result of the Merger all prior period membership

unit and per unit amounts presented were retroactively restated based on the exchange ratio determined in

connection with the Mergei

As used in these consolidated financial statements the term the Company iefers to the historical

operations of Cohen Brothers and its consolidated subsidiaries from January 2008 through to December 16

2009 and the combined operations of the meiged company and its consolidated subsidiaries subsequent to

December 17 2009 AFN refers to the historical operations of Alesco Financial Inc through the December 16

2009 Merger date When the teim IFMI is used it is refeiTing to the parent company itself Institutional

Financial Markets Inc Subsequent to the Merger Cohen Brothers changed its name to IFMI LLC and functions

as the main operating majority-owned subsidiary of the Company and in these statements it is referred to as the

Operating LLC
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Effective January 12010 the Company ceased to qualify as REIT The Company now trades on the

NYSE Amex LLC under the ticker symbol JEMI The Company through its subsidiaries is an investment firm

specialiLing in credit related fiAed income investments As of December 31 2010 the Company had $10.3

billion in assets under management AUM
The Companys business is organized into three business segments

Capital Markets The Companys Capital Markets segment consists of credit-related fixed income securities

sales and trading as well as new issuc placements in corporate and securitized products and advisory revenue The

Companys fixed income sales and trading group provides trade execution to corporate and institutional investors

The Company specializes in the following products high grade corporate bonds high yield corporate bonds and

loans asset backed securities ABS mortgage backed securities MBS collateralized loan obligations

CLOs collateralized debt obligations collateralized bond obligations commercial mortgage backed securities

CMBS residential mortgage backed securities çRJvIBS Small Business Administration SBA loans U.S

government bonds U.S government agency securities brokered deposits and CDs for small banks hybrid capital

of financial institutions including trust preferred securities TruPS whole loans and other structured financial

instruments The Company also offers execution and brokerage services for cash equity and derivative products

Asset Management The Company serves the needs of client investors by managing assets within

investment funds managed accounts permanent capital vehicles and collateralized debt obligations collectively

referred to as Invcstment Vehicles collateralized debt obligation is form of secured borrowing The

borrowing is secured by different types of fixed income assets such as corporate or mortgage loans or bonds The

borrowing is in the form of securitization which means that the lenders are actually investing in notes backed

by the assets The lender will have recourse only to the assets securing the loan The Companys Asset

Management segment includes its fee based asset management operations which include ongoing hase and

incentive management fees

Principal Investing The Companys Principal Investing segment is comprised primarily of its investments

in ccrtain Investment Vehicles it manages

The Company generates its revenue by segment primarily through the following activities

Capital Markets

trading activities of the Company which include execution and brokerage services riskless trading

activities as well as gains and losses unrealized and realized and income and expense earned on

securities classified as tiading

new issue and advisory revenue comprised primarily of origination fees for corporate debt issues

originated by the Company ii revenue from advisory services and iii new issue revenue associated

with arranging the issuance of newly created debt equity and hybrid financial instruments

Asset Management

asset management fees for the Companys on going services as asset manager charged and earned by

managing Investment Vehicles which may include fees both senior and subordinated to the securities

in the Investment Vehicle

incentive management fees earned based on the performance of the various Investment Vehicles

Principal Investing

gains and losses unrealized and realized and income and expense earned on securities primarily

investments in certain Investment Vehicles the Company manages classified as other investments at

fair value and

income or loss from equity method affiliates

ES



The activities noted above are carried out through the following main operating subsidiaries

Cohen Company Financial Management LLC acts as asset manager and investment advisor to the Alesco

through IX collateralized debt obligations It also serves as service provider to the manager of the Alesco

XVII collateralized debt obligations Alesco collateralized debt obligations invest in bank and insurance

company TruPS as well as insurance company subordinated debt

Dekania Capital Management LLC acts as asset manager and investment advisor to the Companys
Dekania and pre-2007 Dekania-Europe brand collateralized debt obligations Dekania brand collateralized

debt obligations invest primarily in insurance TruPS and insurance company subordinated debt denominated

in U.S Dollars Dekania Europe brand collateralized debt obligations invest primarily in TruPS and

insurance company subordinated debt denominated in Euros

Strategos Capital Management LLC Strategos acts as asset manager and investment advisor to the

Companys collateralized debt obligations that invest primarily in high grade and mezzanine asset backed

securities Additionally Strategos acts as manager for Strategos Deep Value Mortgage Funds and manages

client funds under separate account arrangements See note 32 Subsequent Events

Cohcn Company Securities LLC CCS is securities broker-dealer which provides several classes of

service including securities brokerage and investment banking services CCS is broker-dealer registered

with the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC and is member of the Financial Industry

Regulatory Authority FINRA and the Securities Investor Protection Corporation SIPC It provides

trade execution to corporate and institutional investors and specializes in the following products high grade

corporate bonds RMBS and hybrid capital of financial institutions including TruPS

Cohen Company Capital Markets LLC CCCM formerly Fairfax I.S US LLC is securities

broker-dealer which the Company acquired effective in September 2010 See note The Company acquired

CCCM in 2010 formerly named Fairfax primarily to avail ourselves of its existing clearing relationship

CCCM also provides several classes of service including securities brokerage and investment banking

services CCCM is broker-dcaler rcgistered with the SEC and is member of the FINRA and the SIPC It

provides trade execution to corporate and institutional investors and specializes in the following products

high grade corporate bonds high yield corporate bonds and loans ABS MBS CLOs collateralized bond

obligations CMBS RMBS SBA loans U.S government bonds U.S government agency securities hybrid

capital of financial institutions including TruPS whole loans and other structured financial instruments In

addition it originates and trades brokered deposits or CDs for small banks as well as serves as an agency

brokerage business offering execution and brokerage services for cash equity and derivative products It is

wholly owned subsidiary of Cohen Securities Funding LLC See note listed below

Cohen Asia Investments Ltd owns 50% of Star Asia Management Ltd Star Asia Manager which is the

external manager of Star Asia Finance Ltd Star Asia and earns management fees and incentive fees

relatcd to this entity Star Asia invcsts in Asian commercial real estate structured financc products including

CMBS corporate debt of REITs and real estate operating companies notes mezzanine loans and other

commercial real estate fixed income investments

EuroDekania Management Limited is Financial Services Authority FSA Regulated Firm in the United

Kingdom and acts as the external manager of EuroDekania Limited EuroDekania and earns management

fees and incentive fees related to this entity EuroDekania invests primarily in hybrid capital securities of

European bank and insurance companies CLOs CMBS RMBS and widely syndicated leverage loans

Since 2007 EuroDekania Management Limited has acted as asset manager and investment advisor to the

Companys 2007 and later Dekania Europe brand collateralized debt obligations Dekania Europe brand

collateralized debt obligations invest primarily in Ti uPS and insurance company subordinated debt

denominated in Euios EuroDekania Management Limited also carries out our Capital Markets segment

activities in Europe including brokerage advisory and new issue services
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Cohen Compagnie SAS formerly Cohen FrŁres SAS the Companys French subsidiary acts as credit

research advisor to Dekania Capital Management LLC and EuroDekania Management Limited in analyzing

the creditworthiness of insurance companies and financial institutions in Europe with respect to all collateral

or assets included in Dekania Europe collateralized debt obligations

Cohen Securities Funding LLC is subsidiary of the Company that holds certain investments classified as

investments trading It is the parent company of the securities broker-dealer CCCM

10 Dekania Investors LLC is the primary obligor of the Companys outstanding credit facility with TD Bank

N.A and holds certain investments classified as other investments at fair value that collateralize this

facility In addition Dekania Investors LLC is the parent company of Cohen Company Financial

Management LLC and Dekania Capital Management LLC

II Cohen Principal Investing LLC acts as holding company for certain investments classified as other

investments at fair value that do not serve as collateral under the Companys outstanding credit facility with

TDBankN.A

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accounting and reporting policies of the Company conform to U.S GAAP Certain prior period

amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation

The Merger was completed on December 16 2009 and was accounted for as reverse merger Certain

changes to prior year balance sheet amounts have been made in accordance with the accounting guidance for

business combinations to reflect adjustments made during the measurement period to provisional amounts for

assets acquired and liabilities assumed from AFN on December 16 2009 See note

The Company revised the prior period consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2009 and the

consolidated statement of changes in stockholders members equity for the year ended December 31 2009 to

properly display historical accumulated other comprehensive income that was allocated to the minority interest

holders from the Companys controlling interest upon the consummation of the Merger and reorganization of the

Company from limited liability company to corporation The Company had previously presented additional

paid in capital of $58121 and accumulated other comprehensive loss of $l292 The revision reduced

additional paid in capital by $710 and decreased accumulated other comprehensive loss by $710 Total

controlling interest in stockholders members equity total noncontrolling interest in stockholders/members

equity total stockholders/members equity total liabilities and total assets remained unchanged as December 31

2009 There was no impact to the Companys consolidated statements of operations The Company believes this

revision was not material to any of the previously issued financial statements based on the Companys
assessment performed in accordance with the SECs Staff Accounting Bulletin SAB No 99 Materiality

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements reflect the accounts of IFMI and its wholly and majority osned

subsidiaries All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP requires management to make

assumptions and estimates that affect the teported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses

during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those estimates
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short term highly liquid investments that have maturities of

three months or less Most cash and cash equivalents are in the form of short-term investments and are not held

in federally insured bank accounts

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets

In December 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Accounting Standards

Update ASU No 2009-16 Transfers and Servicing Topic 860 Accounting for Transfers of Financial

Assets ASU 2009-16 which formally codifies the new guidance on the accounting for transfers of financial

assets issued in June 201Q The new guidance seeks to improve the relevance representational faithfulness and

comparability of the information that reporting entity provides in its financial statements about transfer of

financial assets the effects of transfer on its financial position financial performance and cash flows and

transferors continuing involvement if any in transferred financial assets Specifically the new guidance

eliminates the concept of qualifying special purpose entity creates more stringent conditions for reporting

transfer of portion of financial asset as sale clarifies other sale-accounting criteria and changes the initial

measurement of transferors interest in transferred financial assets The new guidance is effective for fiscal

years and interim periods beginning after November 15 2009 The Companys adoption of the new guidance on

accounting for transfers of financial assets as of January 2010 did not have an effect on the Companys
consolidated financial statements

Variable Interest Entities

In December 2009 the FASB issued ASU No 2009 17 Consolidations Topic 810 Improvements in

Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved wit/i Variable Interest Entities ASU 2009 17 which formally

codifies the revised guidance on the accounting for variable interest entities VIE or VIEs issued in June

2009 The revised guidance deals with determining whether an entity is VIE and requires an enterprise to

perform an analysis to determine whether the enterprises variable interest or interests give it controlling

financial interest in VIE Under the revised guidance an enterprise has controlling financial interest when it

has the power to direct the activities of VIE that most significantly impact the entitys economic

performance and the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity

that could potentially be significant to the VIE The revised guidance also requires an enterprise to assess

whether it has an implicit responsibility to ensure that VIE operates as designed whcn determining whether it

has power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entitys economic performance

The revised guidance also requires ongoing assessments of whether an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of

VIE requires enhanced disclosures and eliminates the scope exclusion for qualifying special-purpose entities

The revised guidance is effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15 2009

However in February 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010 10 Consolidation Topic 810 Ainendinentfor

Certain Investment Funds ASU 2010-10 which delayed the effective date of the revised guidance for an

interest in an entity that has all the attributes of an investment company or for which it is industry practice

to apply measurement principles for financial reporting purposes that are consistent with those followed by

investment companies The deferral does not apply in situations in which reporting entity has the explicit or

implicit obligation to fund losses of an entity that could potentially be significant to the entity The deferral also

does not apply to intci ests in sccui itixation entities asset backed financing entities or entities formerly

considered qualifying special purpose entities The amendments also clarify that for entities that do not qualify

for the deferral related parties should be considerca when evaluating the specified cijteria for determining

whether decision maker or service providei fee represents variable interest In addition the requirements for

evaluating whether decision makers or service providers fee is variable interest are modified to clarify the

FASBs intention that quantitative calculation should not be the sole basis for this evaluation The amendments

included in ASU 2010-10 do not defer the disclosure requirements included in ASU 2009-17 The Companys
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adoption of the revised guidance as modified by the deferral on variable interest entities as of January 12010

did not have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements for VIEs that it was involved

with as of January 2010 based on the Companys analysis as of that date However this is an ongoing

assessment and it may impact the Companys consolidated financial statements in the future See notes 3-K and

26 for additional disclosures provided about VIEs

Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010 06 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic

820 Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements ASU 2010 06 ASU 20 10-06 requires some

new disclosures and clarifies some existing disclosure requirements about fair value measurement as set forth in

FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures FASB
ASC 820 ASU 20 10-06 amends FASB ASC 820 to require reporting entity to disclose separately the

amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level and Level fair value measurements and describe the

reasons for the transfers and in the reconciliation for fair value measurements using significant unobservable

inputs to present separately information about purchases sales issuances and settlements In addition ASU
2010 06 clarifies the requirements of the following existing disclosures for purposes of reporting fair value

measurements for each class of assets and liabilities reporting entity needs to use judgment in determining the

appropriate classes of assets and liabilities and reporting entity should provide disclosures about the

valuation techniques and inputs used to measure fair value for both recurring and nonrecurring fair value

measurements ASU 20 10-06 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15

2009 except for the disclosures about purchases sales issuances and settlements in the roll forward of activity

in Level fair value measurements Those disclosures are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15

2010 and for interim periods within those fiscal years Early application is permitted Since the provisions in

ASU No 2010 06 require only additional disclosures concerning fair value measurements the Companys

adoption of the provisions that were effective for interim periods beginning after December 15 2009 during the

first quarter of 2010 did not affect the Companys financial position results of operations or cash flows The

Company has included the required disclosures in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Derivatiie and Hedging Scope Exception Related to Credit Derivatives

In March 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 2010 11 Derivatives and Hedging Topic 815 Scope Exception

Related to Credit Derivatives ASU 2010 11 ASU 2010-Il clarifies the type of credit derivative that is

exempt from embedded derivative bifurcation requirements According to this guidance the only form of

embedded credit derivative that qualifies for the exemption is one that is related to the subordination of one

financial instrument to another Entities that have contracts containing an embedded credit derivative feature in

form other than such subordination may need to separately account for the embedded credit derivative feature

ASU 2010 Il is effective for fiscal quarters beginning after June 15 2010 with early adoption permitted The

Companys adoption of the new accounting guidance on July 2010 did not have any impact on the Companys
financial position results of operations or cash flows

Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for its investment securities at fair value under various accounting literature

including FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC 320 Investments Debt and Equity Securities

FASB ASC 320 pertaining to investments in debt and equity securities and the fair value option of financial

instruments in FASB ASC 825 Financial Instruments FASB ASC 825 The Company also accounts for

cci tam assets at fair value under the applicabip industry guidance namely FASB ASC 946 Financial Services-

Investment Companie.s FASB ASC 946

The Company adopted the faii value measurement provisions included in FASB ASC 820 Fair Value

Measurements and Disclosures FASB ASC 820 applicable to financial as .sets and financial liabilities except
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for certain provisions reated to nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities for which the Company adopted

effective January 2009 effective January 2008 FASB ASC 820 establishes single authoritative definition

of fair value sets out framework for measuring fair value establishes fair value hierarchy based on the

quality of inputs used to measure fair value and requires additional disclosures about fair value measurements

The definition of fair value focuses on the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the

liability between market participants at the measurement date an exit price An exit price valuation will include

margins for risk even if they are not observable FASB ASC 820 establishes fair value hierarchy that prioritizes

the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels Level and The

Company applied the provisions of FASB ASC 820 prospectively to financial assets and financial liabilities that

are required to be measured at fair value under existing U.S GAAP Upon adoption of the fair value

measurement provisions of FASB ASC 820 on January 2008 the Company did not record cumulative effect

adjustment of applying FASB ASC 820 to the Companys opening members capital as the Company already

had previously recorded its assets and its liabilities at fair value See note 10 for additional information regarding

FASBASC 820

In conjunction with the adoption of the provisions included in FASB ASC 820 the Company also adopted

on January 2008 the fair value option provisions included in FASB ASC 825 This standard provides

companies the option of reporting certain instruments at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the

statement of operations which were previously either carried at cost not recognized on the financial statements

or can-ied at fair value with changes in fair value recognized as component of equity rather than in the

statement of operations The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis and is irrevocable The

provisions included in FASB ASC 825 provided entities with one-time opportunity upon initial adoption of

these provisions to elect the fair value option for existing eligible items Upon such election any differences

between the beginning carrying amount of the selected item and its fair value as of the effective date would be

included in the cumulative effect adjustment to beginning members equity and all subsequent changes in fair

value for the instrument would be reported in earnings The Company elected to apply the fair value option to the

following financial assets existing at the time of the adoption

All of the Companys available for sale securities reported as other investments at fair value on the

consolidated balance sheets and

The Companys investments in the equity method investees of Brigadier and Muni Funding Company

of America LLC MFCA

See note 10 for the information regarding the effects of applying the fair value option to the Companys
financial instruments on the Companys consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 2010

The changes in fair value realized and unrealized gains and losses of these instruments are recorded in

principal transactions and other income in the consolidated statements of operations See notes and 10 for

further information

FASB ASC 320 requires that the Company classify its investments as either held to maturity

ii available for sale or iii trading This determination is made at the time security is purchased FASB ASC
320 requires that both trading and available for sale securities are to be carried at fair value However in the case

of trading assets both unrealized and realized gains and losses are recorded in the statement of opeiations For

available for sale securities only realized gains and losses are recognized in the statement of operations while

unrealized gains and losses are recognized as component of other comprehensive income

In all the periods presented all securities were either classified as trading or avajlable for sale No securities

svere classified as held to maturity Furthermore the Company elected the fair value option in accordance with

FASB ASC 825 for all securities that were classified as available for sale Therefore for all periods presented

all securities owncd by the Company were accounted for at fair value with unrealized and realized gains and

losses recorded iii the statement of operations
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All securities that are classified as trading are included in investments trading However when the

Company acquires an investment that is classified as available for sale but for which the Company elected the

fair value option under FASB ASC 825 distinction is made that impacts the Companys accounting treatment

If the investment is expected to be managed by employees of the Companys Capital Markets segment the

investment is also classified as investments trading Otherwise the investment is classified as other investments

at fair value In general investments-trading represent securities acquired in the secondary market while other

investments at fair value represent investments obtained in primary issuances or investments in Investment

Vehicles managed by the Company

The determination of fair value is based on quoted market prices of an active exchange independent broker

market quotations valuations provided by pricing services or when independent broker quotations or pricing

service valuations are unavailable valuation models prepared by the Companys management These models

include estimates and the valuations derived from theni could differ materially from amounts realizable in an

open market exchange

Also from time to time the Company may be deemed to be the primary beneficiary of variable interest

entity and may be required to consolidate it and its investments under the provisions included in FASB ASC 810

Consolidation FASB ASC 810 See notes 3-K and 26 In those eases the Companys classification of the

assets as trading other investments at fair value available for sale or held to maturity will depend on the

investments intended use by the variable interest entity

Investments trading

Unrealized and realized gains and losses on securities classified as investments-trading are recorded in net

trading in the consolidated statements of operations

Other Investments at fair value

All gains and losses unrealized and realized from securities classified as other investments at fair value in

the consolidated balance sheets are recorded as component of principal transactions and other income in the

consolidated statements of operations

Trading Securities Sold Not Yet Purchased

Trading securities sold not yet purchased represent obligations of the Company to deliver the specified

security at the contracted price thereby creating liability to purchase the security in the market at prevailing

prices The Company is obligated to acquire the securities sold short at prevailing market prices which may

exceed the amount reflected on the consolidated balance sheets Unrealized and realized gains and losses on

trading securities sold not yet purchased are recorded in net trading in the consolidated statement of operations

See notes and 10

Investment Vehicles

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company had investments in several Investment Vehicles When

making an investment in an Investment Vehicle the Company must determine the appropriate method of

accounting for the investment In most cases the Company will either consolidate the Investment Vehicle

ii account for its investment under the equity method of accounting or iii account for its investment as

marketable equity security under the provisions of FASB ASC 320 In the ease of ii and iii the Company may

account for its investment at fair value under the fair value option election included in FASB ASC 825

The Company may treat an investment in equity of an entity under the equity method of accounting when it

has significant influence as described in the FASB Codification in the investee Significant influence is
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commonly interpreted as owning between 20% and 50% of an investee However these percentages are only

guideline and the Company considers the unique facts and circumstances of each investment In addition the

Company may elect to account for its investment at fair value under the fair value option included in FASB ASC

825

The Company consolidates an investment when it has control of the investee In general control is

interpreted as owning in excess of 50% of the voting interest of an investee However this percentage is only

guideline and the Company considers the unique facts and circumstances of each investment In addition if the

Company determines the investee is variable interest entity and the Company is the primary beneficiary the

Company will consolidate the investee under the requirements for the consolidation of variable interest entities

included in FASB ASC 810

If the Company determines that it is not required to consolidate an investee and does not have significant

influence over the investee it will account for the investment as marketable equity security under the

provisions included in FASB ASC 320

The following discussion describes the Companys accounting policy as it pertains to certain of the

Companys Investment Vehicles the associated management contracts and other related transactions All of the

Investment Vehicles described below are considered related parties of the Company See note 30

Alesca Financial Inc AFN
Prior to the Merger the Company had an investment in and served as external manager of AFN See note

AFN was publicly traded REIT prior to the consummation of the Merger AFN historically invested in

subordinated debt financings originated by the Company or third parties primarily in the form of TruPS

issued by banks or bank holding companies and insurance companies and surplus notes issued by insurance

companies ii leveraged loans made to small and mid sized companies in variety of industries including the

consumer products and manufacturing industries and iii mortgage loans and other real estate related senior and

subordinated debt securities RMBS and CMBS

Prior to the consummation of the Merger the Company treated its investment in AFN as marketable

equity security Effective January 2008 the Company elected to carry its investment at fair value with changes

in fair value recorded in earnings under the fair value option provisions included in FASB ASC 825 See notes

3-E and for further information Upon the consummation of the Merger the Company reclassified its

investment to treasury stack on the Companys consolidated balance sheets in December 2009

The Company served as external manager of AFN prior to the consummation of the Merger The

management contract for AFN included base fee an incentive fee and an asset management fee credit which

was included as component of asset management revenue in the consolidated statement of operations

See note for further discussion on the Merger

Brigadier

The Company had an investment in and served as external manager of series of investment funds and

related entities collectively Brigadier until the liquidation of Brigadier in the fourth quarter of 2010

Biigadier formed by the Company in May 2006 was series of investment funds that primarily earned

investment returns by investing in various fixed indome and credit market related inyestments and securities

through its mastet fund described below Brigadier had single master fund and two feeder funds One feeder

fund was referred to as the onshore feedei fund and was designed for investors that were non tax exempt U.S

taxpayers Foreign and U.S tax exempt investors invested through second feeder fund referred to as the

otfshore feeder fund
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The Company accounted for its investment in Brigadier as an equity method investment Effectve

January 2008 the Company elected to carry its investment at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in

earnings under the fair value option provisions included in FASB ASC 825

As of December 31 2009 the Company owned 85% of the onshore fund through its general and limited

partnership interests

In the first half of 2010 Br gadier fund determined it would liquidate Effective beginning in the second

quarter of 2010 the Brigadier fund had ceased permitting redemptions until final liquidation The Brigadier fund

completed its liquidation during the fourth quarter of 2010 The fund distributed 90% of its NAy to unit holders

during the second quarter of 2010 with the remaining 10% distributed in the fourth quarter of 2010 upon the

completion of final audits and settlement of expenses of the fund The Company continued to treat the onshore

feeder fund as an equity method investment even though it owned majority of the interests as the fund

completed its liquidation during 2010

The Company also served as external manager of Brigadier The management contract for these entities

included base fee an incentive fee and an asset management fee credit which is included as component of

asset management revenue in the consolidated statement of operations Effective April 30 2010 and in

conjunction with the liquidation of Brigadier the Company stopped charging management fees

Star Asia Management LTD StarAsia Manager and Star Asia Finance Limited StarAsia

The Company has an investment in Star Asia Manager and an investment in Star Asia Star Asia Manager

serves as external manager to Star Asia

Star Asia invests primarily in Asian commercial real estate structured finance products including CMBS
corporate debt of REITs and real estate operating companies notes mezzanine loans and other commercial

real estate fixed income investments

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company directly owned approximately 27% and 11%

respectively of Star Asias outstanding shares In March 2010 the Company participated in rights offering of

Star Asia and made an additional investment in Star Asia and increased its ownership percentage Prior to this

increase Star Asia had been treated as an available for sale security for which the fair value option had been

elected effective January 2008 See notes and 10 for further information Effective with this ownership

increase Star Asia is considered an equity method affiliate However the Company continued its fair value

election regarding Star Asia See note 10 Changes in fair value are recorded in earnings under the fair value

option provisions included in FASB ASC 825

In January 2007 the Company made an initial investment in Star Asia Manager Star Asia Mercury LLC

formerly Mercury Partners LLC Mercury made an equal investment in Star Asia Manager The Company

and Mercury each own 50% of Star Asia Manager The Company treats its investment in Star Asia Manager

under the equity method The Company did not elect to carry its investment at fair value under the fair value

option election included in FASB ASC 825

Star Asia Manager also serves as external manager of Star Asia The management contract includes base

fee an incentive fee and an asset management fee credit Star Asia Manager recognizes the management fee

income from its management contract with Star Asia The Company recognizes its share of Star Asia Manager

under the equity method of accounting
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EuroDekania Limited EuroDekania

The Company has an investment in and serves as external manager of EuroDekania

EuroDekania invests primarily in hybrid capital securities of European bank and insurance companies

CMBS RMBS and widely syndicated leverage loans EuroDekanias investments are denominated in Euros or

U.K Pounds Sterling

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company directly owned approximately 5% and 2% respectively

of EuroDekanias outstanding shares The Company accounts for its investment in EuroDekania as marketable

equity security classified as available for sale for which the fair value option was elected effective January

2008 Changes in fair value are recorded in earnings under the fair value option provisions included in FASB

ASC 825 See notes 3-E and 10 for furthei information

The Company also serves as external manager of EuroDekania The management contract includes base

fee an incentive fee and an asset management fee credit which is included as component of asset management

revenue in the consolidated statement of operations

Muni Funding Company of America LLC MFcA
The Company has an investment in MFCA The Company served as external manager of MFCA from

MFCAs inception until March 18 2009 See note MFCA primarily invests in securities that are exempt from

U.S federal income taxes MFCA is limited liability company

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company owned approximately 3% of MFCAs outstanding shares

The Company accounted for its investment in MFCA under the equity method of accounting prior to 2008

Effective January 2008 the Company elected to carry its investment at fair value with changes in fair value

recorded in earnings under the fair value option provisions included in FASB ASC 825 See notes and 10

for further information

During the period that the Company served as external manager of MFCA the management contract

included base fee an incentive fee and an asset management fee credit The Company included the revenue

earned as component of asset management revenue in the consolidated statement of operations

S/rate gos Deep Value Mortgage Funds Deep Value

The Company has an investment in and serves as external manager of Strategos Deep Value Mortgage Fund

and other related entities series of closed end distressed debt funds collectively Deep Value Deep Value

raises capital from investors and earns investment returns by investing in diversified portfolio of asset backed

securities consisting primarily of residential mortgage backed securities and other real estate related securities as

well as other U.S real estate related assets and related securities

The Company formed the initial fund in October 2007 which consummated its first closing in April 2008

From the inception of the first fund through December 31 2010 the Company had launched three master funds

The first master fund had two feeder funds One feeder fund was referred to as the onshore fund and was

designed for investors that are non tax exempt U.S taxpayers Foreign and U.S tax exempt investors invested

through second feeder fund referred to as the offshore fund The second master fund does not have feeders The

third master fund has an offshore feeder fund only Investors hold limited partner interests in the feeder funds in

the ease of the first and third master fund or in the master fund itself in the ease of the second master fund The

Deep Value Credit OP LLC the Deep Value OP serves as the general partner fot the feeder funds in the ease

of the first master fund and as the general partner of the master fund itself in the easp of the second master

fund The Deep Value Credit II GP LLC the Deep Value OP TI serve as the general partner for the offshore

feeder fund in the ease of the third master fund Deep Value OP and Deep Value OP 11 are collectively refelTed

to as the Deep Value OPs
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The Company serves as the external manager of Deep Value The Company owns 50% of Deep Value GP

and 40% of Deep Value GP II In addition the Company has made limited partnership investments in certain of

the feeder funds

The Companys Limited Partnership Investment in the Deep Value feeder funds

FASB ASC 810 generally requires that an investee should be consolidated if the Company owns majority

interest unless such control is deemed to be temporary

As of December 31 2008 and through the first quarter of 2009 the Company directly owned 55% in the

onshore fund through its limited partnership interests At that point in time the Company expected its majority

stake to remain in place for the life of the fund Accordingly the Company concluded that it should consolidate

the onshore feeder fund However during the second quarter of 2009 the Companys ownership percentage in

the onshore feeder fund declined to 30% Accordingly in the second quarter of 2009 the Company

deconsolidated the onshore feeder fund No gain or loss was recognized related to the deconsolidation From that

point forward the Company accounted for its investment in the funds under the equity method of accounting

However the Company elected the fair value option provisions included in FASB ASC 825 See notes 3-E and

10 for further information

As of December 31 2010 the first Deep Value fund liquidated substantially all of its investments and

expects to distribute any remaining investments during the first quarter of 2011 As of December 31 2010 the

Company owned approximately 33% first of the Deep Value onshore feeder fund and 9% of the first Deep Value

offshore feeder fund

The Companys ownership interest in Deep Value GPs

The Company owns 50% of the Deep Value GP and 40% of the Deep Value GP II The remaining

percentages of the Deep Value UPs are owned by certain employees of the Company The Company accounted

for its investment in the two general partners under the equity method of accounting The Company did not elect

to carry its investments at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in earnings under the fair value option

provisions included in FASB ASC 825 In all of the feeder funds the unaffiliated limited partners can replace the

Deep Value GPs as general partner through the vote of simple majority of the voting interests without taking

into account the Companys limited partnership investment or the Deep Value UPs general partnership interests

The Companys Management Contract with Deep Value

The Company also serves as external manager of Deep Value The management contracts include base

management fee In addition the limited partnership agreements include incentive fees payable to the Deep

Value UPs The base fee is included as component of asset management revenue in the consolidated statement

of operations The incentive fee if any is recognized by the Deep Value UP and the Company recognizes its

share of the Deep Value UP earnings as equity method income The base fee is calculated as percentage of

either the capital drawn in the fund or the net asset value of the fund The incentive fee is based on cash available

for distribution after the investors have received their return of capital and an agreed upon minimum annual

cumulative investment return

Dekania Corp DEKU
Dekania Corp DEKU was business combination company which the Company sponsored its cieation

in 2007 for the purpose of acquiring one or more unidentified businesses DEKU completed its public offering in

February 2007 and was listed on the NYSE Amex under the symbol DEK
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From DEKUs inception the Company owned 14% of DEKUs outstanding shares and beneficially owned

22% of DEKUs outstanding shares when the shares owned by the Companys chairman and chief executive

officer as well as certain of the Companys employees were considered The Company treated its initial

investment as an equity method investment which was recorded in investment in equity method affiliates in the

consolidated balance sheets and recognized its share 14% of DEKUs earnings or losses over time as income

or loss from equity method affiliates in the consolidated statements of operations The Company did not elect to

carry its investment at fair value under the fair value option provisions included in FASB ASC 825

In February 2009 DEKU liquidated and its securities ceased trading on the NYSE Amex on February 18

2009 It was removed from listing and registration on the NYSE Amex on March 2009 DEKU distributed its

funds from the trust account established as part of its initial public offering to the holders of shares of common

stock sold in the initial public offering The Company paid $2599 to the Dekania Trust in conjunction with its

liquidation Additionally the Company wrote off its equity method investment in DEKU for total charge of

$4482 reported in loss from equity method affiliates in the consolidated statement of operations In August

2009 DEKU received an income tax refund of $1152 which it paid to the Company to reimburse it for monies

previously spent on behalf of DEKU The Company had related party receivable of $962 which was

extinguished upon the receipt of the refund The remaining balance of the refund net of expenses of $47 was

offset against the loss from equity method affiliates The total loss from equity method affiliates related to DEKU

was $4339 for the twelve months ended December 31 2009

The Company did not serve as external manager of DEKU The Company had facilities sharing agreement

with DEKU See note 30

StarAsia SPy

Star Asia SPV is newly organized Delaware limited liability company formed in 2010 It was formed to

create pool of assets that would provide collateral to investors who participated in Star Asias 2010 rights

offering The investors in Star Asias rights offering also received equity interests in the Star Asia SPy Star Asia

SPV purchased certain assets from Star Asia and the equity interest holders of Star Asia SPV receive investment

returns on the assets held in the SPV up to an agreed upon maximum Returns above that agreed upon maximum

are remitted back to Star Asia The Company directly owned approximately 30% of Star Asia SPVs outstanding

shares as of December 31 2010 Star Asia SPV is an equity method investee of the Company The Company did

not elect the fair value option

Duart Capital Management LLC Duart Capital and Duart Global Deep Value Securities Fund LP

Duart Fund

Duart Capital is Delaware limited liability company formed in 2010 The Company directly owned 20% of

Duart Capitals outstanding equity interests as of December 31 2010 Duart Capital is an equity method investee

of the Company Duart Capital also serves as the investment manager of the Duart Fund The Company did not

elect the fair value option for its investment in Duart Capital

The Duart Fund is specialized deep value and special situations opportunity fund formed in September

2010 The Duart Funds investment objective is to provide superior absolute returns by investing primarily in

portfolio of long and short positions in public and private real estate equity securities equity linked securities

and debt securities including but not limited to convertible debt debt with warrants warrants and credit

dcfault swaps iclatcd tu ical cstatc sceui itics and pai ifici ship ui fund interests iii the ieal cstatc inaikets Capital

raising activities are ongoing and the Companys ownership interest percentage is expected to decline The Duart

Fund is an equity method investee of the Companyfor which the Company elected ty carry its investment at fair

value with changes in fair value recorded in earnings under the fair value option provisions included in FASB

ASC 825 Effective December 31 2010 the Company submitted redemption notice to the Duart Fund to

redeem 100% of its capital The Company expects to receive its redemption by March 31 2011 Upon

redemption the Company will own 0% of the fund See notes and 10
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Derivative Financial Instruments

FASB ASC 815 Derivatives and Hedging FASB ASC 815 provides for optional hedge accounting

When derivative is deemed to be hedge and certain documentation and effectiveness testing requirements are

met reporting entities are allowed to record all or portion of the change in the fair value of designated hedge

as an adjustment to other comprehensive income OCr rather than as gain or loss in the statements of

operations To date the Company has not designated any derivatives as hedges under the provisions included in

FASB ASC 815

Derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value in the consolidated statements of operations and

are included within investments-trading other investments at fair value and trading securities sold not yet

purchased

The Company may from time to lime enter into derivatives to manage its risk exposures arising from

fluctuations in foreign currency rates with respect to the Companys investments in foreign currency

denominated investments iii arising from the Companys investments in floating rate investments iii arising

from the uncertainty associated with financial obligors ability to make timely principal and/or interest

payments and iv arising from the Companys facilitation of mortgage backed trading Derivatives entered into

by the Company from time to time may include foreign currency forward contracts EuroDollar futures

Hi credit default swaps and iv purchase and sale agreements of to-be announced securities TBAs
TBAs are forward mortgage backed securities whose collateral remain to be announced until just prior to the

trade settlement TBAs are accounted for as derivatives under FASB ASC 815 when either of the following

conditions exist when settlement of the TBA trade is not expected to occur at the next regular settlement date

which is typically the next month or mechanism exists to settle the contract on net basis Otherwise

TEAs are recnrded as standard security trade The settlement nf these transactinns is nnt expected tn have

material effect on the Companys consolidated financial statements

Derivatives involve varying degrees of off-balance sheet risk whereby changes in the level or volatility of

interest rates or market values of the underlying financial instruments may result in changes in the value of

particular financial instrument in excess of its carrying amount Depending on the Companys investment

strategy realised and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in principal transactions and other income or in

nct trading in the Companys consolidated statements of operations on trade date basis See note II

Furniture Equipment and Leasehold Improvements Net

Furniture equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

amortization and are included as component of other assets in the consolidated balance sheets Furniture and

equipment are depreciated on straight line basis over their estimated useful life of to years Leasehold

improvemcnts are amortized over the lesser of their useful life or lease term which generally raages from to 10

years

Goodwill and Intangible Assets with Indefinite Lives

Goodwill represents the amount of the purchase price in excess of the fair value assigned to the individual

asscts acquired and liabilitics assumed in the July 2007 acquisition of the 10% of Strategos that the Company did

not pieviously own in the amount of $3121 and $8728 as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively See

note 13 Goodwill also includcs $110 rclated to the amount of the purchase price in cxcess of the fair value

assigned to the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Merger See note In accordance with

FASB ASC 350 In/angibles Goodwill and Other FASB ASC 350 goodwill and intangible assets deemed to

have indefinite lives are not amortized to expense but rather are analyzed for inipairment

The Company measures its goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or when events indicate that

goodwill may be impaired The goodwill impairment test is two-step process which requires management to
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make judgments in determining what assumptions to use in the calculation The first step in the process is to

identify potential goodwill impairment by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value If

the carrying value is less than fair value the Company would complete step two in the impairment review process

which measures the amount of goodwill impairment

The goodwill related to the Merger was allocated to the asset management segment and the capital markets

segment Therefore the impairment analysis is done at the segment level and fair value of each segment is

determined In the case of the goodwill related to Strategos the analysis is done at the Strategos reporting unit

level The Company estimates the fair value of Strategos using discounted cash flow model Management

develops and tests the reasonableness of the inputs and outcome of the discounted cash flow model against other

available comparable market data

The Company includes intangible assets for two broker dealer licenses in other assets on its consolidated

balance sheets that it considers to have indefinite useful lives The Company determined that the broker-dealer

licenses were not impaired as of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 related to CCS and as of December 31

2010 related to CCCM

Intangible Assets with Finite Lives

Intangible assets which are included in other assets on the Companys consolidated balance sheets primarily

consisted of the 10% of Strategos management contracts that the Company acquired in July 2007 See note 14

The Company amortizes intangible assets with finite lives using the straight-line method over the estimated

economic lives of the assets In accordance with FASB ASC 350 the Company will review intangible assets with

finite lives for impairment whenever an impairment indicator exists under FASB ASC 360 The Company

continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate canying amounts of the intangible

assets may not be recoverable Any impairment charge is included in the consolidated statements of operations as

impairment of intangible assets

Variable Interest Entities

FASB ASC 810 Consolidation FASB ASC 810 contains the guidance sunDunding the definition of

variable interest entities VIEs the definition of variable interests and the consolidation rules surrounding

VIEs In genei al VIEs are entities in which equity investors lack the characteristics of controlling financial

interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional

subordinated financial support The Company has variable interests in VIEs through its management contracts

and investments in various sccuritization entities including collateralized loan obligations and collateralized debt

obligations

Once it is determined that the Company holds variable interest in VIE FASB ASC 810 requires that the

Company perform qualitative analysis to determine which entity has the power to direct the matters that

most significantly impact the VIEs financial performance and ii if the Company has the obligation to absorb

the losses of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive the benefits of the VIE

that could potentially be significant to the VIE The entity that has both of these chat acteristics is deemed to be

the primary beneficiary and required to consolidate the VIE This assessment must be done on an ongoing basis

The Company has included the required disclosures for variable interest entities in its consolidated financial

statements fot the ycat ended Deceniber 31 2010 See notes 3-D and 26 for further details

The Merger As result of the Merger the Conpany acquired interests in various VIEs held by AFN In

most cases these were the most junior interests in the VIEs AFN had previously beeq consolidating these VIEs

as it had determined it was the primary beneficiary when it initially acquired its interests Between the date of

AFNs initial determination it was primary beneficiary and the Merger these VIEs had suffered severe levels of

defaults and losses Thc losses were so severe that they resulted in substantial impairment in the value and cash

21



flows earned by the junior interests AFN held In many cases the interests held by AFN were generating no cash

flows and the securities held by AFN were deemed to be severely impaired AFN continued to consolidate these

VIEs because the provisions of FASB ASC 810 do not allow primary beneficiary to reconsidcr its primary

beneficiary status solely based on deterioration of the value or operations of the VIE However the Company

concluded that the Merger was reconsideration event Therefore upon the Merger the Company performed the

required expected loss calculations and determined it was not the primary beneficiary of these ViEs Therefore

these VIEs were not consolidated Effective January 2010 the Company adopted the revised guidance

surrounding the accounting for VIEs as discussed above and in note 3-D and determined that the Company

continued not be the primary beneficiary of these VIEs

Collateralized Securities Transactions

The Company may enter into transactions involving purchases of securities under agreements to resell

reverse repurchase agreements or receivables under resale agreements or sales of securities under

agreements to repurchase repurchase agreements which are treated as collateralized financing transactions

and are recorded at their contracted resale or repurchase amounts plus accrued interest Resulting interest income

and expense are generally included in net trading in the consolidated statements of operations

In the case of reverse repurchase agreements the Company generally takes possession of securities as

collateral Likewise in the case of repurchase agreements the Company is required to provide the counterparty

with securities

In certain cases repurchase agreement and reverse repurchase agreement may be entered into with the

same counterparty If certain requirements are met the offsetting provisions included in FASB ASC 210

Balance Sheet FASB ASC 210 allows but does not require the reporting entity to net the asset and liability

on the balance sheet It is the Companys policy to present the assets and liabilities on gross basis even if the

conditions described in offsetting provisions included in FASB ASC 210 are met The Company classifies

reverse repurchase agreements as separate line item within the assets section of the Companys consolidated

balance sheets The Company classifies repurchase agreements as separate line item within the liabilities

section of the Companys consolidated balance sheets

In the case of reverse repurchase agreements if the counterparty does not meet its contractual obligation to

return securities used as collateral or does not deposit additional securities or cash for margin when required the

Company may be exposed to the risk of reacquiring the securities or selling the securities at unfavorable market

prices in order to satisfy its obligations to its customers or counterparties The Companys policy to control this

risk is moniloring the market value of securities pledged or used as collateral on daily hasis and requiring

adjustments in the event of excess market exposure

In the case of repurchase agreements if the counterparty makes margin call and the Company is unable or

unwilling to meet the margin call the counterparty can sell the securities to repay the obligation The Company is

at risk that the counterparty may sell the securities at unfavorable market prices and the Company may sustain

significant loss The Company controls this risk by monitorng its liquidity position to ensure it has sufficient

cash or liquid securities to meet margin calls

In the normal course of doing business the Company enters into reverse repurchase agreements that permit

it tore pledge or resell the securities to others See note 12

Revenue Recognition

Net trading Net trading includes all gains losses and income interest and dividend from securities

classified as investments trading and trading securities sold not yet purchased ii interest income and expense

from collateralized securities transactions and iii commissions and riskless trading profits Riskiess principal

trades are transacted through the Companys proprietary account with customer order in hand resulting in little

F-22



or no market risk to the Company Transactions are recognized on trade date basis The investments classified

as trading arc carried at fair value The determinatinn nf fair value is hased nn qunted market prices nf an active

exchange independent broker market quotations or when such quotations are unavailable valuation models

prepared by the Companys management The models include estimates and the valuations derived from them

could differ materially from amounts realizable in an open market exchange Net trading is reduced by interest

expense which is directly incurred to purchase income generating assets related to trading activities Such interest

expense is recorded on an accrual basis

Asset management Asset management revenue consists of collateralized debt obligation asset management

fees fees earned for management of the Companys permanent capital vehicles and investment funds fees

earned under service arrangement with another collateralized debt obligation asset manager and other asset

management fees collateralized debt obligation asset management fees are earned for providing ongoing asset

management services to the trust In general the Company earns senior asset management fee subordinated

asset management fee and an incentive asset management fee

The senior asset management fee is generally senior to all the securities in the collateralized debt obligation

capital structure and is recognized on monthly basis as services are performed The senior asset management

fee is generally paid on quarterly basis

The subordinated asset management fee is an additional payment for the same services but has lower

priority in the collateralized debt obligation cash flows If the trust experiences certain level of asset defaults

these fees may not be paid There is no recovery by the trust of previously paid subordinated asset management

fees It is the Companys policy to recognize these fees on monthly basis as services are performed The

subordinated asset management fee is generally paid on quarterly basis However if the Company determines

that the subordinated asset management fee will not be paid which generally occurs on the quarterly payment

date the Company will stop recognizing additional subordinated asset management fees on that particular trust

and will reverse any subordinated asset management fees that are accrued and unpaid The Company will begin

accruing the subordinated asset management fee again if payment resumes and in managements estimate

continued payment is reasonably assured If payment were to resume but the Company was unsure of continued

payment it would recognize the subordinated asset management fee as payments were received and would not

accrue on monthly basis

The incentive management fee is an additional payment made typically after five to seven years of the life

of collateralized debt obligation which is based on the clearance of an accumulated cash return on investment

Hurdle Return received by the most junior collateralized debt obligation Securities holders It is an incentive

for the Company to perform in its role as asset manager by minimizing defaults and maximizing recoveries The

incentive management fee is not ultimately determined or payable until the achievement of the Hurdle Return by

the most junior collateralized debt obligation securities holders The Company does not recognize incentive fee

revenue until the Hurdle Return is achieved and the amount of the incentive management fee is determinable and

payment is reasonably assured

Other asset management fees represents fees earned for the base and incentive management of various other

Investment Vehicles that the Company manages See note

New issue and advisory New issue and advisory revenue includes revenues earned for arranging the

issuance of newly created debt equity and hybrid financial instruments ii fees charged foi advisory services

and ni ongination fees for corporate debt issues originated by the Company

New issue and advisory revenue is recognized when all services have been provjded and payment is earned

In some eases the Company will utilize third party professionals to assist in the provision of some of these

functions primarily origination In such eases the Company records the cost of the third party services as

component of professional seivices subscriptions and other operating expenses and the revenue in new issue and

advisory revenue
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Principal transactions and other income loss Principal transactions include all gains losses and income

interest and dividend from securities or loans classified as other investments at fair value in the consolidated

balance sheets

The investments classified as other investments at fair value are carried at fair value The determination of

fair value is based on quoted market prices of an active exchange independent broker market quotations or

when such quotations are unavailable valuation models prepared by the Companys management These models

include estimates and the valuations derived from them could differ materially from amounts realizable in an

open
market exchange Dividend income is recognized on the ex dividend date

Other income loss includes foreign currency gains and losses interest earned on cash and cash

equivalents and other miscellaneous income

Interest Expense

Interest expense incurred on general and corporate indebtedness is recorded on an accrual basis and

presented in the consolidated statements of operations as separate non-operating expense See note 18

Leases

The Company is tenant in several commercial office leases All of the Companys leases are currently

treated as operating leases The Company records rent expense on straight-line basis taking into account

minimum rent escalations included in each lease Any rent expense recorded in excess of amounts currently paid

is recorded as deferred rent and included as component of accounts payable and other liabilities in the

consolidated balance sheets

Noncontrolling Interest

As of December 31 2008 and through the first quarter of 2009 the Company directly owned 55% in the

Deep Value onshore feeder fund through its limited partnership interests See note 3-F The remaining 45%

noncontrolling interest was included in the consolidated statements of operations for the first quarter of 2009 In

the second quarter of 2009 the Company deconsolidated the onshore feeder fund as the Companys ownership

fell below 50%

Subsequent to the consummation of the Merger on December 16 2009 member interests in the Operating

LLC other than the interests held by the Company are treated as noncontrolling interest As of December 31

2010 and 2009 the Company directly owned approximately 66.2% of the Operating LLC See notes and The

remaining 33.8% noncontrolling interest was included in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2010

and 2009 and the consolidated statement of operations for the period from December 17 2009 through

December 31 2009 and the year ended December 31 2010

Equity-Based Goinpensation

The Company accounts for equity-based compensation issued to its employees using the fair valuc based

methodology prescribed by the provisions related to share based payments included in FASB ASC 71

Compensation Stock Compensation FASB ASC 718

Through the periods presented herein the Company has issued the following types of instruments

Restricted Units which include actual membership interests of the Operating LLC which may be subject to

certain restrictions as well as certain long term incentive profit LTIP units ii Options which are the

option to purchase Restricted Unit and iii Restricted Shares which are common shares of IFML
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When issuing equity compensation the Company first determines the fair value of the Restricted Units

Options or Restricted Shares granted

Prior to the consummation of the Merger the Company would use internal valuation models developed with

the assistance of an independent third party appraiser In the case of Restricted Units the Company would use the

most recent valuation to ascertain the value of the units granted or vested as the application of FASB ASC 718

requires depending on the facçs or circumstances In the case of the Options the Company would set the strike

price at the per unit value implied by the valuation used The Options would be valued based on that strike price

and other assumptions using the Black Scholes valuation method See note 20 Subsequent to the consummation

of the Merger any future equity based awards are measured at their estimated fair value based on the Companys
stock price on the date of grant or valued based on the stock price and other assumptions using the Black-Scholes

valuation method

Once the fair value of the equity-based awards is determined the Company determines whether the grants

qualify for liability or equity treatment The individual rights of the equity grants are the determining factors of the

appropriate treatment liability or equity In general terms if the equity-based awards granted have certain features

like put or cash settlement options that give employees the right to redeem the grants for cash instead of equity of

the Company the grants will require liability treatment Otherwise equity treatment is generally appropriate

If the grants qualify for equity treatment the value of the grant is recorded as an expense as part of

compensation and benefits in the consolidated statements of operations The expense is recorded ratably over the

service period as defined in FASB ASC 718 which is generally the vesting period The offsetting entry is to

members/stockholders equity In the case of grants that qualify for equity treatment compensation expense is

fixed on the date of grant The only subsequent adjustments made would be to account for differences between

actual forfeitures of grants when an employee leaves the Company and initial estimate of forfeitures

If the grants were to qualify for liability treatment the treatment is the same as above except that the

offsetting entry is to liability for equity compensation In addition in the case of grants that qualify for liability

treatment the Company would adjust the total compensation and the liability for equity compensation to account

for subsequent changes in fair value as well as forfeitures as described in the preceding paragraph

Accounting for Income Taxes

Prior to the Merger the Company and subsequent to the Merger its majority owned subsidiary the

Operating LLC is treated as pass-through entity for U.S federal income tax purposes and in most of the states

in which it does business It is however subject to entity level income taxes in the United Kingdom France

New York City Pennsylvania Philadelphia and the State of Illinois Beginning on April 2006 the Company

qualified for Keystone Opportunity Improvement Zone KOZ benefits which exempts the Operating LLC and

its members from Philadelphia and Pennsylvania state income and capital stock franchise tax liabilities The

Companys current lease in Philadelphia will expire on April 30 2016 However presuming the Company

extends its lease it will be entitled to KOZ benefits through December 31 2018

For the stub period from the Merger December 17 2009 to December 31 2009 the Company was taxed as

REIT for United States federal income tax purposes and therefore was not subject to U.S federal income tax to

the extent of its distributions to stockholders and as long as certain asset income distribution and share

ownership tests were met Effective as of January 2010 the Company ceased to qualify as REIT and is

instead treated as corporation for United States federal income tax puiposes

The Company deeounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method which requires the

recognition of defened tax assets and liabilities forthe expected future tax consequences of events that have been

included in the financial statements Under this method deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based

on the differences between the financial statements and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates

in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse The effect of change in tax rates on

deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date
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The Company records net deferred tax assets to the extent the Company believes these assets will more

likely than not be realized In making such determination the Company considers all available positive and

negative evidence including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities projected future taxable income tax

planning strategies and recent financial operations In the event the Company were to determine that it would be

able to realize its deferred income tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount the Company

would make an adjustment to the valuation allowance which would reduce the provision for income taxes

The Companys policy is to record penalties and interest as component of provision for income taxes in the

consolidated statements of operations

Other Comprehensive Income Loss

The Company reports all changes in comprehensive income loss in the consolidated statements of changes

in members/stockholders equity Comprehensive income loss includes net income loss and foreign

translation adjustment

Earnings Per Common Share Membership Unit

In accordance with FASB ASC 260 Earnings Per Share FASB ASC 260 the Company presents both

basic and diluted earnings loss per common share/membership unit in its consolidated financial statements and

footnotes Basic earnings loss per common share/membership unit Basic EPS excludes dilution and is

computed by dividing net income or loss allocable to common stockholders or members by the weighted average

number of common shares or membership units and restricted stock entitled to non-forfeitable dividends

outstanding for the period Diluted earnings per common share/membership unit Diluted EPS reflects the

potential dilution of common stock equivalents such as options or restricted stock entitled to forfeitable

dividends if they are not anti-dilutive See note 24 for the computation of earnings loss per common share or

membership unit

Recent Accounting Developments

In December 2010 the FASB issued ASU No 20 10-28 Intangibles Goodwill and Other Topic 350
When to Perform Step of the Goodwill Impairment Test for Reporting Units with Zero or Negative Carrying

Amounts ASU 2010 28 which is intended to address entities with reporting units with zero or negative

carrying amounts The provisions of this ASU amend the criteria for performing Step of the goodwill

impairment test for reporting units with zero or negative calTying amounts and requires performing Step if

qualitative factors indicate that it is more likely than not that goodwill impairment exists ASU 2010 28

requires entities to consider whether there are any adverse qualitative factors indicating that an impairment may

exist ASU 2010 28 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after

December 15 2010 Early adoption is permitted The Company expects the adoption of the new guidance on

performing Step of the goodwill impairment test as of January 2010 will not have an effect on the

Companys consolidated financial statenients

Tn December 2010 the FASB issued ASU 2010-29 Business Combinations Topic 805 Disclosure of

Supplementary Pro Fonno Information for Business Combinations ASU 2010 29 which is intended to

address diversity in practice about the interpretation of the pro forma revenue and earnings disclosure

requirements for business combinations The amendment affects any public entity as defined by FASB ASC 805

Business Combinations FASB ASC 805 that enters into business combinations that are material on an

individual or aggregate basis The comparatiMe financial statements should present and disclose revenue and

earnings of the combined entity as though the business combinations that occuned during the current year had

occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period only The amendments also expand

the supplemental pro forma disclosures to include description of the nature and amount of material

nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro
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forma revenue and earnings ASU 2010 29 is effective prospectively for business combinations for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after December 15 2010

Early adoption is permitted The Company does not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have an impact to

its financial statements as it pertains only to supplemental pro forma disclosures

Business Concentration

substantial portion of the Companys asset management revenues in year may be derived from small

number of transactions Collateralized debt obligation asset management revenue was generated from limited

number of collateralized debt obligations

The following table provides summary for the relevant periods

SUMMARY OF REVENUE CONCENTRATION

Dollars in Thousands

Year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Collateralized debt obligation asset management revenue and related service

agreements 19850 $26319 $47712

Total asset management revenue 25281 $31148 $63844

Total revenues $125552 $84086 $83289

Collateralized debt obligation asset management as compared to total asset

management fees 79% 84% 74%

Collateralized debt obligation asset management as compared to total

revenues 16% 31% 57%

Number of collateralized debt obligations generating management fees 34 40 42

In addition the Company may earn substantial portion of its income in the form of principal transactions This

is comprised of gains and losses on small number of investments Principal transactions and other income

loss represents 20% 8% and 7% of the Companys total revenue for the years ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 respectively

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating the fair value of its

financial instruments. These determinations were based on available market information and appropriate

valuation methodologies Considerable judgment is required to interpret market data to develop the estimates

and therefore these estimates may not necessarily be indicative of the amount the Company could realize in

cuntnt market exchange The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have

material effect on the estimated fair value amounts Refer to note 10 for discussion of the fair value hierarchy

Cash and cash equivalents Both restricted and unrestricted cash are carried at historical cost which is

assumed to approximate fair value

Investments-trading These amounts are carried at fair value The fair value is based on either quoted

market prices of an active exchange independent broker market quotations or valuation models when quotations

are not available

Other investments at fair value These amounts are carried at fair value The fair value is based on qooted

market
pi

ices of an active exchange independent broker market quotations or valuation models when quotations

aie not available In the case of investments in alternative investment funds fair value is generally based on the

reported net asset value of the underlying fund
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Receivables under resale agreements Receivables under resale agreements are carried at their contracted

resale price have short-term maturities one year or less and are repriced frequently or bear market interest

iates and acLurdingly these contracts are at amounts that approximate fair value

Trading securities sold not yet purchased These amounts are carried at fair value The fair value is based

on quoted market prices of an active exchange independent market quotations or valuation models when

quotations are not available

Securities sold under agreement to repurchase The liability for securities sold under agreement to

repurchase are canied at their contracted repurchase price and are very short-term in nature and are re-priced

frequently with amounts normally duc in one month or less accordingly these contracts are at amounts that

approximate fair value

Dcbt These amounts are carried at outstanding principal less unamortized discount However substantial

portion of the debt was assumed in the Merger and recorded at fair value as of that date As of December 31

2010 the fair value of the Companys debt is estimated to be $43.1 million As of December 31 2009 the

carrying value of debt approximated fair value

Derivatives These amounts are carried at fair value The fair value is based on quoted market prices on an

exchange that is deemed to be active

ACQUISITIONS

JVB Financial Holdings L.L.C

On September 14 2010 the Company entered into Purchase and Contribution Agreement the Purchase

Agreement with JVB Financial Holdings L.L.C Florida limited liability company JVB the sellers listed

in the Purchase Agreement the Sellers and certain employees of JVB the Management Employees

pursuant to which the Sellers agreed to sell all of the equity in JVB to Operating LLC and JVB would become

wholly owned subsidiary of the the Operating LLC On January 13 2011 the Company completed its acquisition

of JVB See note 32 Subsequent Events

Fairfax LLC

Effective in September 2010 the Company acquired Fairfax IS. LLC Fairfax Fairfax is FINRA

iegulated U.S biukei-dealei The Cunipany changed its name to Cohen Company Capital Maikets LLC and

continues to operate it as wholly owned broker-dealer subsidiary The purchase price was $297 The Company

allocated the purchase price as follows

Restricted cash $100

Other assets 220

Accounts payable 23

Purchase price $297

Included in other assets the Company assigned $166 to the value of the broker dealer license This was

treated as an indefinitely lived intangible asset and will be reviewed for impairment annually See note 14

Merger wit/i AEN

On December 16 2009 Cohen Brothers completed its Merger with AFN In accordance with U.S GAAP
the transaction was accounted for as reverse acquisition and Cohen Brothers was deemed the accounting

F-28



acquirer Cohen Brothers net assets were carried forward at their existing accounting basis and all of AFNs

assets and liahilities were revalued at fair value as of the acquisition date The consolidated financial statements

of the Company as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31 2010 include the historcal operations of Cohen Brothers from January 2008 through to

December 16 2009 and the combined operations of the combined company from December 17 2009 to

December 31 2010 The merged company operates in three business segments Capital Markets Asset

Management and Principal Investing

AFN contributed an immaterial amount of revenue and earnings to the Company for the period from

December 17 2009 to December 31 2009 The following unaudited pro forma summary presents consolidated

information of the Company as if the Merger had occurred on January 2008

Pro forma Year ended December 31

2009 2008

Revenue 82823 2931

Earnings loss attributable to JFMI $18686 sf49895

In 2009 the Company incurred $1506 of professional fees related to the merger included as component of

professional services and other operating expenses in the Companys consolidated statements of operations

$1233 of stock issuance costs capitalized and reclassified to additional paid in capital in the Companys

consolidated balance sheets upon the successful completion of the Merger and retention bonuses of $12374

which were included as component of compensation and benefits in the Companys consolidated statement of

operations

The following table summarizes the calculation of the fair value of consideration transferred by Cohen

Brothers to acquire AFN

AFN shaies issued and outstanding 6015194

Less Unvested restricted shares 36109

Total shares subject to acquisition 5979085

Multiplied by 6.50a

38864

Represents the closing stock price of AFN on December 16 2009 adjusted for the AFN for 10 reverse

stock split effectuated on Dcccmber 16 2009
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The following table summarizes the amounts of identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the

acquisition date on December 16 2009 During the measurement period which ended on December 31 2010 net

adjustments of $713 were made to the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with

corresponding adjustment to goodwill These adjustments are summarized in the table presented below The

balance sheet at December 31 2009 has been retrospectively adjusted to reflect these adjustments as required by

the accounting guidance for business combinations

Total Estimated

Fair Value as of Total Estimated

Acquisition Date Measurement Period Fair Value as of

provisional Adjustments Acquisition Date final

Assets acquired

Cash and cash equivalents 76938 76938

Receivables 89 89

Investments trading 119280 119280

Other investments at fair value 974 974

Other assets 2826 309 2517

Liabilities assumed

Accounts payable and other liabilities 4488 160 4648
Due to broker 5105 5105
Due to related parties 422 422
Securities sold not yet purchased 98536 98536
Deferred income taxes 10899 1182 9717
Debt 42616 42.616

Net equity 38041 713 38754

Purchase price for net assets acquired 38864
______

38864

Goodwill 823 713 110

As previously reported in the Companys 2009 Annual Report on Form 10

These measurement period adjustments were recorded to reflect changes in the estimated fair value of

certain assets and liabilities These adjustments were made largely to better reflect market participant

assumptions about facts and circumstances existing as of the acquisition date The measurement period

adjustments did not result from intervening events subsequent to the acquisition date

These measurement period adjustments primarily reflect the tax impact on the pre-tax measurement period

adjustments The measurement period adjustments did not result from intervening events subsequent to the

acquisition date

Goodwill recognized as of the acquisition date totaled $55 for the Companys Capital Markets segment and

$55 for the Companys Asset Management segment See notes 13 and 28

The allocation of the purchase price to the consolidated assets and liabilities of AFN resulted in goodwill of

$110 which is the difference between the fair value of AFNs net assets and its market capitalization as of

December 16 2009 The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes The goodwill was allocated 50% to the

Capital Markets operating segment and 50% to the Asset Management operating segment
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Upon the completion of the Merger Cohen Brothers unit holders who elected not to convert their units to

AFN shares directly held and continue to hold approximately 33.8% of the membership units in the Operating

LLC which is the Companys main operating subsidiary This 33.8% ownership interest in the Operating LLC is

accounted for by the Company as noncontrolling interest Below is summary of the amounts allocated to the

noncontrolling interests at the acquisition date

Cohen Brothers historical members equity as of

December 16 2009 $38731

Less Noncontrolling unit holders interests in Cohen

Brothers historical balance sheet pre-combination 54.97%

Allocation of members equity at date of Merger $21291

Post combination net loss 257
Noncontrolling unit holders ownership percentage in

IFMI 33.8%

Allocation of post combination loss to noncontrolling

interests 87
Post combination equity-based compensation 313

Noncontrolling unit holders ownership percentage in

IFMI 33.8%

Allocation of post combination equity based compensation

to noncontrolling interests 106

Noncontrolling interest as of December 31 2009 $21310

SALE OF MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Alesco through XVII Securitizotions

On July 29 2010 Cohen Company Financial Management LLC CCFM subsidiary of IFMI

entered into Master Transaction Agreement whereby it sold to ATP Management LLC ATP the collateral

management rights and responsibilities arising after the sale relating to the Alesco through XVII

securitizations which represented $3.8 billion of assets under management on such date The Company received

$4831 net of expenses and purchase price adjustments at the close of the transaction

In connection with the Master Transaction Agreement CCFM entered into three-year Services Agi cement

under which it will provide certain services to ATP ATP will
pay CCFM up to $13618 under the Services

Agreement ATP agreed to escrow the amounts payable under this arrangement Any amounts earned under this

arrangement are recorded as component of asset management revenue in the consolidated statement of

operations

The $4831 received up front was recorded as deferred revenue in the consolidated balance sheet and is

recognized as component of asset management revenue in the consolidated statement of operations on

straight line basis over the remaining period of the Services Agreement As of December 31 2010 there was

$3596 of defencd revenue related to these contracts included as component of other assets in the Companys
consolidated balance sheets

CLO Management Contracts

On February 27 2009 the Company sold three CLO management contracts comprising substantially all of

the Companys middle market loans U.S Emporia business line to an unrelated third party The Company

received net proceeds from this sale after the payment of certain expenses of approximately $7258 These

proceeds were used to pay down the Companys existing bank debt outstanding as of that date In addition the
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Company was entitled to certain contingent payments based on the amount of subordinated management fees

received by the unrelated third party under the sold CLO management contracts in an amount not to exceed an

additional $1500 In addition to purchasing the management contracts the uni elated third party hired seveial of

the Companys employees who had serviced these contracts and the Company terminated the remainder

The sale of two of the three CLO management contracts required AFNs consent as majority equity holder

in those CLOs In addition the sale of the CLO management contracts resulted in default under leveraged

loan warehouse facility in which AFN had an interest As result the Company agreed to pay $3000 of the net

proceeds to AFN in order to compensate AFN for amounts that it would have otherwise received had the default

not occurred under such financing facility This payment was only required if the Merger was not completed

The Company recorded net gain on sale of collateral management contracts of $7746 for the year ended

December 31 2009 in the consolidated statement of operations representing the net cash received of $7746 which

included the $3000 discussed above as well as the subordinated management fees received from the unrelated third

party during the second third and fourth quarters of 2009 The Company reclassified the contingent payment of

$3000 from liability
in the consolidated balance sheets to net gain on sale of collateral management contracts in

the consolidated statements of operations upon the consummation of the Merger in December 2009 The Company

recorded $971 of these contingent payments during the year ended December 31 2010 As of June 30 2010 the

Company reached the maximumlimit of additional fees it could receive under these contracts Therefore the

Company no longer recorded any additional gain on these contracts subsequent to June 30 2010

ASSIGNMENT OF MFCA MANAGEMENT CONTRACT AND SUB-ADVISORY AGREEMENT
AND ASSIGNMENT IN CONNECTION WITH NON PROFIT PREFERRED FUNDING
MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

On March 18 2009 the Company assigned its management contract with MFCA to an unaffiliated third

party The Company did not receive cash proceeds for this assignment nor did it receive termination fee from

MFCA related to the termination of the management contract The Company will receive participation fee

beginning on March 18 2012 and for the ten year period thereafter equal to 10% percent of the revenue earned in

excess of $1000 annually by Tricadia for managing MFCA The Company will recognize this fee as income in

the consolidated statements of operations when the cash is received

Also effective March 18 2009 the Company and an affiliate of the same unaffihiated third party entered

into an agreement whereby the Company assigned the management agreement of the NPPF securitization

NPPF to the unrelated third party Effective April 22 2009 when necessary third party approvals were

received the unaffiliated third party hegan to serve as the cnllateral manager S% nf
any management fees the

unaffihiated third party receives from NPPF are paid to the Company The Company recognizes this sub

advisory fee as other income which is component of principal transactions and other income in the consolidated

statements of operations The Company personnel that provided the services related to this contract were

terminated and hired by the unaffiliated third party

RESTRICTED CASH AND RECEIVABLES FROM AND PAYABLES TO BROKERS DEALERS
AND CLEARING AGENCIES

There were no amounts receivable from brokers dealers and clearing agencies as of December 31 2010 and

2009

The Company held restricted cash of $4.507 and $255 as of December 31 2010 and December 31 2009

respectively Of the $4507 of restricted cash held at December 31 2010 the Company had $1266 of restricted

cash on deposit related to outstanding foreign currency forward contracts and EuroDollar futuies contracts

$2448 of restricted cash held with counterparties of repurchase agreement transactions and $793 of restricted

cash on deposit with clearing brokers The restricted cash held at December 31 2009 related to deposits with

clearing brokers
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Amounts payable to brokers dealers and clearing agencies consists of the following at December 31 2010

and 2009 respectively

PAYABLES TO BROKERS DEALERS AND CLEARING AGENCIES

Dollars in Thousands

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

Unsettled regular way trades net $14927 7415

Margin payable 30542 6076

Payables to brokers dealers and

clearing agencies $45469 $13491

Securities transactions are recorded on trade date as if they had settled The related amounts receivable and

payable for unsettled securities transactions are recorded net in receivables from or payables to brokers dealers

and clearing agencies on the Companys consolidated balance sheets The Company incurred interest on margin

payable of $828 $6 and $0 for the year ended December 31 20102009 and 2008 respectively

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Receivables are comprised of the following

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Dollars in Thousands

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Asset management fees $2712 $3683

New issue and advisory 61

Reimbursable costs 101 61

Accrued interest receivable 1326 348

Commissions receivable 1660

Other 234 115

$6033 $4268

Asset management and new issue and advisory receivables are of routine and short term nature These

amounts are generally accrued monthly and paid on monthly or quarterly basis See note regarding asset

management fees accrued Reimbursable costs represent various fees paid by the Company but incurred on

behalf of an Investment Vehicle managed by the Company that will be reimbursed by the Investment Vehicle

Accrued interest receivable represents interest accrued on the Companys investment securities Commissions

receivable primaiily represents outstanding fees for trades completed by the Companys agency brokerage

business offering execution and brokerage services for cash equity and derivative products and are of routine

and short term nature Other receivables represent other miscellaneous receivables that are of short term nature
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Investments Trading

The following table provides detail of the investments classified as investments-trading as of December 31

of each year

INVESTMENTS TRADING

Dollars in Thousands

December 31 2010

Unrealized

Security Type Cost Carrying Value Gain /Loss

11 government agency mortgag-hacked securities and

collateralized mortgage obligations $1 11587 $110665 922
Residential mortgage-backed securities 1238 1237

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 4300 4279 21
U.S Treasury securities 2116 1888 228
Interests in securitizations 3236 4500 1264

Small Business Administration SBA loans 33270 33212 58
Corporate bonds and redeemable preferred stock 17234 16837 397
Certificates of deposit 15159 15239 80

Equity securities 1270 1192 78
Eurodollar futures

________
34 34

Investments trading $1b9410 $189015 395

December 31 2009

Carrying Unrealized

Security Type Cost Value Gain Loss

U.S government agency mortgage-backed securities and

collateralized mortgage obligations $106575 $106575

Residential mortgage backed securities 964 964

Interests in securitizations 27710 9110 18600
TruPS 3380 3380

SBA loans 15248 15399 151

Investments trading $153877 $135428 $08449

Includes TBAs See notes and II

Primarily comprised of collateralized debt obligations and collateralized loan obligations
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Trading Securities Sold Not Yet Purchased

The following table shows the cost and carrying value of all trading securities sold not yet purchased as ot

December 31 of each year

TRADING SECURITIES SOLD NOT YET PURCHASED

Dollars in Thousands

December 31 2010

Carrying Unrealized

Security Type Cost Value Gain Loss

U.S government agency mortgage backed

scewitics 374 $374
U.S Treasury securities 17360 17130 230

Corporate bonds 212 213

Certificates of deposit 98 96

Equity securities

Total $17676 $17820 $144

December 31 2009

Unrealized

Security Type Cost Carrying Value Gain Loss

U.S government agency mortgage-backed

securities 93536 94837 $1301
U.S Treasury security 20000 19875 125

Total $113536 $114712 $1176

Represents TBAs See notes 3-G and 11

The Company tries to manage its
exposure to changes in interest rates for the intercst rate sensitive securities it

holds by entering into offsetting short positions for similar fixed rate securities

The Company recognized $189 and $3984 of net trading losses for the year ended December 31 2010 and 2009

respectively that relate to investments trading and trading securities sold not yet purchased still held at

December 2010 and December 31 2009 respectively
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Other Investments at fair va/tie

The following table provides detail of the investments included within other investments at fair value

OTHER IN VESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

Dollars in Thousands

1258 6001
38025 14681

2480 3081
28 28

4277 223

______
567 225

_______
46635 5629

303 33

_______
492 492

_______
$46551 4992

December 31 2009

Security Type
_________ ________ ____________

Interests in securitizations

Equity Securities

EuroDekania

Star Asia

RAIT

Brigadier

MFCA

Deep Value

Other securities

Total equity securities

Residential loans

Other investments at fair value

The Company originally invested $14506 in Deep Value The remaining investment represented

accumulated unrealized appreciation on this investment The investment in Deep Value was at all times

during 2009 and 2010 ealTied at its estimated fair value However for the purposes of the table above and

determining the cost basis the Company treated the redemptions during the year ended December 31 2010

as first representing return of investment and second representing redemption of net appreciation As of

September 30 2010 Deep Value liquidated substantially all of its remaining investments and expects to

distribute any of its remaining investments during the first quarter of 2011

The Company originally invested $30000 in the Brigadier onshore feeder fund As of December 31 2008

the Company had redeemed its entire initial investment The remaining investment represented accumulated

unrealized appreciation on this investment Brigadier completed its liquidation during the fourth quarter of

2010

December 31 2010

Carrying Unrealized

Cost Value Gain Loss

217 105 112

Security Type

Interests in seeuritizations

Equity Securities

EuroDekania

Star Asia

MFCA

Deep Value

Duart Fund

Other securities

Total equity securities

Residential loans

Foreign currency forward contracts

Other investments at fair value

7259

23344

5561

4500

342

41006

336

$41559

Carrying

Cost Value

$13379 2380

Unrealized

Gain Loss

10999

6526
3445
8950
4075

3.18

4730

37

3.334

$24333

6977

17503

9619

5561

14506

175

54.341

260

$67.980

451

14058

669

4075

2380

19236

138

41007

260

$43647

Primarily comprised of collateralized debt obligations
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10 FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

Fair Value Option

The Company has elected to account for certain of its other financial assets at fair value under the fair value

option provisions of FASB ASC 825 The primary reasons for electing the fair value option when it first became

available in 2008 were to reduce the burden of monitoring the differences between the cost and the fair value of

the Companys investments previously classified as available for sale securities including the assessment as to

whether the declines are temporary in nature and to further remove an element of management judgment In

addition the election was made for certain investments that were previously required to be accounted for under

the equity method because their fair value measurements were readily obtainable

Such financial assets accounted for at fair value include

in general securities that would otherwise qualify for available for sale treatment

in general investments in equity method affiliates where the affiliate has all of the attributes in FASB

ASC 946-10-15 commonly referred to as investment companies

in general investments in residential loans

As result of the adoption of the fair value option provisions included in FASB ASC 825 the Company

recorded loss of $410 net of tax as cumulative effect adjustment to the Companys beginning members

capital at January 2008 The loss was comprised of the following loss of $331 net of tax related to an

adjustment between the fair value and the carrying value for the Companys investment in MFCA on January

2008 and loss of $79 net of tax related to the reversal of accrued interest on the most junior collateralized

debt obligation securities for which the fair value option was elected at the date of adoption In addition $11813

of previously recognized loss was reclassified from other comprehensive income to members capital

The changes in fair value realized and unrealized gains and losses of these instruments for which the Company

has elected the fair value option are recorded in principal transactions and other income in the consolidated statements

of operations All of the investments for which the Company has elected the fair value option are included as

component of other investments at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets The Company recognized gains

losses of $23515 $9092 and $86 18 respectively related to changes in fair value of investments for which it

elected the fair value option during the year ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with FASB ASC 820 the Company has categorized its financial instruments based on the

priority of the inputs to the valuation technique into three-level fair value hierarchy The hierarchy gives the

highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities Level

measurements and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs Level measurements The three levels of the

hierarchy under FASB ASC 820 are described below

Level Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets

that are accessible at the measurement date for identical unrestricted assets or liabilities

Level Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on one or more of the following

Quoted prices for similar assets or liahilities in active markets

Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in non active markets

Pricing models whose inputs are observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability or

Pricing models whose inputs are derived principally from or corroborated observable market data

through correlation or other means for substantially the full term of the asset or liability
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Level Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on prices or valuation techniques that require

inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable These inputs reflect

managements own assumptions about the assumptions market participant would use in pricing the

asset or liability

In certain cases the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value

hierarchy In such cases the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement in its

entirety falls has been determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement

in its entirety The Companys assessment of the significance of particular input to the fair value measurement

in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability

Both observable and unobservable inputs may be used to determine the fair value of positions that the

Company has classified within the Level category As result the unrealized gains and losses for assets and

liabilities within the Level category presented in the tables below may include changes in fair value that were

attributable to both observable e.g changes in market interest rates and unobservable e.g changes in

unobservable long-dated volatilities inputs

review of the fair value hierarchy classifications is conducted on quarterly basis Changes in the type of

inputs may result in reclassification for certain financial assets or liabilities There were not transfers between

Level and Level of the fair value hierarchy during the year ended December 31 2010 Reclassifications

impacting Level of the fair value hierarchy are reported as transfers in/out of the Level category as of the

beginning of the quarter in which reclassifications occur
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The following table presents information abput the Companys assets and liabilities measured at fair Value

on recurring basis as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuatinn

techniques utilized by the Company to determine such fair value

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS ON RECURRING BASIS

Dollars in Thousands

Significant

December 31 Quoted Prices in Significant Other Unobservable

2010 Active Markets Observable Inputs Inputs

Fair Value Level Level Level

Assets

Investments-trading

U.S government agency mortgage backed

securities and collateralized mortgage

obligations $110665 41780 $68885

Residential mortgage backed securities 1237 1237

Commercial mortgage-backed securities 4279 4279
U.S Treasury securities 1888 1888

Interests in securitizations 4500 4500
SBA loans 33212 33212

Corporate bonds and redeemable preferred

stock 16837 16837

Certificates of deposit 15239 15239

Equity securities 1192 1192

Eurodollar futures 34 34
_______

Total investments trading $189015 3046 $112584 $73385

Other investments at fair value

Equity Securities

Other Investment Vehicles

EuroDekania 1258 1258

Star Asia 38025 38025

MFCA 2480 2480

41763 41763

Investment Funds

Deep Value 28 28

Duart Fund 4277
_______

4277
_______

4305 4277 28

Other 567 67 500

Total equity securities 46635 67 4277 42.291

Interests in securitizations 105 105

Residential loans 303 303

Foreign currency forward contracts 492 492
________ _______

Total other investments at fair value 46551 425 4277 $42.699

Liabilities

Trading securities sold not yet purchased
U.S government agency mortgage-backed

securities 374 374

U.S Treasury securities 17130 17130

Corporate bonds 213 213

Certificates of deposit 96 96

Equity securities

Total trading securities sold not yet purchased .. 17820 $17137 683

Primarily comprised of collateralized debt obligations and collateralized loan obligations

Hybrid Securities Fund European
Real Estate Fund Asian

Tax Exempt Fund

Real Estate Funds
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS ON RECURRING BASIS

Dollars in Thousands

December 31 Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant

2009 Active Markets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs

Fair Value Level Level Level

Assets

Investments-trading

U.S government agency mortgage-

backed securities and collateralized

mortgage obligations $106575 $106575

Residential mortgage-backed

securities 964 964

Interests in securitizations 9110 9110

TruPS 3380 3380

SBA loans 15399
______

15399
______

Total investments trading $135428 $122938 $12490

Other investments at fair value

Equity Securities

Other Investment Vehicles

RAIT2 669 669

EuroDekania 451 451

Star Asia 14058 14058

MFCA 2380
_______ ________

2380

17558 669
_______

16889

Investment Funds

Brigadier 4075 4075

Deep Value 19236 19236

23311 4075 19236

Other 138 40
_______

98

Total equity securities 41007 709 4075 36223

Interests in securitizations 2380 2380

Residential loans 260 260

Total other investments at fair value 43647 709 4075 $38863

Liabilities

Trading securities sold not yet

purchased

U.S government agency mortgage-

backed securities 94837 94837

U.S Treasury security 19875 19875

Total trading securities sold not yet

purchased $114712 $19875 94837

Primarily comprised of collateralized dcbt obligations and collateralized loan obligations

Real estate industry

Hybrid Securities Fund European

Real Estate Fund Asian

Tax Exempt Fund

Multi-Strategy Credit Funds

Real Estate Funds
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The following provides brief description of the types of financial instruments the Company holds the

methodology for estimating fair value and the level within the hierarchy of the estimate

U.S Government Agency Mortgage Backed Securities and Collateralized Mortgage Obligations These are

securities which are generally traded over the counter The Company generally values these securities using third

party quotations such as unadjusted broker dealer quoted prices or market price quotations from third party

pricing services These valuations are based on market approach This is considered Level valuation in the

hierarchy In instances where the securities are either new issuances or experience illiquidity such as

collateralized mortgage obligations more specifically agency inverse interest only securities the Company may

use its own internal valuation models which are based on an income approach Fair values based on internal

valuation models prepared by the Companys management are generally classified within Level of the

valuation hierarchy

In some cases the new issuances are senior in nature and fairly liquid however due to the fact it is new

issuance it is difficult to obtain third party pricing and the Company uses internal models to determine fair value

In these cases the Company will classify such an issuance as Level within the hierarchy until it is able to

obtain third party pricing

Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities and Commercial Mortgagc Backed Securities The Company

generally values these securities using third party quotations such as unadjusted broker-dealer quoted prices or

market price quotations from third party pricing services These valuations are based on market approach

These quotes generally represent indicative levels at which party may be willing to enter into transaction The

Company generally classifies the fair value of these securities within Level of the valuation hierarchy

U.S Treasury Securities U.S Treasury securities include U.S Treasury bonds and the fair values of the

U.S Treasury securities are based on quoted prices in active markets Valuation adjustments are not applied The

Company classifies the fair value of these securities within Level of the valuation hierarchy

Interests in Securitizations Where the Company is able to obtain independent market quotations from at

least two broker-dealers and where price within the range of at least two broker dealers is used interests in

securitizations will generally be classified as Level of the valuation hierarchy These valuations are based on

market approach The independent market quotations from broker dealers are generally nonbinding The

Company seeks quotations from broker dealers that historically have actively traded monitored issued and been

knowledgeable about intercsts in securitizations The Company generally belicves that to the extent it

receives two quotations in simila iange frum biokei dealers knowledgeable abuut intetests in secuiitizatiuns

and the Company believes the broker-dealers gather and utilize observable market information such as new

issue activity in the primary market trading activity in the secondary market credit spreads versus historical

levels bid ask spreads and price consensus among market participants and sources then classification as Level

of the valuation hierarchy is appropriate In the absence of two broker dealer market quotations single broker-

dealer market quotation may be used without corroboration of the quote in which ease the Company generally

classifies the fair value within Level of the valuation hierarchy If quotations are unavailable valuation models

prepared by the Companys management are used which are based on an income approach These models

include estimates and the valuations derived from them could diffei materially from amounts realizable in an

open market exchange Fair values based on internal valuation models prepared by the Companys management

are generally classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy

TruPS The fair value of investments in TruPS is estimated using valuation models prepaied by the

Companys management and is classified as Level of the valuation hierarchy These valuation models are based

on an income approach These investment securities generally do not tiade in an active market and therefore

observable price quotations are not available Fair value is determined based on discounted cash flow models

using current interest rates estimates of the term of the particular contract specific issuer information including

estimates of comparable market credit spreads and other maiket data
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SBA Loans The Company generally values these securities using third party quotations such as unadjusted

broker dealer quoted prices or market price quotations from third party pricing services The Company generally

classifies these investments within Level of the valuation Inerarchy These valuations are based on market

approach

Corporate Bonds and Redeemable Preferred Stock The Company uses recently executed transactions or

third party quotations from independent pricing services to arrive at the fair value of its investments in corporate

bonds and redeemable preferred stock These valuations are based on market approach The Company generally

classifies the fair value of these bonds within Level of the valuation hierarchy

Equity Securities The fair value of equity securities that represent investments in publicly traded companies

common or preferred shares options warrants and other equity investments are determined using the closing

price of the security as of the reporting date These are securities which are traded on recognized liquid

exchange This is considered Level value in the hierarchy In some cases the Company owns options or

warrants in publicly traded companies when the option or wan-ant itself is not publicly traded In those cases the

Company uses an internal valuation model and classifies the investment within Level of the valuation

hierarchy Other equity securities represent investments in investment funds and other non-publicly traded

entities Substantially all of these other entities have the attributes of investment companies as described in FASB

ASC 946 15 Prior to the third quarter of 2009 the Companys estimate of the fair value of its investment in

these entities was based on valuation models prepared by Companys management which were based on

market approach and were generally classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy During the third quarter

of 2009 the Company began to estimate the fair value of these entities using the reported net asset value per

share as of the reporting date in accordance with the practical expedient provisions related to investments in

certain entities that calculate net asset value per share or its equivalent included in FASB ASC 820 for all

entities except Star Asia The Company generally classifies these estimates within either Level if its investment

in the entity is currently redeemable or Level if its investment is not currently redeemable In the case of Star

Asia the Company utilizes series of valuation models to determine fair value which use both market and

income based approaches

Residential Loans Valuations models prepared by the Companys management are used These valuation

models are based on the market approach These models include estimates and the valuations derived from them

could differ materially from amounts realizable in an open market exchange Fair values based on internal

valuation nodels prepared by the Companys management are generally classified within Level of the

valuation hierarchy

Certificates of
Deposit

The fair value of certificates of deposit is estimated using valuations provided by

third-party pricing services Certificates of deposit are generally recognized in Level of the fair value hierarchy

Derivatives

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

Foreign currency forward contracts are exchange traded derivatives which transact on an exchange that is

deemed to be active The fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts is based on current quoted market

prices These are considered Level value in the hierarchy See note II

EuroDollar Futures

EuroDollar futures are exchange traded derivatives which tiansaet on an exchange that is deemed to be

active The fair value of the EuroDollar futures contracts is based on current quoted market prices These are

considered Level value in the hierarchy See note II
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TBAs

The Company generally values these securities using third party quotations such as unadjusted broker-dealer

quoted prices or market price quotations from third party pricing services TBAs are generally classified within

Level of the fair value hierarchy If there is limited transaction activity or less transparency to observe market

based inputs to value models TBAs are classified in Level of the fair value hierarchy U.S government agency

mortgage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations include TBAS Unrealized gains on TBAs

are included in investments trading on the Companys consolidated balance sheets and unrealized losses on

TBAs are included in trading securities sold not yet purchased on the Companys consolidated balance sheets

See note 11

Trading Securities Sold Not Yet Purchased The securities are valued using quoted active market prices of

the securities sold and are generally categorized within Level or of the valuation hierarchy depending on the

type of investment sold For discussion of the valuation methodology used for U.S government agency

mortgage backed securities refer to U.S Government Agency Mortgage Backed Securities and Collateralized

Mortgage Obligations For discussion of the valuation methodology used for U.S Treasury securities refer to

U.S Treasury Securities For discussion of the valuation methodology for corporate bonds refer to

Corporate Bonds For discussion of the valuation methodology for certificates of deposit refer to

Certificates of Deposit For discussion of the valuation methodology for equity securities refer to Equity

Securities For discussion of the valuation methodology for TBAs refer to Derivatives TBAs
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The following table presents additional information about assets and liabilities measured at fair value on

recumng basis and for which the Company has utilized Level inputs to determine fair value for the year ended

Deeembei 31 2010 2009 and 2008

Investments-trading

13.5 government agency

mortgage-backed

securities and

collateralized mortgage

obligations

Interests in

securitizations

TruPS
_____ _____ ____

Total investments trading

Other investments at fair value

Equity Securities

Other Investment Vehicles

EuruDekania 451 525 282

Star Asia 14058 18126 5841

MFCA 2380 100

16889 18751 6123
______ ______

Investment Funds

Brigadier 77 4139
Deep Value

_______
4481

______
23689

_______ _______

_______
4404

______
27828

_______ _______

Other 225 177

Total equity

securities

Interests in

5760
76

Total other investments at fair

Includes return of principal/capital of interests in securitizations and investment funds

Represents the amount of total gains or losses for the period included in earnings relating to assets classified as Level

that were still held at the end of thc period

Primarily comprised of collaterali7ed debt obligations Sand eollaterali7ed loan obligations

Hybrid Securities Funds European

Real Estate Funds Asian

Tax Exempt Funds

Multi Strategy Credit Funds

Real Estate Funds

Assets

LEVEL INPUTS

Year Ended December 31 2010

Dollars in Thousands

Net realized/unrealized gains

losses included in income
Unrealized

Principal Transfers gains/Iosses

transactions in and/or Purchases still held at the

January Net and other out net and December 31 end of the

2010 trading income loss of Level Sales net 2010 period

$1895 $7281 63499 $68885 $1887

9110 20914 25524
3380 5322 8702

_______ _______

$12490 $24341 $7281 29273
______ ______

4500

$73385

1258

38025

2480

41763

28

28

500

1621

266

525

18126

100

18751

4702

4702

225

19236

19236

98

36223

4216

4216

securitizations 2380

Residential loans 260

value $38863

23380 4216 21528 42291 14274

3485

33
105

303

58
33

$26832 $4216 $27212 $42699 $14183
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LEVEL INPUTS

Year Ended December 31 2009

Dollars in Thousands

Net realized/unrealized gains

losses tncluded in income

Principal Transfers

tranaactions in and/or Purchases Unrealized

January Net and other out net and December 31 gains/losses

2009 trading income loss of Level Sales net 2009 still held

Assets

Investments trading

Interests in

securitizations 3000 $3067 $5752 3425 9110 $3021
TruPS 3380 3380

______

Total investments trading 3000 $3067 5.752 6805 $12490 $3021

Other investments at fair value

Equity Securities

Other Investment

Vehicles

EuroDekania 1476 $l025 451 $l025
Star Asia 10545 3423 90 14058 3423

MFCA 728 1052 600 2380 1052

12749 3450 690 16889 3450

Investment Funds

Brigadier 13986 118 4104 10000
Deep Value 24487 6268 11519 19236 6268

38473
______

6386 4104 21519 19236 6.268

Other
_______ _______ _______

98 98
_______

Total equity

securities 51222 9836 4.104 20731 36223 9718

Interest in securitizations 4843 3635 2.141 969 2380 3469
Residential loans 260 260

_______

Total other investments at fair

value $56065 6201 $1963 $21440 $38863 6249

Includes rcturn of principal/capital of interests in securitizations and invcstmcnt funds In addition purchascs and

sales net for the investment funds include decrease of $10967 related to the Deep Value onshore feeder

funds investment in the related master fund The Company deconsolidated the Deep Value onshore feeder fund as

of April 2009 See notes 3-F and 29 Purchases and sales net also include certain investments which were

acquired from AFN as result of the Merger in December 2009 Amounts include interests in seeuritizations of

$3337 and TruPS of $3380 classified as investments-trading as well as $260 of residential loans classified as

other investments at fair value on the Companys consolidated balance sheets See notes and 29

Represents the amount ot total gains or losses for he period included in earnings relating to assets classified as

Level that were still held at December 31 2009

Comprised of collateralized debt obligations and collateralized loan obligations

Hybrid Securities Funds European

Real Estate Funds Asian

Tax exempt Funds

Multi Strategy Credit Funds

Real Estate funds
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LEVEL INPUTS

Year Ended December 31 2008

Dollars in Thousands

Net realized/unrealized gains

losses included in income

Principal Transfers

transactions in and/or Purchases Unrealized

January Net and other out net and Sales December 31 gains losses

2008 trading income loss of Level net 2008 still held

Assets

Investments trading $15612 $4906 $2576 $5130 3000 3375
Other investments at fair

value 70695 8568 4000 2062 56.065 20826

Includes return of principal/capital of collateralized debt obligations

Represents the amount of total gains or losses for the period included in earnings relating to assets

classified as Level that were still held at December31 2008

The circumstances that would result in transferring certain financial instruments from Level to Level in

the fair value hierarchy would typically include what the Company believes to be decrease in the availability

utility and reliability of observable market information such as new issue activity in the primary market trading

activity in the secondary market credit spreads versus historical levels bid-ask spreads and price consensus

among market participants and sources

During 2009 the liquidity and transparency surrounding structured credit products such as interests in

securitizations continued to diminish The absence of new issue activity in the primary market led to

continually decreasing level of transparency as seasoned secondary issuances could not be analyzed on

comparative basis relative to new issuances In addition diminished trading activity in the secondary market also

led the Company to believe that broker dealer quotations may not be based on observable and reliable niarket

information The Company has maintained this assessment during 2010 and has not transferred any assets out of

Level

Investments-trading During the year ended December 31 2010 the transfers into Level reflect the

transfer from Level of our investments in certain U.S government agency collateralized mortgage obligations

specifically agency inverse interest only securities due to the fact that these securities are not very liquid pricing

discovery is challenging and there is decreased observability of inputs During the year ended December 31

2009 transfers into Level reflects the transfers from Level of collateralized debt obligation securities

comprised of seeuritized bank TruPS due to decreased observability of inputs During the year ended

December 31 2009 the transfers out of Level were primarily attributable to the ability to obtain at least two

independent broker market quotations and to corroborate the market quotes During the year ended December 31

2008 the Company wrote down to zero an ABS collateralized debt obligation security it owned as part of its

investments trading This was treated as realized loss of $2.94 which was included in net trading in the

consolidated statements of operations The change in unrealized loss related to this security was reversed The

transfers out of Level for the year ended December 31 2008 were primarily attributable to the abilityrto obtain

at least two independent broker market quotations and to corroborate the market quotes

Other investments at fair value During the year ended December 312010 the transfers in to Level

reflect the transfer from Level of our investment fund Brigadier due to the fact that the investment was not

currently redeemable In the first half of 2010 the Brigadier fund determined itwould liquidate Effective for the

second quarter of 2010 the Brigadier fund ceased permitting redemptions until final liquidation Therefore no

investor requested redemptions wete allowed The Brigadier fund completed its liquidation during the fourth

quarter of 2010 The fund distributed 90C/0 of its net asset value to its unit holders during the second quarter of
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2010 and the remaining 10% was distributed upon the completion of the final audit and settlement of expenses

of the fund in the fourth quarter of 2010 During the year ended December 31 2009 transfers in to Level

reflect the transfers from Level of collateralized debt obligation securities compi-ised of securitized bank

TruPS due to decreased observability of inputs During the year ended December 31 2009 the transfers out of

Level to Level represent certain investment fund for which the Company estimated its fair value based on

the reported net asset value per share as of the reporting date in accordance with the practical expedient

provisions of FASB ASC 820 which were adopted by the Company dur ng the third quarter of 2009 During the

year ended December 31 2008 the transfers out of Level were primarily attributable to obtaining at least two

independent broker-dealer market quotations and to corroborate the market quotes

The following table presents additional information about investments in certain entities that calculate net

asset value per share regardless of whether the practical expedient provisions of FASB ASC 820 have been

applied which are measured at fair value on recurring basis at December 31 2010 and 2009

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF IN VESTMENTS IN CERTAIN ENTITIES

THAT CALCULATE NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE OR ITS EQUIVALENT

Fair Value at Redemption
December 31 2010 Frequency

dollars in Unfunded if Currently Redemption
thousands Commitments Eligible Notice Period

Other Investment Vehicles

EuroDekania 105 N/A N/A

Star Asia 38025 N/A N/A

MFCA 2480 N/A N/A

40610

Investment Funds

Deep Value 28 N/A N/A

Duart Fund 4277 Quarterly 90 days

4305

Total $44915

Fair Value at Redemption
December 31 2009 Frequenc3

dollars Unfunded if Currently Redemption

in thousands Commitments Eligible Notice Period

Other Investment Vehicles

EuroDekania 451 N/A N/A

Star Asia 14058 N/A N/A

MFCA 2.380 N/A N/A

16889

Investment Funds

Brigadier 4075 Monthly 90 days

Deep Value 9.236 N/A N/A

23311

Total $40200

N/A Not applicable
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EuroDekanias investment strategy is to make investments in hybrid capital securities that have attr butes of

debt and equity primarily in the form of subordinated debt issued by insurance companies banks and bank

holding companies based primarily in Western Europe EuruTruPS widely syndiLated leveraged loans

by European corporate loans CMBS including subordinated interests in first mortgage real estate loans

B-Notes and RMBS and other ABS backed by consumer and commercial receivables The majority of

the assets are denominated in Euros and U.K Pounds Sterling The fair value of the investment in this

category has been estimated using the net asset value per share of the investment in accordance with the

practical expedient provisions of FASB ASC 820

Star Asias investment strategy is to make investments in Asian real estate structured finance investments

including CMBS corporate debt of REITs and real estate operating companies whole loans mezzanine

loans and other commercial real estate fixed income investments The fair value of the investment in this

category has been estimated using series of internal valuation models that use both the market and income

approach If the Company had used Star Asias unadjusted reported net asset value to determine its fair

value the carrying value of its investment in Star Asia would have been $44760 as of December 31 2010

and $17088 as of December 31 2009

MFCAs investment strategy is to make direct and indirect investments in certain securities whose interest

payments are exempt from U.S federal income taxes consisting of long term obligations issued by or on

behalf of non-profit institutions and state authorities in the healthcare education cultural philanthropic

research service/advocacy infrastructure and housing sectors The fair value of the investment in this

category has been estimated using the net asset value per share of the investment in accordance with the

practical expedient provisions of FASB ASC 820 The Company does not manage MFCA Therefore the

Company uses the latest reported net asset value from the third party manager From time to time this may

be one quarter in arrears During 2010 MFCA announced that it intends to list its equity securities on

public exchange To date no public listing has been completed If such listing is completed in the future

on nationally recognized exchange the Company will cease to apply the provisions of FASB ASC 820 and

will determine the fair value of its interest in MFCA based on the public trading price rather than the

underlying net asset value of MFCA
Brigadiers investment strategy was to make investments in various sectors of the fixed income markets

Prior to the commencement of the liquidation process
the fund operated under four basic investment

strategies long-short relative value primary origination and market arbitrage The investment manager

may have periodically reallocated its assets among different strategies based on the desired risk management

characteristics of the fund After one-year lock-up period the fund allowed monthly redemptions upon 90

days notice In the first half of 2010 the Brigadier fund determined it would liquidate Effective beginning

in the second quarter of 2010 the Brigadier fund ceased permitting redemptions until final liquidation

Brigadier completed its liquidation during the fourth quarter of 2010 The fair value of the investment in this

category had been estimated using the net asset value per share of the investment in accordance with the

practical expedient provisions of FASB ASC 820

Deep Values investment strategy is to make investments in securities secured by or related to residential

and commercial real estate including RMBS equity and debt investments in collateralized debt obligations

that are collateralized mainly by RMBS senior and subordinated mortgage notes preference shares and

whole loans secured by or related to residential real estate and other related securities and derivatives

referencing the foregoing The fund may also invest in CMBS and other securities and debt secured by or

relating to commercial real estate This is closed end fund that does not allow redemptions The expected

term of the fund is three years with two optional one-year extensions As of September 30 2010 Deep

Value liquidated substantially all of its investments and expects to distribute any of its remaining

investments during the first quarter of 2011 .The fair value of the investment in this category has been

estimated using the net asset value per share of the investments in accordance with the practical expedient

provisions of FASB ASC 820

The Duart Fund is specialized deep value and special situations investment opportunity fund The Duart

Funds investment strategy is to make investments primarily in portfolio of long and short positions in

public and private real estate equity securities equity-linked securities or debt securities including but not

limited to convertible debt debt with warrants warrants and credit default swaps that relate to real estate
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securities and partnership or fund interests in the real estate industry globally The Duart Fund allows

quarterly redemptions upon 90 days notice Effective December 31 2010 the Company submitted

redemption notice to the Duart Fund to redeem 100% of its capital The Company expects to receive its

redemption by March 31 2011.The fair value of the investment in this category has been estimated using

the net asset value per share of the investment in accordance with the practical expedient provisions of

FASB ASC 820

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS ON NON-RECURRING BASIS

Dollars in Thousands

December 31 Quoted Prices in Significant Other
Significant

2010 Active Markets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs

Fair Value Level Level Level

Assets

Goodwill Strategos $3121 $3121

The Company determined the fair value of its goodwill related to the Strategos acquisition using

discounted cash flow model which is based on an income approach This value was determined in accordance

with its annual impairment test An impairment charge of $5607 was recorded See note 13

11 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

See note 3-G for discussion of the Companys accounting policy on derivative financial instruments

The Company may from time to time enter into the following derivative instruments

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

The Company invests in foreign currency denominated investments that expose it to fluctuations in foreign

curiency rates and therefore the Company may from time to time hedge such exposure by using foreign

currency forward contracts The Company carries the foreign currency forward contracts at fair value and

includes them as component of other investments at fair value in the Companys consolidated balance sheets

As of December 31 2010 the Company had 190 outstanding foreign currency forward contracts with notional

amount of 12.5 million Japanese Yen per contract The Company had no forward currency forward contracts as

of December 31 2009

EuroDollar Futures

The Company invests in floating rate investments that expose it to fluctuations in interest and therefore the

Company may from time to time hedge such exposure using EuroDollar futures The Company carries the

EuroDollar futures contracts at fair value and includes them as component of investments trading in the

Companys consolidated balance sheets As of December 31 2010 the Company had 87 outstanding EuroDollar

futures contracts with notional amount of $1 million per contract and duration of three months The Company

had no EuroDollar futures contracts as of December 31 2009

TB/is

The Company trades U.S Government agency obligations In connection with these activities the Company

may be required to maintain inventory in order to facilitate customer transactions In order to mitigate exposure

to market risk the Company enters in to the purchase and sale of TBAs The Company carries the TBAs at fair

value and includes them as component of investments trading or trading securities sold not yet purchased in
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the Companys consolidated balance sheets At December 31 2010 the Company had entered into four open

TBA sale agreements in the notional amount of $157500 and one open TBA purchase agreement in the notional

amount uf $50000 The Company had no TBAs as 0f December 31 2009

Credit Default Swap

The Company has exposure to credit risk arising from the uncertainty associated with financial instrument

obligors ability to make timely principal and/or interest payments From time to time the Company may enter

into credit default swap arrangements as the buyer of protection to modify the credit risk inherent in certain

investments in collateralized debt obligations it holds as investments-trading Crcdit default swaps involve

transfer of credit risk from one party to another in exchange for periodic payments The Company carries the

credit defaults swaps at fair value and includes them as component of investments trading in the consolidated

balance sheets The Company includes any gain or loss as part of net trading on the consolidated statements of

operations The Company sold its credit default swap in the first quarter of 2009 As of December 31 2010 and

2009 and for the period from the second quarter of 2009 until December 31 2010 the Company was not party

to any credit default swap arrangements

Interest Rate Swap

One of the Companys former loan agreements required the Company to enter into hedging agreement in

notional amount equal to at least 50% of the outstanding balance of former term loan The Company entered

into an interest rate swap on October 18 2006 At that time the notional amount of the swap equaled 50% of the

outstanding balance of the term loan and it declined by 50% of each scheduled principal payment throughout the

term of the former term loan This requirement to hedge the Companys variable rate exposure was not included

in the revolving credit facility that replaced the former term loan in 2007 however the Company left the existing

swap in place

The interest rate swap effectively locked three month LIBOR into fixed rate of 5.24% for the notional

amount and the relevant period of time The Company did not designate the interest rate swap as hedged item

for purposes of hedge accounting under FASB ASC 815 Accordingly the Company carried the interest rate

swap at fair value and included the gain or loss in the other non operating income expense section of the

consolidated statements of operations as component of interest expense The gain or loss included in this

section includes two components the unrealized gains or losses based on the Companys estimate of the fair

value of the interest rate swap and ii realized gains and losses which are the periodic payments made or

receipts received by the Company The Company entered into an amended and restated credit facility on June

2009 which has since then been replaced with new credit facility see note and paid off the former bank

debt and terminated the interest rate swap related to the debt As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company

was not party to any interest rate swap arrangements
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Derivative Financial

Instruments Not Designated as

Hedging Instruments under

FASB ASC 815

Foreign currency forward

contracts

EuroDollar futures contracts

TBAs

TBAs

Balance Sheet Classification

Other investments at fair

value

Investments trading

Investments trading

Trading securities sold not yet

purchased

The following table presents the Companys derivative financial instruments and the amount and location of

the net gain loss recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31 2010

and 2009

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS-STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS INFORMATION

Dollars in Thousands

Derivative Financial

Instruments Not Designated as

Hedging Instruments under

FASB ASC 815

Foreign currency forward

contracts

EuroDollar futures contracts

TBAs

Credit default swap

Interest rate swap

Income Statement Classification

Revenues principal transactions

and other income loss

Revenues net trading

Revenues net trading

Revenues net trading

Non-operating income

expense change in fair

value of interest rate swap

$2320

212
2577

12 COLLATERALIZED SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Reveise repurchase agreements or repurchase agreements principally U.S government and federal agency

obligations and SBA loans are treated as collateralized financing transactions and are recorded at their

contracted resale or repurchase amounts plus accrued interest Resulting interest income and expense are

included in net trading in the consolidated statements of operations See note

The following table presents the Companys derivative financial instruments and the amount and location of

the fair value recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 2010 There were no derivative

financial instruments outstanding at December 31 2009

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS-BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

Dollars in Thousands

Unrealized Gain

Loss
December 31 2010

492

34
1473

374

$1557

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 2010 December 31 2009

2034

________

45 $2040
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The Company enters into reverse repurchase agreements to acquire securities to cover short positions or as

an investment The Company enters into repurchase agreements to finance the Companys securities positions

held in inventory At December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company had $0 and $20357 of reverse repurchase

agreements respectively and the fair value of securities received as collateral under reverse repurchase

agreements was $0 and $19875 respectively At December 31 2010 and 2009 the Company had $69816 and

$0 repurchase agreements respectively and the fair value of securities pledged as collateral under repurchase

agreements was $75562 and $0 respectively

13 GOODWILL

The following table presents goodwill as of December 31 2010 and 2009

December 31

2010 2009

Strategos 8728 $8728

Impairment of goodwill 5607

3121 8728

AFN acquisition see note 110 110

Ending balance 3231 $8838

The goodwill attributable to Strategos relates to the Companys acquisition of the 10% of Strategos the

Company did not already own in exchange for 189901 membership units of the Company from noncontrolling

interest partner in July 2007

The goodwill attributable to AFN relates to the acquisition of AFN in December 2009 See note

The Company periodically reviews goodwill for impairment See note 3-I Any impairment loss is reflected

as component of operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations The Company performs its

annual impairment test of goodwill in the third quarter of each year July 1st for Strategos and the fourth quarter

of each year October 1st for AFN

For its annual impairment test of the goodwill related to Strategos the Company first estimates the current

fair value of the Strategos reporting unit This fair value is compared to the book value of the goodwill and if the

lair value is less then the goodwill is deemed impaired Company determines the lair value of the Strategos

reporting unit using discounted cash flow analysis During the third quarter of 2010 the Company determined

that an impairment charge should be recorded related to the goodwill allocated to Strategos During the year

ended December 31 2010 the Company recognized an impairment charge of $5.607 The charge is included in

the consolidated statements of operations as impairment of goodwill intangible assets and is reflected as

component of operating expenses

For its annual impairment test of the goodwill related to AFN the Company first estimates the curt ent fair

value of the asset management and capital markets segments of the Company The Company determines the fair

value of these segments using market approach This fair value is compared to the book value of the goodwill

and if the fair value is less then the goodwill is deemed impaired For the test during the fourth quarter of 2010

the Company determined the goodwill related to AFN was not impaired

During the year ended December 31 2010 goodwill related to the acquisition of AFN decreased $713 for

net adjustments made during the measurement period to the fair valoes of the assets acquired and liabilities

assumed In the table above this retrospective adjustment is reflected in the goodwill at December 31 2009 in

accordance with the accounting guidance for business combinations See note
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14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table reflects the activity and balances as of Decembei 31 2010 and 2009 the Company

recorded with respect to the intangible assets which are included as component of other assets on the

consolidated balance sheets The intangible assets primarily consist of the value assigned to the FINRA broker

dealer licenses of CCCM and CCS and for the 2009 period the value assigned to the 10% of the in-place asset

management contracts of the Companys Strategos subsidiary acquired from the former noncontrolling interest

partner described in note 13

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Dollars in Thousands

Estimated December 31 December 31
Useful Lives 2010 20W

Strategos Asset Management Contracts 3.2 Years 3988 3988

Accumulated Amortization 3988 3454

534

FINRA Broker Dealer License CCS Indefinite 40 40

FINRA Broker Dealer License CCCM Indefinite 166

206 40

206 574

The Company recognized amortization expense of $534 $711 and $1936 for the years ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008 respectively as component of depreciation and amortization on the consolidated

statements of operations During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company recognized an impairment

charge of $2078 related to the level of asset defaults subject to Strategos asset management contracts The

charge is included in the consolidated statements of operations as impairment of goodwill intangible assets The

intangible asset related to the Strategos asset management contracts was fully amortized in 2010

15 FURNITURE EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS NET

Furniture equipment and leasehold improvements net which are included as component of other assets

on the consolidated balance sheets are as follows

FURNITURE EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS NET

Dollars in Thousands

Estimated December 31 December 31
Useful Lives 2010 2009

Furniture and equipment to Years 5161 4.685

Leasehold improvements to 10 Years 5.574 5228

10.735 9913

Accumulated amortization and depreciation 8456 6687

2279 3.226

The Company recognizcd dcpreciation and amortization expense of $2356 $2543 and $4023 for the years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectvely as component of depreciation and amortization on the

consolidated statements of operations Of the $2356 $2.543 and $4023 recognized fyr the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively $1822 $1832 and $2087 iespeetively represents

depreciation of furniture equipment and leasehold improvements and the remainder represents amortization of

intangible assets See note 14
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16 INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY METHOD AFFILIATES

The Company has several investments that are accounted for under the equity method Equity method

accounting requires that the Company record its investment on the consolidated balance sheets and recognize its

share of the affiliates net income as earnings each year Investment in equity method affiliates is included as

component of other assets on the Companys consolidated balance sheets

The Company has certain equity method affiliates for which it has elected the fair value option The

Company elected the fair value option for its investments in the onshore feeder fund of Brigadier and MFCA
effective January 2008 See notes and 10 In March 2010 the Company participated in rights offering of

Star Asia and made an additional investment in Star Asia and increased its ownership percentage Prior to this

increase Star Asia had been treated as an available for sale security for which the fair value option had been

elected Effective with this ownership increase Star Asia is considered an equity method affiliate However the

Company continued its fair value election regarding Star Asia See notes and 10

The Company acquired an interest in newly formed entity Star Asia SPV for $4058 in March 2010 The

Company subsequently made an additional investment in Star Asia SPV during the second quarter of 2010 for

$328 and during the fourth quarter of 2010 for $114 Star Asia SPV is treated as an equity method investment

We did not elect the fair value option for our investment in Star Asia SPV See note

As of December 31 2009 the Company had three equity method investees excluding equity affiliates for

which it has adopted the fair value option Star Asia Manager iiDeep Value GP and iii Deep Value GP

II DEKU was liquidated during the first quarter of 2009 See note 3-F As of December 31 2010 the Company

had five equity method investees excluding equity affiliates for which it has adopted the fair value option

Star Asia Manager ii Deep Value GP iii Deep Value GP II iv Star Asia SPV and Duat Capital See

note for discussion of Duart Capital The following table summarizes the activity and the earnings of the

Companys equity method affiliates
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Balance at December 31 2007 46402

Adoption of Fair Value Option on

January 2008 reclassified to

other investments at fair value .. 46402

Balance at January 2008

Investments advances

Distributions/repayments

Earnings loss realized

Balance at December 31 2008

Investments advances

Distributions/repayments

Earnings loss realized

Balance at December 31 2009

Investments advances

Distributions/repayments

In-kind distribution

Earnings loss realized

Balance at December 31 2010

511
______

33
______ ______

262

1883
______

67 2356

2456 45 2501

925
4339 30

_______ _______
3455

.27 ______

4500 1283 5783

975 5904 3104 9983
55 55

834 6076 263 1283 5884

$202 269 31 1604 2106

In September 2010 Strategos substantially completed the liquidation of the first Deep Value Fund In conjunction

with this liquidation and distribution of funds to investors the Deep Value GP recognized an incentive fee earned in

the amount of $12308 in the second half of 2010 The Company owns 50% of the Deep Value OP Therefore the

Companys share of this incentive fee was $6154 and was included as component of income from equity method

affiliates This incentive fee is included in the earnings loss realized line item of the $6076 in the table above

Thc following table summarizes the combined financial information for all equity method investees including

equity method investees for which the fair value option was elected This aggregated summarized financial data does

not represent the Companys proportionate share of equity method investees assets or earnings

SUMMARY DATA OF EQUITY METHOD INVESTEES

unaudited

Dollars in Thousands

December 31
2010

Total Assets $436720

$151969

283684

Liabilities

Equity attributable to the investees

Noncontrolling interest 1067
_______

Liabilities Equity $436720 $255511

IN VESTMENT IN EQUITY METHOD AFFILIATES

Dollars in Thousands

Investment in

Star

Asia

Brigadier Manager

Star

Asia

SPY

Deep Deep
Value Value

DEKU MFCA GP GPII

100 2394 4247

4247

100 2394

Duart

Capital Total

53143

50649

2.494

500
806

_______
406

925

________
862

100 100

500

December 31
2009

$255511

2308

253203
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Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net income loss $62664 $91755 $88625

Net income loss attributable to the investees $62583 $91755 $88625

See note 30 for information regarding transactions with the Companys equity method investees

17 OTHER ASSETS AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABIITIES

Other assets include deferred financing costs deferred solicitations costs prcpaid expenses security

deposits miscellaneous other assets cost method investments furniture equipment and leasehold improvements

net intangible assets and investments in private partnerships and limited liability companies that are valued

using the equity method of accounting.

Other assets at December 31 2010 and 2009 included

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Deferred financing costs 282 1044

Deferred solicitation costs 496 2590

Prepaid expenses 3.710 2747

Security deposits 2022 1879

Miscellaneous other assets 1147 1893

Cost method investment 250 250

Furniture equipment and leasehold improvements

net 2279 3226

Intangible assets 206 574

Equity method affiliates 2106 477

Other assets $12498 $14680

During the year ended December 31 2010 other assets related to the acquisition included in miscellaneous

above of AFN decreased $309 for an adjustment made during the measurement period to the fair values of

the assets acquired In the table above this retrospective adjustment is reflected in other assets at

December 31 2009 in accordance with the accounting guidance for business combinations See note

Accounts payable and other liabilities include accounts payable rent payable payroll tax liabilities

severance payable accrued interest payable accrued income taxes guarantee liabilities related to OSME

Acquisition Partners and Alesco XIV see note 27 deferred income see note and other general accrued

expenses

Accounts payable and other liabilities at December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 included

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Accounts payable 1169 1.930

Rent payable 829 877

Accrued interest payable 709 1055

Income and payroll taxes payable 1567 1556

Severance payable 150 971

Guarantee liability 1084 1182

Deferred income 4.400 1472

Other general accrued expenses 3257 4156

Accounts payable and other liabilities $13165 $13199
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During the year ended December 31 2010 accrued income taxes related to the acquisition of AFN which is

included in income and payroll taxes payable in the above table increased by $34 and other general

expenses accrued related to the acquisition of AFN increased by $126 for adjustments made during the

measurement period to the fair value of the liabilities assumed In the table above this retrospective

adjustment is reflected in accounts payable and other liabilities at December 31 2009 in accordance with

the accounting guidance for business combinations See note

18 DEBT

The Company had the following debt outstanding as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

DETAIL OF DEBT

Dollars in Thousands

Weighted Weighted

Current Interest Average Average

Outstanding December 31 December 31 Rate Interest Rate Contractual

Description Par 2010 2009 Terms 12/31/2010 Maturity

2010 Credit Facility 6976 6976 6.00% 6.00% September 2012

2009 Credit Facility 9950 N/A N/A July 2010

Contingent convertible

senior notes 19506 19104 25374 7.63% 7.63% May 20270
Junior subordinated notes 49614 17160 17269 7.40% 7.40% August 2036

Subordinated notes

payable 1448 1448 9368 12.00% 12.00% June2013

Total $44688 $61961

The Company may redeem all or part of the notcs for cash on or after May 20 2012 at redemption price

equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest

if any to but excluding the redemption date The holders of the notes may requirc the Company to

repurchase all or portion of their notes for cash on May 15 2012 May 15 2017 and May 15 2022 for

repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest and

additional interest if any to but excluding the repurchase date The holders of the notes are required to

provide notice to the Company of their plan to redeem the notes at any time during the 30 days prior to

May 15 2012 May 15 2017 and May 15 2022

The 2010 Credit Facility

On July 29 2010 Dekania Investors LLC subsidiary of the Company entered into new secured credit

facility with TD Bank NA the 2010 Credit Facility The new credit facility expires in September 2012 and

replaces the Companys previous $30000 revolving credit facility that was due to expire on May 31 201lthe

2009 Credit Facility Proceeds of the 2010 Credit Facility will be used to finance working capital

requirements and for general corporate purposes

The 2010 Credit Facility is comprised of $9300 of term loan capacity and maximum of $1 .300 for the

issuanees of letters of credit On July 29 2010 Dekania Investors LLC drew $9300 Scheduled payments of

principal and interest are required over the term ol the credit facility

With respect to the draw of $9300 Dekania Ihvestois LLC is required eommepeing on September 30
2010 to make seven consecutive quarterly principal payments in the amount of $1162 All unpaid principal and

inteiest with respect to the outstanding draw of $9300 will be due and payable on September 30 2012 As of

December II 2010 the Company had $6976 of outstanding borrowings $50 outstanding pursuant to letter of

credit and there was no availability to borrow under the 2010 Credit Facility
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Amounts outstanding pursuant to the 2010 Credit Facility bear interest at Dekania Investors LLCs option

at either the adjusted LIBOR rate as defined in the 2010 Credit Facility plus 4.5% the LIBOR Rate
provided that the adjusted LIBOR is at least 1.5% or base rate as defined in the 2010 Credit Facility plus

2.75% The current minimum annual interest rate of the 2010 Credit Facility is 6.0%

Dekania Investors LLC will pay fee on the face amount of each letter of credit issued equal to 4.5%

fronting fee of 0.25% on the face amount of the letter of credit issued and the customary issuance fees

TD Bank charged an upfront fee for the 2010 Credit Facility of $250 and the Company was required to pay TD

Bank $450 as an exit fee for the previous credit facility

As result of the 2010 Credit Facility and the related security and plcdge agreements thc Company and its

affiliates continue to grant TD Bank security interest in certain of their assets including substantially all of

their remaining asset management contracts and their rights in the three year Services Agreement discussed in

note but not its investments that are currently classified as investments trading

The 2010 Credit Facility includes standard events of default representations warranties restrictions and

covenants including financial covenants that Dekania Investors LLC is required to maintain such as

minimum net worth minimum consolidated cash flow to debt service coverage ratio minimum

consolidated cash flow to debt service and distribution coverage ratio and maximumfunded debt to

consolidated cash flow ratio

As of December 31 2010 Dekania Investors LLC was in compliance with the financial covenants in the

2010 Credit Facility

The Company has granted its bank debt lenders security interest in certain securities that are currently

included in other investments at fair value with carrying value of $38053 as of December 31 2010 and certain

investments in equity method affiliates with carrying value of $1604 as of December 31 2010

The 2009 Credit Facility

On June 2009 the Company entered into $30000 amended and restated credit facility with TD Bank

NA which was amended on September 30 2009 and was further amended on December 16 2009 in connection

with the complction of the Merger as amended known as the 2009 Credit Facility The total maximum

revolving credit amount under the 2009 Credit Facility which was $30000 at inception was reduced by $1

million
per

month beginning on November 15 2009 and by the amount of proceeds received as result of asset

sales involving collateral sales of capital stock or amounts received on account of the issuance of equity

interests of the Operating LLC The 2009 Credit Facility bore interest at the Companys option at either

one two or three month LIBOR plus 6.5% or base rate as defined in the loan agreement plus 3.75%

both subject to an absolute minimum interest rate of 8.5% The 2009 Credit Facility charged an unused fee of

0.50% per annum payable quarterly based on the unused available funds under the facility In addition TD Bank

NA charged an upfront fee of 3.00% and an exit fee of 1.5% at the first to occur of maturity payment in full or

acceleration both calculated as percentage of the initial maximum revolving credit amount

On July 29 2010 Dekania Investors LLC entered into the 2010 Credit Facility as discussed above which

replaced the 2009 Credit Facility

Contingent Convertible Senior Notes

The Company assumed $26 ISO principl amount of convertible senior notes from AFN at the time of the

Merger The notes are senioi unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally in right of payment with

all of the Companys existing and future unsubordinated unsecured indebtedness The notes are subordinated in

right of payment to the Companys existing and future secured indebtedness to the extent of such security The

notes bear interest at an annual rate of 7.625% The notes mature on May 15 2027
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As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the eanying value of the Companys convertible debt outstanding was

19.104 and $25.374 respectively The Company recorded the debt at fair value as of the date of the Merger

Any difference between the fair value of the convertible senior notes on the Merger date and the principal

amount of debt is amortized into earnings over the estimated remaining life of the underlying debt as an

adjustment to interest expense

The notes will be convertible prior to the maturity date into cash or if note holders exercise their conversion

option shares of the Companys Common Stock under certain circumstances at an initial conversion price per

share of $117.00 adjusted for the for-lO AFN reverse stock
split

effected immediately prior to the

consummation of the Merger on December 16 2009 which represents conversion rate of approximately

8.5470 shares of Common Stock per $1000 principal amount of notes If converted the holders of the notes will

receive an amount in cash per note equal to the lesser of $1000 and iithe average of the daily conversion

values for each of the twenty consecutive trading days of the conversion reference period Daily conversion

value means with respect to any trading day the product of the applicable conversion rate and the

volume weighted average price of the Companys Common Stock on such trading day

The Company may redeem all or part of the notes for cash on or after May 20 2012 at redemption price

equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest if

any to but excluding the redemption date

The holders of the notes may require the Company to repurchase all or portion of their notes for cash on

May 15 2012 May 15 2017 and May 15 2022 for repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of

the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest if any to but excluding the repurchase date

The holders of the notes are required to provide notice to the Company of their plan to redeem the notes at any

time during the 30 days prior to May 15 2012 May 15 2017 and May 15 2022 According to the provisions

surrounding debt with conversion and other options included in FASB ASC 470 Debt the Company is required

to account separately for the liability and equity component of its convertible debt that by their stated terms

may be settled in cash or other assets upon conversion including partial cash settlement of the conversion

option in manner that reflects the Companys noneonvertible unsecured debt borrowing rate The difference

between the fair value of the debt component and the initial proceeds from the issuance of the debt is recorded as

component of equity The resulting debt discount which is equal to the excess of the principal amount of the

liability over its carrying amount should be amortized to interest expense over the expected life of the debt The

Company concluded that upon its assumption of the convertible senior notes on December 16 2009 the equity

component of the debt was so significantly out of the money that it had an immaterial fair value Aeeoidingly all

fair value was allocated to the liability component

During 2010 the Company repurehased $6644 notional amount of contingent convertible senior notes from

unrelated third parties for $5.596 including accrued interest The Company recognized gain from repurehases of

debt of $923 which is included as separate component of non-operating ineomelexpense in the Companys
consolidated statements of operations The Company also recognized gain from the repurchase of subordinated

notes which is also included in this line See below

As of December 31 2010 the Company was in compliance with the covenants of the convertible senior

notes

Junior Subordinated Notes

The Company assumed $49.6 14 aggregate principal amount of junior subordinated notes outstanding at the

time of the Merger As of December 31 2010 and 009 the carrying value of the Copipanys junior suboidinated

notes outstanding was $17160 and $17269 respectively The Company recorded thedebt at fair value on the

acquisition date Any difference between the fair value of the junior subordinated notes on the Merger date and

the principal amount of debt is amortized into earnings over the estimated remaining life of the underlying debt

as an adjustment to interest expense
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The junior subordinated notes are payable to two special purpose trusts

Alesco Capital Trust $28995 in aggregate principal amount issued in June 2007 As of December 31

2010 and 2009 the carrying value of these notes was $10767 and $11245 respectively The notes mature on

July 30 2037 and may be called by the Company at par any time after July 30 2012 The notes accrue interest

payable quarterly at fixed interest rate equal to 9.495% per annum through the distribution payment date on

July 30 2012 and thereafter at floating interest rate equal to LIBOR plus 400 basis points per annum through

July 30 2037 All principal is due at maturity The Alesco Capital Trust simultaneously issucd 870 shares of the

Alesco Capital Trusts common securities to the Company for purchase price of $870 which constitutes all of

the issued and outstanding common securities of the Alesco Capital Trust

Sunset Financial Statutory Trust Sunset Financial Trust $20619 in aggregate principal amount

issued in March 2005 As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the carrying value of these notes was $6393 and

$024 respectively The nntes mature en March 30 2035 The netes accrue interest payable quarterly at

floating rate of interest of 90-day LIBOR plus 415 basis points All principal is due at maturity The Sunset

Financial Trust simultaneously issued 619 shares of the Sunset Financial Trusts common securities to the

Company for purchase price of $619 which constitutes all of the issued and outstanding common securities of

the Sunset Financial Trust

The Trusts described above are VIEs pursuant to variable interest provisions included in FASB ASC 810

because the holders of the equity investment at risk do not have adequate decision making ability over the Trusts

activities Because the Companys investment in the Trusts common securities were financed directly by the

Trusts as result of their loan of the proceeds to the Company that investment is not considered to be an equity

investment at risk pursuant to variable interest guidance in FASB ASC 810 and the Company is not the primary

beneficiary of the Trusts The Trusts are not consolidated by the Company and therefore the Companys
consolidated financial statements include the junior subordinated notes issued to the Trusts as liability and the

investment in the Trusts common securities as an asset The common securities were deemed to have fair

value of $0 as of the Merger Date and as of December 31 2009 and 2010

Subordinated Notes Payable

On June 25 2008 the Company executed three separate agreements with three of its members Daniel

Cohen Christopher Rieciardi and Cohen Financial Group Inc CFG to obtain $9000 of unsecured

subordinated financing the Original Subordinated Notes The Original Subordinated Notes were comprised of

$6000 from CFG $2000 from Daniel Cohen and $1000 from Christopher Ricciardi See note 30 for further

discussion of CFG

CFG filed Certificate of Dissolution with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on December 16

2009 and is in process of completing the liquidation process Prior to the completion of the Merger the

Company issued new subordinated notes to each stockholder of CFG evidencing its obligation to pay to each

such stockholder the stockholders pro rata share of the original note to CFG the New Subordinated Notes

and together with the Original Subordinated Notes the Subordinated Notes The New Subordinated Notes

have substantially the same terms and provisions as contained in CFGs Original Subordinate Note

Messrs Cohen and Ricciardi were stockholders of CFG and received New Subordinated Notes in the

original principal amount of $495 and $103 respectively representing their pro rata share of CFGs note

The Subordinated Notes mature on June 20 2013 and bear interest at an annual ate of 12% portion of

this interest 9% is payable in cash semiannually on May and November oftaeh year commencing on in the

case of the Original Subordinated Notes November 2008 and in the ease of the New Subordinated Notes

May 12010 The remaining portion 3% is paid in kind at an annual rate of 3% which is also payable

semiannually All accrued in kind interest is added to the unpaid principal balance of the Subordinated Notes on
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each May and November and thereafter the increased principal balance accrues interest at the annual rate of

12% The Subordinated Notes are unsecured obligations of the Company and payments of principal and interest

on the notes are subordinated to the 2010 Credit Facility

On July 29 2010 CCS one of the Companys U.S broker dealer subsidiaries commenced its offer to

purchase all of the outstanding Subordinated Notes for an amount equal to 80% of the outstanding principal

balance including accrued pai.d in-kind interest up to but excluding the payment date plus 100% of accrued

and unpaid cash interest up to but excluding the payment date As of July 29 2010 the notes had principal

balance of $9508 and interest is paid in cash at an annual rate equal to nine percent 9% per annum and in kind

at an annual rate equal to three percent 3% per annum On August 27 2010 CCS completed its cash offer to

purchase all of the outstanding Subordinated Notes that were tendered total of $8.08 principal amount of the

Subordinated Notes representing 85% of the outstanding Subordinated Notes were tendered prior to the

expiration of the offer to repurchase on Augdst 26 2010 CCS accepted for purchase all of the Subordinated

Notes tendered pursuant to the offer to repurchase for total purchase price of $6762 including accrued interest

The Company recognized gain from repurchase of debt of $1632 for the year ended December 31 2010 See

note 30 for description of notes held and redeemed by related parties

The interest expense both cash and in kind on the Subordinated Notes totaled $800 $1099 and $557 for

the year ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively and was included in interest expense in the

consolidated statements of operations As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the Subordinated Notes payable was

$1448 including $0 notes payable to related parties and $9368 including $3807 notes payable to related

parties respectively

Deferred Financing

In June 2009 the Company charged $169 of unamortized deferred financing costs to interest expense in the

consolidated statement of operations related to former bank group loan The Company also recorded $1438 in

deferred financing costs in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets associated with the 2009 Credit Facility

in 2009 In July 2010 the Company wrote off $675 of unamortized deferred financing to interest expense relating

to the 2009 Credit Facility upon the execution of the 2010 Credit Facility The Company paid $349 of deferred

financing costs during the second half of 2010 associated with the 2010 Credit Facility Deferred financing costs

are recorded in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets See note 17 The Company will
expense these

deferred financing costs to interest expense over the remaining life of the 2010 Credit Facility

The Company recognized interest expense from deferred financing costs of $1111 $1036 and $1 075 for

the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The remaining net deferred financing asset as

of December 31 2010 and 2009 was $282 and $1044 respectively and was included in other assets in the

consolidated balance sheets The expected interest expense from deferred financing costs to be recognized in

2011 is $161 and in 2012 is $121 No amortization will be recorded beyond 2012 as the deferred financing costs

will be fully amortized in 2012

Interest Rate Swap

The Company entered into an interest rnte swap under former bank group loan See note II It did not

designate this swap as hedge The Company eanled the swap at fair value and included any gain or loss as part

of interest expense component of non operating income expense on the consolidated statements ot

operations The Company terminated the swap upon entering into the 2009 Credit Facility

Interest Expense

Interest expense includes interest incurred for the Companys debt described in this note the amoitization of

deferred financing related to the credit facilities the amortization of discount related to the convertible senior

notes and the junior subordinated notes and the change in fair value of the interest rate swap
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19 STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY/MEMBERS EQUITY AND RESTRICTIONS

Upon the consummation of the Merger each holder of Restricted Units received 0.57372 shares of the

Companys Common Stock or retained 0.57372 new membership units in the Operating LLC Any

outstanding options were cancelled effective with the Merger See note 20

Prior to the Merger Cohen Brothers was limited liability company As result of the Merger the

Company is corporation All historical share/unit and per share/unit information presented prior to the Merger

date was retroactively restated for the recapitalization of membership units based on the exchange ratio

determined in connection with the Merger

Common Stock

The holders of the Companys Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share These holders are entitled

to receive distributions on such stock when as and if authorized by the Companys Board of Directors out of

funds legally available and declared by the Company and to share ratably in the assets legally available for

distribution to the Companys stockholders in the event of its liquidation dissolution or winding up after

payment of or adequate provision for all of the Companys known debts and liabilities including the preferential

rights on dissolution of any class or classes of preferred stock The holders of the Companys Common Stock

have no preference conversion exchange sinking fund redemption or so long as the Companys Common

Stock remains listed on national exchange appraisal rights and have no preemptive rights to subscribe for any

of the Companys securities Shares of the Companys Common Stock have equal dividend liquidation and other

rights

Preferred Stock

Series Voting Convertible Preferred Stock In connection with the Merger in exchange for all of Cohen

Brothers Class membership units Daniel Cohen the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the

Company held through Cohen Bros Financial LLC CBF received one share of the Companys Series

Voting Convertible Preferred Stock Series Preferred Stock which had no economic rights but gave

Mr Cohen the right to nominate and elect number equal to at least one-third but less than majority of the

total number of directors on the Companys Board of Directors The Series Preferred Stock would be

automatically redeemed for par value on December31 2012 The holder of Series Preferred Stock was not

entitled to receive any dividends distributions or any distributions upon liquidation dissolution or winding up

of the Company There was one share of Series Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of December 31

2009 On October 18 2010 Mr Cohen elected to convert the one share of Series Preferred Stock that he held

into 4983557 shares of Series Voting Non-Convertible Preferred Stock Therefore there were no shares of

Series Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as of December 2010

Series Voting Non-Convertible Preferred Stock Each share of the Companys Series Voting

Non Convertible Preferred Stock Series Preferred Stock does not have any economic rights but entitles

Mr Cohen to vote the Series Preferred Stock on all matters presented to the Companys stockholders Each

share of Series Preferred Stock is entitled to one vote The 4983557 shares of Series Preferred Stock are

equivalent to the amount of Operating LLC membership units held by Mr Cohen as of December 31 2010 See

note The Series Prefened stock effectively gives Mr Cohen voting rights at the Company in the same

prnportion as his economic interest as his membership units of the Operating LLC do not carry voting rights at

the Company level The Series Preferred Stock effectively enables Mr Cohen to exercise approximately

32.1 G/ of the voting power of the Companys Common Stock based on the outstanding number of shares of the

Companys Common Stock as of December 3l 2010 The Series Pieferred Stock will be automatically

redeemed for par value on December 31 2012 Holders of Series Preferred Stock are not entitled to receive

any dividends distributions or distributions upon liquidation dissolution or winding up of the Company As of

December 31 2010 and 2009 there were 4983557 shares and shares of Series Preferred Stock respectively

issued and outstanding
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Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock Series

Preferred Stock was authorized by the Companys Board of Directors in connection with the Stockholder

Rights Plan discussed below The holders of Series Preferred Stock are entitled to receive when as and if

declared by the Companys Board of Directors out of funds legally available for the purpose quarterly dividends

payable in cash on the last day of March June September and December in each year commencing on the first

quarterly dividend payment date after the first issuance of share or fraction of share of Series Preferred

Stock Dividends accrue and are cumulative The holder of each share of Series Junior Participating Preferred

Stock is entitled to 10000 votes on all matters submitted to vote of the Companys stockholders Holders of

Series Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends distributions or distributions upon liquidation

dissolution or winding up of the Company in an amount equal to $100000 per share of Series Preferred Stock

plus an amount equal to accrued and unpaid dividends and distributions whether or not declared prior to

payments made to holders of shares of stock ranking junior to the Series Preferred Stock The shares of Series

Preferred Stock are not redeemable There are no shares of Series Preferred Stock issued and outstanding as

of December 31 2010 and 2009

Stockholder Rights Plan

On December 21 2009 the Companys Board of Directors adopted Section 382 Rights Agreement the

Rights Agreement in an effort to protect against possible limitation on the Companys ability to use its net

operating loss and net capital loss carry forwards the deferred tax assets to reduce potential future federal

income tax obligations See note 21 The Rights Agreement provides for distribution of one preferred stock

purchase right Right and collectively the Rights for each share of the Companys Common Stock par

value $0001 per share outstanding to stockholders of record at the close of business on December 21 2009

Each Right entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company unit consisting of one ten thousandth

of share of Series Preferred Stock par value $0001 per share at purchase price of $100.00 per unit subject

to adjustment

Initially the Rights will not be exercisable and will be attached to and automatically trade with the

Companys Common Stock The Rights will separate from the Companys Common Stock and distribution

date will occur with certain exceptions upon the earlier of ten days following public announcement that

person or group
of affiliated or associated persons has acquired beneficial ownership of 4.95% or more of the

Companys outstanding Common Stock which person or group would then qualify as an acquiring person or

ii ten business days following the commencement of tender offer or exchange offer that would result in

person or group becoming an acquiring person If at the time of the adoption of the Rights Agreement any

person or group of affiliated or associated persons was the beneficial owner of 4.95% or more 0f the outstanding

shares of the Companys Common Stock such person shall not become an acquiring person unless and until such

person acquires any additional shares of the Companys Common Stock In addition to other exceptions person

will not become an acquiring person if such person acquired the shares of the Companys Common Stock

pursuant to the exercise of options or warrants to purchase Common Stock outstanding and beneficially owned

by such person as of the date such person became the beneficial owner of 4.95% or more of the then outstanding

shares of the Companys Common Stock or as result of an adjustment to the number of shares of the

Companys Common Stock for which such options or warrants are exercisable or as result of stock
split or

stock dividend

The Rights have no voting privileges and will expire on the earliest of the close of business on

December 31 2012 ii the time at which the Rights are redeemed pursuant to the Rights Agreement iii the

time at which the Rights are exchanged pursuant to the Rights Agreement iv the repeal of Section 382 of the

Internal Revenue Code or any successor statue if the Companys Board of Directors cletenTiines that the Rights

Agreement is no longer necessary or desirable for the preservation of certain tax benefits or the beginning of

the taxable year of the Company to which the Companys Board of Direetois determines that certain tax benefits

niay not be carried forward
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The Rights Agreement contains provision such that if person or group acquires beneficial ownership of

4.95% or more of the Companys Common Stock and is determined by the Companys Board of Directors to be

an auquiring person each Right other than the Rights held by the acquiring person will entitle the huldei to

purchase Common Stock having value of two times the exercise p1-ice of the Right

No rights were exercisable at December 31 2010 or 2009 There was no impact to the Companys financial

results as result of the adoption of the Rights Agreement The terms and conditions of the Rights are set forth in

the Section 382 Rights Agreement attached as Exhibit 4.1 to TFMIs Form filed with the SEC on

December 28 2009 The terms and conditions of the amendment to the Rights Agreement are set forth in the

Amendment No to the Section 382 Rights Agreement attached as Exhibit 4.1 to the IFMJs Form filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 2011

Repurchase of Options

As part of the Companys former option plan prior to the Merger the Company had the right but not the

obligation to repurchase exercised options at price equal to fair market value The Company recorded any such

repurchase as reduction in stockholders/members equity See note 20

Net Share Settlement of Restricted Stock

The Company niay from time to time net share settle equity based awards for the payment of employees

tax obligations to taxing authorities related to the vesting of such equity based awards The total shares withheld

are based on the value of the restricted award on the applicable vesting date as determined by the Companys

closing stock price These net share settlements reduced and retired the number of shares that would have

otherwise been issued as result of the vesting and do not represent an expense to the Company

Dividends and Distributions

During the third quarter of 2010 the Companys Board of Directors declared cash dividend of $0.05 per

share payable per quarter on the Companys outstanding common stock During 2010 the Company paid cash

dividends on its outstanding common stock in the amount of $1043 Pro rata distributions were made to other

members of the Operating LLC upon the payment of dividends to the Companys stockholders During 2010 the

Company paid cash distributions of $528 to the holders of the non controlling interest

The Company made distributions to its members in the amounts of $4746 and $7826 for the year ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Distributions to members are governed by the Operating LLCs Amended and Restated Limited Liability

Company operating agreement and are subject to restrictions imposed by the Companys 2010 Credit Facility

entered into on July 29 2010 See note 18 Substantially all of the Companys operations are conducted at the

Operating LLC level In order to pay dividends to its stockholders the Company must receive distributions from

the Operating LLC Therefore substantially all the Companys net assets as well as net income are subject to

iestrictions on paying dividends
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Shares/Units Outstanding of Stockholders/Members Equity of the Company

The following table summarizes the unit/share transactions that occurred in members equity/stockholders equity

during the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 respectively

ROLLFORWARD OF UNITS/SHARES OUTSTANDING OF
INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

Prior to December 16 2009 Cohen Brothers LLC

For the Year Ended December 31 2008

Unit

Issuance as Repurchase/Forfeiture

December 31 Equity-Based Exercise nf or Expiration of December 31
2007 Compensation Options Options 2008

Restricted Units 9569253 97762 8032 63340 9611707

Options 429935 63109 8032 47533 437479

9999188 160871
_____

110873 10049186

For the Year Ended December 31 2009

Unit

Repurchase/Forfeiture Issuance of Units retained

Issuance as or Expiration or Shares as by

December 31 Equity-Based Cancellation of Issuance of Merger Noncontrolling December 31
2008 Compensation Options Units Recapitalization Consideration Interest 2009

Restricted

Units 9611707 9611.707

Options 437479 265760 703239

Common

Stock 9611709 5979085 5283556 10307238

Rectricted

Stock 36109 36109

Treasury

Stock 50400 50400

10049186 265760 703239 50.398 6015194 5283556 10292947

For the Year Ended December 31 2010

Shares

Issuance Issuance as withheld Forfeiture of

December 31 of Equity- Based Vesting of for Employee Restricted December 31
2009 shares Compensation Shares Taxes Stock 2010

Common Stock 10307238 89572 25952 10370858

Restricted Stock 36.109 216383 89572 694 162226

Treasury Stock 50.400 50.400

10292947 216383 25952 694 10482684
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Future Conversion Redemption of Operating LLC Units

Of the 5283556 Operating LLC membership units not held by the Company Daniel Cohen through

CBF single member LLC holds 4983557 Operating LLC membership units Each of Mr Cohens Operating

LLC membership units are redeemable at Mr Cohens option at any time on or after January 2013 for

cash in an amount equal to the average of the
per share closing prices of the Companys Common Stock for

the ten consecutive trading days immediately preceding the date the Company receives Mr Cohens redemption

notice or ii at the Companys option one share of the Companys Common Stock subject in each case to

appropriate adjustment upon the occurrence of an issuance of additional shares of the Companys Common Stock

as dividend or other distribution on the Companys outstanding Common Stock or further subdivision or

combination of the outstanding shares of the Companys Common Stock Other members of the Operating LLC

hold total of 299999 units These units have the same redemption rights as described above except that the

members holding these units may elect to redeem their shares at any time

Unit Issuance and Surrender Agreement

On December 10 2010 but effective January 2011 IFMI and the Operating LLC entered into Unit

Issuance and Sunender Agreement the UTS Agreement which was approved by IFMIs Board of Directors

and the board of managers of the Operating LLC In an effort to maintain 11 ratio of IFMIs Common Stock to

the number of membership units IFMI holds in the Operating LLC the UlS Agreement calls for the issuance of

additional membership units of the Operating LLC to IFMI when IFMI issues its Common Stock to employees

under existing equity compensation plans In certain cases the UIS Agreement calls for IFMI to surrender units

to the Operating LLC when certain restricted shares are forfeited by the employee or repurchased

20 EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION

As described in note 3-Q the Companys equity based compensation to its employees was comprised of

Options Restricted Units and restricted shares

Prior to the Merger the Company granted from time to time Options and Restricted Units to its officers

and employees pursuant to the former Cohen Brothers option plan and limited liability company agreement

Upon the consummation of the Merger any outstanding unit options granted under the option plan were

cancelled and all Restricted Units exchanged for shares of the Companys Common Stock All unamortized

expense was charged to operations See note 19

Unit Options Prior to the AFN Merger

During the year ended December 31 2009 and 2008 the aggregate intrinsic value of Options exercised was

$0 and $43 respectively The Company received proceeds from the exercise of Options during the year ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 in the amount of $0 and $62 respectively The weighted average grant date fair

value of options granted during 2009 and 2008 was $6.00 and $5.42 respectively All Options outstanding prior

to December 16 2009 weie cancelled upon the consummation of the Mergei The Company recognixed equity

based compensation expense in connection with the issuance of Options of $3513 and $2658 for the year ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 iespectively and the equity based compensation expense was included in

compensation and benefits in the consolidated statements of operations
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The fair values of options were estimated at the grant date using the Black Scholes option pricing model

with the following weighted average assumptions

WEIGHTED AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS
FOR BLACK-SCHOLES OPTION MODEL

December 31

2009 2008

Risk Free Interest Rate 2.43% 3.13%

Expected Life in years 5.2 5.9

Expected Volatility 38.42% 29.64%

Dividend Yield 0.00% 0.00%

The risk-free rate was derived from public data sources at the time of the grant and represented the U.S

Treasury zero coupon bond yield with maturity that approximated the expected life of the option The expected

life of options granted was calculated using the simplified method in accordance with Staff Accounting

Bulletin SAB 107 and 110 SAB 107 and 110 allow the use of an acceptable methodology under which the

Company can take the midpoint of the vesting date and the full contractual term The expected volatility was

based upon the volatility of comparable public companies The Company assumed zero dividend payout over

the expected life of the Option Compensation cost was recognized over the expected life of the Option using the

straight line method

Restricted Units Prior to the AFN Merger

When issuing Restricted Units prior to the Merger the Company determined the fair value of the Restricted

Units issued either through an independent third party appraisal or an internal valuation model All of the

unvested Restricted Units outstanding prior to December 16 2009 vested immediately prior to the effective time

of the Merger and were converted along with all previously vested amounts into Cohen Brothers membership

units and exchanged for shares of the Companys Common Stock

The weighted average fair value per unit of the Restricted Units granted during 2009 and 2008 was $0 and

$15.10 respectively The Company recognized equity based compensation expense of $2044 and $3519 for the

year ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively and the expense was included in compensation and

benefits in the consolidated statements of operations

Restricted Units Pursuant to the 2009 Equity ward Plan

The Cohen Brothers LLC Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Award Plan the 2009 Equity Award Plan

was originally adopted by the Company in August 2009 and was amended and restated on April 28 2010 The

2009 Equity Award Plan permits the grant of Operating LLC restricted units to the Companys employees which

represent right that entitles the recipient upon vesting of the restricted unit to receive the number of Operating

LLC membership units in the restricted unit agreement The awards under this plan aie subject to time based and

or performance based vesting conditions and generally vest over period of three years The maximum number

of restricted units authorized to be granted pursuant this plan is limited to 1721160 of which no units emain

available to be issued as of Deeernbei 31 2010 All awaids pursuant to this plan are subject to the
pi

iur written

consent of the Companys Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Daniel Cohen

In connection with the 2009 Equity Award Plan Mr Cohen and the Operating LIC are parties to an Equity

Plan Funding Agreement the Equity Funding Agieement whereby Mr Cohen is required to transfer to the

Operating LLC the number of Operating LLC membership units or shares of the Companys Common Stock

equal to the number of Operating LLC membership units to be issued by the Operating LLC to the participants in
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the 2009 Equity Award Plan in connection with vesting of Operating LLC resti-icted unit or the Company

the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Operating LLC membership units to be issued to

the participants in the 2009 Equity Award Plan in eunneetion with the vesting of an Opetating LLC testrieted

unit The maximum number of Operating LLC membership units and shares of the Companys Common Stock

in the aggregate that Mr Cohen is obligated to transfer is 1721160 As result of the Equity Funding

Agreement the capitalization of the Operating LLC does not change as result of the issuance of Operating LLC

restricted units under the 2009 Equity Award Plan

Substantially

all of the 2009 Equity Plan awards were issued prior to the Merger For the awards that were

issued prior to the Merger the Company determined the fair value of these restricted units based on the implied

value of Cohen Brothers membership unit derived from the Companys public stock price on the date of grant

multiplied by the exchange ratio called for in the Merger Agreement For the awards that were issued during

2010 the Company determined the fairvalue of these restricted units based on the Companys stock price on the

date of grant

Restricted Unit activity with respect to the Companys 2009 Equity Award Plan was as follows for the year

ended December 31 2010

RESTRICTED UNITS SERVICE BASED VESTING

Weighted

Average

Number Grant

Restricted Date Fair

Units Value

Unvested at January 2010 990942 $7.24

Granted

Vested

Forfeited 633032 7.20

Cancelled
________

Unvested at December 31 2010 357910 $7.32

The Restricted Units noted in the above table include three year service requirement that must be met in

order for the Restricted Units to vest The weighted average grant date fair value for Restricted Units that

contained only service based vesting criteria awarded pursuant to the 2009 Equity Award Plan for the year ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 was $0 and $7.23 respectively

RESTRICTED UNITS PERFORMANCE BASED AND SERVICE BASED VESTING

Weighted

Average

Nunsber Grant

Restricted Date Fair

Units Value

Unvested at January 12010 453360 $7.24

Granted 192234 5.28

Vested

Forfeited 259519 5.97

Cancelled 96118 7.15

Unvested at December 31 2010 289957 $7.10
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The Restricted Units noted in the above table include performance targets based on the generation of

specified amounts of gross profit revenues or other operating targets
that must be achieved by the individual

grantees in addition to three year service requirement that must be met in order for the Restricted Units to vest

The weighted average grant date fair value for Restricted Units that contained performance based and service

based vesting criteria for the year ended December 31 2010 and 2009 was $5.28 and $7.25 respectively During

the year ended December 31 2010 there were 96118 Restricted Units that were cancelled due to the fact that the

grantees were unable to achieve certain performance thresholds and therefore the awards would never vest

Equity-based compensation expense for equity based awards that contain performance conditions are recognized

when it becomes probable that such performance conditions will be met

The Company recognized equity-based compensation expense of $1144 and $975 related to the 2009

Equity Award Plan for the year ended Decenjber 31 2010 and 2009 respectively and the expense was included

in eonipeusatiuu aud benefits in the eousulidated stateiiieuts uf operations Theie weie uo awards giauted

pursuant to the 2009 Equity Award Plan prior to 2009

Restricted Common Stock Pursuant to the AFN 2006 Equity Incentive Plan and the Institutional Financial

Markets Inc 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan

In connection with the Merger the Company assumed the AFN 2006 Equity Incentive Plan the 2006

Equity Incentive Plan In addition the Company adopted the Institutional Financial Markets Inc 2010 Long-

Term Incentive Plan the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan on April 22 2010 which was approved by the

Companys stockholders at the Companys annual meeting on December 10 2010 The 2006 Equity Incentive

Plan and the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan are collectively referred to as the Equity Incentive Plans The Equity

Incentive Plans provide for the grant of stock options restricted Common Stock stock appreciation rights and

other share based awards The Equity Incentive Plans are administered by the compensation committee of the

Companys Board of Directors The maximum number of share based awards of the Companys Common Stock

authorized to be granted pursuant to these plans is limited to 1996500 of which 1581.088 shares remain

available to be issued as of December 31 2010

RESTRICTED STOCK

Weighted

Average

Number Grant

Restricted Date Fair

Units Value

Unvested at January 12010 361091 $24.84

Granted 216383 5.85

Vested 89572 10.33

Forfeited 694 24.00

Cancelled
________

Unvested at December31 2010 162226 6.09

Represents shares of the restricted Common Stock assumed from AFN There was no additional

compensation cost recognized as the modification to these awards on the Merger date resulted in the fair

value of the restricted Common Stock on the Mcrger date being equivalent to the fair value of the awards

immediately prior to the Merger

The total fair value of awards vested based on the fair market value of the Companys Common Stock on

the vesting date during the year ended December 31 2010 was $580
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The Company recognized equity based compensation of $24 for the period from December 17 2009 to

December 31 2009 related to the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan and $1361 for the year ended December 31 2010

related to the Equity Incentive Plans The restricted shares of Common Stock typically may vest either quarterly

annually or at the end of specified term on straight line basis over the remaining term of the awards

assuming the recipient is continuing in service to the Company at such date

The Company routinely issues equity based compensation to its employees and directors Subsequent to

December 31 2010 the Company issued 1458652 shares of restricted Common Stock to its employees and

105093 shares of restricted Common Stock to its directors The employee grants typically have performance and

service conditions and cliff vest during 2013 and 2014 The director grants are restricted for one year but have no

performance or service conditions

Equity-Raced 7ampen.cation Erpen.e

The following table summarizes the amounts the Company recognized as equity-based compensation

ezpense including Restricted Stock Units and Options These amounts are included as component of

compensation and benefits in the consolidated statements of operations The remaining unrecognized

compensation expense related to unvested awards at December 31 2010 was $5525 and the weighted average

period of time over which this expense will be recognized is approximately 2.11 years The awards assume

estimated forfeitures during the vesting period which were updated to reflect the actual forfeitures that occurred

during 2008 2009 and 2010

DETAIL OF EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION INCLUDED IN COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS

Dollars in Thousands

Non Equity

Equity-Based Based Total

Compensation Compensation Compensation

For the Year Ended December 31 Expense Expense ti and Benefits

2010 $2505 $74941 $77446

2009 $6556 $63963 $70519

2008 $6177 $46938 $53115

Other for the year ended December 31 2009 included $12374 of expense associated with retention

arrangements that the Company entered into in December 2008 and January 2009 with certain of its

employees to ensure their continued service through the completion of the Merger See note

21 INCOME TAXES

For tax purposes AFN contributed its assets and certain of its liabilities to Cohen Brothers in exchange for

an interest in Cohen Brothers on December 16 2009 AFN was organized and had been operated as REIT for

United States federal income tax purposes Accordingly AFN generally was not subject to U.S federal income

tax to the extent of its distributions to stockholders and as long as certain asset income distribution and share

ownership tests wete met As result of the consummation of the Merger TFMI ceased to qualify as REIT

effective as of January 1.2010 and is instead treated as cotporation for United States federal income tax

purposes
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The components of income tax expense benefit included in the consolidated statements of operations for

each year presented herein are

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Dollars in Thousands

For the Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Current income tax expense benefit

Federal income tax

Foreign income tax 31 174 1014

State and local income tax 47 220 812

78 46 1826

Deferred income tax expense benefit

Federal Income tax benefit expense 587 55

State Income tax benefit expense 1414 223

Net deferred tax expense benefit 827 55 223

Total 749 $9 $2049

Thc current tax liability as of December 31 2010 and 2009 was $426 and $843 respectively and is

included as component of accounts payable and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets During the

year ended December 31 2010 accrued income taxes related to the acquisition of AFN which is included in the

current tax liability increased by $34 for adjustments made during the measurement period to the fair value of

the liabilities assumed This retrospective adjustment is reflected in accounts payable and other liabilities at

December 31 2009 in accordance with the accounting guidance for business combinations See notes and 17

The expected income tax expense /benefit using the federal statutory rate differs from income tax

expense benefit pertaining to pre-tax income loss as result of the following for 2010 The Company was

not subject to federal income tax prior to 2010

2010

Federal statutory rate 35% 3663

Pass thru impact 1267
Goodwill impairment 1299

Capital raising costs 776

Deferred tax valuation allowance 5214
Other net

December 312010 749

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the book basis and tax

basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse

The recognition of deferred tax assets is reduced by valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that the tax

benefits will not be realized
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The components of the net deferred tax asset liability are as follows

DEFERRED TAX ASSET AND LIABILITY

Dollars in Thousands

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

Asset Liability Net Asset Liability Net

Federal Net operating loss carry-forward 22268 22268 16826 16826

State Net operating loss carry-forward 2.989 2989 2.5 96 2596

Capital loss carry forward 25340 25340 23.071 23071

Unrealized gain on debt 13700 13700 14716 14716
Unrealized loss on investment in the Operating

LLC 118744 118744 154658 154658

Other 6657
_______

6657 767 767

Ending deferred tax assetlliability 175998 13700 162298 197918 14716 183202

Less Deferred tax asset valuation

allowance 171187
_______

171187 192919 192919

Netdeferrcd tax assetlliability 4811 $13700$ 8889$ 4999 $14716$ 9717

The Companys net deferred tax liability decreased by $1 182 for adjustments made dur ng the measurement

period related to the Merger This retrospective adjustment is reflected in the amounts presented in the table

above as of December 31 2009 in accordance with the accounting guidance for business combinations See

notes4 and 17

As of December 31 2010 the Company had federal net operating loss NOL of approximately

$63662 which will be available to offset future taxable income subject to limitations described below If not

used this NOL will begin to expire in 2028 The Company also had net capital losses NCL5 in excess of

capital gains of $58100 as of December 31 2010 which can be carried forward to offset future capital gains

subject to the limitations described below If not used this carry forward will begin to expire in 2012 No

assurance can be made that the Company will have future taxable income or future capital gains to benefit from

its NOL and NCL carryovers

The Company has determined that its NOL and NCL carryovers are not currently limited by Section 382 of

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the Code However largely because of the material shift in

ownership related to the Merger the Company may experience an ownership change as defined in that section

Ownership Change in the future

If an Ownet ship Change were to occur in the future the Companys ability to use its NOLs NCLs and

certain recognized built-in losses to reduce its taxable income in future year would generally be limited to an

annual amount the Section 382 Limitation equal to the fair value of the Company immediately prior to the

Ownership Change multiplied by the long term tax-exempt interest rate In the event of an Ownership Change

NOLs and NCLs that exceed the Section 382 Limitation in any year will continue to be allowed as carry forwards

for the remainder of the carry forward period and such NOLs and NCLs can be used to offset taxable income for

years within the carry forward period subject to the Section 382 Limitation in each year However if the carry

forward period for any
NOL or NCL were to expire before that loss is fully utilized the unused portion of that

loss would be lost

On December 21 2009 the Company entered into the Rights Agreement trrproteet the use of previously

accumulated NOLs NCLs and certain other tax attributes by dissuading investors from aggregating ownership in

the Company and triggering an Ownership Change See note 19
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Notwithstanding the facts that the Company has determined that the use of its remaining NOL and NCL

carry
forwards are not currently limited by Section 352 of the Code and ii the Company has implemented the

Rights Agreement as described in note 19 to reduce the chance of future ownership change the Company

recorded valuation allowance for substantially all of its NOLs and NCLs when calculating its net deferred tax

liability as of December 31 2010 The valuation allowance was recorded because the Company determined it is

not more likely than not that it will realize these benefits

In determining its federal income tax provision for 2010 the Company has assumed that it will retain the

valuation allowance applied against its deferred tax asset related to the NOL and NCL carry forwards through

and including December 31 2010 To the extent of its usage of NOL and NCL deferred tax assets during 2011

the Company will record an offsetting adjustment to reduce the valuation allowance The Companys
determination that it is not more likely than not that it will realize future tax benefits from the NOLs and NCLs

may change in the future In the future the Company may conclude that it is more likely than not that it will

realize the benefit of all or portion of the NOL and NCL carry forwards If it makes this determination in the

future the Company would reduce the valuation allowance and record tax benefit as component of the

statements of operations in the period it makes this determination Fiom that point forward the Company would

begin to record net deferred tax expense for federal and state income taxes as component of its provision for

income tax expense as it utilizes the NOLs and NCLs for which the valuation allowance was removed

Prior to 2010 the Company had no unrecognized tax benefits reconciliation of the beginning and ending

unrecognized tax benefits for 2010 is as follows

2010

Unrecognized tax benefits as of January 2010

Increases due to tax positions taken during prior periods

Increases due to tax positions taken in current pci iod 1231

Decreases due to settlements with taxing authorities

Reductions due to lapse of applicable statute of limitations

Unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 2010 $1231

The total amount of the unrecognized tax benefit of $1231 if recognized would affect the Companys
annual effective tax rate The Company recognizes interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits and

penalties as component of the provision for income taxes in the consolidated statement of operations During

the periods presented the Company recognized no material interest and penalty amounts Although it is possible

the Company does not expect the unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly within the next twelve

months The Company files tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction various states the United Kingdom and

France With few exceptions the Company is no longer subject to examination for years prior to 2007
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22 ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/LOSS

The following table shows the components of other comprehensive income loss and the tax effects

allocated to other comprehensive income loss

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/LOSS AND INCOME TAX EFFECT

OF ITEMS ALLOCATED TO OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/LOSS

23 NET CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

Dollars in Thousands

The U.S broker dealer subsidiaries of the Company are subject to the net capital provision of Rule 15c3

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 which requires the maintenance of minimum net capital as defined

therein As applied to the Companys U.S broker-dealer subsidiaries CCS and CCCM the rule required net

capital of $226 and $624 as of December 31 2010 respectively CCCM was acquired by the Company effective

in September 2010 The rule required net capital of CCS of $453 as of December 31 2009 As of December 31

2010 and 2009 CCSs adjusted net capital was $3.942 and $2984 respectively which exceeded the minimum

requirements by $3716 and $2531 respectively As of December 2010 CCCMs adjusted net capital was

$22352 which exceeded the minimum requirements by $21728

EuroDekania Management Limited subsidiary of the Company regulated by the Financial Services

Authority in the United Kingdom is subject to the net liquid capital provision of the Financial Services and

Markets Act 2000 GENPRU 140R to 2.1 .57R relating to financial prudence with regards to the European

Investment Services Directive and the European Capital Adequacy Directive which requires the maintenance of

minimum liquid capital as defined therein As of December 31 2010 and 2009 the total minimum required net

liquid capital was $2119 and $2015 respectively and net liquid capital in EuroDekania Management Limited

was $8318 and $4307 respectively which exceeded the minimum requirements by $6199 and $2292

respectively in compliance with the net liquid capital provisions

Net unrealized

gain floss

Foreign

currency

hems
Tax

effect Total

Balance December 31 2007 $02604 730 253 $0 1621
Cumulative effect adjustment for the adoption of the fair value

option provisions included in FASB ASC 825 on January

2008 12604 791 253 11560

Balance January 2008 61 61

Change in foreign currency items 1664 1664

Other comprehensive loss net 1664 1664

Balance December 2008 $I725 1725
Merger and Reorganization

Change in foreign currency items

710

$1015

433

710

1015

433

Other comprehensive income net 433 433

Balance December 31 2009 582 582

Change in foreign currency items 83 83

Other comprehensive income net 83 83

Balance December 2010 665 665
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24 EARNINGS LOSS PER COMMON SHARE/MEMBERSHIP UNIT

The following table presents reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings loss per common share

membership unit for the periods indicated Membership units that may be issued in connection with the vesting

of restricted unit issued pursuant to the 2009 Equity Incentive Plan have been excluded from the diluted

weighted average shares outstanding calculations because of the obligations of Mr Daniel Cohen the

Companys Chairman and Chief Executive Officer under the Equity Funding Agreement See note 20

EARNINGS LOSS PER COMMON SHARE/MEMBERSHIP UNIT

Dollars in Thousands except share or unit and per share or per unit information

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Net income loss attributable to IFMI 7595 11705 6926
Add deduct Income loss attributable to the noncontrolling

interest attributable to Operating LLC membership units

exchangeable into IFMI shares 3620

Add deduct Adjustment for income tax benefit

expense 260
__________

Net income loss on fully convertcd basis 11475 11705 6926

Weighted average common sharesmembership units outstanding

Basic 10404017 9639475 9590525

Operating LLC membership units exchangeable into IFMI

shares 5283556

Weighted average common sharesmembership units outstanding

Diluted 15687573 9639475 9590525

Net income loss per common sharemembership unit-Basic 0.73 1.21 0.72

Net income loss per common sharemembership unit-Diluted 0.73 1.21 0.72

The Operating LLC membership units not held by IFMI that is those held by the non controlling interest

for the year ended December 31 2010 may be redeemed and exchangcd into shares of the Company on

one to one basis These units are not included in the computation of basic earnings per share These units

entcr into the computation of dilutcd net income loss per common sharc when the effect is dilutive using

the if-converted method

If the Operating LLC membership units had been converted at the beginning of the period the Company

would have incurred higher income tax expense or realixed higher income tax benefit as applicable

25 RESERVE REQUIREMENTS

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 CCS and CCCM were not subject to the reseive iequireinents under

Rule 15e3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 because CCS and CCCM do not carry securities accounts for

their customers or perform custodial functions relating to customer securities and therefore they qualify for an

exemption under Rule 5e3 3k2ii
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26 VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The Companys pnlicy nn accnunting fnr VIEs is discussed in notes and 3-K

The Company classifies the VIEs it is involved with into two groups VIEs managed by the Company
and ii VIEs managed by third parties In the case of the VIEs that the Company has been involved with the

Company has generally concluded that the entity that manages the VIE has the power to direct the matters that

most significantly impact the VIEs financial performance This is not blanket conclusion as it is possible for an

entity other than the manager to have the power to direct such matters However for all the VIEs the Company is

involved with as of December 312010 the Company has drawn this conclusion

In the case where the Company has an interest in VIE managed by third party the Company has

concluded that it is not the primary beneficiary because the Company does not have the power to direct its

activities In the case of an interest in VIE managed by the Company the Company will perform an additional

qualitative analysis to determine if its interest including any investment as well as any management fees that

qualify as variable interests could absorb losses or receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the

VIE This analysis considers the most optimistic and pessimistic scenarios of potential economic results that

could reasonably be experienced by the VIE Then the Company compares the benefits it would receive in the

optimistic scenario or the losses it would absorb in the pessimistic scenario as compared to all benefits and

losses absorbed by the VIE in total If the benefits or losses absorbed by the Company were significant as

compared to total benefits and losses absorbed by all variable interest holders then the Company would conclude

it is the primary beneficiary

As of December 31 2010 the Company has variable interests in various seeuritizations but it has

determined that it is not the primary beneficiary and therefore is not consolidating the securitization VIEs The

maximum potential financial statement loss the Company would incur if the securitization vehicles were to

default on all of their obligations would be the loss of value of the interests in securitizations that the

Company holds in its inventory at the time and ii any management fee receivables in the ease of managed

VIEs The Company has not provided financial support to these VIEs during the year ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 and has no liabilities contingent liabilities or guarantees implicit or explicit related to these

VIEs at December 31 2010 and 2009

The following table presents the carrying amounts of the assets in the Companys consolidated balance

sheets that relate to the Companys variable interest in identified VIEs with the exception of the two trust VIEs

that hold the Companys junior subordinated notes see note 18 and the Companys maximum exposure to loss

associated with these identilied noneonsolidated VIEs in which it holds variable interests at December 31 2010

and 2009

NON-CONSOLIDATED VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

Dollars in Thousands

December 31 2010

Carrying Amount

Maximum Exposure tu

Other Investments at toss in non-consolidated

Other Receivables Investments-Trading Fair Value VtEs

Managed VIEs $2087 100 $2.18

Third party managed VIEs 143 4400 05 4.648

Total $2230 $4500 $105 $6835
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December 31 2009

Carrying Amount

Maximum Exposure to

Other Investments at loss in non-consolidated

Other Receivables Investments-Trading Fair Value VIEs

Managed VIEs $3140 $3364 188 6692

Third party managed VIEs 278 5746 2192 8216

Total $3418 $9110 $2380 $14908

27 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Connitrneizts

The Company leases office space in several ci ties under agreements that expire in or prior to 2017 Future

minimum commitments under these operating leases are as follows

FUTURE LEASE COMMITMENTS
Dollars in Thousands

Lease Less Sublease Net Commitment

2011 2983 $1004 $1979

2012 2810 992 1818

2013 2762 1056 1706

2014 2582 1056 1526

2015 2513 1056 1457

2016 and Thereafter 2111 1056 1055

$15761 $6220 $9541

Rcnt expense for the year ended Deccmber 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $2167 $2070 and $2274

respectively and was included in business development occupancy equipment expense in the consolidated

statements of operations Rent expense was recorded net of sublease payments of $1032 $1029 and $750 for

the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The lease commitments noted above represent

the actual cash commitments and will not necessarily match the amount of rent expense recorded in the

consolidated statements uf upei ations See note

Legal and Regulatory Proceedings

The Companys U.S broker dealer subsidiary Cohen Company Securities LLC CCS is party to

litigation commenced on January 12 2009 in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois

the Illinois Court under the caption Frederic/s Grec/e 1101 individually but as Liquidation Trustee and

Representative oft/ic Estate of Sentinel Management Group Ijic Dc/ares Rodriguez Barn Mo/zr Jr

Jacques de Saint Phalle Keefe Bruvette lVoods Inc and Cohen Company Securities LLC The plaintiff in

this case is the Liquidation Trustee the Liquidation Trustee for the Estate of Sentinel Management Group

Inc Sentinel which filed bankruptcy petition in August 2007 The Liquidation Trustee alleges that CCS

sold Sentinel seeuiities mainly culluteiulised debt ubligatiuns that the Liquidation Tiustee contends weie

unsuitable for Sentinel and that CCS violated Section 10b of the Exchange Act and Rule lOb The

Liquidation Trustee also seeks relief under the lllinois Blue Sky Law the Illinois Cosumer Fiaucl Act the

United States Bankruptcy Code and under common law theories of negligence and uzljust enrichment The relief

sought by the Liquidation Trustee undei these various legal theories includes damages rescission disgorgement

and recovery of allegedly voidable transactions under the Bankruptcy Code as well as costs and attorneys fees

The Company is vigorously defending the claims By order dated July 2009 the Illinois Court dismissed the

F-77



Liquidation Trustees Illinois Consumer Fraud Act claim Discovery is ongoing with respect to the remaining

claims No contingent liability was recorded in the Companys consolidated financial statements related to this

litigation

CCS is also party to litigation commenced on May 21 2009 in the Illinois Court under the caption Frederick

.1 Grede not individually but as Liquidation Trustee of the Sentinel Liquidation Trust Assignee of certain

claims Keefe Bruyette Woods Inc Cohen Company Securities LLC Delores Rodriguez Barr

Mohr Jr and Jacques de Saint Phalle The plaintiff in this case is the Liquidation Trustee of the Sentinel

Liquidation Trust which emerged from the bankruptcy of Sentinel filed in August 2007 The Liquidation

Trustee purportedly as the assignee of claims of Sentinels customers alleges that by recommending that

Sentinel purchase securities mainly collateralized debt obligations that the trustee deems to have been

unsuitable for Sentinels customer accounts CCS aided and abetted breaches of fiduciary duties purportedly

owed by Sentinel and its head trader to Sentinels customers in violation of Illinois common law The complaint

also alleges claims under common law theories of negligence and unjust enrichment The Company will

vigorously defend all claims CCS filed motion to dismiss the Liquidation Trustees complaint on July 21
2009 On August 19 2009 without having ruled on CCSs motion to dismiss the Illinois Court stayed this action

pending the Liquidation Trustees appeal of thc dismissal on July 28 2009 of substantially similar case brought

against The Bank of New York Mellon Corp BNYM The dismissal in the BNYM case has been reversed and

remanded to the Illinois Court but no action has bcen taken by the Illinois Court in the litigation against CCS
No contingent liability was recorded in the Companys consolidated financial statements related to this litigation

In 2009 CCS was subject to routine FINRA examination As result of that exam the FINRA staff

requested additional information and the testimony of certain employees concerning the mark-ups CCS charged

in four transactions during the exam period Following its examination the FINRA staff alleged that CCS

charged impermissible mark ups to qualified institutional buyers QIBs as defined in Rule 144A of the

Securities Act referred to herein as institutional customers in three of such transactions With respect to the

first transaction on August 16 2007 CCS purchased collateralized debt obligation having par value of

$10000 for $8250 or 82.5% of par from dealer On August 17 2007 CCS sold those securities to an

institutional customer for $9100 or 91% of par With respect to the second transaction on January 2008 CCS

purchased collateralized debt obligation having pai value of $4500 for $315 or 7% of par from an

institutional customer On January 2008 CCS sold those securities to another institutional customer for $585

or 13% of par With respect to the third transaction on June 2008 CCS purchased collateralized debt

obligation having par value of $8000 for $400 or 5% of par from dealer Later that day CCS sold those

securities to an institutional customer for $600 or 7.5% of par FINRA maintains that the mark-ups were

impermissible because among other factors each of the securities in question was investment grade under

applicable FINRA guidance

CCS reached an agreement with the FINRA staff to settle such allegations Without admitting or denying

the allegations CCS consented to Letter of Acceptance Waiver and Consent the AWC that among other

things alleged violations ofNASD Rules 2110 2440 and 3010 ii censured CCS iii ordered CCS to pay

restitution of $899 plus interest iv ordered CCS to pay $50 line and directed CCS to review its

supervisory systems and procedures The AWC was approved by FINRA in November 2010

As result of the AWC the Company recorded net expense of $662 during the second half of 2010 The

net expense of $662 was comprised of two entiies the Company recorded additional expense of $1070 as

component of professional services subscriptions and other operating expenses.representing the restitution of

$899 the fine of $50 and $121 of interest charges and ii the Company recorded reduction in compensation

and benefits expense of $408 representing the intended recapture by the Company of incentive compensation

previously paid employees related to the thiee transactions

The Operating LLC and its registered investment advisor subsidiary Cohen Company Financial

Management LLC f/k/a Cohen Bros Financial Management LLC are also named in lawsuit originally filed
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on August 2009 in the Supreme Court of the State of New York County of Kings captioned Riverside

Notional Bank of Florida Taberna Capital Management LLC Trapeza Capital Management LLC Cohen

Company Financial Management LLCf/kia Cohen Bros Financial Management LLC FTN Financial Capital

Markets Keefe Bruyette Woods Inc Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner Smith Inc Bank of America

Corporation as successor in interest to Merrill Lynch Co JP Morgan Chase Inc JP Morgan Securities

Citigroup Global Markets Credit Suisse USA LLC ABNAMRO Cohen Company Morgan Keegan Co
Inc Sun Trust Robinson Humphrey Inc The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc Moodys Investors Services Inc

and Fitch Ratings Ltd The plaintiff Riverside National Bank of Florida Riverside alleges that offering

memoranda issued in connection with certain interests in securitizations it purchased failed to disclose alleged

ratings agencies conflicts of interest Riverside alleges among other things common law fraud negligent

misrepresentation and breaches of certain alleged duties On September 28 2009 after demand was made

defendants to change venue plaintiff filed stipulation with the Supreme Court of the State of New York

County of Kings concenting tn changing the place nf tiial from County of Kings to County of New York The

Company is vigorously defending the claims On December 11 2009 the defendants filed motions to dismiss the

complaint on several grounds On Aprl 16 2010 Riverside was closed by the Office of the Comptroller of the

Currency Subsequently the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation the FDIC was named receiver of the

bank By letter dated April 19 2010 Riverside requested 30 day extension for the oral argument on the

defendants motions to dismiss which was originally scheduled for May 12 2010 On May 2010 the FDIC

filed motion to substitute as plaintiff and for an order staying the litigation for 90 days which was subsequently

granted On June 32010 the defendants removed the action to the United States District Court for the Southern

District of New York where the case is captioned Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation The McGraw-Hill

Companies Inc et al 10 Civ 04421 DAB On June 25 2010 Judge Deborah Batts signed an order providing

that defendants are to re file their motions to dismiss by August 24 2010 On August 20 2010 Judge Batts

signed an order adjourning the proceedings for an additional 90 days at the request of the FDIC Since that time

the Court at the request of the FDIC has further adjourned the proceedings to April 29 2011 The effect of such

order is that the defendants motion to dismiss must be filed by May 22011 after which the FDIC will have 60

days to respond and defendants will have 30 days for their replies No contingent liability was recorded in the

Companys consolidated financial statements related to this litigation

In addition to the matters set forth above the Company is party to various routine legal proceedings

arising out of the ordinary course of the Companys business Management believes that none of these routine

legal proceedings will have material adverse effect on the Companys financial condition

Non-Profit Preferred Funding NPPF Arrangement with Merrill Lynch Portfolio Management Inc

On December 27 2007 Merrill Lynch Portfolio Management Inc the NPPF Trustor and the trustee of

the NPPF collateralized debt obligation entered into loan agreement whereby the NPPF Trustor made an

initial $3000 advance to the NPPF collateralized debt obligation so that additional funds would be available for

the most junior collateralized debt obligation certificate holders in future distributions of collateralized debt

obligation waterfall payments At each waterfall payment date the advance is repaid in full and the NPPF

Trustor re advances scheduled amount to the collateralized debt obligation trust The scheduled amounts will

decrease by $300 on each distribution date through September 15 2012 The advance does not bear interest The

Company is not party to this agreement and is not obligated to provide reimbursement for any outstanding

advances to NPPF Trustor As of December 31 2010 the outstanding advance between NPPF Trustor and

Merrill Lynch Poitfolio Management Inc was $1200

As an accommodation to the NPPF Trustor the Company agieed to pay 6% simple interest on the advance

via side letter agreement entered into on DeeembØi 27 2007 between the Conipanyand the NPPF Trustor

The Company is only obligated to pay interest on outstanding advances The side letter will terminate on the

earlier of the payment iii full of all advances and Deeembei 2014 The Company accounts for the interest on the

outstanding advances as reduction to revenue since these interest payments are deemed direct reduction of the

Companys on going revenue that otherwise would have been earned fot the duration of the trust The reduction
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in revenue earned by the Company for the year ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $88 $124 and

$162 respectively The potential additional liability the Company would have assuming the $1200 advance as

0f December 31 2010 to the NPPF Trust remained outstanding through December 2014 would be

approximately $288

The Company sold the NPPF management contract See note However the Company retained this

obligation

Alesco Preferred Funding XVII Ltd Collateral Management Fee Side Letter

On March 2008 the Company entered into side letter agreement with AFN in regards to Alesco

Preferred Funding XVII Ltd collatcralized debt obligation Alesco XVII collateralized debt obligation

whereby the Company would remit to AFN pre-Merger who was the owner of 75% of the first tier preferred

shares of the Alesco XVII collateralized debt obligation 75% of the collateral management fees the Company

would receive on the collateralized debt obligation The Company recognized the receipt of collateral

management fees in asset management fees in the consolidated statements of operations Prior to the Merger the

Company accounted for this fee to AFN as reduction to the asset management fees concession since this fee

was deemed direct reduction of the Companys ongoing asset management fees that otherwise would have been

earned for the duration of the collateralized debt obligation The reduction in asset management fees for the

pre Merger period from January 2009 through December 16 2009 was $1 86 and for the year ended

December 31 2008 was $186 Upon the consummation of the Merger the side letter was effectively eliminated

Letter of Credit on behalf of GSME Acquisition Partners

In November 2009 the Company acted as the lead underwriter for thc initial offering of new special

purpose acquisition corporation GSME Acquisition Partners GSMF In connection with this transaction

the Company issued letter of credit for the benefit of the GSME Acquisition Partners trust in the amount of

$1242 that would be drawn upon under certain circumstances such as the non-approval of business

combination or if no business combination was presented for votc within the specified time frame The

Companys maximumexposure to GSME pursuant to the letter of credit was $1242 The Companys obligation

to fund amounts to GSME was accounted for as guarantee pursuant to the guarantee provisions included in

FASB ASC 460 Guarantees As of December 31 2009 the Company recorded $98 as liability included in

accounts payable and other liabilities for its obligation to stand ready to perform which offset portion of new

issue and advisory fee revenue the Company received for the formation of GSME Acquisition Partners trust On

December 10 2010 GSME announced that its shareholders approved the merger with an unrelated third party

As of December 31 2010 the Companys letter of credit was released and the Company reversed its guarantee

liability of $98 and recognized new issue revenue of $98 in the consolidated statements of operations

Alesco XIV Guarantee

AFN invested in collateralized debt obligation Alesco XIV in which Assured Guaranty Assured was

providing credit support to the senior interests in securitizations Alesco XIV made loan the Guarftnteed

Loan to particular borrower and AFN entered into an arrangement with Assured whereby AFN agreed to

make payments to Assured upon the occurrence of both loss on the Guaranteed Loan and ii loss suffered

by Assured on its overall credit support arrangement to Alesco XIV security holders This arrangement is

accounted for as guarantee by the Company At the Merger Date the Company recorded liability of $1084

related to this arrangement which is included in accounts payable and other liabilities in the Companys
consolidated balance sheet This amount does not represent the expected loss rather it represents the Companys
estimate of the fair value of its guarantee i.e jhe amount it would have to pay third party to assume this

obligation This arrangement is being accounted for as guarantee The value will be adjusted under certain

limited ciicumstanccs such as when the guarantee is extinguished or ii if payment of amounts under the

guarantee become probable and estimable The maximum potential loss to the Company on this arrangement is

$8750 Under certain circumstances Assured can require the Company to post liquid collateral
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28 SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Segment Information

The Company operates within three business segments Capital Markets Asset Management and Principal

Investing See note

The accounting policies of the three segments are the same as those described in note

The Companys business segment infoimation for the year ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 is

prepared using the following methodologies and generally represents the information that is relied upon by

management in its decision making processes

Revenues and expenses directly associated with each business segment are included in determining

net income by segment

Indirect expenses such as general and administrative expenses including executive and overhead

costs not directly associated with specific business segments are not allocated to the segments statements

of operations Accordingly the Company presents segment information consistent with internal

management reporting See note in the table below for more detail on unallocated items

During 2010 the Company reclassified certain personnel and operating expenses from its capital

markets segment and asset management segment to its principal investing segment All prior periods

presented have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation The following tables present

the financial information for the Companys segments for the period indicated

Capital Asset Principal Segment
As of and for the year ended December 31 2010 Markets Management Investing Total Unallocated Total

Stonmary statement of operations

Net trading 70809 70809 70809
Asset management 25281 25281 25281

New issue and advisory 3778 3778 3778

Principal transactions and other income

loss 125 475 25334 25684
_______

25684

Total revenues 74462 25756 25334 125552 125552

Total operating expenses 56313 20711 2261 79285 37525 116810

Operating ineome/loss 18149 5045 23073 46267 37525 8742

Income loss trom equity method

affiliates 6154 270 5884 5884

Other non operating income expense 970 970 5130 4160

Income loss before income taxes 18149 12169 22803 53121 42655 10466

Income tax benelit 749 749

Netineomelloss 18149 12169 22803 53121 41906 11215
Less Net income attributable to the

noneontrolling interest 3620 3620

Net income loss attributable to

IFMI 18149 $12169 $22803 53.121 $45526 7595

Other state/neil of operotion3 dato

Depreciation and amortixation included in

total operating expense 600 600 1756 2356

Baloiice slice data

Total assets $200207 $25567 $43983 $269757 36990 $306747

Investment in equity method affiliates

included in total assets 2.106 2.106 2106
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As of and for the year ended December 31 2009

Summary statement of operations

Net trading 44165

Asset management
New issue and advisory 1816

Principal transnctions and oilier income

loss 22

Total revenues 46003

Total opcrating cxpenses 43788

Operating income loss 2215
Loss from equity method affiliates

Other non operating income cxpcnse

Income loss before income taxes 2215
Income tax expense

Net income loss 2215

Less Net income loss attributable to the

noncontrolling interest

Net income loss attributable to IFMI 2215

Other statement of operations data

Depreciation and amortization included in total

operating expense

Balance sheet data

Total assets $166324

investment in equity method affiliates included

in tutal assets

As of and for the year ended December 31 2008

Swninary statement of operations

Net trading $18234

Asset management
New issue and advisory 7249

Principal transactions and other income

loss 361

Total revenues 25844

Total operating expenses 17545

Operating income loss 8299

Income from equity method affiliates

Other non operating income expense

income loss before income taxes 8299

Income tax expense

Net income loss 8299

Less Net loss attributable to the noneontrolling

interest

Net income loss attributable to IFMI 8299

Other statement ot operations data

Depreciation and amortization included in total

operating expense

Balance sheet data

Total assets $21491

Investment in equity method affiliates included

in total assets

Capital Asset Principal Segment
Markets Management Investing Total Unallocated.1 Total

44165

31148

1816

31148

603

31751

23310

8441

7746

16187

16187

44165

31148

1816

6332 6957

6332 84086

708 67806

5624 16280

3455 3455

_______
7746

2169 20571

2169 20571

27391

27391

4974

32365

32374

268

$32 106

6957

84086

95197

11111
3455
2772

11794

11803

98

11705

170 170

$16187 1999 20401

783 783 1760 2543

$18164 $44133 $228621 69799 $298420

_____ 477$ 477 477

Capital Asset Principal Segment
Markets Management Investing Total Unallocated Total

18234

63844

7249

63844

1996

65840

39288

26552

287

26265

18234

63844

7249

8.395 6038

8395 83289

521 57354

8916 25935

262 262

_______
287

8654 25910

23190

23190

8856

32046
2049

34095

6038

83289

80544

2745

262

9143

6136
2049

818526265 8.654 25910

_______
1259 1259

_______
1259

$26265 7395 27169 $34095 6926

2020 2020 2003 4023

$25727 $62614$109.832 47821 $157653

2356 2356 2356
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Unallocated includes certain expenses incurred by overhead and support departments such as the executive

finaucc legal information technology human resources risk compliance and other similar overhead and

support departments Some of the items not allocated include operating expenses related to support

departments interest expense on debt change in fair value of interest rate swap and income taxes

Management does not consider these items necessary for an understanding of the operating results of these

segments and such amounts are excluded in segment reporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker

Unallocated assets primarily include amounts due from related parties furniture and equipment net

and other assets that ale not considered necessary for an understanding of segment assets and such amounts

are excluded in segment reporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker

Goodwill and intangible assets as of December 31 2010 and 2009 are allocated to the Capital Markets and

Asset Management segments as indicated in the table listed below During the year ended December 31 2010

goodwill related to the acquisition of AFN decreased $713 for net adjustments made during the measurement

period to the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed In the tables listed below this

retrospective adjustment is reflected in the goodwill at December 31 2009 in accordance with the accounting

guidance for business combinations See nute

As of December 31 2010

Capital Asset Principal Segment
Markets Management Investing Total Unallocated Total

Goodwill 55 $3176 $3231 $3231

Intangible assets included in other assets .. $206 206 206

As of December 31 2009

Capital Asset Principal Segment
Markets Management Investing Total Unallocated Total

Goodwill $55 $8783 $8838 $8838

Intangible assets included in other assets .. $40 534 574 574

Asset management total operating expenses include an impairment charge of $5607 $0 and $0 for the year

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively related to the impairment of goodwill allocated to the

Strategos reporting unit See note 13

Asset management total operating expenses include an impairment charge of $0 $0 and $2078 for the year

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively for the impairment of intangible assets See note 14

Geographic Information

The Company conducts its business activities through offices in the following locations United States

United Kingdom and other Total revenues by geographic area are summarized as follows

GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Dollars in Thousands

Year ended December 31

2010 2009 2018

Total Revenues

United States $111067 $76434 $73391

United Kingdom Other 4485 7652 9898

$l25.552 $84.086 $83289

Long lived assets attiibutable to an individual country other than the United States are not material
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29 SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE

Interest paid by the Company on its debt was $6525 $3422 and $7352 for the years ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Prior to the Merger the Company was pass-through entity for U.S federal income taxes However it did

pay entity-level taxes in certain local jurisdictions The Company paid income taxes of $639 $861 and $2295

for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively and received income tax refunds of $898

$873 and $12 for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

In 2010 the Company had no significant non cash transactions which are not reflected on the statement of

cash flows

In 2009 the Company had the following significant non cash transactions which are not reflected on the

statement of cash flows

During the second quarter of 2009 the Company deconsolidated the Deep Value onshore feeder fund

See note As result the Company recorded decrease in noncontrolling interest of $11005

decrease of $10967 in other investments at fair value related to the Deep Value onshore feeder funds

investment in the related master fund and an increase in accounts payable and other liabilities of $38

On June 2009 the Company entered into an amended and restated credit facility with TD Bank NA
The Company recorded an increase in other assets and an increase in accounts payable and other

liabilities of $450 related to the exit fee the Company was obligated to pay to TD Bank N.A upon the

maturity payment in full or acceleration of the 2009 Credit Facility whichever was first to occur The

exit fee was paid in July 2010 when the Company entered into the 2010 Credit Facility See note 18

In connection with the consummation of the Merger on December 16 2009 See note

The Company acquired the net assets of AFN for approximately $38864 consisting of 5979085

shares of the Companys Common Stock

The Company reclassified the Operating LLCs investment in AFN of $328 from other

investments at fair value to treasury stock at cost on its consolidated balance sheets

Cohen Brothers was organized as limited liability company In connection with the Merger the

consolidated financial statements include certain reelassifications to reflect the reporting entity

becoming corporation The Company reclassified $18022 from members capital to additional

paid in capital on its consolidated balance sheets

In connection with the Merger the Company reclassified $21291 from members capital to

noneontrolling interests on its consolidated balance sheets representing the noneontrolling unit

holders interests in Cohen Brothers historical balance sheet pre combination for Cohen

Brothers unit holders that elected not to convert their units to AFN shares at the acquisition date

In 2008 the Company had the following significant non cash transactions which are not reflected on the

statement of cash flows

With the adoption of the fair value option provisions included in FASB ASC 825 in 2008 the

Company recorded an increase in accumulated other comprehensive income of $1 1560 and decrease

in members capital of $11970 decrease in receivables of $79 and decrease in other investments at

fair value of $331 In addition decrease in investment in equity method affiliates and corresponding

increase in other investments at fair value of 550649 was ieeorded

In 2008 the Company recorded reduction in goodwill of $519 to reflect an adjustment to actual

expenses ineulTed with respect to the acquisition of noneontrolling intprest This resulted in an

offsetting reduction to accounts payable and other liabilities of$519

During the second quarter of 2008 the Company assigned $2601 of its interests in the Brigadier

onshore feeder fund to cci tam employees foi seiviees rendered
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has identified the following iclatcd party tiansactions for the years ended Decembei 31 2010

2009 and 2008 The transactions are listed by related party and unless otherwise noted in the text of the

description the amounts are disclosed in tables at the end of this section

BAIT

RAIT is publicly traded REIT It has been identified as related party because the chairman and chief

executive officer of the Company was trustee of RAIT until his resignation from that position on February 26
2010 and was formerly the chief executive officer of RAIT from December 2006 to February 2009 and the

chairman of RAIT until her resignation from that position effective December 31 2010 is the mother of the

chairman and chief executive officer of the Company

Shared Services Agreement

The Company has shared services agreement with RAIT whereby RAIT reimburses the Company or in

some cases the Company reimburses RAIT for shared costs incurred for administrative and occupancy costs

These amounts are disclosed as shared services paid received in the table at the end of this section

BAIT Shares

During the first quarter of 2010 the Company sold all of the shares it held in RAIT As of December 31

2009 the Company held 510434 shares of RAfT with carrying value of $669 and cumulative life to date

unrealized loss of $8950 Gains or losses recognized on these shares are disclosed as part of gain loss in the

table at the end of this section The Companys shaies iepiesented approximately 1% of the outstanding shares of

RAIT as of Deceniber 31 2009

Revenue cci rnedfroin BAIT

The Company provided certain services to RAIT duiing 2008 for which it earned monitoring fees for asset

management related services for certain RAIT whole loan assets The monitoring fees are included in asset

management revenue in the Companys consolidated statements of operations The fees described above are

disclosed as part of management fee revenue in the table at the end of this section

Securities sold to and purchased from RAIT

As part of the Companys broker-dealer operations the Company from time to time purchases securities

from third parties and sells those securities to RAIT Or the Company many purchase securities from RAIT and

ultimately sell those securities to third party In either case the Company includes the trading revenue earned

i.e the gain or loss realized by the Company for the entire transaction in the amounts disclosed as part of net

trading in the table at the end of this section

Transactions between Alesco Financial Inc or AFN and Cohen Brothers

AFN was publicly traded REIT prior to the consummation of the Merger of one of its subsidiaries with

and into Cohen Brothers on December 16 2009 Following the Merger AFN changed its name to Cohen

Company Inc and subsequently changed its name to Institutional Financial Markets Inc effective Januaiy 24
201 See note to our Lonsolidatcd financial statements nicluded in tins Annual Repoit on Foi ni 10 foi

description of the Merger Prior to the Merger AFN and Cohen Brothers had been identified as related party

because Cohen Brothers chairman and chief executive officer was also the chairilian of AFN prior to the

Merger and ii Cohen Brothers former chief operating officer who served in this capacity until December 16

2009 was chief executive officer and directoi of AFN prior to the consummation of the Merger The following

discussion relates to transactions that occurred during the pie-Merger period and therefore are deemed related

party transactions
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Institutional Financial Makets Inc Shares formerly AFN Shares

The Company owned shares in AFN prior to the Merger Any gains or losses recognized are disclosed as

part of gain loss in the table at the end of this section Effective with the Merger this investment was

reclassified as treasury stock The Companys investment in AFN was included in other investments at fair value

on the consolidated balance sheets luring the pre-Merger period

114anageinent Contract

AFN had no employees subsidiary of Cohen Brothers externally managed AFN for an annual

management and incentive fee through December 16 2009 Management fees earned are disclosed as

component of management fee revenue in the tables at the end of this section for the relevant pre-Merger periods

Upon the consummation of the Merger pn December 16 2009 and going forward the revenue and expense

related to the management contract wcre eliminated for GAAP purposes

Securities Sold to and Purchased from AFN

As part of the Companys broker-dealer operations prior to the Merger the Company from time to time

purchases securities from third parties and sold those securities to AFN Or the Company purchased securities

from AFN and ultimately sold those securities to third party In either case the Company includes the trading

revenue earned i.e the gain or loss realized by the Company for the entire transaction in the amounts disclosed

as part of net trading in the table at the end of this section

leM XVII collateralized debt ubligation ide letter

On March 2008 the Company entered into side letter agreement with AFN with respect to Alesco XVII

collateralized debt obligation whereby the Company had agreed to remit to AFN who was the owner of 75% of

the first tier preferred shares of the Alesco XVII collateralized debt obligation 75% of the collateral management

fees the Company would receive on the collateralized debt obligation The Company recognized the receipt of

collateral management fees in asset management fees in the consolidated statements of operations The reduction

in asset management fees for the pre-Merger period from January 12009 through December 16 2009 was $186

and for the year ended December 31 2008 was $186 Upon the consummation of the Merger on December 16

2009 the revenue and expense related to this side letter are eliminated for GAAP purposes This amount is not

disclosed in the tables at the end of this section

Sha red Services

Prior to the Merger AFN would reimburse the Company for certain general and administrative expenses

e.g pro rata share of the Companys rent telephone utilities and other office internal and overhead expenses

related to AFN The Company recorded this amount as reduction in the related expense These expenses are

disclosed as shared services paid received in the tables at the end of this section

Colic Brothers Financial LLC CBF
CBF has been identified as related party because CBF is noneontrolling interest of the Company and

ii CBF is wholly owned by the chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company

Beginning in October 2008 the Company began receiving monthly advisory fee for consulting services

provided by the Company to CBF The fee is recognized as component of asset management revenue in the

consolidated statements of operations This fee is disclosed as management fee revenue in the tables at the end of

this section
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The Bancorp Inc

lie Bancorp Inc lBBK is identified as related party because TBBKs chairman is the Companys
chairman and chief executive officer and ii the former chief operating officer of the Company who served in

this capacity until DecenTher 16 2009 is director of TBBK

TBBK maintaincd deposits for thc Company in the amount of $147 and $70 as of December 31 2010 and

2009 respectively These amounts are not disclosed in the tables at the end of this section

Investment Vehicles and Other

Brigadicr as group has becn identificd as relatcd party becausc in the absence of the fair valuc option

of FASB ASC 825 the Brigadier onshore feeder fund would be treated as an equity method affiliate of the

Company The Company had management contract with and an investment in Brigadier Amounts eamed from

its management contract arc disclosed as part of management fee revenue in the tables at the end of this section

Gains or losses recognized from its investment arc discloscd as part of gain loss in the tables at the end of this

section

Star Asia has been identified as related party because in the absence of the fair value option of FASB

ASC 825 Star Asia would be treated as an equity method affiliate and the chairman and chief executive officer

of the Company is member of Star Asias board of directors The Company has an investment in Star Asia

Dividends received on that investment are disclosed as part of dividend income in the tables at the end of this

section Gains or losses recognized from its investment are disclosed as part of gain loss in the tables at the

end of this section

EuroDekania has been identified as related party because the chairman and chief executive officer of the

Company is member of EuroDekanias board of directors The Company has management contract with and

an investment in EuroDekania Dividends received on that investment are disclosed as part of dividend income in

the tables at the end of this section Gains or losses recognized from its investment are disclosed as part of gain

loss in the tables at the end of this section Amounts earned from its management contract are disclosed as part

of management fee revenue in the tables at the end of this section

As part of the Companys broker dealer operations the Company from time to time purchases securities

from third parties and sells those securities to EuroDekania Or the Company may purchase securities from

EuroDekania and ultimately sell those securities to third party In either ease the Company includes the trading

revenue earned i.e the gain or loss realized by the Company br the entire transaction in the amounts disclosed

as part of net trading in the table at the end of this section

DEKU had been identified as related party because DEKU was an equity method affiliate of the

Company and ii the ehaii man and chief executive officer of the Company was member of DEKUs board of

directors In February 2009 DEKU liquidated See note The Company had an investment in DEKU
accounted for under the equity method and shared sei vices arrangement Payments received under the shared

services arrangement are disclosed as part of shared services paid received in the tables at the end of this

section Income or loss recognized under the equity method is disclosed in the table at the end of this section

Star Asia Manager has been identified as related party because it is an equity method investee of the

Company The Company recognizes its share of the income or loss of Star Asia Manager as income or loss from

equity method affiliates in the consolidated statements of opeiations Income or loss recognized under the equity

method is disclosed in the table at the end of this section

MFCA has been identified as related party because in the absence of the fair value option of FASB

ASC 825 MFCA would be treated as an equity method affiliate of the Company ii the chairman and chief

executive officer of the Company is the former chairman of MFCAs board and still serves as member of the
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board and iii the president of the Company served as vice chairman of MFCAs board until March18 2009 In

March 2009 the board of directors of MFCA assigned the management contract to an unrelated third party See

note The Company had management contract with MFCA The Company has an investment in MFCA and

had shared services arrangement with MFCA Dividends received on that investment are disclosed as part of

dividend income in the tables at the end of this section Gains or losses recognized from its investment are

disclosed as part of gain loss in the tables at the end of this section Amounts earned from its management

contract are disclosed as part of management fee revenue in the tables at the end of this section Payments

received under the shared services arrangement are disclosed as part of shared services paid received in the

tables at the end of this section

Cohen Financial Group Inc CFG was newly formed entity created in May 2007 through the

Companys completion of private offering of Cohen Brothers membership units issued to group of investors

in private Rule 144A offering which resulted in the Company raising gross proceeds of $100000 CFG had

been identified as related party because it was member of the Company prior to the Merger CFG filed

Certificated of Dissolution with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on December 16 2009 and is in

process of completing the liquidation process From time to time the Company advanced CFG funds for normal

operating purposes these amounts were treated as due from related party in the consolidated balance sheets

Thc Decp Value GP and the Deep Value GP II have been identified as related parties because the Deep

Value GPs are equity method affiliates of the Company and ii certain employees of the Company own 50%

and 60% of the Deep Value GP and the Deep Value GP II respectively Income or loss recognized under the

equity method is disclosed in the table at the end of this section

10 Deep Value as group has been identified as related party because in the absence of the fair value

option of FASB ASC 825 the onshore and offshore feeders in which the Company has an investment would be

treated as equity method affiliates of the Company The Company had management contract with and an

investment in Deep Value Amounts earned from its management contract are disclosed as part of management

fee revenue in the tables at the end of this section Gains or losses recognized from its investment are disclosed as

part of gain loss in the tables at the end of this section The tables listed below do not include any transactions

with the Deep Value onshore feeder fund during the period the Company consolidated the onshore feeder fund as

of December 31 2008 and through the first quarter of 2009 See note

II Star Asia SPV has been identified as related party because it is an equity method investee of the

Company Income or loss recognized under the equity method is disclosed in the table at the end of this section

See note

12 Duart Capital has been identified as related party because itis an equity method investee of the

Company Income or loss recognized under the equity method is disclosed in the table at the end of this section

See note 3-F

13 The Duart Fund has been identified as related party because in the absence of the fair value option of

FASB ASC 825 the onshore feeder fund in which the Company has an investment would be treated as an equity

method affiliate of the Company Gains or losses recognized from its investment aie disclosed as part of gain

loss in the tables at the end of this section See note
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The following tables display the routine intercompany transactions recognized in the statements of

operations from the identified related parties during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively which are described above Amounts shown as shared services paid received are included as

component of operating expense in the Companys consolidated statements of operations

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Twelve months ended December 31 2010

Dollars in Thousands

Principal transactions and
Income/Ioss Shared

other income loss
from equity Services

Management Dividend Gain method Paid
tee revenue Net trading income Loss affiliates Received

Brigadier 54 64

RAIT 134 387 10
AFN

CBF 261

Star Asia 18126

Star Asia Manager 834

Star Asia SPV 263

EuroDekania 667 138 525

MFCA 90 100 17

DEKU

Deep Value 2538 4481 6070

Duart Capital 223 1283

Total $3520 $272 $90 $23460 5884 $7

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Twelve months ended December 31 2009

Dollars in Thousands

Principal transactions and
Income/loss Shared

other income loss
from equity Services

Management Dividend Gain method tPaid

fee revenue Net Trading income Loss affiliates Received

Brigadier $1337 89

RAIT 183 658
AFN 106 261

CBF 298

Star Asia 3423

Star Asia Managcr 862

EuroDekania 667 171 1025
MFCA 120 1052 28

DEKU 4339 15

Deep Value 2129 O.20S 22

Total $4551 $180 $171 9255 $455 $304
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Twelve months ended December 31 2008

Dollars in Thousands

Income

Principal transactions and
loss

other income loss ovi Shared

equity Services

Management Dividend Gain method Paid
fee revenue Net trading income Loss affiliates Received

Brigadier 9597 $10185

RAIT 520 70 648 3073 50

AFN 2661 252 1431 227

CBF 70

Star Asia 490 4468
Star Asia Manager 806

EuroDekania 1352 1117 4898
MFCA 1277 120 3188 129

DEKU 511 90

Deep Value 604
______

2762 33

Total $16081 $70 $2627 $9635 $262 $496

The following related party transactions are non routine and are not included in the tables above

Additional Investment in Star Asia

During the three months ended June 30 2008 the Company purchased 2000000 ordinary shares of Star

Asia directly from Star Asia for $2.00 per share The Company also purchased an additional 1500000 ordinary

shares of Star Asia at $2.00 per share from the Companys chairman and chief executive officer and the

Companys president

In March 2010 the Company purchased 2279820 common shares of Star Asia for $1334 and 1139910

units of Star Asia SPV for $4058 total of $5392 directly from Star Asia as part of rights offering See notes

9.10 and 16

In June 2010 the Company received an in kind distribution of $55 in the form of 109.890 shares of Star

Asia from the Companys equity method affiliate Star Asia SPV See note 16

Chadwick Securities Inc registered broker-dealer subsidiary of Resource America Inc REXI
REXI is publicly traded specialized asset management company in the commercial finance real estate and

financial fund management sectors It has been identified as related party because the chairman of the board

of REXI is the father of the Companys chairman and chief executive officer and ii the chief executive officer

of REXI is the brother of the Companys chairman and chief executive officer In May 2008 one of the

Companys U.S broker dealer subsidiaries paid fee of $231 to Chadwick Securities Inc for its services as the

introducing agent for transaction in which the Companys broker-dealer subsidiary purchased securities from

an investment bank The Company ieeognized this as component of the purchase price of the security

Subordinated Notes Payable

In June 2008 the Company obtained $9000 of unsecured subordinated financing from the Companys
chairman and chief executive officer the Companys president and CFG See note l8fora description of the

transaction
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Prior to the completion of the Merger on December 16 2009 CPU filed certificate of dissolution with the

Secretary of State of the State of Delaware The Company issued new subordinated notes to each stockholder of

CFG evidencing the Companys obligation to pay to each such stockholder the stockholders pro rata share of the

original note to CFG The new subordinated notes have substantially the same terms and provisions as contained

in the original note to CPU

Messrs Cohen and Ricciardi were stockholders of CPU and received new subordinated notes in the original

principal amount of $495 and $103 respectively in December 2009 Of the $3807 of outstanding subordinated

notes payable to related parties as of December 31 2009 $2598 and $1147 were payable to Messrs Cohen and

Ricciardi respectively See note 18

As of December 31 2010 the Company had no outstanding subordinated notes payable to the Companys

employees On August 27 2010 he Cnmpaiiys broker-dealer subsidiary CS repurchased total of $SOX1

principal amount of Subordinated Notes for total purchase price of $6762 including accrued interest The

Company recognized gain from repurchase of debt of $1632 for the year ended December 31 2010 See note

18 Of the $3863 principal amount repurchased from related parties $2636 and $1164 were repurchased from

Messrs Cohen and Ricciardi respectively for purchase price including accrued interest of $2206 and $975

payable to Messrs Cohen and Ricciardi respectively

Purchase of MFGA Shares

In June 2009 the Company purchased 500100 common shares of MPCA directly from MPCA for $600 as

part of rights offering

Directors and Employees

In addition to the employment agreements the Company has entered into with its chairman its president and

its chief financial officer the Company has entejed into its standard indemnification agreement with each of its

directors and executive officers

Other

Prom time to time the Companys U.S broker dealer subsidiaries provided certain brokerage services to its

employees in the ordinary course of doing business The Company recognized immaterial amounts of revenue

from these activities in 2010 2009 and 2008
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31 DUE FROM DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

The following table summarizes the outstanding due to from related parties These amounts may result

from normal operating advances or from timing differences between the transactions disclosed in note 30 and

final settlement of those transactions in cash All amounts are non-interest bearing

DUE FROMJDUE TO RELATED PARTIES

Dollars in Thousands

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

RAIT 53 85

Brigadier 168

Deep Value 4a5 040

Deep Value GP 15 68

Deep Value GP II 59 20

Star Asia Manager 64 17

Cohen Financial Group Inc 76

Cohen Brothers Financial LLC 310 174

Employees

Total Due from Related Parties $966 $1255

Cohen Financial Group Inc 26

Employees

Total Due to Related Parties 34

32 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

JVB Acquisition

On January 13 2011 the Company and the Operating LLC completed the acquisition of JVB As

contemplated by the Purchase Agreement the Sellers sold all of the outstanding equity interests in JVB to the

Operating LLC and JVB is now wholly owned subsidiary of the Operating LLC

The purchase price consisted of $5.6 million in cash 313051 shares of IFMI common stock and 559020

restricted membership units in the Operating LLC plus cash amount equal to JVBs tangible net worth In

addition the Company agreed to pay $2.5 million to certain of the Sellers who will remain employees

Management Employees in three equal installments one on each of the first three anniversaries of the closing

date of the acquisition contingent upon each individuals continued employment at each payment date Upon the

closing of the acquisition an escrow of $484 was established for the payment of any adjustments to the purchase

price based on the final tangible net worth of JVB as of the closing of the transaction and particular indemnities

and $384 was withheld for payment to the Sellers only if specific revenue target is achieved at the end of the

first year of operation following the closing of the transaction All of the restricted membership units in the

Operating LLC were delivered to Management Employees and will vest in three equal installments on each of the

first three anniversaries of the closing date subject to the terms and conditions contained in each employees

employment agreement Once vested the restricted membership units in the Operating LLC may be redeemed for

cash or at the Companys option shares of the eomnion stock of the Company

The above transaction will be accounted under the acquisition method in accordance with U.S GAAP

Accordingly the transaction will be accounted for as an acquisition by the Operating LLC of JVB The effective

date of the merger transaction with JVB for accounting purposes was set as January 2011 JVBs results of

opeiations will be included in the Companys statements of operations beginning January 2011
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The following unaudited pro forma summary presents consolidated information of the Company as if the

aequisitinn had occurrcd January 2009

Pro forma Year ended December 31

2010 2009

Revenue $150361 $110589

Earnings loss attributable to IFMI 7727 8330

The following table summarizes the calculation of the fair value of consideration transferred by the

Company to acquire JVB

Equity consideration

Shares of IFMI issued 313051

Multiplied by 4.89

Value of stock consideration 1531 1531

Cash consideration 14956

Contingent payments due 326

Total purchase price $16813

Excludes 559020 units of the Operating LLC issued to certain JVB Sellers that will remain employees of

JVB These units vest over year period and will be treated as compensation for future service and not

part of the purchase price

Represents the closing price of IFMI shares on January 13 2011

When closing the transaction payment was made based on an estimate of JVBs tangible net worth

However mechanism exists in the contract whereby the Company owes additional funds or can recapture

funds to the extent JVBs tangible net worth differed from the amount estimated The amount of cash

consideration represents actual cash paid at closing of $15044 less $88 receivable from escrowed proceeds

for the tangible net worth adjustment Also cash consideration excludes $2482 to be paid over time to

certain JVB Sellers that will remain employees of JVB The amount is contingent upon the individuals

temaining employees It is earned ratably over three-year period If the employee terminates employment

during the three year period any unearned portion is refundable to the Company It will be treated as

compensation for future services and not part of the purchase price

Represents contingent payments due to JVB Sellers based on performance targets specific business unit

of JVB is required to earn minimum amount of revenue within 12 months of the business combination in

order for this amount to be due to the owners of JVB If that threshold is met the owners of JVB will

receive an additional payment of $384 which the Company will treat as contingent consideration

Accordingly the Company should determine the fair value of this arrangement and record liability equal

to the fair value as of the date of the business combination The Company has not yet finalized its

determination of fair value but included it preliminary determination of $326 The Company will carry this

liability at fair value and any future adjustments in fair value will be recognized in earnings
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The following table summarizes the amounts of identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the

acquisition date as of January 12011

Total Estimated

Fair Value as of

Acquisition Date

provisional

Assets acquired

Cash and cash equivalents 91

Restricted cash 100

Investments trading 31935

Other assets 1107

Liabilities assumed

Payables to brokers dealers and clearing

agencies 17655
Accounts payable and other liabilities 1221
Trading securities sold not yet purchased 4497

Fair value of net assets acquired 9860

Purchase price for net assets acquired 16813

Goodwill 6953

Other assets are comprised of purchase accounting adjustment for $166 which represents the estimated

value of the broker dealer license The $166 value of JVBs broker-dealer license is an initial estimate Any

adjustment to this value in the final purchase accounting will result in an offsetting adjustment to the

amount assigned to goodwill The intangible asset of $166 related to the broker dealer license will be

allocated to the Capital Markets operating segment

Goodwill recognized as of the acquisition date will be allocated to the Capital Markets operating segment

The allocation of the purchase price to the consolidated assets and liabilities of JVB resulted in goodwill of

$6953 which is the difference between the fair value of JVBs net assets and the purchase price paid by the

Company The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes The goodwill will be allocated to the Capital Markets

operating segment

FundCore Finance Group Venture

In January 2011 thc Company formed new venture with FundCore Finance Group to create commercial

real estate conduit lender Contingent upon obtaining warehouse financing the Company is committed to

providing $25 million in capital to the joint venture The Companys capital commitment combined with the

warehouse financing will be used to originate fund and eventually securitize commercial real estate fixed rate

loans
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SCHEDULE

INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC PARENT COMPANY

Balance Sheet

Dollars in Thousands

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Assets

Investment in IFMI LLC $110166 $109407

Total assets $110166 $109407

Liabilities

Accrued interest payable 336 706

Deferred income taxes 9208 9717

Debt 36264 42643

Total liabilities 45808 53066

Stockholders Equity

Preferred Stock

Series Voting Convertible Preferred Stock

Series Voting Non-Convertihle Preferred Stock

Series Junior Pat ticipating Preferred Stock

Common Stock 10 10

Additional paid in capital 58954 57411

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 665 582
Retained earnings accumulated deficit 6382 170

Treasury stock 328 328

Total stockholders equity 64358 56341

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $110166 $109407

See accompanying notes to condensed financial statements
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SCHEDULE Continued

INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC PARENT COMPANY
Statement of Operations

Dollars in Thousands

For the period from

Year Ended December 17 2009

December 31 2010 to December 31 2009

Revenues

Equity in undistributed earnings from TFMI LLC $12417 74

Total revenues 12417 74

Operating income 12417 74

Non operating expense

Interest expense 5330 244

Income loss before income taxes 7087 170
Income tax benefit expense 508

Net income loss 7595 $170

See accompanying notes to condensed financial statements

F-96



SCHEDULE Continued

INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC PARENT COMPANY
Statement of Cash Flows

Dollars in Thousands

For the period from

Year Ended December 17 2009 to

December 31 2010 December 31 2009

Operating activities

Net income lnss 7595 $170

Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash used in

operating activities

Equity in undistributed earnings of IFMI LLC 12417 74
Distributions from IFMI LLC 11575 225

Gain on repurchase from debt 923

Equity-based compensation 1658

Amortization of discount of debt 88 27

Decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities 370
Change in deferred income taxes 509

Net cash provided by operating activities 6697

Financing activities

Repurchase of debt 5544
Cash used to net share settle equity awards 110
Dividends paid to stockholders 1043

Net cash used in financing activities 6697

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period

See accompanying notes to condensed financial statements
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SCHEDULE Continued

INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC PARENT COMPANY

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dollars in Thousands

The accompanying condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial

statements and related notes of Institutional Financial Markets Inc

The Company received cash distributions from IFMI LLC of $11575 for the year ended December 31 2010 and

$225 for the period from December 17 2009 and December 31 2009

This schedule is not applicable to fiscal years prior to 2009
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INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL RESULTS Unaudited

Dollars in Thousands except share or unit and per share or per unit information

The following tables present our unaudited consolidated statements of operations data for the eight quarters

ended December 31 2010 and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the

notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

We have derived the unaudi ted consolidated statements of income data from our unaudited financial

statements which arc not included in this Annual Report on Form 10 In accordance with GAAP the Merger

was accounted for as reverse acquisition and Cohen Brothers was deemed to be the accounting acquirer Our

unaudited financial results reflect the operations of Cohen Brothers from January 2009 through to

Deceniber 16 2009 and the combined operations of the merged company from December 17 2009 to

December 31 2010
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The quarterly financial results include all adjustments consisting of normal recurring adjustments that we consider

necessary for fair presentation of our operating results for the quarters presented Historical operating information may

not be indicative of our future performance

Total revenues

Operating expenaea

Compensation and

benefits 13256
Business development

occupancy equipment 1357

Professional services

subscriptions and other

operating 5888

Depiecistion and

ansortiastion 457

Impairment ot goodwill

Total operating

expenses

Operating income

loss

Non operating
income expense

Interest expense

Gain on repuichase of debt

Gain on sale of management

contracts

Income loss from equity

method affiliates

Incomeloss before

income taxes 2344
Income tax benefit

expense

Net income loss
Less Net income loss

atiiibntable to the

nonconti oIling

inteiest 975

Net income loss
attiibniable to tENt

Eainings loss per common share

membership unit basic

weighted avei age common shares

membei ship units outstanding

basic

Eai nings loss per common share

membership unit

diluted

weighted average conimon shares

membership units outstanding

diluted 15724587

Compensation end benefits

nicludes

Fquiiy based compensation

Retention hones expense

Total

13787 23272 27131 17662

1392 1338 1383 1572

7848 5869 6326 5673

628 628 643 624

5607

3946 6158 4704 6250 3379

836 135 3130

120 6112 122 14 137

759 3589 5292 1328

1250 622 392 731

3594 137 3197 4561

_________
138 1137 1646 87

0.25 020 0.28 0.10

0.20 0.28 0.10

15712037 15.712054 15.601.614 9722779

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31 December 31 September 30
2010 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009

24904 23104 35811 41733 22th2 24569

20958 29262 31.107 35483 25531

1519 2345
37 1632

June 30 March 31
2009 2009

20446 16919

18762 16656 17439

1140 1210 1547

3627 3750 3.616

630 635 654

__________ _________
24159 22251 23256

410 1805 6337

1829 1993 1216 1103 1457 1198
886

132 226 4258

266 225 4083

295 2811 7360

112 120 68

407 2931 7428

_____________ ____________ ____________ ____________
II

407 293t$ 7417

0.04 0.30 0.77

9611707 9611707 9.611707

0.04 0.30 0.77

9611707 9611707 9.611.707

1098 1.103 1034

_________
3905 4176 4293

5.003 5279 5.327

291

1037

2619 2060 2915 950

10441031 10428481 10428498 10318.058 9722779

0.25

91

593

593

1.021 800

1021 800

3321

3321

For Enither Infoimation on Equity Based Conipensation see Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results ot Opeietions Operating Expenses Compensation and Benefits

All historical sharennit information presented prioi to the Merger date was retroactively restated for the recapitalization ot membership units based

on the exchange ratio of shares issued in the merger of 0.5737 which factrred in the for 10 reverse stock split efteetnated by AFN on

December 16 2009

Computation of earnings loss per common share/membership unit for each quartet are made independently of

earnings loss per common share/membership unit for the year Due to transactionsaffecting the weighted average

number of shat es outstanding in each quarter the sum of the quarterly results per sharc does not equal the earnings loss

pcr common share/membership unit for the year
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INSTITUTIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS INC

Forward Looking Statements

This annual report including the letter from our Chairman of the Board of Directors contains forward

looking statements within the meaning of the Piivate Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Section 27A of

the Sccuritics Act of 1933 as amended and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

the Exchange Act Forward-looking statements discuss matters that are not historical facts Because they

discuss future events or conditions forward-looking statements may include words such as anticipate

believe estimate intend could should would may seek plan might will expect

anticipate predict projectforeeast potential continue negatives thereof or similar expressions

Forward looking statements speak only as of the date they are made are based on various underlying

assumptions and current expectations about the future and are not guarantees Such statements involve known

and unknown risks uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results level of activity

performance or achievement to be materially different from the results of operations or plans expressed or

implied by such forward-looking statements

While we cannot predict all of the iisks and uncertainties they include but are not limited to the fact that we

may not be able to complete the PrineeRidge transaction and those risks and uncertainties described in Item IA

Risk Factors included in Institutional Financial Markets Inc.s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2010 Accordingly such information should not be regarded as representations that the

results or conditions described in such statements or that our objectives and plans will be achieved and we do not

assume any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any of these forward looking statements All

subsequent written and oral forward looking statements concerning othei matters addressed in this annual report

and attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf me expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary

statements contained or referied to in this annual Except to the extent required by law we undertake no

obligation to update or revise any forward looking statements whether as result of ne information future

events change in events conditions circumstances or assumptions underlying such statements or otherwise
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